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PEEFAOE.

The contents of this volume have been drawn chiefly from

the official records of the Dutch East India Company's

administration, though the published works of authors of the

time have also been consulted. The manuscript records are

so voluminous that an ordinary life-time would be too short

to read all those relating to the period 1691 to 1795. T

cannot profess to have examined them all ; but I have care-

fully gone through the most important of them, and I can

venture to assert that, although it will be easy for any

author of the future greatly to enlarge upon what I have

written, the general tenor of events as recorded in this

volume must remain undisturbed.

The time expended by me in gathering from original

and hitherto unused sources the materials for this period

of our history, if condensed, would amount to at least two

years of ten hours a day. The debates and resolutions of

the council of policy, the outgoing and incoming despatches,

the correspondence with district officials, the journal of

important events, reports of commissioners, and diaries of

exploring parties have been thoroughly examined. To get

a list of shipping alone, I was obliged to read every word of

the journal and to make a note of each vessel that arrived.

37757
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The church books, proceedings of the high court of justice,

declarations, instructions, land grants, district records, and

multifarious other documents have been examined, but not

so minutely as the more important volumes. Native traditions

collected by me in years long gone by have been made use

of in chapter XXIII. A list of the printed books consulted

will bo found at the end of this volume.

I have taken up much space with statistics, which to

many people will prove uninteresting. My object has not

been to write a pleasant book, but to place before the reader

reliable information upon a period of South African history

of which little or nothing has previously been known. For

this reason I have entered somewhat fully into the public

revenue and expenditure, the record of good and bad

seasons, the prices of produce at various times, the quantity

of grain exported, the number of foreign as compared with

Dutch ships that called, and other subjects of a statistical

nature.

Money has been reduced to English coinage at the rate

of twelve gulden of Holland to the pound sterling, the pre-

sent rate of exchange. The rixdoUar of the records has

been computed at 50d. before 1770 and at 48cZ. after that

date ; the Cape gulden at 1/4 and l/4f , according to circum-

stances. Explanations will be found in the body of the work.

Weights have been reduced to English pounds, at the rate

of 918 Amsterdam pounds to 1000 pounds avoirdupois. The

muid of grain, as used in the records and in this book,

weighs 190f pounds avoirdupois. The legger of wine contains

4 aams or 126-|V Imperial gallons. The morgen of ground is

equal to rather more than 2^^ English acres. The muid,

legger, and morgen, being still in use in South Africa, I have

retained, but Dutch money and weights having been replaced

by English, I have reduced these to the terms now generally

employed.
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In the statistics of shipping I have not included vessels

employed as coasters or packets kept for the use of the Cape

govHrnment.

Where the number of those who show an interest in the

pn^>lication of a book is as large as has been the case in this

inmance, it is dif&cult for an author to express his thanks

except in general terms. I shall only say that if the mem-

ber! of the Ministry of the Cape Colony had not placed

in my way special facilities for research in the colonial

archives, this book could not have been written at all ; and

therefore an acknowledgment of thanks is due to them. To
the daughters of the late Advocate De Wet I am deeply

indebted for placing at my service a large quantity of ancient

documents collected by their venerable father, whose death

wat a loss to South Africa, inasmuch as it prevented the

completion of the historical work to which he had devoted

a large portion of his life. From the Rev. Mr. Leibbrandt,

Keeper of the Colonial Archives, I have received all the

ftisiufttnce that it was in his power to give, and through his

courtesy I have been spared much labour that otherwise I

muit have undertaken.

While this volume has been in preparation, an esteemed

Mend and fellow-worker in historical research—the late Mr.

Cliristoffel Coetsee de Villiers—has been removed from South

Africa by death. For the preceding six years his time had

been devoted to preparing a history of the oldest colonial

families, and he had made exhaustive researches in the

registry of deeds, baptismal and marriage registers, wills,

family records preserved in bibles, and other documents.

Hii notes and memoranda cover many hundred sheets, and

h© was about to arrange them for publication when he was

suddenly taken ill. By his desire, after his death these

papers were confided to my care, and I have no doubt that

from them more complete lists of family names than are
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given in this volume might be prepared. But under the

circumstances, I do not feel at liberty to use them. I have

some hope, with the assistance of others interested in the

work, of being able to arrange them for publication, though

my time out of office hours must be chiefly occupied with a

continuation of the history now in the reader's hands, for

which a large amount of material is in readiness.

Geo. M. Theal.
Cape Town.
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The simplicity of manners and honesty of purpose which were

characteristic of the early Dutch traders in Southern Asia

disappeared with the establishment of the great power which

they built up, and before the close of the seventeenth cen-

tury corruption in the administration of affairs had become

widespread throughout the possessions of the East India

Company. There were many men of sterling honesty and of

great ability in its service, but the majority of the higher

officers were unscrupulous in their pursuit of wealth. In

some of the dependencies private trading was practised to

such an extent as to destroy the whole of the Company's

n. B
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profits. Worse still, many officials used the power entrusted

to them to make money in ways that were decidedly criminal.

The remedy would seem to be in making the service attractive

by offering liberal salaries to men of talent, while prohibiting

every description of private trade and making it penal to

take bribes under the name of fees or presents. But in those

days of experiments in governing dependencies, this remedy

did not occur to the directors, or ifany one made such a sug-

gestion it was not acted upon. The old system of small

salaries, with permission to receive fees for various services

and to trade to a moderate extent, continued in favour.

The directors tried to check the evil by a kind of dual

government. In March 1688 they created the new office of

independent fiscal, differing greatly from that of the guard-

ians of the law in former times. Before 1690 the fiscals

at the Cape were only junior merchants in rank, and the

most important duty which they performed was to conduct

prosecutions in criminal cases. They were subject to the

head of the government just as much as ordinary clerks were.

The independent fiscals were responsible to the supreme

directory alone, and were free of all local control. To them

was confided the regulation of justice. By right of their

office, they had a seat in the council of policy next to the

secunde, and had access to records, registers, and state

papers of every kind. They had entire control of all accounts

connected with ships' cargoes, supplies of food for the gar-

rison, and other expenditure. Such were the duties assigned

to those appointed to the possessions of the Company in

India, and the system at the Cape was made uniform with

that elsewhere.

It was hoped that with these extensive powers the inde-

pendent fiscals would be a check upon corrupt governors, com-

manders, and subordinate officers ofevery grade. But no care

was taken to put them in a position where they would be unex-

posed to temptation themselves. Their salaries were inade-

quate, and they were permitted to charge various fees. They

had summary jurisdiction in petty criminal cases, and were

allowed to retain for their own benefit one tbird of the fines
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which they inflicted. TL( first fiica) independent at the

Cape, Mr. Cornelia Joan Simon jj, who was appointed in 1689,

had a Nalury from the Company of only lOOi. a year.

The system of government thus established in this colony

r&inainnd unchanged during the next century.

Quarrels between the various Hottentot clans within the

limits of the European settlement were frequently occurring.

TliG krimls of these people were thinly scattered over the

country, and were moved from place to place just as in olden

tituos, except that they could not be erected on ground occu-

piod by white men. The Hottentots were subject to Dutch laws

only in cases where Europeans also were concerned. They had

become poor in cattle, owing partly to the waste caused by their

perpetual feuds, partly to depredations by Bushmen, and partly

to their willingness to exchange oxen for brandy and tobacco.

Theburghers were forbidden totrade with the Hottentots, under
severe penalties, but in defiance of the placaats and of the pun-

ishment which invariably followed conviction, some of the

least respectable among them carried on an extensive barter.

Captain Klaas, once so faithful and so trusted, had now
fallen into disfavour. A savage is incapable of continuing

long in any pursuit that demands much exertion, and Klaas

got weary of travelling about the country purchasing cattle

for the Company, whose wants must have seemed to him in-

satiable. It became necessary again to send out trading parties

of Europeans, and these so excited his jealousy that he did

his utmost to put obstacles in their way. This conduct led

rapidly to something more unfriendly, and in 1692 he used
most threatening language towards Ensign Schryver, the

head of a bartering party.

Koopman, Klaas's rival in the same tribe, was not slow

to take advantage of the new condition of things. He came
to the castle with an accusation against Elaas of being in

league with those burghers who were carrying on an illicit,

trade, and he professed to have so great a regard for the

Company's interests as to be willing to place his services

entirely at the governor's disposal. In the minute details

of these events entered in the records of the time, there is

b2
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foand an exact counterpart of numerous well-known transac-

tions of native chiefs of the present day. The result was
that Koopman became an ally of the Honourable Company,
and Klaas was regarded as an ill-affected mischief-maker.

Thus the government completely changed sides with the

rival branches of the Chainouqua tribe. Klaas had as wife

a daughter of Goukou, paramount chief of the Hessequas,

who was commonly called the * oude heer ' by the colonists.

His people and the Hessequas were living in close friendship.

On the 20th of April 1693 an urgent request for help was
received at the castle from Koopman, who represented that

he was about to be attacked by Klaas and the Hessequas.

It was therefore resolved to send Captain Willem Padt with

a hundred soldiers and a hundred burghers to Koopman's
assistance, with instructions to endeavour to capture Klaas.

The commando, aided by Koopman's adherents, sur-

rounded Klaas's kraal in the night, took possession of his

cattle, and arrested him and two of his leading men. Some
of his followers who attempted to escape were killed by

Koopman's people. The cattle were driven to the Kuilen,

where they were counted and divided between Koopman and
the Honourable Company.

On the 8th of August the three prisoners were brought

before the council of policy. Klaas admitted some of the

charges against him, but endeavoured to give a satisfactory

explanation of his conduct. He denied having ever had
hostile designs against the Company. The council admitted

that he had not been guilty of any overt act of war, and, on

the 1 7th of August, resolved that as no Christian blood had
been shed, further proceedings against the prisoners should

be dropped, but to secure tranquillity Klaas should be de-

tained on Robben Island.

The fate of the unfortunate Hottentot, who had once

been regarded as the most trustworthy of his race, and who
hj,d befriended many Europeans in distress, called forth

a large amount of sympathy. Intercession was made to the

government on his behalf, and in January 1694 he was re-

leased frc»m confinement and permitted to live near Muizen-
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burg with some of his retainers. He had previously been

ill, and had been brought to the mainland for medical

treatment, but upon recoveiy had been sent back to the

island. When he was allowed to reside at Muizenburg, his

wife, the daughter of Goukou, was sent for. She had lived

with him about ten years, but when he was arrested by

Captain Padt, Zoopman had taken her with other spoil.

Her father had never visited the Cape, but as a partisan of

Klaas he came to the castle on this occasion. The woman

was asked by the governor if she desired to live with her

husband, and replied that she preferred to remain with

Koopman.
A little later Klaas was allowed to return to his old kraal,

upon giving a promise to live quietly and peaceably. But

he and Koopman at once resumed their quarrel. In February

1697 both were summoned to the Cape, and an apparent

reconciliation was effected by the governor. Goukou, whose

friendship was valued, as he was considered the most wealthy

and powerful of all the Hottentot chiefs in the neighbourhood

of the colony, appeared again on this occasion as the friend

of Klaas.

The captains had hardly returned to their kraals when
fighting between them was renewed. Goukou's daughter

changed her mind and attempted to return to Klaas, upon

which Koopman put her to death. Klaas and the Hessequas

then attacked Koopman, and took his cattle together with

some belonging to the Company which were in his charge.

A sergeant and twelve men were then sent from the castle

to request Klaas to restore the Company's propert}', but he

could not comply, as the oxen had already been killed and

eaten. This matter brought him into disfavour again, and

thenceforth he was regarded as the principal mischief-maker

in the country. Occasionally he visited the Cape in company
with Goukou, and promised to live in peace with Koopman,
but the promise was soon disregarded. The feud between

the two captains was kept up until in a skirmish between

them in June 1701 Klaas was killed. The story, as written

in minute detail nearly two hundred years ago, might be

.\;
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copied as a faithful description of a quarrel between native-

clans to-day.

Other Hottentot communities were engaged in the same

way destroying each other. Thus in March 1693 four

Hessequa kraals were pillaged by the Attaquas. All were

exposed to plunder by Bushmen. In April 1694 a large

party of these robbers made a descent upon Koopman's

kraals, and drove off fully half of his cattle. The Hottentot

captain applied for assistance to the governor, and ten

soldiers under a sergeant were sent to his aid. The Bush-

men were followed up, most of the cattle were recovered,

and sixteen or seventeen of the marauders were shot.

The clans of the Goringhaiquas and Gorachouquas were

completely impoverished. In 1696 the governor supplied

them with some cattle to tend on shares, but the effort to

restore them to their former condition was fruitless. Of

their own accord they referred their most weighty disputes^

to the European authorities for settlement, and upon the

death of a captain they always applied to the governor to

confirm his successor. A staff with a copper head, upon

which was engraved on one side the Company's arms and on

the other the name given by the governor to the new captain,

was considered indispensable to the exercise of authority.

The Grigriqua tribe, then usually living on the borders

of the Elephant river, was giving offence by harbouring

runaway slaves. In December 1696 Ensign Schryver was

sent with thirty soldiers and twenty burghers to endeavour

to obtain the fugitives in friendly barter. If the Grigriquas

would not restore them, the ensign was instructed to seize

some individuals, male or female, and bring them to the

castle as hostages. The expedition was not successful in

finding the tribe. Some friendly Hottentots, however,

secured two Grigriquas, who were detained at the castle for

a couple of months. One of them was then sent to his

people with a friendly message asking for the slaves. He
did not return, and the other was shortly afterwards re-

leased.

In the town several improvements were made at thi»
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time. In January 1693 the botanist Oldenland, who was

superintendent of the Company's garden and land surveyor

for the government, received the additional appointment

of town engineer, with an annual salary of 6Z. 18«. lOd!.,

partly paid by the burgher council. He died four years

later. In October 1695 the Keizersgracht, the present

Darling street, was laid out between the Heerengracht, now
Adderley street, and the back of the castle. The road to the

country at that time ran between the castle and the shore of

the bay. In October 1697 the work of levelling the ground

between the new street and the shore, since termed the

great parade, was commenced. It was previously inter-

sected by several deep gullies, and some knolls of consider-

able size were standing on it. The Company furnished a

party of slaves, and the burghers contributed the remainder

of the labour. The work was completed in 1699. In April

1696 the streets began to be patrolled at night by a burgher

watch. Constables were not yet employed in the town,

though at Stellenbosch and Drakenstein two of those useful

officials, there termed veldwachters, were engaged in seeing

that the placaats were observed. They were paid at the

rate of \l. 2s. 3r2. a month.

In February 1693 a waggon road was completed over the

neck beyond Wynberg to Hout Bay. In 1698 the church at

Stellenbosch was enlarged, as the original building was too

small to contain the congregation. In the same year an

abortive attempt was made to form a safe harbour for boats

by cutting a passage through the sand from Table Bay to a
reach of the Salt river.

Efforts to produce olives were continued, though in all

instances resulting in failure. Experiments in the culture

of the hop were also being made. The planting out of

young oaks in different parts of the Cape peninsula was
assiduously attended to.

Wild animals were still giving trouble. In May 1694 a

burgher at Drakenstein was killed by a leopard, and another

at Stellenbosch was nearly torn to pieces by a lion. On one

day in the following month nine cows were killed by lions in
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sight of the castle. The premium for killing a lion in the

Cape peninsula was hi. 4«. 2d. As late as 1702 an elephant

was killed just beyond the Cape flats.

In the morning of the 4th of September 1695 the first

recorded shock of earthquake was felt at the Cape. The
weather was perfectly calm and clear, when suddenly a noise

like a clap of thunder was heard, and a trembling of the

earth was felt as if something was rolling beneath the

foundations of the buildings. In a few seconds it ceased,

and was not repeated. No damage was occasioned by the

shock. In the afternoon of the 11th of January 1696 an-

other slight trembling was felt in the town, but unaccom-

panied by noise.

During the eight years 1692-9 four hundred and thirty-

five ships put into Table Bay, or on an average fifty-four

yearly. Of these, two hundred and ninety-three belonged to

the Company, one hundred and thirteen were English, nine-

teen were Danish, and ten were French. Since the middle of

the century many improvements had been made in the con-

struction of ships. They carried now more sails, but each

one smaller, so that they needed fewer hands than formerly.

The average number of men in a Dutch Indiaman at the

close of the century was one hundred and seventy. The
English ships that put into Table Bay were as a rule much
smaller, and did not carry on an average more than one

hundred men. Many of them were engaged in the slave

trade between the West Indies and Madagascar. Others

were private traders, or interlopers as they were called.

Others again belonged to the new English East India Com-
pany. A few were men-of-war sent out to convoy fleets.

The old English East India Company's ships usually passed

by Table Bay, as they had a refreshing station of their own
at St. Helena.

Several changes had taken place in the official staff. On
the 22nd of June 1694 Mr. J. W. Grevenbroek resigned his

situation as secretary to the council of policy, and became a
burgher at Stellenbosch. In November 1694 the indepen-

dent fiscal Cornells Joan Simons transferred his duties to
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Johan Blesius, and proceeded to Batavia to fill a post of

greater importance. In April 1697 Mr. Samuel Elsevier

arrived from the Netherlands with the appointment of

secunde, Andries de Man having died some time before.

In August 1693 the Rev. Leonardus Terwold was trans-

ferred to Batavia. Services were held occasionally by chap-

lains of ships and by the Rev. Mr. Simond until the 22nd of

September 1694, when the Rev. Hercules van Loon, chaplain

of the Nederland, was detained here, and was appointed

provisionally clergyman of the Cape. The directors, how-

ever, sent out the Rev. Petrus Kalden, who \va,a inducted on

the 4th of December 1695, and Mr. Van Loon was obliged

to return to Europe. He left reluctr.ntly, and with the good

wishes of the congregation.

The revenue of the colony during the last years of the

seventeenth century was derived chiefly from the sale of pri-

vileges to sell wines and spirituous liquors, which amounted

to about 2,200L yearly. Other sources yielded about 800^

more. The average profits on the sale of goods were about

2,000Z. a year. The expenditure is set down in the Company's

accounts at about 12,00OL yearly, but this sum includes

supplies to ships and other items not fairly chargeable against

the Cape, amounting in round numbers to 4,000?. The
revenue to the Company may thus be set down at 5,0001.,

and the expenditure at 8,000Z. a year.

The hospital, built by Commander Van Riebeek close to

the beach in front of the earthen fort Good Hope, was at

this time in a dilapidated condition. Its site was not good,

as it was exposed to the full force of gales. Upon the

governor's representations, the directors authorised him to

build a larger hospital in a more suitable place. He selected

the ground now occupied by the Cape of Good Hope Bank,

between the present Adderley and St. George's streets, then

termed the Heerengracht and Berg straat. In December
1694 the foundation was commenced, but it was not until

July 1697 that the building was taken properly in hand. It

was designed to accommodate five hundred patients without

crowding, or seven hundred and fifty on an emergency.
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A building of this size was none too large for the require-

ments of the Company's fleets at the close of the seventeenth

century. Owing to improvements in the construction of

ships, passages were now often made in ninety days between

Europe and the Cape, but scurvy still caused terrible havoc

among seamen.

On the 8th of February 1693 a boat reached Saldanha.

Bay with a feeble crew and a sick officer, who repoi'ted that

they had left their ship, the Bantam, anchored off Paternoster

Point. On the passage out, two hundred and twenty-one

men had died of scurvy, and those left alive were too weak
to work. They had therefore dropped anchor, and some of

them left in a boat to look for assistance. The boat was

swamped, and of her crew only two men got to land. It-

was believed that one of these died of hunger, and that the

other was killed by wild animals. A second boat then left

for Saldanha Bay, and fortunately found a large Indiaman

at anchor there. A party of men was sent to the Bantam,

and she was brought safely to Table Bay.

On the 4th of May 1693 the Goude Buys sailed from

Enkhuizen with one hundred and ninety souls on board, and

on the 19th of October dropped anchor off the coast about

fifteen miles north of St. Helena Bay, when there were not

a dozen of her crew capable of working. On the 11th of

November seven men left the ship to seek assistance inland.

Of these, five perished of hunger, one wandered along the

banks of the Berg river until he was found by some Hotten-

tots and taken to the Company's post at Saldanha Bay, and
the other, after roaming about for seven weeks, was rescued^

When intelligence of the state of the ship reached the Cape,,

a yacht was sent to her assistance. Only one living person

was found on board, and he died soon afterwards. The Ooude
Buys had drifted ashore, and could not be got off. Most of

her cargo was saved, and all the small vessels at the C'vpe

were for iometime employed in transporting it to Table Bay.

On the 23rd of November 1693 the Schoondyh arrived,

from Texel with her whole remaining crew of one hundred
and twenty men sick. One hundred and thirty-four had
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died on the passage out. On the 23rd of December 1694

the Pampua arrived from Rotterdam with only sixteen healthy-

men on board. Sixty had died on the passage out, and
eighty-three were down with scurvy. On the 11th of Novem-
ber 1695 a fleet of eleven ships arrived from the Netherlands,

with six hundred and seventy-eight men unable to walk,,

some of whom were so far gone that they died while being

conveyed to the hospital. A great many others were ill, but

were able to go about. Two hundred and twenty-eight had
perished on the passage. On the 17th of October 1696 the

Vosmaar arrived from Flushing with only four sound men
on board. One hundred and thirty-nine were ill, and ninety-

three had died. Of ten Huguenot passengers for the Cape,

five had died.

Several wrecks took place at this time.

During the night of the 4th of June 1692 a heavy gale set

in from the north-west, and before daylight of the 5th the

Company's ships Goede Hoop and Hoogergeest and the English

ship Orange were driven ashore near the mouth of Salt River.

There was a large fleet in Table Bay at the time, but the

other vessels held to their anchors. The Goede Hoop was the

same ship that had been taken from the French in April 1689,

when she was named the Normande. She was now home-

ward bound from Ceylon. She held together, and most of

her cargo, though damaged, was recovered. The Hoogergeest,

from Batavia,andthe Orawgre, from Madras, broke up quickly,

but only a few of their people were lost. The men of the Hoo-

gergeest were rescued by a quartermaster of an Indiaman, who
happened to be on shore at the time. This brave seaman,

Jochem Willems by name, fastened a line to his body, and
made liis way throi^gh the surf to the wreck. A hawser was

then pulled ashore, and by its means most ofthe crew escaped

before the ship broke up.

Early in the morning of the 20th of January 1694 the

yacht Dageraad, laden with cargo—including a quantity of

specie—from the Goude Buys, ran ashore on the western side

of Robben Island, and broke up immediately. Sixteen lives

were lost. Some of the specie was recovered, but not all.
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In the afternoon of the 24th of May 1007 tho Company's
homeward bound ships Wadclinfisveen and Oimtrrtdndy with

valuable cargoes on board, were driven iwhoro lit Salt River

mouth in a great gale, and were dashed to \Am^n at once.

Two other ships out of a large fleet that wiix lying in the

bay narrowly escaped the same fate. Only Novi'iitoon men in

all were saved from the two wrecks.

On the 27th of May 1698 the Euu tn L'nij/mHfnn, from
Middelburg bound to Batavia, anchored in ti^ <!aljn oft' Camp's
Bay. During the night a thick mist sut in, and before day-

light of the 28th the ship was found toliavn piu'tod her cable

and to be adrift. She was already in the bi'<'u)«'t'«, ii nd before

anything could be done she struck on the vavMH behind the

Lion's Head, and became a complete wreck, No lives were

lost.

Scurvy and wreck were not the only perils of the sea.

Towards the close of the seventeenth cnntufy the Indian

Ocean began to be frequented by pirates, who woie ready

when opportunities offered to pillage the eoiists us well m to

seize defenceless ships. Among them was thn I'lunons Captain

Kidd.

On the 2nd of May 1693 a small armed bi'ly;antine under

English colours, with her main mast gone, pnl Inf^j Haldanha

Bay. There was a ship belonging to the KnKlish East India

Company lying in Table Bay, and her olJii!<M's assured the

governor that the stranger was a pirate, ui'i^lnm: him at the

same time to take her in custody. An avnntd vessel was
thereupon sent to Saldanha Bay to ascertain particulars.

The brigantine was found to have two eondieting sets of

papers, and to bear traces of having been in an engagement.

Her master, George Dew by name, stated that lie was from

the Bermudas, bound to Madagascar for a cargo of slaves,

and that his crew consisted of twenty-four men, Tlie vessel

was called the Amy. The Dutch officers considered that they

were justified in seizing her, and they brought her to Table

Bay. Twenty-four hours after she was in fclndr possession

some men were found concealed on board, when her crew

reached a total of thirty-five.
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There was no doubt as to her true character, so she was
condemned, and was kept for use by the Cape government.

Captain Dew and his men were sent prisoners to Europe.

But it was found impossible to prove legally that Dew was a

pirate, and he then put in a claim for damages against the

Company and caused the directors much trouble and expense.

In 1695 the directors issued instructions that as soon as

possible farming and cattle dealing should be given up by

the Cape government. They were disposed to call for tenders

to supply the garrison and fleets with beef and mutton, and
to allow the colonists to purchase cattle from the Hottentots

and fatten them for sale to the contractors. But no steps

towards carrying these instructions into effect were taken

until some years later.

Between the years 1691 and 1700 the following names of

burghers are first found in the records of the colony

:

Bakhuizen de Haas Odendaal

Bisseaux Heems Oertman

Bloem Helm Pleunis

de Boer Heyning van Rensburg

Brink Hoflfman le Riche

Coenradie Hubner Rotterdam

Couvret van Jaarsveld van de Sande

Cronjd Kerver Scheflfer

Delport de Kock Schryver

van Deventer Kruisman Slabbart

Diemer Lutters Swanepoel

Donker Maritz Syfer

Dumont van Meerland de Vos

Faber Menssinck Wiederhold

Fleuris Mouton Willenise

Gardiol Mouy Wynoch

Haak Niel Zevenhoven

Before the year 1692 Simon van der Stel enjoyed the

esteem and affection of nearly every European in South

Africa except the French immigrants, but about this date a

different feeling began slowly to develop. He was now a

disappointed man, for his dream of earlier years, to form
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here a purely Dutch settlement, had been thwarted. The

love of wealth had grown upon him, and his farm Constan-

tia, already beautified with vineyards and avenues of young

oaks, year by year occupied more of his attention. The

strong personal interest which he had taken in the welfare

of the colonists seemed to them to be dying out. And a

comparison of the records of the first twelve years of his

administration with those of the last seven shows that a

change in his feelings had really taken place, for the enthu-

siastic language of the first period gives way to cold official

expressions in the last. Still there were no open complaints,

and to strangers and others who could not see beneath the

surface everything appeared to be working smoothly.

The directors continued to hold a very high opinion of

the governor. In 1692 they conferred upon him the rank

and title of councillor extraordinary of Netherlands India,

and when in 1696 he requested peryaission to resign, so as to

spend the evening of his life in comparative freedom from

care, they named his eldest son as his successor. The newly

appointed governor could not immediately leave i-iie Nether-

lands, however, and it was not until the 23rd of January 1699

that he and his family reached South Africa.

After handing over the administration on the 11th of

February 1699, Simon van der Stel retired to his farm Con-

stantia, where he had built a large and handsome residence.

There during the next thirteen years strangers of note were

always sure of a hearty reception, and the hospitality of the

late governor was so great that his house was seldom or

never without visitors. He devoted his remaining years

chiefly to agriculture and cattle rearing. On the 11th of

March 1699 he obtained from the commissioner Daniel Heins

a grant in freehold of Zeekoe Vlei with the ground surround-

ing it an hour's walk in diameter, and on the 1st of February

1 700 the commissioner Wouter Valckenier granted him the

use of the Steenbergen for the term of his life. Practically

therefore he had the whole peninsula beyond his property

as a cattle run. The wine which he made was the best in

the colony. The burghers believed that he possessed some
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secret for manufacturing it, and strangers attributed its

quality to the care which he took in pressing and ferment-

ing, but it is now known that it owed its flavour to the soil.

The late governor did not confine his attention whoUy
to these pursuits, and was always ready to embark in any
undertaking that promised large returns. In June 1711,

when he was nearly seventy-two years of age, in company
with the burgher Johannes Phyffer he entered into a contract

with the council of policy to supply for five years dried and
salted fish, in which the partners secured a monopoly of

fishing and seal hunting at Saldanha Bay, on condition of

an annual payment of twenty-five leggers of train oil.

Simon van der Stel died on the 24th of June 1712. His
remains were buried beneath the pavement of the church
in Table Valley. A monument to his memory was erected

behind the pulpit, but when during the present century the

church was enlarged, it with everything else of its kind was
removed and never restored.
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CHAPTER XVII.

WILHEM ADRIAAN VAN DER STEL, GOVERNOR, INSTALLED

11 FEBRUARY 1699; HELD OFFICE UNTIL 3 JUNE 1707.

Appointment of Wilhcin Adriaan van dor Stcl as governor—Search for islands

with forests on them—Tree planting—Visit of a pirate to Saldanha Bay

—

Seizure of a pirate vessel in Table liaj'—Completion of the new hospital

—

Tour of the governor—Inspection of the Tulbagh basin—Naming of the
Witsenberg—Occupation by graziers of the country about Riebeek's Kasteel

and the Tulbagh basin—Formation of a small military outpost in the

Tulbagh basin—Permission to the burghers to jiurchase cattle from the

Hottentots—Contract for supply of meat—Cattle breeding hencefortli a
favourite pursuit of colonists—Troubles with Bushmen—Dealings with
Hottentots—Church matters—Discontinuance of the use of the F'rench

language in the church at Drakenstein—Proceedings of a marauding party

—Wreck of the Meresteyn—Expedition to Natal—An Jinglish resident at

Natal—Fruitless efforts of the directors and the Cape government to make
South Africa a wool-producing country—Experiment in silk culture

—

Placing of partridges and pheasants on Eobben Island—Long drought

—

Increase of population—Want of sympathy between the government and
the colonists—Extensive farming operations by the governor and other

officials—Complaints of the colonists to the supreme authorities—Violent

action of the governor—Arrest of various burghers and their committal to

prison—Banishment of a burgher to Batavia and of four others to Europe
—Defiance of the government by the country people—Action of the direc-

tors in the Netherlands—Eecall of the governor and other officials—Arrival

of the newly a])pointed secunde Johan Cornells d'Ableing and transfer of

the administration to him—Views of the colonists and of the directors as

to the rights of burghers.

WiLHEM Adriaan van der Stel had for ten years been

filling various offices in the city of Amsterdam, among others

that of judge, when the Assembly of Seventeen, in recogni-

tion of his father's services, offered him the appointment of

councillor extraordinary of India and governor of the Cape

Colony and its dependency the island of Mauritius. He had

once resided here for a short time, and was well acquainted

with the circiTiustances of the country. There is nothing in

the records or contemporary publications to indicate what
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tnannnr of man he was in personal appearance, though the

doiaib of his administration are given very minutely.

Notwithitandi ig the pains taken by the late governor to

promote tree pin iting, there was a scarcity of timber and

fuel at the Cape. It was a difficult matter to supply the

ihipN with firewood. Some skippers reported that in passing

by two islands, named Dina and Marseveen, in latitude 41°

or 42' 80uth and about four hundred sea miles from the Cape,

they had observed fine forests, which they suggested should

bo examined. The master of the galiot Wezd was therefore

in«tnicted to proceed to the locality indicated, to inspect the

forodtH closely, and ascertain what quantity of timber was
to b(3 had. The \Vezd sailed from Table Bay on the 31st of

March 1009, but returned on the 13th of May with a report

that the search for the islands had been fruitless.

The governor, like his father, regarded the cultivation of

troon as a matter of great importance. During the first

whiter after his arrival twenty thousand young oaks were

phuited in the kloofs at Stellenbosch and Drakenstein where

the native forests had been exhausted, and over ten thousand

were sot out in the Cape peninsula. In the winter of 1701

ii further supply was sent to Stellenbosch from the nursery

in Table Valley, and the landdrost was instructed to have

them planted along the streets.

On the 10th of May 1699 intelligence was received at

the castle that a pirate vessel with an English crew had put
into Saldanha Bay and taken pofcsession of some galiots and
decked boats belonging to the Company and to private in-

dividuals, there being nothing else to plunder within reach.

Two ships were at once sent to try and capture her, but

before they could reach the bay she had sailed. She had
taken the little vessels outside, but had then abandoned them,

after her master had generously presented four negroes to

the owner of one, in return for his stores. A few weeks
after this a squadron of English men-of-war touched here on
thoir way to the Mozambique Channel, where they wc^e

about to cruize in search of pirates.

On the 28th of December an English vessel named the

11.
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Margate put into Table Bay. Her master stated that he was

from Madagascar, bound to the Bermudas with one hundred

and twenty slaves. Another English vessel, named the Loyal

Merchant, was lying at anchor in the bay. Captain Lowth,

who commanded her, had a commission from King William,

authorising him to search for rovers and seize them. He
examined the Margate, and then took possession of that

vessel on the ground that she had been engaged in piracy.

The governor protested against this violation of a Dutch

port, but to no effect, for Captain Lowth kept his prize and

took her away with him. He also examined another English

vessel which put in before he left, but released her after two

days detention.

In this year, 1699, the new hospital was completed. On
the 24th of October it was opened for use, when the sick

were moved Into it from the old building on the beach.

On the 23rd of November the governor with a party of

attendants set out on a tour of inspection of the settlement.

He visited Stellenbosch, Drakenstein, and the farms about

the Tigerberg, where he found some persons to whom no

ground had yet been allotted. The country was inhabited

by Europeans, though thinly, nearly as far as the present

village of Hermon. Small Hottentot kraals were scattered

about, but their occupants were found to be very poor and

very lazy.

Keeping down the Berg river, the range of mountains on

the right was reported to be tenanted by Bushmen, who were

in the habit of descending from their fastnesses and plunder-

ing the burghers and Hottentots below. The range was on

this account known as the Obiqua mountains. The governor

crossed over at a place since termed the Eoodezand pass,

just beyond the gorge through which the Little Berg river

flows, and entered the valley now called the Tulbagh basin.

Though not greatly elevated, this basin is in the second

of the steps by which the mainland of South Africa rises

from the ocean to the range of mountains enclosing the

central plain. If a cane with a large round head be laid

upon soft ground, the mark will give an idea of its form.
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The hollow caused by the head of the cane will represent

the basin, the long narrow groove will indicate the valley

between the Obiqua mountains and a parallel range six or

seven miles further inland. The Breede river has its source

in the third terrace, and, rushing down a gorge in the interior

range, now called Michell's pass, flows south-eastward through

the valley. Close to Michell's pass the mountain retires, but

shortly sweeps round and joins the Obiqua range, the key-

stone of the arch thus formed being the Great Winterhoek,

six thousand eight hundred and forty feet in height, the

loftiest peak visible from the Cape.

It was the basin thus enclosed that the governor and his

party entered. It was found to be drained by the Little Berg

river and its numerous tributary rills, whose waters escape

through a gorge in the Obiqua mountains, and flow north-

westward. The watershed between the Breede and Little

Berg rivers is merely a gentle swell in the surface of the

ground. At the foot of Michell's pass, at the present day, a

mill race is led out of the Breede and turned into the Little

Berg, and thus a few shovels full of earth can divert water

from the Indian to the Atlantic ocean.

The basin excels all other parts of South Africa in the

variety and splendour of its wild flowers, which in early

spring almost conceal the ground. It was too late in the

season for the governor's party to see it at its best, still the

visitors were charmed with its appearance. Very few
Hottentots were found. In the recesses of the mountains

were forests of magnificent trees, and although the timber

could not be removed to the Cape, it would be of great use to

residents. Immigrants were arriving in every fleet from the

Netherlands, so the governor resolved to form a settlement

in the valley, where cattle breeding could be carried on to

advantage. Agriculture, except to supply the wants of

residents, could not be pursued with profit, owing to the

difficulty of transport. The governor named the basin the

Land of Waveren, in honour of a family of position in

Amsterdam. The range of mountains enclosing the valley on
the inland side and stretching away as far as the eye could

c 2
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reach, as yet without a name, he called the Witsenberg-,

after the justly esteemed burgomaster Nicholas Witsen of

Amsterdam. The Land of Waveren has long since become

the Tulbagh Basin, but one may be allowed to hope that the

Witsenberg will always be known by the honoured name it

has borne since 1699.

Several burghers who had been living at Drakenstein

were now permitted to graze their cattle at Riebeek's Kasteel,

and on the 31st of July 1700 some recent immigrants from

Europe were sent to occupy the Land of Waveren. As
it was the rainy season, the families of the immigrants

remained at the Cape until rough cottages could be put up
for their accommodation. At the same time a corporal and

six soldiers were sent to form a military post in the valley

for the protection of the colonists. This post was termed

the Waveren outstation, and was maintained for many years.

On the IGth of October several additional families were

forwarded to the new district to obtain a living as graziers.

Ever since 1658 trade between the burghers and the

Hottentots was strictly forbidden. The chief object was to

prevent any act that might bring on a collision with the

natives. In opposition to the law, however, parties of deserters

and other persons of loose character carried on a cattle trade,

and were often guilty of conduct that cannot be distinguished

from robbery. Governor Simon van der Stel thought to check

this by threatening more severe punishment, and on the 19th

of October 1697 he issued a placaat in which the barter of

cattle from Hottentots was prohibited, under penalty of whip-

ping, branding, banishment, and confiscation of property.

The directors disajsproved of this. They were disposed

to allow the colonists to purchase cattle from the Hottentots

and fatten them for sale to such persons as would contract

to supply the garrison and fleets with beef and mutton.

They therefore annulled the placaat, and on the 27th of July

1699 issued instructions that the cattle trade should be

thrown open, on condition that the burghers should supply

draught oxen to the government whenever required, at

fourteen shillings each.

iiiii \
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The council of policy had then no option, but was under

the necessity of obeying orders. Tenders were called for,

and in February 1700 the burgher Henniiig Huising entered

into a contract to supply the garrison, hospital, and Com-
pany's fleets with beef and mutton at twopence halfpenny

a pound, he to have the use of the Company's slaughter-

houses and as a cattle run the whole of the district of Groen

Kloof that was not occupied by Hottentots. The contract

was signed provisionally for ten years, but the directors

reduced it to five. With this transaction the Company
designed to relinquish sending expeditions into the interior

to purchase cattle, as had been the custom for nearly half a

century ; and henceforth it was only when draught oxen

were needed that military bartering parties went inland.

By a placaat of the council of policy presided over by the

commissioner Wouter Valckenier, on the 28th of February

1700 the trade was thrown open to the burghers, with such

restrictions as were considered necessary to prevent its abuse.

From this date cattle breeding became a favourite

pursuit with yearly increasing numbers of colonists. There

was as much to be madf^ by it as by agriculture, and it was
attended with less expense and less anxiety. The govern-

ment gave permission to applicants to use land for grazing

purposes at some defined locality, but if the pasture failed

or did not prove as good as was anticipated, the occupiers

did not hesitate to seek other and better places.

With the enlargement of the settlement in this manner,

fresh troubles arose with the Bushmen. In March 1701 a

band of these robbers drove off forty head of cattle from

Gerrit Cloete's farm at Riebeek's Kasteel. A commando of

ten soldiers and thirty burghers was sent after the de-

predators, but was unable to find them. A temporary

military post was then established at Vogel Vlei, at the foot

of the Obiqua mountains.

This protection soon proved to be insufficient. In April

Gerrit Cloete was again robbed, and eleven head of cattle

were lifted from the Waveren post. A commando of twelve

soldiers and fifty burghers was then organised to clear the



22 History of South Africa

It

country of Bushmen, but did not succeed in effecting its

object. It was hardly disbanded when one hundred and
thirty-seven head of cattle were lifted within sight of the

Vogel Vlei post. Upon this a reinforcement of six mounted

soldiers was sent to each of the two posts, and twelve men
were stationed at Eiebeek's Kasteel.

The Goringhaiqua and Cochoqua Hottentots now tendered

their services to assist the Europeans against the Bushmen,
and requested that the captain Kees, who was then living at

Groen Kloof, might be recognised as their leader in the

expedition. But it was discovered that Kees, who had

suffered severely from the Bushmen, had already joined a

commando of Gerrit Cloete's friends, and that the joint force

was scouring the Obiqua mountains. On receipt of this

information, the governor sent instructions to the landdrost

of Stellenbosch to have Cloete arrested and brought to trial

for waging war without leave, and to ascertain and send in

the names of those who had joined him in the expedition.

The prosecution fell through, and the governor thought

it best after this to send out only parties of soldiers £„gainst

the robbers. In September one of these parties recovered

one hundred and twenty head of cattle belonging partly to

burghers and partly to Hottentots; but in the following

month more than two hundred head belonging to the con-

tractor Henning Huising were lifted at Groen Kloof, and a

patrol of thirty- five soldiers was obliged to fall back from

Piketberg, where the Bushmen made a resolute stand.

In November a sergeant and ten men were sent to form

a permanent military post at Groen Kloof. In the Land of

Waveren forty head of cattle, mostly belonging to Etienne

Terreblanche, were seized by Bushmen, and one of the soldiers

who tried to recover them was killed. Two hundred and

seventy-four head belonging to Hottentot kraals at Riebeek's

Kasteel were driven oflF, but a party of soldiers followed the

robbers to Twenty-four Eivers, and retook most of the spoil.

In trying to aflFord protection, no distinction was made by
the government between burghers and Hottentots, the

ofl&cers at the outposts being instructed to do their utmost
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to recover cattle stolen by Bushmen and deliver them to

their proper owners whoever these might be.

In 1702 the military patrols were kept busy on behalf of

the Hottentots, for no complaints of depredations were made
by burghers. A large number of cattle were recovered and

restored to various kraals, and so many Bushmen were shot

that the robbers seem to have been terrified. At any rate

they gave less trouble during the next few years, though

occasionally it was necessary to chastise them. The sergeants

and corporals in command of the outposts were directed to

endeavour to induce the Bushmen to keep the peace. When
those wild people committed depredations they were to be

followed up and punished, but under no circumstances were

they to be attacked without provocation. The ruthless

nature of the warfare pursued by the Bushmen was evidenced

in February 1702, when a Hottentot captain came to the

castle and reported that they had killed live of his wives and

every one of his children.

There is little else on record concerning the Hottentots

at this period. Some of them made such complaints of the

rapacity and violence of burgher trading parties that the

council of policy provisionally suspended the liberty of free

barter, and, owing to the governor's representations, in 1703

the Assembly of Seventeen withdrew the privilege. Com-
mercial intercourse between the two races was again made
illegal, and the European graziers were chiefly depended upon

to provide as many cattle as were needed.

In September 1704 several Namaqua captains visited the

Cape, when an agreement of friendship was made with them.

This tribe, like the others with which the Europeans had
come in contact, at once accepted as a matter of course the

position of vassals. This was shown in October 1706, when
three Namaqua captains came to the castle for the purpose

of requesting the governor to confirm their authority. They
were kindly treated, their request was complied with, and

they left carrying with them presents of beads and other

trifles and copper-headed canes upon which the new names
given to them—Plato, Jason, and Vulcan—were inscribed.
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Thenceforth they were termed allies of the Honourable

Company. The number of captains mentioned as having

applied for staffs is an indication that the tribes were now
more broken up than formerly. Sometimes a clan re-

quested the appointment of a regent, as its hereditary

captain was a minor. There are instances of clans applying

for a brother of a deceased captain to be appointed in his

stead, but in such cases they always gave as a reason that

the dead chief had left no children. Teuds between clans

of the same tribe caused frequent disturbances, though these

same clans usually acted together against the adjoining

tribe.

After the removal in 1691 of the Rev. Pierre Simond to

Drakenstein, there was no resident clergyman at Stellenbosch

for nearly nine years. Once in three months the clergyman

of the Cape visited the vacant church and administered the

sacraments, and occasionally the Rev. Mr. Simond attended

for the same purpose. On the remaining Sundays the sick

comforter conducted the services. At length the Assembly

of Seventeen appointed the Rev. Hercules van Loon, who
had once baen acting clergyman of the Cape, resident

clergyman of Stellenbosch. He arrived from the Nether-

lands on the 11th of April 1700.

In April 1678 the foundation of a church in Table

Valley had been laid, but with that the work had ceased.

For another quarter of a century services were conducted in

a large hall within the castle. But in course of time the

poor funds accumulated to a considerable amount, and the

consistory then consented to apply a sum equal to 2,200^ of

our money to the erection of the building. As the original

plan was now considered too small, it was enlarged, and a

new foundation stone was laid by the governor on the 28th

of December 1700. By the close of the year 1703 the

edifice was finished, except the tower. The first service in

it was held on the 6th of January 1704, the Rev. Petrus

Kalden being the preacher. Of the building then con-

structed the tower and end walls still remain, these forming

part of the side walls of the present church.
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At Drakenstein service was conducted sometimes in the

front room of a farmer's house, sometimes in a largebam, there

being as yet no church building. There was a French clergy-

man, who was assisted by a French sick comforter. In April

1700 a sick comforter and schoolmaster was first appointed

for the Dutch portion of the congregation, that had previously

been neglected. An able and zealous man named Jacobus

de Groot, who was returning from India to Europe, was de-

tained here for the purpose.

The Rev. Mr. Simond had prepared a new version in

metre of the psalms of David, which he was desirous of sub-

mitting to a synod of the French churches, as great interest

had been taken in the work by the Huguenots in Europe.

He therefore tendered his resignation, to the regret of the

Drakenstein people, and requested permission to return to

the Netherlands. The Assembly of Seventeen consented to

his request, on condition of his remaining until the arrival

of the Rev. Hendrik Bek, whom they appointed to succeed

him. Mr. Bek reached the Cape in April 1702, and was
installed at Drakenstein a few weeks later.

There was a desire on the part of the directors that

in the families of the Huguenot immigrants the French

language should be superseded by the Dutch as speedily as

possible. It was only a question of time, for the proportion

of French speaking people was too small compared with

those of Dutch and German descent for their language to

remain long in use in the mixed community. The new
clergyman understood French, but at the direction of the

Assembly of Seventeen conducted public worship in Dutch.

The sick comforter, Paul Roux, continued ministrations to

the Huguenots in their own language.

This arrangement created much dissatisfaction. The
French immigrants sent in a memorial requesting that the

Rev. Mr. Bek should be instructed to preach in their lan-

guage once a fortnight. They stated that they comprised

over a hundred adults, not more than twenty-five of whom
understood sufficient Dutch to gather the meaning of a

sermon. There was also even a larger number of children
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of their nationality. The council of poUfiy )'(«(;oinnieii(]ed

the memorial to the favourable consideration of tlio Assembly
of Seventeen ; but before action could be i\\km\ tipon it, the

Eev. Mr. Bek requested to be removed to Ht»llrjfibo»oh as

successor to Mr. Van Loon, who died by \\\% owti lin-iul on
the 27th of June 1704. The directors thou ii.p|>oititred the

Eev. Engelbertus Franciseus le Boucq clert^ymtiii of Draken-
stein, and gave instructions that upon him (irHval from
Batavia Mr. Bek should be transferred to Htfjllonbosch.

They gave the council of policy permiswiuu to allow the

French language to be used alternately with tho Dutch in

the church sei-vices at Drakenstein, if it should ««em advis-

able to do so.

The newly appointed minister did not Wftch the Cape
until the 30th of March 1707. Mr. Bek i\\m took charge

of the Stellenbosch congregation, which had hmw for nearly

three years without a clergyman, except in\m in three

months when he had preached and admini«tin'(*d the sacra-

ments. Mr. Le Boucq should have taken up the duties in

the parish to which he had been appointed, but instead of

doing so, he got into difficulties at the Capo, as will be re-

lated fj the next chapter, and Drakensteiu was for several

years without a resident clergyman.

In the evening of the 3rd of April 1702 the outward
bound ship Meresteyn, an Indiaman of the flrsi class, ran

ashore on Jutten Island, and in less than au hour broke into

little pieces. Her skipper was endeavouriugf to reach Sal-

danha Bay, and the ship was in a heavy «urf before any one

on board suspected danger. The majority of her crew were
lost, as also were two women and five chjldrou passengers for

the Cape. Ninety-nine persons managed to reneh the shore.

In March 1702 a marauding party eoudistiug of forty-

five white men and the same number of Hottentots, whose
deeds were afterwards prominently brought to light, left

Stellenbosch, and remained away seven iiionths. They
travelled eastward until they reached the ueiglibottrhood of

the Fish river, where at daylight one moruitig they were

attacked unexpectedly and without provocation by a, band of.
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Kosa warriors who were fugitives from their own country

and were living in friendship with the Hottentots. The
assailants were beaten off, followed up, and when they turned

and made another stand, were defeated again, losing many
men. One European was killed. The party then commenced
a career of robbery, excusing their acts to themselves under

the plea that they were undertaken in retaliation. They fell

upon the Gonaquas and other Hottentot hordes, shot many
of them, and drove off their cattle.

The perpetrators of these scandalous acts were not brought

to justice. In after years when the governor and the colo-

nists were at variance, and each party was endeavouring to

blacken the reputation of the other, the governor stated that

they were in league with the colonists and were too numerous

to be punished without ruining half the settlement. This

statement was, however, indignantly contradicted by the

most respectable burghers, who asserted that the marauding

Europeans were miscreants without families or homes, being

chiefly fugitives from justice and men of loose character

who had been imprudently discharged from the Company's

service. The burghers maintained that they ought to have

been panished. The names of the forty-five white men who
formed the robber band are given. Forty of them are quite

unknown in South Africa at the present day, and the re-

maining five are of that class that cannot be distinguished

with certainty, so that the assertions of the burghers are

strongly borne out.

Owing chiefly to the scarcity of timber and fuel, in 1 705

it was resolved to send an expedition to Natal and the ad-

joining coast, to make an inspection of the country, and
particularly of the forests which were known to be there.

The schooner Centaurus, which had been built at Natal in

1686-7, principally from timber growing on the shore of the

lagoon, was a proof that the wood was valuable, for she had

been in use nearly fourteen years before needing repair.

The galiot Postlooper was made ready for the expedition.

Her master, Theunis van der Schelling, had visited Natal

when he was mate of the Noord in 1689 and 1690, and
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therefore knew tlie harbour. He was instructed to make a

thorough exploration of the forests, and to frame a chart of

the coast. A sailor who was expert in drawing pictures was

sent to take sketches of the scenery.

The Postlooper sailed on the 20th of November 1705.

She reached Natal on the 29th of December, md found the

bar so silted up that she could only cross iit high water.

Ther^ were not so many cattle in the neighbourhood as there

had been sixteen years before. Wood still remained in con-

siderable quantities.

In December 1G89 a purchase of the lagoon and sur-

rounding land had been made from the chief then living at

Port Natal, and had been recorded in a formal contract, two

copies of which had been drawn up. The one kept by the

Dutch officers had been lost when the Noord was wrecked in

January 1690, and the master of the Postlooper had therefore

received instructions to endeavour to procure the other, that

had been left with the chief, in order that a notarial copy

might be made. The chief who sold the ground was dead,

and his son was now the head of the tribe or clan, whichever

it may have been. Upon Skipper Van der Schelling making
inquiry of him concerning the document, the chief stated

that he knew nothing about it, and supposed it had been

buried with his father's other personal efiects. It was evi-

dent that he did not recognise the sale as binding upon him
or his people.

At Natal an Englishman was found who gave his name
as Vaughan Goodwin, and who stated that he was a native

of London. He had two wives and several children. His

story was that he had arrived there in February 1699 in a
vessel named the Fidele, and with two others had been left

behind by Captain Stadis, who purposed to form a settle-

ment. They were to keep possession of the place until

Captain Stadis should return, which he promised them
would certainly be within three years ; but he had not yet

appeared. In 1700 the natives had killed the other white

men.

The life which Goodwin was leading seemed so attractive
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to two of the Postlooper'a crew that they ran away from the

vessel. When crossing the bar in leaving Natal the galiot

lurched, and the tiller struck the skipper in the chest and

hurt him so badly that he became unfit for duty. There

was no one on board who could take his place, so the vessel

returned to the Cape without any further attempt at ex-

ploration being made by her crew. She dropped anchor

again in Table Bay on the 8th of March 1706.

The directors were desirous of procuring sheep's wool

from South Africa, as some samples sent to Europe were

pronounced of excellent quality. They were of opinion that

if it could be produced at eight pence a pound, they would

be able to make a good profit from it, and the colonists

would have another reliable source of income. Instructions

were sent to the government to have this industry taken

in hand by the burghers. But it was not a pursuit that

commended itself to South African farmers at that time.

Although a good many European sheep had been imported

in formei years, there were very few of pure breed left,

nearly all having been crossed with the large tailed native

animal. It was common'/ believed that woolled sheep were

more subject to scab than others, and the havoc created by

that disease was often so great that the farmers were in con-

stant dread of it. Then there was the expense of separate

herds. Further the carcase of the woolled sheep was not so

valuable as that of the other, so that the graziers who bred

for slaughter could not be induced even to make experi-

ments.

In 1700 the government sent home two hundred and

eighty-five pounds of wool shorn from sheep belonging to

the Company. This was received with favour, but instead

of increasing, the quantity fell off in succeeding years. In

1703 one small bale was all that could be obtained. It

realised about fifteen pence English money a pound on the

market in Amsterdam. In 1704 a very small quantity was

procured, in 1705 none at all, and in 1706 one hundred and

fou. ' 3en pounds. In the mean time the governor took the

matter in hand as a private speculation. He collected all
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the wool-beariiig sheep in the settlement at a farm of his

own, wrote to Europe for rams and ewes of good breed and

to Java for some Persian sheep, and was about to give the

industry a fair trial when he was recalled.

The governor had previously endeavoured to introduce

the culture of silk. He made experiments with the white

mulberry, which was found to grow and thrive well, but the

silkworms which he obtained from imported eggs all died.

He then gave up the trial, being of opinion that the mulberry

was in leaf at the wrong season of the year for worms from

the south of Europe.

A less important bat more successful experiment made
by this governor was placing partridges and pheasants on

Robben Island to breed.

From 1698 to 1705 the seasons were very unfavourable

for farming, and no wheat could be exported. In 1700 it

became necessary to import rice from Java, as there was not

suflBcient grain in the country for the consumption of the

people and the supply of fresh bread to the crews of ships.

In 1705 the long drought broke up, and the crops were very

good ; but as the wheat was being reaped heavy rain set

in and greatly damaged it. There was, however, a surplus

above the requirements of the country, and in 1706 exporta-

tion was resumed and fourteen hundred muids were sent to

Batavia.

The population of the colony was at this time increasing

rapidly. The families of the burghers were generally large,

they married at an early age, and no young women remained

single. From Europe every year a few settlers were received.

A custom had come into vogue of allowing soldiers and con-

valescent sailors to engage for short periods as servants to

burghers, their wages and cost of maintenance being thus

saved to the Company, while they were at hand in case of

need. From a hundred to a hundred and fifty of the garrison

and seamen were commonly out at service. A great many
slaves were being introduced from Madagascar and Mozam-
bique.

The bad seasons tended to produce a spirit of restless-



IVilhem Adriaan van dcr Stel 31

^easing

large,

lained

Iceived.

td con-

mts to

thus

jase of

Lrrison

many
tozam-

sstless-

tifiHi among the farming population, which was increased

by the conduct of tho principal oflBcers of the government.

Hotween Wilhem Adriaan van der Stel and the colonists of

Houth Africa there was not the slightest feeling of sympathy.

Ill all the official documents of the period during which he

wan at tho head of aifairs, and the quantity is great, there is

not a wingle expression like * our own Netherlanders ' of his

father. He requested the directors indeed to send out in-

(hiHtrious Zealand farmers and no more French cadets, but

the sentence displays as little affection for the one class as

for the other.

The governor was engaged in farming for his own benefit

on a very large scale as things were estimated in those days.

Ho could not take ground for himself, but in February 1 700

A commissioner, Wouter Valckenier by name, holding autho-

rity from the governor-general and council of India, had
visited the Cape, and at his request granted him in freehold

four hundred morgen of land at Hottentots Holland. To
this he afterwards added by granting a tract of the adjoining

ground to a subordinate official, and then purchasing it from

that individual at a nominal rate. The estate he named
Vorgelegen,

Upon it he built a commodious dwelling house, with a

flour mill, a leather tannery, a workshop for making wooden
water pipes, wine and grain stores, an overseer's cottage, a

slave lodge, and very extensive outbuildings. He was in the

hfibit of frequently residing there for ten days or a fortnight

ttt a time, when public business was partly suspended. This

was concealed from the directors, for there is no mention of

Vorgelegen or of the governor's absence from the castle in

the official journal of occurrences or the correspondence of

tho period, copies of which were sent to Holland. On the

©state were planted nearly half a million vines, or fully one

fourth of the whole number in the colony in 1706. Groves,

orchards, and cornlands were laid out to a corresponding

extent. Beyond the mountains at various places the governor

had six or eight hundred large cattle and eight or ten thousand

sheep.
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The secunde, Samuel Elsevier, obtained a grant of the

farm Elsenburg, near Klapmuts. The Rev. Petrus Kalden,

clergyman of the Cape, in like manner obtained the farm

Zandvliet, between Stellenbosch and the head of False Bay»

These officials engaged in farming on a much smaller

scale than the governor ; but, in the case of the clergyman

especially, neglected their public duties to attend to their

private properties. The governor's brother, Frans van der

Stel, was a farmer at Hottentots Holland. His father was a
farmer at Constantia. The market for produce was small,

and all of these persons had an entry to it before the burghers,

could dispose of anything.

There has never been a people less inclined to submit to

grievances, real or imaginary, than the colonists of South

Afri a. Some of the farmers determined to complain to the

supreme authorities, and in 1705 privately forwarded to the

governor-general and council of India a list of charges. At
Batavia no action was taken in the matter. While the com-

plainants were awaiting a reply, one of their number, Adam
Tas by name, a native of Amsterdam and now a burgher of

Stellenbosch, drew up a memorial to the directors in the

Fatherland. This document contained thirty-eight para-

graphs, some of great length, in which the governor and the

others were accused of acting as has been stated, and the

governor was further charged with corruption, extortion, and

oppression.

It was affirmed that he employed the Company's servants

and slaves at his farm ; that he used the Company's materials

for building ; that his agents when sent to barter cattle from

the Hottentots had taken them by violence ; that he bought

wine at very low rates from those who could find no market for

it, and disposed of it at very high rates to strangers ; that in-

stead of licensing by auction four dealers in wine, to each of

whom the farmers could sell without restriction, he caused

the privilege of dealing in that article by retail to be sold as

a monopoly to a man who would buy his at a good price

;

and that he would make no grant of land without a bribe.

Some other offences of an equally serious nature were com-
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plained of. The memorial was signed by sixty-three indi-

viduals, thirty-one of whom were Frenchmen. Their inten-

tion was to send it to the directors with the return fleet in

the early months of 1706.

The official records of the early years of Wilhem Adriaan

van der Stel's administration, to which the burghers had no

access, prove that some of the most serious of the charges

against him were without foundation. One of his principal

opponents—Jacob van der Heiden—was at a later date

strongly suspected of having been guilty of dishonest prac-

tices himself, and there is good ground for believing that

the opposition of another—Henning Huising—arose from his

loss at the end of 1 705 of the lucrative contract he had held

for five years. At the instance of the governor, tenders were

called for, and four butchers were licensed, the price of meat
being fixed at a penny three farthings a pound to the Com-
pany and two pence to burghers. Huising resented this, and

as the contract had made him the richest man in the com-

munity, he could make his resentment felt.

But after taking these circumstances into consideration,

the charges that were unquestionably true make a formidable

indictment, and the majority of the governor's opponents

were the most godfearing and respectable men in the country.

Among them was J. W. Grevenbroek, recently an elder at

Stellenbosch, who took an active part in the movement,

though his name was not attached to the memorial.

With the arrival of the homeward bound fleet on the

4th of February 1706 it came to the governor's knowledge

that a document in which he was accused of malpractices

had been sent to Batavia in the previous year. He imme-
diately concluded that similar charges would be forwarded

to the Netherlands, and that a memorial embodying them
must be in existence ; but he was unable to learn where it

was, or who we^ e pai lies to it. The danger of his position

now drove him to acts of extreme folly as well as of tyranny.

He caused a certificate to be drawn up, in which he was
credited with the highest virtues, and the utmost satisfac-

tion was expressed with his administration. The burgher

U. D
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residents of the peninsula were invited to the castle, and
were then requested to sign this certificate. The landdrost

of Stellenbosch, Johannes Starrenburg by name, a base

sycophant who had held office since July 1705, was directed

to proceed with an armed party from house to house in the

country, and get the residents there to sign it also. By
these means two hundred and forty names in all were ob-

tained, including those of a few Asiatics and free blacks.*

Many, however, refused to afl^ their signatures, even under

the landdrost's threats that they would be marked men if

they did not.

The governor suspected that Adam Tas was the writer of

the memorial, so the landdrost was directed to have him ar-

rested. Early in the morning of Sunday the 28th of Feb-

ruary 1706 his house was surrounded by an armed party, he

was seized and sent as a prisoner to the castle, his premises

were searched,,and his writing desk was carried away. There

could be no truce after this between the governor and his

opponents, for if a burgher could be treated in this manner,

upon mere suspicion of having drawn up a memorial to the

high authorities, no man's liberty would be safe. Bail was
immediately offered for the appearance ofTas before a court

of justice, but was refused. He was committed to prison,

where he was kept nearly fourteen months.

In his desk was found the draft from which the memorial

to the directors had been copied. It was unsigned, but a

list containing a number of names and various letters which

were with it indicated several of those who had taken part

in the compilation. The completed memorial was at the time

in the house of a burgher in Table Valley, where it was in-

tended to be kept until it could be sent away with the return

fleet.

The governor thus became acquainted with the nature

and terms of the charges against him. Some of the accusa-

tions were so overdrawn that he felt confident the directors

upon reading them would acquit him of all, and in this belief

' This document is in as good a state of preservation as if it had been drawn

up yesterday.

si
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he did not hesitate to request that a competent and impar-

tial person might be sent out with the first opportunity to

examine matters.

On the 4th of March a number of ships' officers were in-

vited to assist in the deliberations of the council of policy,

;and the retired and acting burgher councillors were sum-

moned to give evidence. These answered a few questions

put to them by the governor, in a manner favourable to him.

The broad council then consented to the issue of a placaat,

in which all persons were forbidden to take part in any con-

spiracy or to sign any malicious or slanderous document

against the authorities of the country, under pain of severe

punishment. The ringleaders in such acts were threatened

with death or corporal chastisement. The fiscal and the

landdrost were authorised to seize persons suspected of such

c ile ^esi, and to commit them to prison. This placaat was

O" )llowing Sunday affixed to the door of the Stellen-

bosv '. „iiurch.

Within the next few days the governor caused the burghers

Wessel Pretorius and Jacob van der Heiden to be arrested and
committed to prison, Jan Rotterdam to be sent to Batavia,

and Pietervan der Byl, Henning Huising, Perdinandus Appel,

and Jan van Meerland to be put on board a ship bound to

Amsterdam. The burghers deported were informed that

they must answer before the supreme authorities at the places

of their destination to the charges of sedition and conspiracy

that would be forwarded by the Cape council, and if they

had any complaints they might make them there also.

By these highhanded proceedings the governor hoped to

terrify his opponents into signing the certificate in his favour

and denying the truth of the charges made against him. But
not one of those who were confined on board the ships in the

bay faltered for a moment. Their wives petitioned that the

prisoners might be brought to trial at once before a proper

court of justice, and when it was hinted that if they would

induce their husbands to do what was desired, release would

follow, these truehearted women indignantly refused.

The arrest and committal to prison of Nicholas van der

n 2
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Westhuizen, Christiaan Wynocli, Hans Jacob Kontermaiiy

and Nicholas Meyboora followed shortly. In the mean time

the memorial had been committed to the care of Abraham
Bogaert, a physician in the return fleet, who was refreshing-

himself on shore, and who had a very warm sympathy with

the burghers. On the 4th of April the fleet sailed, and when
at sea and all fear of search was over Bogaert delivered the

document to Henning Huising.

The anchors of the ships were being raised and the topsails

being sheeted home when the governor must have reflected

that he was making a great mistake in sending four of the

burghers to Europe. In great haste he embarked in a galiot

and followed the fleet as far as Eobben Island. In the official

records it is stated that he did this to show respect to the

admiral, but no such method of showing respect was practised

here before or since, and his opponents were probably right

when they asserted that his object was to overtake the ship

in which the burghers were, and release them. He did not

succeed in doing this, however.

Within a week or two further arrests were made, when
the burghers Jacob de Savoye, Pierre Meyer, Jacob Louw,

Jacob Cloete, and one or two others were placed in detention.

The health of some of the prisoners broke down under the

rigorous treatment to which they were subjected : one—Van
der Heiden—was confined for twenty-seven days in a foul

dungeon, with a black criminal as his companion. Most of

these then, to obtain their liberty, disowned the truth of the

assertions in the memorial, and expressed contrition for

having signed it. They excused themselves afterwards for

so doing by arguing that it could not affect the charges

against the officials, as these would be brought before the

directors by those who were then on their way to Europe.

And so after an imprisonment varying in duration from a

few days to a few weeks, all were released except Adam Tas

and Jacob Louw.

For a short time matters were now quiet, but on the

governor coming to learn the names of some more of his

opponents, Willem van Zyl, rran9ois du Toit, Guillaume
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du Toit, Hercules du Pr^, Comelis van Niekerk, Martin van

Staden, Jacobus van Brakel, Jan Elberts, and Nicholas

Elberts were cited to appear before the court of justice.

These came to a resolution not to obey the summons before

the decision of the directors should be known, and so they

failed t attend. They were cited by placaat, but in vain.

In consequence, on the 9th of August, by a majority of the

court of justice sitting with closed doors each of them was
sentenced for contumacy to be banished to Mauritius for five

years and to pay a fine of 4lZ. 13s. 4tZ., half for the landdrost

as prosecutor and half for the court. They were at the same
time declared incapable of ever holding any political or

military office in the colony.

This sentence was made public on the 23rd of August,

and it tended to increase the hostility to the government.

The military outposts, excepting those at Waveren, Klapmuts,

Oroen Vlei, and Saldanha Bay, at which twenty-four men in

all were stationed, had been broken up before this date, so

the burghers felt free to act.

In the early morning of the 18th of September the

farmers of Waveren, Riebeek's Kasteel, and Drakenstein

rode armed into the village of Stellenbosch, and at beat of

drum drew up near the landdrost's office. Starrenburg went
out to them, and requested the drummer to be still ; but that

individual, who was a Frenchman, kept on beating, only

observing that he did not understand Butch. Some persons,

to show their contempt for the landdrost, began to dance

round the drum- Others inquired why there was to be no

fair this year, such as there had always been since 1686.

Starrenburg replied that the Indian authorities had pro-

hibited it; but they would not believe him, and laid the

blame lipon the Cape government. Yet it was correct that

the Indian authorities were solely responsible in this matter,

as with a view to save expense, on the 29th of November
1 705 they had instructed the council of policy not to con-

tribute longer towards the prizes or to furnish wine and ale

at the cost of the Company. There was thus no kermis or

fair in 1 706 and later.
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After this the women expressed their views. The wives

of Pieter van der Byl and Wessel Pretorius, speaking for

all, informed the landdrost that they had no intention of

submitting to his tyranny, but were resolved to maintain

their rights. The spirit of the women of the country dis-

tricts was thoroughly roused, and their opposition was as

formidable as that of their husbands.' Starrenburg was
obliged to return to his house in humiliation. The burghers

remained in the village the whole day, setting him at defiance,

but otherwise preserving perfect order.

A few days later two of the persons sentenced to banish-

ment appeared in Stellenbosch without any support, and
jeered at the landdrost, who dared not attempt to arrest

them, as he could not even depend upon his subordinates.

All respect for the government was gone.

It was now arranged between the governor and the

landdrost that during the night of the 28th September,

after the closing of the castle gate, a party of soldiers

should march secretly to the Kuilen. At two o'clock in

the morning of the 29th the landdrost was to meet them
there, and was then before daylight to arrest those who
were believed to be the leaders of the defiant party. But

a constable at the Kuilen, who sympathised with the

burghers, managed to detain the party for a time, and

when they at length left to try and seize Cornelis van

Niekerk in his bed, the alarm had been given.

Daylight broke, no one had been captured, and there

was nothing left for the landdrost and the soldiers but to

retire to the village of Stellenbosch. No one there would

give any information or sell a particle of food to the troops,

and the landdrost was obliged to kill his own goats for their

use until provisions could be sent from the Cape. Starren-

burg having now soldiers at his back, the burghers sentenced

to exile fled to Twenty-four Rivers, where they concealed

themselves. The landdrost did his best to capture them,

• ' Maar Edele Gestrenge Heer, de wyven zyn alsoo gevaarlyk als de mans,

ea zyn niet stil.' Extract from letter of the landdrost Starrenburg to the-

governor Wilhem Adriaau van der iStel, 18th September 1706.
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and on the 4th of rebrnary 1707 succeeded in arresting

Hercules du Pre and Jacobus van Brakel, who were sent on

board the Mauritius packet. A month later Guillaume du
Toit was also arrested. During this time the governor

dismissed the heemraden and other otucers who had been

elected in the legitimate manner, and arbitrarily appointed

creatures of his own to the vacant places.

At this juncture the homeward bound fleet arrived from

Batavia, and in one of the ships was Jan Rotterdam, who
returned to the colony in triumph. The governor-general

and council of India had taken no notice whatever of the

charges made against him by the authorities here, but had
treated him with excep'ional kindness and given him a free

passage back. A ship also arrived from Europe, and brought

letters to some of the burghers, informing them that their

case had been decider' favourably by the directors. As yet

no official despatches had been received, but on the 16th of

April 1707 the Kattendyh from Texel cast anchor in Table

Bay, and her skipper, in presence of witnesses as he had
been instructed to do, delivered to the governor a letter

from the Assembly of Seventeen dated the 30th of October

1706.

Of the four burghers sent to Europe, one, Jan van

Meerland, died on the passage home. The others, on

arriving at Amsterdam, presented to the directors the

memorial which Tas had drawn up. The charges made by

the authorities at the Cape had already been received, as had

been the governor's denial of some of the statements made
by the burghers, and explanation of others. In a matter of

this kind it waj; necessary to act with promptitude as well

as with justice. The Company had numerous and powerful

enemies always watching for an opportunity to arraign it

before the States General, and a charge of oppression of free

Netherlanders in one of its colonies would be a formidable

weapon for them to use. A commission of investigation was
therefore appointed without delay, and the documents were

laid before it.

The commission sent in a report condemning the govern
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and those who acted with him, in conHeqiiorieu of which the

letter brought by the KattendyJt was writtun. It titinounced

that the governor Wilhem Adriaan van dei* Hfcol,tho secunde

Samuel Elsevier, the clergyman PetruB Kaldoti, and the

landdrost Johannes Starrenburg were removml from office

and ordered to proceed to Europe with tho t\vni opportunity.

The governor's brother, Frans van dor 8t<0, wnn to betake

himself to some place outride of the Company'^ poMiinHtiionB.

The burghers were acquitted of conspimuy, ilio three sent

to Europe were restored to their homes at IIih Company's
expense, and orders were given that if any whj'm in prison in

the colony they should be immediately ruhtaxt'd. It was
announced that Louis van Assenburgh, who had previously

been an officer in the army of the German lOmpi'ror, liad been
appointed governor, and Johan Cornelis d'AbhHtijjf, recently

commander at Palembang, secunde. In imnn neither of

these should arrive in the colony at an oarly date, the

administration was to be assumed by the imht|>(tndent fiscal

Johan Blcsius and the other members of tho council of

policy acting as a commission.

The Mauritius packet had not sailed whoti this letter

arrived, and the fiscal, who was directed by jho Assembly
of Seventeen to carry out their instructions, at once set at

liberty the five burghers Adam Tas, Jacob Loim, Jacobus van
Brakel, Hercules du Pre, and Guillaume du Tofi. The first

named henceforth called his farm Libei-tas, to mj|;;tiify that

freedom had been won, or, as he wittily explaitu^d to inquirers

as to the meaning of the term, to denote that Ths was free.

The place is still so called.

Next morning the council of policy met, It WHS resolved

that the administration should be transforiod to tho fiscal

and others on the 15th of May, if the nuwly afipointed

secunde, who was on his way out, shonld not iiri'ive before

that date. It was Sunday, and tho Rov, Mr. Knlden
preached twice in the church.

During the week an arrangement was mad** by which the

Eev. Messrs. Le Boucq and Bek should conduct tho services

on alternate Sundays at the Cape, and Mr, KiihJuti ceased to

I
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officiate. Starrenburg, whose last report was that the

mutineers were constantly reviling him and that only a

Masaniello was wanting to produce an open outbreak, was

sent by the fiscal on board a ship returning to Europe. An
officer named Samuel Martin de Meurs was appointed to act

provisionally as landdrost.

Johan Cornells d'Ableing, the newly appointed secunde,

arrived on the 6th of May 1707. He was a nephew of the

recalled governor Van der Stel, and, under pretence that the

books required to be balanced, postponed taking over the

administration until the 3rd of June. The recalled officials

could not then leave for Europe before the arrival of the

homeward bound fleet of the following year.

From the vast quantity of contemporaneous printed

and manuscript matter relating to the comj.!; ints against

Wilhem Adriaan van der Stel> the views of the direct'->rs and

of the colonists concerning the government of the country

and the rights of its people can be gathered with great

precision. In the Netherlands at that period representative

institutions, such as are now believed to be indispensable to

liberty, were unknown. Yet the people were free in reality

as well as in name. There is not a word expi^essing a wish

on the part of the burghers for an alteration in the form

of government, what they desired being merely that the

administration should be placed in honest hands, and that

their rights should be respected.

The directors desired to have here a large body of free-

men in comfortable circumstances, loyal to the Fatherland,

ready and willing to assist in the defence of the colony if

attacked, enjoying the same rights as their peers in Europe,

and without much diversity of rank or position. They
stated clearly and distinctly that the closer the equality

between the burghers could be preserved the more satis-

factory it would be to them. Positive orders were issued

that large tracts of land, upon which several families could

obtain a living, were not to be granted to any individual.

In giving directions concerning Vergelegen, they stated

.that as its grant by the commissioner Valckenier to the
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governor bad never been reported to them, they resumed pos-

session of the ground. The large dwelling house upon it,,

being adapted for ostentation and not for the use of a farmer,

must be broken down. The late governor could tiell the

material for his own benefit. The other buildings and im-

provements could be fairly valued, and the amount be paid

to Mr. Van der Stel, or he could break them down and dis-

pose of the materials if he preferred to do so. The ground

must then be divided into four farms, and each be sold

separately by auction.

An estate such as Vergelegen would by many people

to-day be considered useful as a model. Van der Stel had

imported the choicest vines, plants, and trees from foreign

countries, and was making extensive experiments there.

The ground was the most skilfully tilled in the whole country.

But the directors held that such a farm as this, owned by

one individual and cultivated chiefly by slave labour, could

not be of the same advantage to the infant colony as a
number of smaller ones, each in possession of a sturdy

European proprietor.

For this reason Frans van der Stel was required to sell

his property, and remove to some country not included in

the Company's charter. The former goveruor Simon van
der Stel was left in possession of his farm Constantia, but

directions were given that upon his death the other land

which he held should revert to the Company.
Emphatic instructions were issued that for the future no

servant of the Company, from the highest to the lowest, was
to own or lease land in the colony, or to trade directly or

indirectly in corn, wine, or cattle. Those who had landed

property could sell it, but if they should not do so within a

reasonable period, it would be confiscated. The burghera

were not to be molested in their right to dispose of their

cattle or the produce of their ground in any way that suited

them. They were to be governed in accordance with law

and justice.

On their part, the colonists claimed exactly the same
rights as if they were still living in the Fatherland. They
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held that any restrictions to which the early burgherB had

agreed were of a temporary nature, and aflFected only those

who consented to them. In their opinion they had forfeited

nothing by removal to a dependency, and the violence dis-

played by the governor towards Adam Tas and his associates

was as outrageous as if it had taken place in the city of

Amsterdam. They asserted their undoubted right to per-

sonal liberty, to exemption from arrest unless under reason-

able suspicion of crime, to admission to bail, to speedy trial

before a proper court of justice, to freedom to sell to any

one, burgher or foreigner, except under special circumstances

when restriction was needed for the good of the community,

whatever their land produced, after the tithes had been paid

and the Company's needs had been supplied. And these

claims, made in as explicit terms as they could be to-day by

an Englishman living in a crown colony, were not challenged

by the directors or even the partisans of the late governor,

but were accepted by every one as unquestioned.

The directors were fully aware that a colony of free

Netherlanders was to be ruled in a different manner from a

dependency inhabited by Asiatics.
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CHAPTER XVIII.

JOHAN C0RNEL18 d'ABLEING, 8E0UNDE, ACTING HEAD OF THE

GOVERNMENT, 3 JUNE 1707 TO 1 FEBRUARY 1708.

LOUIS VAN A88ENBURGH, GOVERNOR, INSTALLED 1 FEBRUARY

1708, DIED 27 DECEMBER 1711.

WILLEM HELOT, 8E0UNDE, ACTING HEAD OF THE GOVERN-

MENT, 28 DECEMBER 1711 TO 28 MARCH 1714.

Violent conduct of the Rev. Mr. Le Boucq—Church matters at the Cape,
Stellenboisch, and Drakenstein—Scene in the Cape church—Deportation of

the Rev. Mr. Le Boucq—Arrival of Governor Van Assenbuigh—Departure
of tlie recalled officials—Further proceedings against tlie late otlicials in

Amsterdam—Division and sale of Vergelegen—Visit of the commissioner
Simons—Regulations concerning the manumission of slaves—Series of good
seasons—Exportation of wheat to Datavia—Abandonment of the island of
Mauritius by the Dutch—Visit of the retired governor-general Van Hoom
—Instructions concerning the tithes of grain—Partial destruction of the
village of Stellenbosch by fire—PLacaat against destruction of trees

—

Neglect of tree planting—Definition of a boundary between the Cape and
Stellenbosch districts—Death of Governor Van Assenburgli—Election of

tlie secunde Willem Helot to act as head of the government—Enlargement
of the colony—False alarm concerning an inroad of the Great Namaquas

—

Wreck of the Hennehroek on the coast of Natal—Surtrrings of the sailors

who got to land^Friendly treatment of some of them by a native tribe

—

First appeartance of small pox in South Africa—Great loss of life—Effects

upon tlie Hottentot tribes in the neiglibourhood of the Cape—Some bad
seasons—Appointment of Colonel Maurits Pasques de Chavonnes as governor
of the Cape Colony and councillor extraordinary of Netherlands India-
Names of new colonists.

The only circumstance deserving note during the few

months that the secunde D'Ableing was at the head of the

government was the violent conduct of the Rev. Mr. Le
Boucq, which caused much disquiet in the community. That
clergyman had arrived at the Cape at a time of clamour and

strife, and instead of preaching peace, at once became a

promoter of further discord. He took side with the colonists,

though there was no good object to be gained by his entering

into the question of party politics, since all that the burghers
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had contended for was secured. He was conversant with

the Portuguese language, and could therefore have been of

greater service in India than here, but as he was of quarrel-

•omo disposition the authorities at Batavia were glad to get

rid of him.

Upon Mr. Le Boucq's arrival at the Cape, the Rev. Mr.

Bek removed to Stellenboseh, that the new clergyman might
enter upon his duties ; but as soon as he ascertained that

there was neither church nor parsonage at Drakenstein, he

declined to take up the work. Before any press* re could be

put upon him, the Rev. Mr. Kalden was suspenusid, and thfi

government then decided that Messrs. Bek and Le Bouco
ihould conduct the services at the Cape on alternate Sundays.

After tt little, the two ministers arranged between themselves

that Le Boucq should take all the services at the Cape, Mr.

Bok going occasionally to Drakenstein ; and to this the

government made no objection.

The Dutch sick comforter of Drakenstein had some rime

previously been transferred to the Cape, and the council now
resolved to send some one else there. On the 8th of Jure

1707 Mr. Hermanns Bosman, sick comforter of the ship

Overryp, was selected for the post. Thereafter he condu t>}d

iervice in Dutch, and Mr. Paul Roux in French, at the

houses of farmers at Drakenstein, except when the Rev. Mr.

Bek went over from Stellenboseh.

In the morning of Sunday the 28th of August 1707 the

congregation of the Cape assembled in tbe church and

listened to an exciting sermon prepared ai- cad by the

Rev. Mr. Le Boucq. He had chosen as text the first verse

of the 29th chapter of Proverbs, and had previously given

out the last two verses of the 149th
;
jiilm to be sung.

According to his exposition, the sa^aoS were the burghers

who had recently made a stand for freedom, the noble who
hardened his neck and was iii consequence destroyed was the

recalled governor Van der Stel. At the last election of

church officers, Abraham PouUe, who was in the government

icrvice, had been chosen elder, and the burgher Jan Ober-

holster, who submitted quietly to the ruling of the authorities.



46 History of South Africa

had been appointed deacon. When the service was ended,

the clergyman announced that these persons were deprived

of their offices, and exhorted the congregation not to ac-

knowledge them any longer.

This proceeding took most ofthe congregation by surprise,

and caused great excitement to many individuals. One
woman fainted, and was carried out of the church to the

hospital. No member of the government or of the consistory

anticipated anything of the kind, though they were accus-

tomed to very eccentric acts of the clergyman. The members
of the council of policy at once retired and held a consultation,

after which they sent a request to Mr. Le Boucq not to con-

duct service in the afternoon, a request which he construed

into an order.

Next morning he sent a letter to the council, in which
he asserted his right as a clergyman to depose elders and
deacons without assigning any reason for doing so, and pro-

tested against interference by lay officials in spiritual matters.

He followed this up by a letter on the 6th of September, in

which he stated that he did not intend to perform service

again until the council admitted his views to be correct.

Thereupon the council suspended payment of his salary,

and instructed Mr. Bek to assume duty at the Cape. Mr.
Kalden was requested to assist in the emergency, and showed
himself very willing to do so, by holding service occasionally

so as to allow Mr. Bek to visit Stellenbosch and Draken-
stein.

By the more violent members of the party which he hs
espoused Mr. Le Boucq was now regarded as a martyr. He
went about declaiming against the government, and stirring

up people's passions until it was considered necessary to

bring him to task. Certain language of his was reported to

the government, upon which it was intended to bring a.

charge. The principal witness was Maria Lindenhof, daugh-
ter of a clergyman in Overyssel, wife of Henning Huising,

and aunt of Adam Tas. Upon being questioned, she asserted

that she had forgotten what he had said. The court of jus-

tice then decided to confine \xf\x for eight days to her own
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house, and then to place her under civil arrest if she did

not in the mean time give correct evidence. She remained

obdurate, and after eight days was confined in a suite of

rooms in the castle. A petition for her release, signed by
Tas, Grevenbroek, Van der Byl, and twenty-four others, men
and women, was sent in, and after nine days detention in

the castle the government thought it best to liberate her.

Mr. Le Boucq next apppared before the court of justice

as a litigant in a case with the Rev. Mr. Kalden, and, upon
judgment being recorded against him, appealed to Batavia.

There also the decision was against him. In the mean time

the council of policy, in the belief that concord could not

be expected at the Cape as long as this quarrelsome clergy-

man was here, resolved, 17th of January 1708, to send him
back to Batavia with the first outward bound ship ; but it

was not until the 13th of the following September that this

resolution could be carried into effect.

On the 25th of January 1708 Governor Louis van Assen-

burgh arrived in Table Bay, and next morning he presided at

a meeting of the council of policy, though he did not at

once assume the direction of affairs. He had been eight

months on the passage from Holland, and had been obliged

to put into a port on the coast of Brazil. In the same ship

with the governor was the Rev. Johannes Godfried d'Ailly,

who had been appointed clergyman of the Cape, and who
preached here for the first time on the 5th of February.

Henning Huising, one of the deported burghers, was also

on board. He had entered into a contract with the directors

for the supply of half the meat required by the Company at

the Cape during the next three years, the object of dividing

the contract being to secure competition. Pieter van der

Byl and Ferdinandus Appel had reached the colony seven

months before.

When the arrival of the governor was known at Verge-

legen, Mr. Van der Stel sent a petition to the council of

policy requesting that he might be allowed to retain the

estate for a few months longer, as he had hopes that by the

next fleet from Europe intelligence would be received that
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the directors had mitigated their decision. The council

refused to comply, and the utmost that he could obtain was

permission to press the grapes then ripening and dispose of

half the wine on his own account, the other half to be for

the Company. The quantity pressed was fifty-six leggers.

On the 23rd of February Henning Huising summoned
Mr. Van der Stel before the court of justice for 3,056Z. in

addition to the value of nine thousand sheep. The late

governor then requested the council of policy to allow him
to remain in South Africa for another year, in order to get

evidence to defend himself in this case ; but upon Huising

stating that he preferred bringing the action in the Father-

land to being the means of keeping Van der Stel longer in

the colony, the council declined to accede to his request.

On the 23rd of April the return fleet sailed, taking to

Europe the late governor, secunde, and clergyman of the

Cape, with their families. Nineteen of the burghers em-
powered Adam Tas and Jacob van der Heiden to continue

pressing their charges against the recalled officials, for these,

though deprived of authority, were still servants of the

Company and in receipt of their salaries. Tas and Van der

Heiden therefore left in the same fleet. Another investiga-

tion took place in Amsterdam, which resulted in the absolute

dismissal of Van der Stel, Elsevier, and Kalden from the

Company's service. They left agents in the colony to dis-

pose of their estates and transmit the proceeds.

Verijelegen was divided into four farms, which were sold

by auction in October 1709. It was found on measurement

to contain six hundred and thirteen morgen. The large

dwelling house was broken down, and the material sold for

Van der Stel's benefit. The other buildings were taken over

by the Company for 025/., though the materials of which

they were constructed were appraised at a much higher sum.

The four farms brought 1,095/. at public sale, the purchasers

being Barend Gildenhuis, Jacob van der Heiden, Jacob

Malan, and the widow of Gerrit Cloete.

Frans van der Stel returned to Europe in the same fleet

with his brother, and took up his residence in Amsterdam.
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His wife, Johanna We^^sels^ was a daughter of one of the

leading burghers of the colony. She remained behind with

her parents to dispose of the property to the best advantage,

and did not leave to rejoin her husband in Amsterdam until

April 1717.

On the 1st of February 1708 Governor Louis van

Assenburgh was installed in office. He had been a brave

and skilful military officer, but in this country he speedily

developed a fondness for the pleasures of the table, which

caused him to be described as a winebibber. He carried

out the instructions of the directors, however, in letter and

in spirit, so that he won the regard of the burghers.

The return fleet of 1708 was under command of Cornells

Joan Simons, who had been the first independent fiscal at

the Cape, and had resided here in that capacity from 1690

to 1694. He had recently been governor of Ceylon, and

was now empowered by the governor-general and council of

India to act a,s commissioner during his stay in South

Africa. He issued a number of regulations, but the only

one which needs to be mentioned here is that referring to

the emancipation of slaves.

During the period that had elapsed since the first

appearance of the Dutch in India and Africa, the views of

Europeans with regard to African slavery had been gradually

changing. At first blacks were enslaved on the plea that

they were heathens, but a profession of Christianity sufficed

to free them and to place them on a level in civil rights with

their former masters. As time wore on, it became apparent

that in most instances emancipation meant the conversion of

a useful individual into an indolent pauper and a pest to

society. Habits of industry, which in Europeans are the

result of pressure of circumstances operating upon the race

through hundreds of generations, were found to be alto-

gether opposed to the disposition of Africans. Experience

showed that a freed slave usually chose to live in a filthy

hovel upon coarse and scanty food rather than toil for some-

thing better. Decent clothing was not a necessity of life to

him, neither did he need other furniture in his hovel than a

II. B
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few cooking utensils. He put nothing by, and when sick-

ness came he was a burden upon the public. Such in gene-

ral was the negro when left to himself in a country where

sufficient food to keep life in his body was to be had without

much exertion. Emancipation then became less common,

and the view began to be held and asserted that slavery was

the proper condition of the black race.

The commissioner Simons, in his instructions to the

Cape government, dated 19th of April 1708, directed that

no slave was to be emancipated without security being given

by the owner that the freed person should not become a

charge upon the poor funds within ten years, according to

the statutes of India. This was henceforth the law in

South Africa.

There was, however, one not'.Me exception to this law.

It frequently happened that ladies returning from India

to Europe took slave girls with them as waiting maids, and

sometimes gen+^emen were in the same way accompanied by

their valets. Tliese slaves were almost invariably sent back

again, as they could be of no service in the Netherlands.

The directors issued instructions that such persons were to

be treated as free people, proof of their having been on the

soil of the republic to be equivalent to letters of manu-
mission.

This was the last year in which nominations from the

Drakenstein consistory Avere sent in the French language.

Upon the receipt of the usual documents, written in French,

the council of policy directed that in future the nominations

of church officers and letters to the government must be in

Dutch.

In 1705 a series of good seasons had set in, and now
every year a considerable quantity of wheat was sent to

Batavia. From 1706 to 1711, both years included, the aver-

age export was rather over four thousand muids. The

Company paid a little less than twelve shillings of our money

a muid for it at the magazines. Rye, barley, beans, and

peas were also grown in quantities sufficient to supply the

wants of the shipping and of the Indian government. There

\\
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was, however, a very limited market for these products in

India. In 1708 the quantity of rye and beans grown was so

greatly in excess of the demand that a notice was issued

discouraging their cultivation, and stating that the Company
would not purchase any more of either.

The island of Mauritius, hitherto a dependency of the

Cape Colony, was at this time abandoned by the East India

Company. It was of hardly any use as a station for refresh-

ment, and beyond a little ebony and ambergris it contributed

nothing to commerce. The directors came to the conclusion

that it was not worth the cost of maintaining a large garri-

son, and that with a small garrison it was not secure.

Of late years the Company had sustained severe losses

there. During the night of the 9th of February 1695 the

residency and magazines were destroyed by a violent hurri-

cane. In 1701 a pirate ship was wrecked on the coast close

to the settlement, when two hundred armed men got safely

to shore, together with twelve English and thirty Indian

prisoners out of captured vessels. The master of the buc-

caneers was an old acquaintance of the Dutch Company,
having been in the Atn/y when she was seized in 1693 in

Saldanha Bay. The colonists thought it prudent to take

refuge in the fort. The commander of the island, Roelof

Diodati, to get rid of the unwelcome visitors, was obliged

to sell them at half price the Company's packet, for which

they paid him 167Z. out of money saved from the wreck.

On the 15th of November 1707 the Company's premises on

the island were totally destroyed by fire, the books, records,

and goods in the magazine being burned with everything

else.

In February 1707 instructions were received at the Cape

to withdraw the garrison. The colonists were to have the

choice of removal to Java or the Cape. When this intelli-

gence reached the island, the burghers were found to be very

averse to break up their homes, but as a matter of necessity

nine heads of families elected to come to the Cape, the

remainder preferring Batavia. In September 1708 two
vessels, the Carthago and Mercurius, were sent to commence

B 2
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transporting the people and their effects. The Carthago

went on to Batavia, the Mercurius returned to the Cape, and

landed her passengers here on the 26th of January 1709.

Among them were Daniel Zaaiman, Gerrit Eomond, and

Hendrik de Vries, with their families. The names of the

others are not given.

The Beverwaart was then sent to remove the garrison,

and on the 25th of January 1710, Abraham Momber, the

last Dutch commander, with the subordinate officers and

the troops embarked in her and set sail for Batavia. Pre-

vious to going on board, the garrison destroyed everything

within reach that could not be taken away. Even the

forests were damaged as much as possible. All the hounds

were left behind, that they might become wild and exter-

minate the game. The object of this wanton waste was to

prevent the abandoned station being of service to any one

else.

On the 10th of January 1710 the retired governor-general

Joan van Hoorn, accompanied by his wife and daughter,

arrived in Table Bay on his passage back to the Nether-

lands. He remained several weeks in the colony, where he

acted as commissioner, presiding in the council and on all

occasions taking precedence of the governor. On the 26th

of February the three burgher councillors appeared before

him, and on behalf of the whole body of freemen preferred a

complaint. Instructions had recently been received from

the supreme authorities to demand tithes of the whole

uantity of corn gathered, and not of that portion only

which was brought for sale, as had previously been the custom.

The burgher councillors requested that the farmers might be

relieved from payment of tithes of such grain as they re-

quired for their own consumption and for seed. The commis-

sioner considered their request reasonable, and suspended

the levy upon the whole until further instructions could be

received.

The directors took another view, and in despatches

received here in February 1711 the farmers were required to

pay tithes upon all grain harvested, as those in Europe had
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to pay. In vain they represented to the council of policy

that in the Fatherland the tithe was collected upon the

ground, whereas here it was delivered at the Company's

magazines. They were informed that the council had no

power to make concessions in opposition to commands of the

supreme authorities. An eflfbrt was made in 1712 to farm

out the tithes by public auction, the purchaser to collect upon

the ground ; but no one would make an offer of any kind.

The Company still maintained its claim, but the condition

of the country settled the question in the farmers' favour,

for it was soon found impracticable to collect a tithe upon

all that was grown, and after a time a fixed amount was
deducted from the price of grain brought for sale.

The writing desk of Adam Tas had been all this
*

' , e in

possession of the government. A council, presided over by
Mr. Van Hoorn, appointed a committee to examine its con-

tents. A report was brought up that some of the papers

were seditious, when it was resolved that they should be

destroyed and the others be returned to Tas.

On the 15th of March 1710 a young man named Jan de

la Fontaine arrived in Table Bay as bookkeeper of the ship

Horstendaal. The commissioner Van Hoorn took a liking to

him, and gave him the appointment of master of the ware-

houses, thus introducing him to a career of official life in

this colony which ended many years later in his occupying

the post of governor.

On the 30th of April 1710 the secretary to the council of

policy, Willem Helot by name, who had been sixteen years

in service at the Cape, was by order of the directors raised

to the rank of senior merchant and took over the duties of

secunde, Mr. D'Ableing having been instructed to proceed

to India to fill an office of greater importance. The late

secunde left South Africa on the 10th of July following.

On the 17th of December 1710, at ten o'clock in the

anoming, a fire broke out in the village of Stellenbosch.

There was a high wind, and a slave who was carrying a

lighted fagot allowed some sparks to be blown into the

thatch with which the landdrost's office was covered. In a
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minute the roof was in flames. The fire wprofMl to tlio ad-

joining buildings, which were all covered wlili tlmtcli, and

in a short time the church, the whole of tlio (!oni|mny'H pro-

perty, and twelve dwelling houses were burriM<l down. For-

tunately the church books and district reconlw wnro «avod.

There was not so much attention paid now to the culti-

vation of trees as there had been in the time of tho governors

Van der Stel, still this useful work was not altogoMier ne-

glected by the authorities. In the winter of 1 700 \v number
of young oaks were sent to Stellenbosch to b«» pliintcd along

the streets. Some of those previously planlod in the same

places had been wantonly or thoughtlessly dcMiroyed. In

consequence, on the 8th of August of this your ii. placnnt was

issued, in which damaging trees on public projMU'ty was pro-

hibited under penalty of a sound flogging at tlio foot of the

gallows, and a reward of 2/. Is. %d. was px'omlsMd to any one

bringing offenders to justice.

There was a regulation under which any ono foiling \v tree

on his own ground was to plant an oak In Its »t(fad, but it

was generally neglected. The farmers of Bfctdlonbosch and

Drakenstein assigned as a reason for not tJM,rrying it ont

that as they had only sixty morgen of land tlioy had not

sufficient space, because trees in the neighbourhood of vine-

yards and cornfields attracted and harbouwxl birds. The
forests in the mountain kloofs near the Capo wwo by this

time exhausted, but a commission which was sent to ex-

amine the Land of Waveren reported that thoro Wtt» still a

considerable quantity of timber suitable for w«yfgf>n making
and house building to be found there.

On the 13th of April 1711, the council, prosldod over

by the commissioner Pieter de Vos, admiral of a rotiirn fleet,

decided to press upon the landdrost and liMoinraden of

Stellenbosch and Drakenstein the necessity of planting trees

along the roads and of selecting suitable phwJes for laying

out groves. A commission, consisting of the acting fiscal

Willem van Putten and the master gardener Jan Hertog,

was appointed to examine the mountainous uountry along

the left bank of the river Zonder End, and report upon the
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forests there. The commission found a supply of timber

sufficient for existing needs, which set the questioii at rest

for a while.

In consequence of an attempt of the landdrost of Stellen-

bosch to press for the public service some waggons belonging

to residents of the Cape peninsula, the burgher councillors

appealed to the council of policy to define the bounds of that

officer's jurisdiction, and on the 15th of December 1711 it

was decided that he had no authority on the Cape side of

the Mosselbank and Kuils rivers. Beyond those streams

his jurisdiction extended as far as Europeans were settled.

Governor Van Assenburgh was taken seriously ill early

in the year 1711. He had never interfered with the pursuits

of the farmers, and had given the colonists that protection

to which they were entitled, so that he stood fairly well in

their regard. He had not indeed mixed with them and in-

terested himself in their personal affairs, as Simon van der

Stel in h'^ earlier years had done, so there was not that

affection for him that there had once been for the other. He
seldom left the castle. On new year's day and on his birth-

day it was the custom for the principal burghers with their

wives to call at the castle between ten and eleven in the

morning, and present their compliments. They were then

invited to remain to dinner, and did not usually leave until

nine in the evening. Also on the yearly muster of the

militia of the Cape district, when the company of cavalry

and two companies of infantry had gone through their exer-

cises and been inspected, the officers were entertained at the

castle. At these receptions the governor was very friendly,

and he was at all times easy of access, but he did not court

society, There was only one instance of departure from his

usual habits, and that somewhat startled the steady burghers

of the Cape. When the afternoon service was concluded on
Sunday the 11th of November 1708, the governor invited the

principal townspeople to the castle, and made an effort to

entertain them with a fight between bulls and dogs.

When he was taken ill, the burghers suspected that he

had been poisoned, and one writer of the period does not
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hesitate to affirm that the poison had been administered to

him in a glass of wine when on a visit at Constantia. The
dates of the visit and of his illness, however, overthrow this

statement. He was confined to his room for about eight

months, and died on the afternoon of Sunday the 27th of

December 1711, five days after he had completed his fifty-

first yea .

.

Next morning the council of policy met, when the

secunde Willem Helot was elected to act as head of the

government until the pleasure of the directors could be sig-

nified. The election was a matter of form, for there was no

one else eligible. On the 2nd of January 1712 the body of

the late governor was buried beneath the pavement of the

church, with a great deal of state. His administration had
not been an eventful one, and his name was soon forgotten.

Some years before this date immigration from Europe

had practically ceased. Occasionally a family from abroad

was added to the burg-her population, or a servant of the

Company was discharged in South Africa, but the increase

of the colonists was now due chiefly to the excess of births

over deaths. Cattle farmers were pushing their way from

the Land of Waveren down the valley of the Breede river

and from Hottentots Holland eastward along the course of

the Zonder End.

The town in Table Valley was growing also. It had not

yet become the custom to call it Cape Town, it being usually

termed the Cape, or sometimes the to^vn at the Cape.

Official letters were addressed from and to the Castle of

Good Hope. At the date of Governor Van Assenburgh's

death the town contained about two hundred and fifty private

houses, besides the buildings belonging to the Company.
In October 1712 a report reached the castle that four or

five thousand Hottentots of the Great Namaqua tribe had

made an inroad upon the natives living along the Elephant

river, and had threatened to plunder some graziers at Piket-

berg, who had in consequence been obliged to retire from

their farms. The government thereupon instructed Johannes

Mulder, who was again landdrost of Stellenbosch, to call out
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twenty-five burghers from Drakenstein and twenty-five from

Stellenbosch. The same number were called out in the Cape

district, and with twenty-five soldiers were sent on to meet

the country contingents at the farm of rran9ois du Toit.

Lieutenant Slotsboo was in command of the expedition.

His instructions were to endeavour to come to an amicable

understanding with the Namaquas, if possible to induce

them to return to their own country, and not to attack them
unless they had done some harm to the burghers. The
commando returned to the castle on the 22nd of November,

and reported that there were no Namaquas at Piketberg and

no burgher had been molested.

On the 16th of February 1713 the ship Beimehroeh,

homeward bound from Ceylon, after being disabled in a

storm ran ashore in broad daylight on the coast of Natal, at

some point which was never exactly ascertained. She com-

menced to break up immediately. Fifty-seven Europeans

and twenty Malabar slaves intended for the Cape got to

land on pieces of the wreck, the remainder of the crew

perished. Those who were saved collected some food which

washed up, and then set out to travel to the Cape. But
they could not cross a deep river which was in their way,

and after a few days some of them turned back to the

neighbourhood of the wreck. There they remained until

June, subsisting upon milk, meat, and millet which they

obtained from the natives for pieces of iron and copper.

At last the metal in the wreckage was exhausted, and they

then made another attempt to reach the Cape by going far

inland to avoid the lower courses of the rivers. But they

did not succeed, and, after wandering about for some

weeks, hunger and fatigue compelled the Europeans who
still survived—seven in number—to take refuge with a

tribe of natives, who treated them with great kindness.

Here they found a Frenchman who had been wrecked thirty

jears before.

The natives with whom they thenceforth lived were

carrying on a perpetual war with Bushmen. Their residence

was near the coast, on the bank of a river with a navigable
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mouth. The food of the tribe consisted chiefly of milk,

varieties of pumpkin, and bread made by rubbing millet

between stones, then mixing the pulp with water, and

baking it in ashes.

Of those who did not turn back to the wreck, all perished

except one Malabar slave. He pushed on westward for a

whole year, overcoming every difficulty in his way. At
length a burgher found him near the mouth of the Breede

river, and sent him on to the castle, which he reached on

the 2Gth of February ] 714.

In 1713 a terrible calamity fell upon the country. In

March of this year the small pox made its first appearance

in South Africa. It was introduced by means of some
clothing belonging to ships' people Avho had been ill on the

passage from India, but who had recovered before they

reached Table Bay. This clothing was sent to be washed at

the Company's slave lodge, and the women who handled it

were the first to be smitten. The Company had at the

time about five hundred and seventy slaves of both sexes

and all ages, nearly two hundred of whom were carried off

within the next six months.

From the slaves the disease spread to the Europeans and

the natives. In May and June there was hardly a family in

the town that had not some one sick or dead. Traffic in the

streets was suspended, and even the children ceased to play

their usual games in the squares and open places. At last

it was impossible to obtain nurses, though slave women were

being paid at the rate of four and five shillings a day. All

the planks in the stores were used, and in July it became

necessary to bury the dead without coffins.

For two months there was no meeting of the court of

justice, for debts and quarrels were forgotten in presence of

the terrible scourge. The minds of the people were so

depressed that anything unusual inspired them with terror.

Thus on the 10th of May two doves were observed to fall

to the ground from the parapet of the governor's house in

the castle, and after fluttering about a little were found to

be dead, without any injury being perceptible. This was
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rogarfled by many as an omen of disaster. The very clouds

and the darkness of winter storms seemed to be threatening^

death and woe. During that dreadful winter nearly one

fourth of the European inhabitants of the town perished,

and only when the hot weather set in did the plague cease.

The disease spread into the country, but there, though

the death rate among the white people was very high, the

proportion that perished was not so large as in the town.

It was easier to keep from contact with sick persons. Some
families living in secluded places were practically isolated,

and the farmers in general avoided moving about.

The burgher rolls are not to be regarded in any year as

more than approximately correct, but, in common with all

other contemporary documents, they bear witness to the

great loss of life. A-ccording to them, in 1712 the number
of colonists—men, women, and children—was one thousand

nine hundred and thirty-nine, and in 1716, three years after

the cessation of the plague, notwithstanding the natural

increase, only one thousand six hundred and ninety-seven.

Among the Hottentots the disease created the greatest

havoc. Of the Europeans who were smitten, more recovered

than died ; but with the Hottentots, to be ill and to die

were synonymous. The state of filth in which they lived

caused the plague to spread among them with fearful rapidity.

When the kraals were first infected, and the number of

deaths became startling, the Hottentots of the Cape fled

across the mountains, declaring that the Europeans had

bewitched them. But as soon as they got beyond the settle-

ment they were attacked by tribes of their own race, and all

who could not get back again were killed. The probable object

of this slaughter was to prevent the spread of the disease, but

if 80, it failed. Then the wretched creatures sat down in

despair, and made no attempt to help themselves. They did

not even remove their dead from the huts. In Table Valley it

became necessary to send a party of slaves to put the corpses

under ground, as the air was becoming foul. Whole kraals

absolutely disappeared, leaving not an individual alive.

The very names of the tribes for a great distance inland
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were blotted out by the fell disease. They no longer appear

in the records as organised communities, with feuds and

rivalries and internal wars, but as the broken-spirited rem-

nant of a race, all whose feelings of nationality and clanship

had been crushed out by the great calamity. The farmers

who had been accustomed to employ many hundreds of them

in harvest time complained that none were now to be had.

Strangers who had visited the colony before 1713, and who
saw it afterwards, noticed that the Hottentot population

had almost disappeared. From this date until other tribes

were reached by the expansion of the settlement, the only

difficulty with the natives was occasioned by the Bushmen.
Owing to the isolation of these people, they escaped the

disaster which overtook the higher races.

The crop of 1710-11 was a poor one, but there was a

quantity of grain in store which enabled the government to

keep up the supply to Batavia. But in the two following

seasons also insufficient rain fell, and the yield of the harvest

was so small that only one thousand and twenty muids in

1712 and nineteen hundred and fifty-six muids in 1713

could be exported. In 1713 the fall of rain was ample, but

the small pox prevented extensive cultivation. The returns

for seed sown were, however, exceptionally large, and in

1714 the quantity of wheat exported amounted to four

thousand three hundred and seventy-five muids.

Upon intelligence of the death of Governor Van Assen-

burgh reaching the Netherlands, the directors appointed

as his successor Lieutenant-Colonel Maurits Pasques de

Chavonnes, a native of the Hague, who had commanded.

. '1 infantry regiment in the army of the States, but had
been thrown out of employment by the reduction of the

troops at the peace of Utrecht. He had the rank, title, and
salary of a councillor extraordinary of the Indies given to

him. The new governor arrived at the Cape on the 24th

of March 1714, and was formally installed on the 28th of

the same month.

Between the commencement of the eighteenth century

ajid the arrival of Governor De Chavonnes the following
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names, now well known throughout South Africa, are found

in the colonial records

:

van Aardt van Heerden Oelofse

Badenhorst Herbst Paassen

Bek Holland Pottier

Bernard Holm van Reenen

Best Human Richter

Beukes Kleinveld Robberts

Blankenberg Knoetsen Roos

Bok Kotze Scholtz

Bosman Langeberg Steenekamp

Bronkhorst Lens Stols

du Buisson Ley Sweetman
Buys van der Linde Sweris

Cilliers vel Sellier Lore Terreblanche

Ditmaar Lourenfs Uys
Eksteen Maasdorp Verron

van Emmenes Mare Vlodman
Faure Meyboom Voogt
Fick Moolman de Vries

le Grand Munnik van der Walt
Grobbelaar Niemand de Wet
Hasselaar Oberholster Zaaiman
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CHAPTEE XIX.

MAUEITS PASQUES DE CHAVONNES, GOVERNOR, INSTALLED

28 MARCH 1714; DIED 8 SEPTEMBER 1724.

Efforts to equalise revenue and expenditure—New taxes—An English trader

on the coast of Kaflirland—Basis of colonial law—Dismissal of the secunde
Helot—Hostilities with the Bushmen—The first colonial commando

—

Trouble caused by fugitive slaves—Struggle for place nnd rank—Difficulty

of finding a market for farm produce in good seasons—Important questions

submitted by the directors to the council of policy—Experiments in the
production of wool, indigo, tobacco, and olives—Efforts to find a market
for Cape wine—Bad seasons—New diseases among horned cattle and sheep

—

Scarcity of butcher's me.at—Prohibition of sale of meat and vegetables to

foreigners—Ruin of the Namaqua tribe— Outbreak of horse sickness

—

Expansion of the Company's trade after the peace of Utrecht—Sailing of

fleets from Table Bay—Eefusal of supplies to private traders—Establish-

ment of a Dutch factory at. Delagoa Bay—Disasters at Delagoa Bay—The
great gale of June 1722—Heavy loss of life and property by shipwrecks in

Table Bay—Wreck of the SchtUDihcrg at Agulhas, and of the jVctcre?) near
the mouth of the I'llephant river—Church matters—Erection of church
buildings at Drakenstein and Stellcnbosch—Death of the secunde Cranen-
donk, and appointment of Jan dc la Fontaine as his successor—Promotion
of the governor to the rank of ordinary councillor of Netherlands India

—

Death of the governor—Election by the council of Jan de la Fontaine to

act as head of the government—Names of new colonists.

The first object to which tlie new governor turned his

attention was an attempt to make the revenue of the colony

more nearly meet the expenditure than had previously been

the case. Though the returns were made out yearly to

fractions of a farthing, it is impossible to say exactly what

was the expenditure of the colony. This is owing to the

accounts of the Cape being kept as of a branch business.

Every penny received from every source was entered on one

side, and every penny paid out, no matter for what purpose,

was entered on the other.

Thus, in the charges against the Cape are included all

sums paid for refreshment of the crews of ships, wages paid
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to sailors in such ships, the expenses of the hospital, and

other items which should not fairly be placed against the

colonial revenue. But these items cannot be wholly struck

off". The hospital, for instance, afforded accommodation for

the sick of the garrison, and thus a portion of its cost was

a proper charge against the colony. Then again, sums paid

in the Netherlands and in India for strictly colonial purposes

do not appear in the accounts. The most that can be done

is to state the expenditure approximately, and probably no

two persons examining the records would do this in exactly

the same figures.

The principal source of revenue was the money paid for

the exclusive right to sell wines q,nd spirituous liquors by

retail, and this was determined by public auction on the last

day of August. During the first quarter of the eighteenth

century it avei'aged 3,1G7?. Besides this, there were the

tithes of grain, transfer dues on sales of ground, and profits

on sales of goods. On an average, these together amounted
at this date to 4,739Z. yearly. The colonial revenue was
thus about 8,000L a year. In converting the money of that

day into British coinage, the heavy gulden generally used in

accounts transmitted to the Netherlands is valued at one

shilling and eight pence, and the light gulden used in trans-

actions iu the colony and in India at sixteen pence and two-

thirds of a penny. Before 1743 it is often doubtful which

was meant. In that year an order was given that the heavy

gulden should be exclusively used in accounts prepared for

the directors.

The expenditure, after deducting all expenses connected

with shipping, cannot be estimated at less than 14,500?. a

year. It was kept at the lowest possible sum by the pay-

ment of very small salaries and allowing privileges of

different kinds to the officers, by permitting from one

hundred and fifty to two hundred out of a garrison of about

five hundred and fifty men to take temporary service with

farmers, and by employing slave labour in building and
gardening. The cost of transport, ammunition, building

materials sent from the Netherlands, and various other

!.
\
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items are not considered in this calculation, because it

cannot be even approximately given.

There was thus a large excess of expenditure over revenue,

though it is not possible to state the exact amount in

figures. The directors instructed the g'^vernor to try and

devise means of meeting it, in part if not wholly.

No revenue had yet been derived from leases of land used

for cattle runs. After the 3rd of July 1714 a rental of

twenty-five shillings for six months, or fifty shillings a year,

was charged, in addition to the tithe of grain produced.

Old residents in the Land of Waveren and elsewhere were
permitted, however, to take out freehold titles on application

to the governor, in order to encourage them to * rove the

land. All building sites given out in the town were to

revert to the Company if houses were not put up on them
within twelve months.

After the 20th of July 1714 it was required that stamps

should be affixed to different kinds of documents to make
them legal. These documents included deeds of transfer of

land and slaves, wills, contracts of marriage, certificates of

inheritance, licenses to trade, powers of attorney, and
generally all notarial acts and papers passing through courts

of law. The stamps required ranged in value from six pence

to twelve shillings and six pence.

On the 12th of March 1715 a tax of four shillings and

^wo pence was laid upon every legger of wine pressed in the

colony. This article had not been subject to tithe or any
tax whatever before this date.

On the 4tli of September 1714 a decked boat twenty

-

eight feet long by nine feet beam arrived in Table Bay under
English colours. Her 'raster reported that she had been

built in England purposely for trading on the south-eastern

coast of Africa, and had been taken to Delagoa Bay in pieces in

a vessel named the Clapham Galley. She had been put toge-

ther there, had since been trading on the coast, and had
now come to Table Bay according to arrangement to wait

for Lhe return of the Clapham Galley from India. She had
entered a river, the name of which is not given, and had
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there found the seven surviving sailors of the BennehroeJCf

four of whom she brought to the Cape. The most interest-

ing part of the narrative of the master of the boat is that at

various places at which he had touched below Delagoa Bay-

he had obtained a large quantity of ivory in exchange for

beads and copper rings that had been expressly manufac-

tured in England for trade with the Kaffirs.

In November the galiot Postlooper was sent to search

along the coast of Natal for the wreck of the Bennehroeh,

and if possible to recover her cannon and anchors as well as

the three surviving sailors ; but after an absence of nearly

six months she returned with a report that neither men nor

wreck could be found.

As the high court of justice was desirous of having the

laws according to which they were to decide cases properly

defined, the council of policy on the 12th of February 1715

directed that the statutes of India were to be strictly-

followed, except when they were modified by placaats issued

by competent authority at the Cape. In the following year

the summary jurisdiction of the court of landdrost and
heemraden wu** extended in civil cases to 101. 8s. 4d.

In May 1 714 the secunde Helot, who had recently been

acting head of the government, was suspended for appro-

priating to his own use property belonging to the Company,

and up<>n the circumstances being reported to the di-

rectors, the council was instructed to send him to the

Netherlands without rank or salary. Abraham Cranendonk,

recently fiscal of the establishment on the Hoogly, who
was named as his successor, arrived at the Cape and took

over the duty on the 4th of March 1715.

For some time back the Bushmen had not been ffivins:

much trouble, but in 1715 their depredations were renewed.

These people would not change their mode of living, and, as

the game was being destroyed, a conflict between them and the

farmers was inevitable. At that time no one questioned the

right of civili'^ed men to take possession of land occupied by
such a race as he Bushmen, and 1 o the present day no one has

devised a plan by which this can be done without violence.

II. V

i !
''
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In August 1715 the wife of a Drakenstein farmer ap-

peared at the castle and informed the governor that the

Bushmen had driven off over seven hundred sheep belonging

to her husband, after murdering the shepherd. Thereupon,

the governor gave a general permission in writing to the

neighbours of the man who had been robbed to follow the

plunderers and retake the spoil. A notification to this

effect was also sent to the landdrost.

With this permission the first purely colonial commando
took the field. It consisted of thirty mounted burghers,

who 'liose as their commandant a farmer named Hermanus
Pof gieter. They did their utmost to trace the robbers, but

wiviiO'-.i success.

''he Bushmen then commenced plundering generally the

fa ir.ers along the Berg river and in the Land of Waveren.

Ibev T' Ji'dered some herdsmen, set fire to several houses,

and drove off a large number of cattle. It was feared that

Ihey would burn the ripening corn. Some of the most ex-

posed farmers abandoned their homes, and a few families

were quite ruined. Several commandos in succession were

raised and sent to expel the marauders, the government

supplying ammunition. The instructions under which they

took the field were emphatic that bloodshed was to be avoided

if possible, and women and children were not to be molested.

But this was a kind of warfare in which men's hearts were

apt to become hardened.

It was easy to resolve to c" vive the marauders from a

stated tract of country, but very difficult to carry the re-

solution into effect. The keen-sighted Bushman, when he

observed the approach of an e^ nmy, concealed himself and

his family ; and as soon ls his pursuers retired, worn out in

looking for him, his depredations were resumed. Nono of

the commandos sent out in this year effected their object,

though some of them believed they had done so until they

learned that as soon as they were disbanded the marauders

were busy again.

Early in 1716 one of the commandos lost a man killed

with a poisoned arrow, and had another wounded. A
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sergeant and twenty soldiers were then directed to guard the

most exposed positions, and a strong party of the Company's

servants and burghers was sent with some arrack, tobacco,

and beads to try and make peace. This party succeeded in

obtaining a meeting with a company of Bushmen, and

returned to the castle with a report that an agreement of

friendship had been entered into. And it certainly was the

case that robberies ceased for a time.

In August the newly-formed military posts were with-

drawn at the request of the burghers, who had a lively dread

of tyranny being established by means of troops. The old

outposts at Waveren, Saldanha Bay, Groen Kloof, and

Klapmuts were still maintained ; but there were never more

than seven men at each.

Until January 1719 no fresh charge of depredations

by Bushmen was made, and then the complaint came from

another direction. Seven hundred head of cattle were

driven away from Ja^ob van der Heiden's farm on the river

Zonder End. The Bushmen asserted that this raid was in

retaliation for injuries inflicted upon them by people who
gave out that they were sent to barter cattle for the Company.

The records do not supply sufficient evidence in this instance

to enable it to be said whether they had, or had not, received

such provocation as they complained of. At Van der Heiden's

request, permission was given for a commando to assemble
;

but the cattle could not be recovered.

At this date fugitive slaves were giving a great deal

of trouble to the colonists. These wretched beings formed

themselves into bands, and plundered the farmers whenever

necessity impelled and opportunity offered. Though they

usually selected a retreat in some place difficult of discovery

and access, they were much more easily found than Bushmen.

A subject that occupied a good deal of attention during

the whole of the eij^-htoenth century was the relative rank

of the diffex'ent individuals in the community, and, as the

church was the place where all met, the position which each

should occupy in that building. The directors desired that

the burghers should be as nearly as possible of the same
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station, but when civil and military ofticox of various kinds
were created, some distinctions were inovitablo, There was,
however, a general feeling of respect for l«^flf/imat<! authority

properly exercised, so that with the burj^hor pf>p«1ation each
one's place was recognised without much djfflotilty. In the

country the landdrost ranked first, as tlio roprcMontative of

the Honourable Company. He had the front «cat in the
church, which was slightly elevated and dixilrigitished by a
canopy. Next to him in rank came tho olMrgyman. The
heemraden followed, and had a special *ioat Jn church just

behind the landdrost. The elders and dojWfotiH Imd seats on
each side of the pulpit, and the military offloorn had recog-
nised places in the body of the buildin^f, a<!(ir»rdiiijy to their

grade. The wives of all these notables »at oti cliairs placed
in the order mentioned above, it being omo of tlio duties of
a church officer called the koster to see thai the seats were
in their proper positions.

Among the servants of the Company the struggle for

place was constant. In the army and luivy It was easy to

define the grades, but outside of these brancjhMS of the service

complicated questions were constantly ariHing. There were
the grades senior merchant, merchant, and Junior merchant
yet these did not meet the difficulty. Tlio following in-

stance will show how important such i»attor« wore con-
sidered.

The supreme authorities having deeidiul to erect addi-

tional fortifications in Table Valley, on tho 20ih of February
1715 the governor laid the foundation wtono of a battery

which he named Mauritius, near the soa HJiorr! jit the foot

of the Lion's Eump. But the Assembly <»f H«'Votiteen then
thought that before proceeding further, pltuiH and specifica-

tions should be drawn up by an engin<'<!r and Hufnnitted to

them, and Mr. Pieter Gysbert Noodt, dii'cijior of fortifica-

tions in Netherlands India, was instructed ir» viwit the Cape
for that purpose. He arrived on the <Jtli of Mjiy 1718, and
wniained until the 18th of April in th<* foll<»win>^ year. He
was a surly quarrelsome man, who would not «o much as

show the governor the plans he was making, though re-

s
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peatedly requested to do so. He had not been here long

when a quarrel arose between him and the secunde Abraham
Cranendonk upon the question of precedence. They disputed

as to which should receive the highest military salute, whose

wife should occupy the foremost seat in church, whose
carriage was to keep the crown of the street when they met,

and other similar matters. They came before the council

of policy, each with a long written statement of his claims.

The council took the matter into serious consideration, and
after some discussion decided in favour of Mr. Noodt.

The crops of 1714 to 1716 were so good that fifteen

thousand four hundred muids of wheat were sent to Batavia,

or more than five thousand muids on an average yearly. But
in the Company's possessions in India, the demand for wheat
was limited, and it could be obtained elsewhere at a lower

rate than twelve shillings a muid, which was the price paid

at the Cape. The governor-general and council of India

were of opinion that the Company could be supplied from
Bengal and Surat to greater advantage. They were satisfied

with the quality of Cape wheat ; but it was too dear, and the

quantity produced fluctuated so greatly from season to season

that a constant supply could not be depended upon. They
proposed to allow the Cape farmers to send wheat to any

part of India, and sell it there at whatever price could be

obtained. But to this the burghers objected, as they

asserted that they were not in a position to carry on a trade

of this kind, and could not afford to wait long after harvest

without any return. The colony would be ruined if the

Company ceased to purchase their grain.

The directors decided that it would be better to support

the burghers than natives of Hindostan, but the price of

wheat at the Cape was reduced to ten shillings and eight

pence a muid. As it was asserted that they must purchase

all that was grown, or ruin would follow, they wrote that no

more ground was to be given out for the production of wheat

and wine, without their approval being obtained in each

instance. To encourage the colonists to grow other produce,

they gave directions that ships from India were to be supplied
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at the Cape with peas, beans, and husked barley sufficient for

the passage home, though peas were then bringing the Tui^h

price of twenty-nine shillings, and beans twenty-five shillings

a muid.

On the 24th of June 1716 the directors submitted a series

of questions, upon which thc-y required the opinions of the

members of the council of policy.

The principal queries were whether the country could

maintain a larger number of colonists ; whether it would not

be more advantageous to employ European labourers than

slaves ; whether such articles as coffee, sugar, cotton, indigo,

olive oil, tobacco, flax, silk, and hops could not be produced,

so as to enable a larger number of people to gain a living

;

and whether a tax could not be imposed on provisions

supplied to foreign ships.

Each member of the council was required to take these

questions into consideration and to bring up a report.

Probably no subject of equal importance to South Africa has

ever since engaged the attention of the authorities, for upon

these reports was to depend whether the country should be

occupied solely by Europeans, or whether there was to be a

mixture of races in it. As yet slavery had not taken deep

root, and could easily have been done away with. The
number of slaves was small, and nearly five- sixths of them
were adult males. Without further importations, the system

would have rapidly perished.

It must ever be deplored that of the men who sat in

the coiincil in February 1717 there was but one who could

look beyond the gains of tlio present hour. The governor,

Maurits Pasques de Chavonnes, the secunde, Abraham
Cranendonk, the fiscal independent, Cornelis van Beaumont,

and the junior members, J. Cruse, J. de la Fontaine,

K. Slotsboo, and H. van der Me or, were all in favour of slave

labour. They stated that a slave cost less than 3Z. a year

for maintenance, whereas a white labourer would cost at

least as much as a soldier, whose pay and rations amounted

to more than 12Z. a year. The slave was tractable, whereas

the European was prone to be rebellious. White men oftea
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became addicted to drunkenness, and none could be obtained

who would be willing to perform the severer kinds of labour

in this climate.

The commander of the garrison. Captain Dominique
Pasques de Chavonnes, was alone in advocating the introduc-

tion of European workmen only. Slaves in this country, he

observed, were like a malignant sore in the human frame.

They kept the colonists in a state of unrest, and notwith-

standing the terrible punishments inflicted upon them, they

were not deterred from running away and committing

atrocious crimes. II" the cost of purchasing them—about 4^
each, bringing th^m to this country, providing for them,

and guarding them, were taken into consideration, their

labour would not be found much cheaper than that of white

men, especially as they required supervision, and did neither

so much nor such good work. On the other hand, Euro-

peans would give security to the country, and would help

to increase the revenue.

There is little doubt that if these views had been held

by the other members of the council, and had been pressed

upon the directors, the many evils which slavery produced

in South Africa would have been prevented. Nothing was
said of the bearing of the question upon the African : it was
almost II century too early in the world's history for his in-

terests to be taken into consideration.

Whether coffee and the other plants named would thrive

at the Cape was regarded as doubtful by all th(! members.
Some of these plants, such as the olive and indigo, had
already been fruitlessly experimented with. In any case,

men having special knowledge would be needed to test them,

for no one in the colony understood their culture. Whether
a larger number of Europeans could exist here without

being a burden upon the Company or the poor funds would

depend upon the result of such experiments.

All were agreed that it would not be advisable to levy a

tax upon provisions supplied to foreigners, as it would not

amount to much, and might drive away strangers who
brought ready money into the country. None of the mem-
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bers thought that any profit could be made from an alleged

discovery of coal on Pierre Rousseau's farm at French Hoek.

Nor were any of them of opinion that manufactures could

be introduced. Isaac TaUlefer, it was stated, had made
good hats from Cape wool ; but when he died that industry

ceased. Others had knitted socks and gloves of woollen

yam made by themselves, but that also had been discon-

tinued.

Upon receipt of these reports, the directors resolved, 17th

of April 1718, that experiments should be repeated with all

diligence in the cultivation of tobacco, silk, indigo, and
olives; and that a person having special knowledge in the pro-

duction of each should be sent out to superintend the work.

Sheep's wool was not referred to, as all attempts to en-

courage the growth of a marketable article had hitherto

failed. In 1714 six hundred and fifty pounds were sent to

Europe, but the quality was so bad that it did not produce

at public sale as much as it had cost. Another experiment

was made in 1716, when three thousand pounds were pur-

chased at seven pence a pound and sent to Amsterdam. The
quality of this shipment was likewise so inferior that it was
unsaleable for spinning purposes. It was then resolved to

let this industry remain in abeyance until another breed of

animals could be introduced, and as the greatest difi&culty

was now being experienced in getting as much meat as

was needed, wool, which was of less importance, was not

spoken of

.

A large quantity of indigo seed was sent with an expert

from Batavia in 1719, and for many years experiments were

made with it. There was no difficulty in getting the plant

to grow well in sheltered positions and in rich soil ; but it

was found that it would not answer as a general crop.

Silkworm eggs from Persia and Bengal were sent at the

same time, but were found to be bad on their arrival. The
white mulberry trees which were planted throve as well as

could be desired. The chief experiment in the production

of silk was not, however, made until a few years later, and
will be noticed in another chapter.

'/



Maurits Pasques de Ckavonnes 73

jrt

3re

k.nt

it

An expert in the cultivation and manu&cture of tobacco,

Oors Hendriks by name, was sent from Amsterdam in 1719.

He made a tour through the colony, and upon his return

to the castle pronounced very unfavourably upon the appear-

ance of the soil. The most suitable place for an experiment

that he had found was a plot of land about two morgen in

extent, adjoining Bustenburg at Bondebosch. There and
in the Company's garden in Table Valley a large number of

tobacco plants were set out by slaves under direction of the

expert. At first they throve well, but after a time some
were destroyed by violent winds, and others by the heat of

the sun. The seed had been carefully selected, but the

leaves which reached maturity were so bad in flavour that

Hendriks, who attributed the quality to the soil, despaired

of success, and advised that the experiment be given up.

The members of the council of policy were of the same
opinion, and in 1 722 the tobacco expert became a burgher.

The experiments with the olive had the same result as on

every previous occasion. The trees grew most luxuriantly,

but many of them suddenly died without any accountable

cause. From others the fruit dropped when still young, and
the few olives that ripened in exceptionally good seasons

were of very inferior quality.

The directors were of opinion that if the flavour of Cape
wine were improved, a large market could be found both in

Europe and in India, to the advantage of the colonists as

well as of the Company. They were then paying Ql. a legger

for ordinary wine for the use of the fleets, and 8Z. for old

wine for use in the hospital. On the 27th of June 1719 they

wrote for some selected samples, and with the next return

fleet six half aams were sent. When it reached Amsterdam
it was found unflt for use. It was the same with six half

aams sent to Batavia. The directors supposed that the

reason might be the small size of the casks, and therefore

directed another trial to be made with half leggers instead

of half aams. In 1722 ten half leggers were sent to Amster-

dam and Middelburg, but the result was the same as before.

JiXL experiment was then made with bottles, a thousand of
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which were sent out to be filled with wine and returned. It

succeeded no better than the others.

The wine made at Oonstantia had, however, a good repu-

tation in Europe. Johannes Colyn, the owner of the farm
at that time, produced yearly from ten to twelve leggers of

red wine, for which he received Vol. ISs. 4d. a legger, and
about twenty leggers of white wine, which he sold readily at

lOZ. 8«. 4,A.

Arrangements had hardly been made for the supply of

wheat to India, and beans, peas, and husked barley to the

return ships, when a series of dry seasons set in. In 1718

the harvest was poor, but a small quantity of wheat was ex-

ported. It was the same in 1719. In 1720 less than a

hundred muids were sent out of the country. In 1721 it was

not possible to supply the ships with beans, peas, and barley,

and rice was served out to the garrison instead of bread

;

but fifty-one muids of wheat were sent to Batavia to keep up

the name of exportation. In the winter of 1721 the seasons

changed for the better, and in 1722 nearly three thousand

five hundred muids of wheat were exported, followed in 1723

by over four thousand muids.

In 1714 a calamity worse even than loss of crops fell

upon the country. Horned cattle and sheep were attacked

by a disease unknown before, and great numbers died. By
1718 it was so di£&cult to obtain animals for slaughter that

when the contract to supply the Company with meat was

oflFered for sale by auction there was not a single bidder.

The sheep in possession of the burghers had decreased by
nearly fifty-six thousand. It was necessary to make a

private arrangement with Jacob van der Heiden, by which

he undertook to supply meat at three pence a pound and

live sheep at twelve shillings and sixpence each. On the 2nd

of July 1 720 the sale of live animals to foreigners was pro-

hibited by placaat, and henceforth no sheep were sent on

board the Company's ships. Meat had now risen to 3^c?. a

pound.

English captains had been in the habit of purchasing

cattle in considerable numbers, slaughtering them, and salting
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the meat. They had also generally taken away a number
of sheep. Upon the prohibition being applied to them, they

made loud complaints in Europe, and the directors issued

instructions that they should be treated as well as possible.

After a time Van der Heiden informed the council that

he could not continue to supply meat unless permission was
given him to procure cattle from the Hottentots in the

distant interior. Leave was therefore granted, but in Feb-
ruary 1723 it was withdrawn upon the Drakenstein consis-

tory complaining that the trading parties sent out by him
had used violence towards the natives, and had even murdered
some Hottentots. The matter was investigated by the fiscal

and the landdrost, but sufficient evidence could not be

procured to secure the conviction of the oflFenders, though

there was no doubt that very atrocious crimes had been com-

mitted.

The price of sheep sold at public auction at this time

was from lis. \d. to 13s. Wd. taking one with another in a

flock, and of draught oxen 4Z. 3s. Ad, each. The scarcity

was increased by the tongue and hoof sickness making its

first appearance in 1723.

By order of the director?!, a placaat was then issued,

24th of February 1723, prohibiting the sale of fresh meat

or vegetables to strangers, under penalty of deportation to

Europe and a fine of nearly 70Z. This was construed to

mean that permission must first be obtained from the

council, for upon English captains requesting to be allowed

to purchase supplies of fresh provisions for their sick, leave

was invariably granted. On the 6th of April of the same

year another placaat was issued requiring the farmers to

provide the Company with meat at two pence a pound and

sheep at ten shillings each, under penalty of a tithe of all

animals reared being required. But legislation such as this

was fruitless.

An attempt had previously been made to procure cattle

from the Hottentots of the interior, and even from the

Kaffirs, by licensing a certain burgher to carry on the trade

under surveillance ; but the great distance caused the scheme
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to fail. Ensign Ehenius was then sent with a trading

party to the Namaquas. In November 1724 he returned

nnsuccessful. He reported that the Namaqua tribe had
been fearfuUj reduced in number by a disease resembling

small pox, that the Bushmen had taken advantage of their

weakness to rob them of most of their cattle, and that in

reckless despair they had slaughtered and consumed the

remainder.

The Company was then compelled to submit to circum-

stances, and to pay the high prices determined by public

tender.

The troubles of the community were increased by the

horse sickness making its appearance in a very severe form
in 1719. There is no mention of it in the records before

that date, and it is described as a new plague. It has never

left South Africa since.

On the 11th of April 1713 the peace of Utrecht concluded

a war with France of twelve years duration. The Company
then resolved to enlarge its commerce, and a number of

ships of the first class, carrying from two hundred and
eighty to three hundred and fifty men each, were speedily

built. After 1715 the number of persons visiting the Cape
€very year was much greater than before. During the

fifteen years from 1st January 1700 to Slst December 1714

one thousand and seven ships put into Table Bay, or on an
average sixty-seven yearly. Of these, 683 were Dutch, 280
English, 36 Danish, 6 French, and 2 Portuguese. During the

ten years from 1st January 1715 to 31st December 1724 the

number that called was eight hundred and seventy-one, or

on an average eighty-seven yearly. Of these, 645 were
Dutch, 192 EngUsh, 17 French, 10 Danish, 4 Portuguese,

and 3 Flemish.

The Company's ships assembled in Table Bay to return to

Europe in a fleet. The slowest sailers were despatched first

from Batavia, and usually arrived here in January. Then
came the Ceylon squadron, and last the late ships from
Batavia. They endeavoured to leave Table Bay about

^he end of March or beginning of April, and it must have
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been something worth seeing when twenty to thirty large

ships set their sails and stood away together. This was
called the summer fleet, and it usually carried to Europe
merchandise which had cost from five to seven hundred thou-

sand pounds sterling. Sometimes a number of English

vessels sailed in its company. The winter fleet was much
smaller, often consisting of only three or four ships. At a

date somewhat later than the period to which we have now
arrived, it became usual for the summer ships also to sail in

small squadrons, as they could be got ready.

The English Government had protested against the as-

sistance formerly given to private traders at the Cape, and
an arrangement had been made between the Assembly of

Seventeen and the directors of the English Company that

neither would permit interlopers to obtain anything whatever
in their ports. In consequence, when an English vessel ar-

rived, unless her master could produce a royal commission or

proper credentials from the East India Company, she was
warned to make sail at once, and no intercourse was allowed

with the shore. The Flemish ships which put in for sup-

plies were treated in the same manner.

The Portuguese having abandoned Delagoa Bay in 1692,
in 1720 the Dutch East India Company resolved to take

possession of that port and establish a factory there. It was
intended that the station should be a dependency of the Cape
government, just as Mauritius had been. Thus important

cases were to be sent for trial to the Cape, and in all cases

except the most trivial there was to be a right of appeal to

the high court of justice at the castle of Good Hope.

Towards the close of the year the advance party sent

from the Netherlands to form the station, consisting of forty-

four soldiers and a few mechanics, arrived in Table Bay in

two small vessels, the Kaap and Gouda. The oflScer who
had been appointed head of the expedition died soon after

reaching South Africa, when the council of policy selected

a clerk on the Cape establishment, Willem van Taak by
name, as his successor. A council was chosen to assist him,
and a petty court of justice was constituted.
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On the 14th of February 1721 the expedition, accom-

panied by a small vessel named the Zeelandia, sailed from

Table Bay, and on the 29th of March reached its destination.

A site on the left bank of English river near its mouth was
selected for the fort, but before much building was done

fever attacked the party, and within six weeks two-thirds of

them died, including the commander and the engineer. At
length, with the assistance of some natives, a small fort was
constructed, and then the Zeelandia was sent back to the Gape
with letters and a little ivory and wax obtained in barter.

She returned in August, together with the yacht Uno, taking

provisions and eighty soldiers to strengthen the garrison.

Upon learning what had occurred, the council of policy

appointed Casparus Swertner successor to Mr. Van Taak,

with the rank of junior merchant and a salary of 21. IBs. 6d.

a month. He was then at Delagoa Bay, but he died before

iihe news of his appointment reached the station. A sub-

altern, named Jan Michel, was then chosen to be head of the

party of occupation. The council hoped that by this time

the survivors from the fever were seasoned to the climate,

and that henceforth all would go well. But the outpost was
destined to further trouble.

Time passed in trading, exploring, and gathering infor-

mation, until the 19th of April 1722, when a report was

brought by some blacks that three ships had entered the

bay. These proved to be manned by buccaneers, who at-

tacked Fort Lagoa, took possession of it after a short

cannonade, and plundered the store. They did not, how-

ever, otherwise illtreat the garrison, eighteen of whom joined

them. When they were ready for sea they compelled one of

the officials, named De Bucquoi, to pilot them out, as he had
surveyed the bay and made a chart of its soundings. They
also took with them the vessel which was employed as a

packet, to be able, as they said, to send the pilot back when
they got outside. They failed to keep their word, however,

and De Bucquoi and the crew of the Kaap were obliged to

remain with the buccaneers until they reached another port,

from which they made their way to India.
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The gurriBon at the itation was by this disaster cut off

from oommunicatton with the outer world. But in course

of time relief cama, and the exploration of the country

around the bay for a few miles inland was then completed.

A little gold wai brought by blacks from the interior to

exchange for beadi, and though the whole quantity was less

than two ounoei, it wai suilicient to excite hope. The
natives who brought it asMerted that they had travelled three

moons and a half, but thin statement was not credited. The
£rst who came bad a little scale, with pebbles of different

sizes for weightH, flrotn which it was known that he had
dealt before with white men, probably Portuguese. Over

two tons of ivory and four hundred and ninety pounds of

copper were proeured. The locality in which the copper

mines were situated eould not be ascertained, as the natives

either could not or would not give information concerning it.

A report of an iron mountain some distance inland hired

a party of nineteen men, under the secunde Jan Christoffel

Stefler, to go In seareli of it. They left Fort Lagoa on the

9th of August 172B, with three pack oxen to carry provisions.

At the end of a week they were in a charming country. In
mountain kloofs were magnificent forests, the soil was rich

and covered with long grass, streams of fresh water were

numerous, and different kinds of game, particularly ele-

phants, were seen in great abundance. When crossing a
river, the leading division of the exploring party was attacked

and destroyed by a band of natives, and as no one capable

of giving directions was then left, the survivors returned to

the bay.

In May 1724 an aetive junior oflBcer, named Jan van de

Capelle, was appointed provisional commandant of Fort

Lagoa, as Jan Michel liad requested to be relieved. It was
not a place to which people went willingly, for the climate

had the reputation of being in the summer season one of the

most deadly in the world.

The year 1722 was the most disastrous one yet known for

the Company's fleets In these seas. On the 17th of January

the richly-laden ships Bam^gon and Amatelveen, belonging to
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a large return fleet, encountered a great gale off the southern

coast, and went down in the open ocean. Two men belong-

ing to the first and one belonging to the last were found by-

other ships of the fleet some hours later floating on pieces of

wreckage. The remainder of their crews perished.

On Sunday the 14th of June a gale from the north-west

set into Table Bay. There were lying at anchor, belonging^

to the Company, two second class outward-bound ships, the

Standvastigheid and Rotterdam, together carrying 463 men,,

two third class outward-bound ships, the Zoetigheid and
Laheman, together carrying 283 men, a small outward-bound

vessel, the Schotsche Lorrendraayer, carrying 62 men, the

packet boat Gouda, ready to sail to Delagoa Bay with sup-

plies, and the brigantine Amy, which had been in use at the

Cape ever since her seizure in Saldanha Bay in 1693. There
were also lying in the bay three English East Indiamen, the

Nightingale, bound to Madras, with a crew of 140 men, and
the Addison and Ghandos, with crews respectively of 80 and
70 men, homeward bound from Bengal. The last named
had put in a fortnight before in distress, having been dis-

masted in a gale at sea.

All that day the danger to the shipping was great, but

no accident worse than parting cables and swamping boats

occurred. On Monday the gale lulled, but during the night

the wind shifted to north-north-west, and on Tuesday morn-

ing the bay seemed to be covered with breakers. Still up
to dusk the ships held to their anchors.

As darkness set in the gale increased. At seven o'clock

minute guns were heard between the gusts, and the firing

continued until midnight. The sea was breaking on the

beach with such violence that it was dangerous to pass along

the road between the castle and the shore.

At dawn in the morning of the 17th it was seen that not

a single vessel was afloat in the bay. The Amy was under

the castle, and had broken up, but her crew had got safely

ashore. The Ghandos was next, close to the castle. She

had partly broken up, but only two of her crew had been

drowned. Then came fragments of the Zoetigheid, nearly

.
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half of whose crew had perished. The Laheman was high

on the land a little further on, with only one man missing.

Just boyond were the crushed fragments of the Standvaatig-

heidf Rotterdam, and Sehotache Lorrendraayer, all together,

and of their crews only forty-five men were living. The
Gouda and the Nightingale were some distance off, both high

on the land and not much broken. The Nightingale had
lost one man, the other none. The Addison had struck in

the mouth of Salt Biver, and had overturned and broken up.

Only ten of her crew had got to land. In all six hundred

and sixty men perished in that dreadful gale, and property

valued at nearly a quarter of a million sterling was lost.

On the 20th of November of this disastrous year the

Schoonherg, homeward bound with a valuable cargo, was run

ashore near Cape Agulhas in broad daylight and in fine

weather, through the culpable negligence of her officers.

The ship broke up, but all on board got safely to shore.

The next wreck that occurred on the coast was on the

7th of November 1 723, when a little vessel named the Meteren,

which was on her passage out to be employed as a packet

between the Cape and Delagoa Bay, was lost on the coast a
little to the north of the mouth of the Elephant river. She
had left Texel with a crew of twenty-nine souls. Scurvy

made its appearance, and six died on the passage ; while of

the others, only ten were at length able to work. In a calm

her anchor was dropped close to the coast, but a swell set

in, when she dragged, and was cast ashore a complete wreck.

Five men were drowned. The remaining eighteen got to

land, where nine of them, who could walk, wandered about

for twenty-five days before they were found. The others

were believed to have died of want.

In the church, matters had assumed a very satisfactory

aspect. The Rev. Mr. D'Ailly remained as first or chief

minister of the Cape. The rector of the school, the Eev.

Lambertus Slicher, was an ordained clergyman, but had

been engaged as a teacher only. In that capacity he had
been some years in service here, when at the request of the

council of policy and with the consent of the directors he

u. G
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began to assist in the church. His first service was held on

the 15th of June 1721. He still continued to perform the

duty of rector of the school, though in February 1723 he was

formally inducted as second or assistant clergyman of the Cape

congregation. In 1720 some persons subscribed the necessary

funds for the purchase of an organ for use in the church.

The Rev. Petrus van Aken, who had been appointed by

the directors clergyman of Drakenstein, arrived in August

1714, and took over the duty at once. In 1717 a commence-

ment was made with building a church at Drakenstein. The
funds were derived from a legacy of 208Z. 6«. 8d. bequeathed

for the purpose by Henning Huising, 3142. Ss. 6d. left with

tho government here for charitable purposes by individuals in

the fleet under the governor-general Van Hoorn, 6982. 12«. 2d.

lent by the consistory of the Cape, and 7152. 12«. 6rf. raised

partly by special collections and partly by making use of the

poor fund. The building was completed in 1 720. When Paul

Boux died, the consistory requested the council of policy to

appoint another French sick comforter in his stead, as there

were still some twenty-five or twenty-six old people living who
did not understand Dv.tch. The council, 23rd of February

1723, declined to do to until the pleasure of the directors

could be made known, and their decision was unfavourable.

At Stellenbosch, where the Rev. Mr. Bek was clergyman,

a commencement was also made in 1717 with building a

church in place of the one that had been destroyed by fire.

The cost was borne by applying the poor fund, by special

collections, a loan from the Cape consistory which had then

over 9,3002. to the good, and by a lottery for which per-

mission was obtained from the directors.

On the 8th of October 1721 Abraham Cranendonk died,

when Jan de la Fontaine, who had been varking his way
upwards during the eleven yenrs of his residence in South

Africa, was chosen by the council of policy to act as secunde

until the pleasure of the directors could be known. In

1724jthe appointment was confirmed by the Assembly of

Seventeen.

On the 14th of June 1724 the fiscal independent, Comelis

<
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van Beaumont, died. The council selected Adriaan van

Kervel, who had been sixteen years in service at the Cape,

to act until a new appointment could be made by the

directors. He also was confirmed in his office.

Governor De Chavonnes managed to preserve the good

will both of the directors and the colonists. He embarked
in no costly undertakings, did his utmost to keep down
expense, and preserved concord in the settlement. He was
a quiet, religious man, who might have taken for motto a

verse which closes the journal for one of the years when he

was at the head of affairs

:

* Oeluckigh is by die syn tyd

In stille rust en weldoen slyt,

Die al hetgeen den Hemel geeft

Nooyt in syn hert mispreesen heeft.'

The directors were so well satisfied with his administra-

tion that they raised him to the rank of ordinary councillor

of India, a dignity enjoyed by none of his predecessors. The
letter containing the announcement of his elevation reached

the Cape on the 1st of June 1721.

The governor was suddenly taken ill on the 7th of

September 1724, and died early on the following morning.

A few hours later the council of policy met and decided that

Jan de la Fontaine should act as head of the government

until an appointment could be made by the Assembly of

Seventeen. His nomination as secunde had not yet been

confirmed by the directors, and lie was only in rank a
merchant ; but there was no other officer at the Cape in a
better position. Within a few months despatches were re-

ceived in which he was promoted to be a senior merchant,

and was approved of as secunde.

On the 14th of September the body of the late governor

was buried under the pavement of the church, with all the

state that was possible, nearly the whole of the colonists of

Stellenbosch and Drakenstein as well as those of the Cape
district attending the funeral. His widow and daughters

returned to Europe with the next fleet from India.

Q 2
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During the period 1714 to 1724 the names of but few
ubw colonists are found in the records. The following are

all that need to be mentioned : Christiaan Ackerman, Pieter

van Breda, Hermanns Oombrinck, Jan Hop, Hendrik
Klopper, Hermanns Eriel, Daniel EIrynouw, Abraham
Peltser, Melt van der Spuy, Jan de Waal, Pieter Wion,.

'md Jan de Wit.
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CHAPTER XX. i /

I

JAN DE LA FONTAINE, SEOUNDE, ACTING HEAD OF THE
GOVEBNMENT, 8 SEPTEMBER 1724 TO 25 FEBBTJABT 1727.

PIETEB OTSBEBT NOODT, OOVEBNOB, INSTALLED 25 FEBBUABT
1727, DIED 23 APBIL 1729.

JAN DE LA FONTAINE, SEOUNDE, ACTING HEAD OF THE
GOVEBNMENT, 24 APBIL 1729 TO 8 MABOH 1730 ; GOVEBNOB,

INSTALLED 8 MABCH 1730, BETIBED 81 AUGUST 1787.

Falling oft in foreign shipping visiting the Cape—Statistics of ships that put
into Table Bay—Exportation of grain—Attempt to plant the Cape flats

—

Experiment in silk culture—Efforts to produce kinuan hair at the Cape

—

Establishment of au outpost on the river Zonder End—^Arrival of Grovemor
Noodt—Character of the new governor—Attempt to recover treasure from
wrecks in Table Bay—Wreck of ships in Table Bay in July and December
1728—Loss of the Saaanburg off Cape Agnlhas—Examination of various
bays —Treatment of Bushman marauders—Sudden death of Governor
Noodt—Particulars of the trial of some soldiers, and of their execution on
the day of the governor's death—Election of Jan de la Fontaine to act as
head of the government—Appointment by the directors of Jan de la Fon-
taine as governor, Adriaan van Eervel as secunde, and Daniel van den
Henghel as fiscal independent—Decline in prosperity of the Netherlands
East India Company—Events at Delagoa Bay—Abandonment of Delagoa
Bay by the Company—Efforts to explore the south-eastern coast of Africa

—Introduction of a new system of land tenure in the colony—Project of

trade between the colony and the east coast and the islands—Visit of the
governor to Mossel Bay—Establishment of an outpost on the Buffeljagts

river—Wreck of a packet in Table Bay in 1736—The great gale of May
1737—Wreck of nine ships, with loss of over two hundred lives and a large

amount of property—Sun-mary punishment of thieves—Succession of
clergymen at the Cape, Stellenbosch, and Drakenstein—Wanderings of

elephant hunters—Massacre by EaflSrs of a party of elephant hunters

—

Names of new colonists—Betirement of Governor De la Fontaine, who ia

succeeded by Adriaan van Kervel.

In consequence of foreign ships being prevented from ob-

taining supplies at the Cape during the period of scarcity,

very few vessels not under the Dutch flag now put into

Table Bay. The burghers felt the loss severely, for foreigners

had brought ready money into the country ; but it was hoped
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that with better times thej would return again. Thiff

hope was not, however, realised. The plague among the

cattle after a few years decreased in virulence, and beef and

mutton were obtainable at a penny halfpenny to two pence a

pound ; but the Cape had lost its reputation of affording

cheap supplies offresh provisions, and it was a long time in re-

gaining it. During the thirteen years, 1725-1737, embraced

in this chapter, one thousand and seven ships put into Table

Bay, or on an average seventy-seven yearly. Of these, 868

belonged to the Company, 91 were English, 27 Danish, 19

French, 1 was Portuguese, and 1 was Flemish.

The harvests during this period fluctuated considerably.

The directors, having gained experience of the uncertainty

of the seasons in South Africa, issued instructions that a

year's supply of wheat should always be put by as a reserve

before any was sent to India. In 1724 and again in 1725

over five thousand muids were exported. In 1726 none

could be spared, owing to drought. In 1727 there was not

sufficient for home consumption, owing to rust, which had
attacked rye before, but not wheat. From 1728 to 1737

there was a constant export, sometimes of as much as seven

thousand muids, though the crops were not uniformly good.

The isthmus connecting the Cape peninsula with the

continent was at this time a barren waste of sand. With
difficulty laden waggons traversed it, for there was no road,

and nothing but a line of poles indicated the best course

across. From reports of skippers, the directors were led to

believe that Table Bay would at no very distant date be

filled with the sand which violent south-east gales swept

into it during the summer months. To prevent this, they

issued instructions that attempts should be made to fix the

sand by planting it with grass and trees, and in the winter

of 1724 the work was commenced. Seventy slaves and a

gang of convicts were employed in planting knot-grass and
seeds of the wild olive, and, when these failed, in ensuing

rainy seasons the experiment was repeated with belts of

Bods.

The valuable properties of the mesembryanthemum for
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binding surface sand were then unknown. For eleven

years, with one short interval, the effort to plant the flats

was continued, every winter much labour being expended

upon it; but in 1735 it was abandoned in despair. The
directors, however, were by this time satisfied that Table

Bay was in no danger of silting up. A commission of

nautical men that was appointed to examine it carefully

sent in a report that within the preceding half century, so

far from its filling up with sand, the water had become
deeper.

To superintend the experiments in silk culture, which

the directors resolved should be made, the services of a com-

petent man, named Fran9ois Guillaumet, were secured. In

October 1726 he and his family arrived at the Cape.

Attempts had previously been made to bring silkworm eggs

from India, but in no instance had they been successful.

Some had been received in good condition from Europe,

however, and the worms when hatched had been carefully

attended to in the houses of Messrs. Jan de la Fontaine and

Nicholas Heyning. Theywere nowhanded over to Guillaumet.

There were plenty of healthy mulberry trees, and the expert

was furnished with whatever slave labour he asked for.

Everything was thus in favour of the experiment.

In the first year eight pounds weight of good silk was
obtained, which was sent to the Netherlands, and was an

object of considerable interest at Amsterdam and Middelburg.

Anticipations arose of another manufacturing industry in the

mother countiy, with an article produced in a Dutch colony.

The members of the council of policy at the Cape were

equally enthusiastic. A large building was immediately

erected close to the Company's garden, and was placed at

Guillaumet's disposal for keeping the worms in. The
children in the slave lodge close by were all to be employed

out of school hours in winding silk. Some thousands of

young mulberry trees were planted in selected places. Any
burghers who had a fancy to join in the industry, which was

now believed to have passed the experimental stage, were

supplied with a few eggs and the necessary instructions.
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Yet in no subsequent year did the production of silk

exceed ten pounds in weight. The great majority of the

worms always died before making cocoons, and in one

particular season they would have become extinct altogether

if it had not been that a few were preserved by some burghers.

It was soon ascertained that the returns were so trifling as

to forbid the industry being attractive to people who could

make a living in any other way. For eight years, however,

the experiment was continued by the government. In 1735

every one admitted that it could not be made to succeed, and

by order of the directors it was then given up.

Another industry which the Company at this time

attempted to establish in South Africa was the production

of kirman hair. Shawls made of this hair were then con-

sidered second only in value to those of Cashmere. The
goat which produces it is reared in Persia, and in that

country twenty-four young animals were obtained, which

were sent to Ceylon to be forwarded to the Cape. In

February 1725 eight of these reached South Africa, the

others having died on the way. Of the eight, only one was

a she-goat, and that died shortly after being landed. From
ordinary she-goats cross-breeds were obtained, and from

these and the pure animals, now reduced by death to two,

goats with tolerably long and fine hair were bred. Some
burghers were then induced to make experiments with the

animals. After a few years trial they informed the council

that unless the Company would pay forty pence a pound for

the hair, it would not be worth their while to keep separate

flocks. That price could not be given even for a superior

article. But instead of improving the quality, the owners

of the goats allowed the hair to deteriorate by mixture with

native animals until a quantity sent to Europe in 1735 was
quite unsaleable. The experiment was then abandoned.

In November 1726 a corporal and six men were sent

over the Hottentots Holland mountains to form an outpost

at a place called the Ziekenhuis, on the river Zonder End.

The few Hottentots left in that part of the country had
complained to the government that they were not able to
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liold their own against the Bushmen, and thai .Ley were also

exposed to depredations from vagrant Europeans, who pro-

fessed to visit them for purposes of trade, but in reality robbed

them of cattle. Owing to these complaints the outpost was

formed, in order that acts of violence might be prevented.

The directors were so dissatisfied that the Europeans of

Van der Heiden's party, of whom the Drakenstein consis-

tory had complained, had not been brought to justice for

their conduct towards the Hottentots, that they issued

instructions to prohibit all dealing by private persons with

natives under heavier penalties than before. In conse-

quence, on the 9th of April 1727 a very strict placaat to

that effect was issued.

The officer whom the Assembly of Seventeen selected as

governor was the director of fortifications, Pieter Gysbert

Noodt, who seven years earlier had inspected the shore of

Table Bay and prepared plans of defensive works. Intelli-

gence of his appointment reached South Africa in January

1726, and on the 6th of December of that year he left

Batavia as admiral of a homeward bound fleet of nine ships.

On the 13th of February 1727 he reached the Cape, and

on the 25th of the same month was formally installed as

governor. His family was small, consisting only of his wife

and one son.

Mr. Noodt was a coarse, harsh, ill-tempered man, full of

pride and self-conceit, and therefore generally disliked. He
took special pleasure in irritating the secunde Jan de la

Fontaine, and attempted even to injure that officer's repu-

tation. In consequence, De la Fontaine tendered his resig-

nation ; but the directors, instead of accepting it, increased

his salary from 62. ISs. 4c2. to 102. a month.

In 1727 a party of five English divers under a foreman

named John Lethbridge, who had been engaged in Europe

and sent out by the directors, endeavoured to recover the

treasure buried in wrecks in Table Bay. The apparatus

ivhich they brought with them is not described, but what-

ever it was, it enabled them to remain a considerable time

under water. They recovered some coin and a quantity of
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goods, but found that most of the wreckage was deeply

covered with sand.

During the summer the forests along the river Zonder

End were examined by the governor in person, with a view

of ascertaining whether they could not be made of greater

use to the Company. But the mountain range separating

them from the Cape was found to be too formidable a

barrier to allow the transport of timber with profit.

On Saturday the 3rd of July 1728 there were six ships

at anchor in Table Bay, when a gale set in from the north-

north-west. At one o'clock in the afternoon the Stahroek

parted her cables and was driven ashore between the castle

and the mouth of Salt River. She was followed two hours

later by the Haarlem, which grounded nearer the castle.

Neither of these vessels was broken, and only two men of

each were drowned in endeavouring to get to land. A little

after three o'clock the Middenrak went ashore just beyond

the mouth of Salt River. There were seventy-five men on

board, and the ship was in a raging surf, but it was not

possible to render any assistance. Night set in, and the

hull of the Middenrak still held together. But when morn-

ing dawned on Sunday the 4th, all that remained of the

ship was strewed along the beach, and not one of the

seventy-five was saved to tell when she had gone to pieces.

The other three vessels rode out the gale.

The Haarlem was got afloat again, and was sent to

Saldanha Bay to be repaired. This was effected, and she

returned to Table Bay on the 4th of December. At that

season of the year danger was not suspected, though the day

was rainy and the wind was variable from north-west to

south-west. At ten o'clock that night the Haarlem parted

her cables and went ashore close to the mouth of Salt River,

where she broke up at once. Of one hundred and seven

men on board, only sixteen got to land on pieces of the

wreck.

On the morning of the 9th of January 1729 the provision

ship Saxenhurg, bound from Batavia to the Cape with rice

and other Indian produce, went down in a gale off Cape

/
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Agulhas. Of eighty-eight souls on board, all perished but

seven, who were picked up on pieces of the wreck by other

vessels a few hours later.

In consequence of the numerous disasters that had
occurred in Table Bay in the winter season, the directors

issued instructions that the several harbours in the neighbour-

hood of the Cape should be carefully examined, and a report

be submitted to them. To perform this, a commission was

appointed, consisting of two old skippers, one named Jacobus

MoUer, who was then acting as master of the naval establish-

ment at the Cape, the other named Jan de Heere, who had
been for some time living in the colony as a burgher. They
sounded Table Bay and made a chart of it, reporting that it

was not filling up, that it could be made a perfectly safe

harbour by means of a mole, but that the mole would cost

a great deal of money. Saldanha Bay they described as

secure, but as wanting in everything else that could make
a refreshment station valuable. Simon's Bay they thought

more highly of. Eight or ten ships could there find shelter

in all weathers, and there was plenty of fresh water to be

had. Its drawbacks they reported to be no ground in its

neighbourhood fit for gardens and difficulty of access by

land.

There is at this period hardly any mention of the natives

in the records, as they seldom gave the Europeans trouble.

An exception occurred in December 1 728, when a party of

Bushmen drove oft* the cattle from the farm of Jan Valk near

Piketberg. Valk's neighbours assembled and pursued the

robbers, who offered resistance when they were overtaken.

Two Europeans were wounded, but a volley of slugs put to

flight all the Bushmen who were not struck. The cattle

were recovered, except two oxen. The government approved

of the action of the colonists in following the robbers and

firing upon them, but directed the landdrost to be careful

that no provocation was given to Bushmen who did not first

offend.

The only other instance of the kind that is recorded

during the period embraced in this chapter occurred in.
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Maroh 1731. Some Bushmen drove off a herd of cattle

from the farm of Hans Fotgieter, but were pursued by twelve

of Potgieter's neighbours, who hastily assembled and formed

a commando. The robbers were overtaken, when some of

them were shot, and the cattle were recovered.

Mr. Noodt was at the head of this colony for a period of

two years and two months. He was generally disliked, but

as he did not interfere with the burghers, they did not

complain of him as they had of the younger Van der Stel.

He died suddenly when sitting in the pleasure house in the

Company's garden between three and four o'clock in the

afternoon of the 23rd of April 1729. A few hours before,

when apparently in perfect health, he had signed documents
which are still in existence. On the last day of the month
his body was buried with state under the pavement of the

church, but in the records there is no trace of regret shown

by any one for his death. With the first homeward bound
fleet of the following year his widow and son returned to

Europe.

The character of this governor is usually pictured in the

blackest colours. It was so drawn in an account of the Cape
written by a German tutor who lived in the colony for several

years after 1732, and whose narrative of the trial of some
soldiers for conspiring to desert and of their execution on

the day of Mr. Noodt's death has not only been copied in many
modern books, but was the foundation of a drama which

was popular some years ago. Tet that account is almost

entirely ideal, being nothing more than a tale by a man
who had no other means of obtaining information than

gossip upon a past event.

In the records of the high court of justice, which are

in perfect preservation, the circumstance is thus related.

Fourteen soldiers planned to desert from the garrison and
march overland to the Portuguese possessions beyond

Delagoa Bay, where they supposed they would find means to

get to Europe. In the night of the 2nd of April 1729 two of

them were on guard. These deserted with their arms and
assisted some of the others to rob the guardhouse of nine
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muskets witU ammunition. One was unable to get away,

the remaining thirteen marched towards Stellenbosch. During

the next day tUey visited the farms of Andries Schutte and

Izaak Nel, where they obtained food, and then continued on

their journey.

The governor, meantime, instructed Pieter Lourens, land-

drost of Stellenboseh, to assemble a party of burghers and

arrest the fugitives. Early in the morning of the 4th they

were overtaken lit Hottentots Holland kloof, but only two

gave themselves up when the landdrost summoned them to

surrender. The others maintained a running fight for three

hours, when their leader was shot and eight were captured.

Another was made prisoner a few days later, and the re-

maining three returned of their own accord to the castle and

surrendered.

They were brought to trial, and on the 21 st of April

sentence was passed. Four were condemned to be hanged,

and their bodies afterwards to be exposed to perish by the

air and the birds, five were to be flogged, branded, and

made to labour fifteen years in chains. Three were to be

flogged and made to labour ten years. And the last was to

be flogged and made to labour three years. At the foot of

this sentence the original signatures may still be seen of

the members of the high court of justice : Pieter Gysbert

Noodt, Jan de la Fontaine, Johannes Theophilus Ehenius,

Nicholas Heyning, Hendrik Swellengrebel, Christoffel Brand,

J. P. van Coller, and Byk Tulbagh.

The sentence was earried into effect on the morning of

the 23rd, and the only interference of the governor that is

recorded is that he used his power of mitigation to permit

the burial of the four who were hanged, instead of allowing

them to be exposed. The punishment was in accordance

with the spirit of those times, and was not more severe than

was inflicted for similar offences in other countries.

At eight in the morning after Mr. Noodt's death the

council of policy met, and decided that the secunde Jan de

la Fontaine should again act as head of the government

until the pleasure of the supreme authorities could be
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known. With the next homeward bound fleet they sent a

request to the directors that he should be permanently-

appointed governor, and on the 20th of February 1730

despatches were received to the effect that their request had

been complied with. The fiscal independent, Adriaan van
Kervel, was appointed to succeed him as secuude, and

Daniel van den Henghel, who was then in service at Colombo,

was appointed fiscal. On the 8th of March 1730 Mr. De
la Fontaine took the oath of office and was formally installed

as governor. On the 21st of March 1732 he was further

promoted to the rank of councillor extraordinary of Nether-

lands India.

The East India Company, upon whose fortunes this

colony greatly depended, had now passed the zenith of its

prosperity. Its dividends, which for the ten years ending

Slst December 1722 had been at the rate of thirty-seven per

cent per annum upon the paid up capital, averaged only

twenty-one per cent for the ten years 1723-1732, and never

afterwards rose higher than twenty-five per cent. Many of

its trading establishments were not returning the expense

of maintenance. The commerce of the English and French
in the East was making enormous strides, and some branches

were completely lost to the Dutch. The coasting trade of

Southern Asia, which had once been almost exclusively in

possession of the Company, had fallen into other hands.

In Holland matters were quite as bad. The directorate

was secured by members of powerful families, who were

content to draw a revenue without troubling themselves to

correct abuses. Their influence was sufficient to prevent

the States General from exercising the right of inspection

into the Company's affairs, and of seeing that its trans-

actions were conducted in such a manner as not to be
prejudicial to the interests of the republic.

Under these circumstances the corruption, which for a
long time had been prevalent in the public service, extended

more deeply than before. The appointment of independent

fiscals had done nothing to check it. In the Asiatic depen-

dencies, where there were no intelligent freemen to resist
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oppression,—which indeed at its worst did not equal that of

the native princes,—wealth was accumulated by the Com-
pany's servants in shameless ways. The ancient simplicity

of manners had disappeared. The officers of government

lived in a style of ostentation resembling that of Asiatic

rulers, and bribery and fraud were commonly practised.

At the Cape there was less opportunity for such mal-

practices, as the colonists were not the people to submit

tamely to wrong of any kind. Further, it may have been

accidental, or it may have been owing to their living in a

healthier moral atmosphere, but the chief officials in South

Africa for many years after the death of Governor Noodt
were men held in general esteem, whose probity was never

questioned.

The early disasters at Delagoa Bay had not discouraged

the Company, and for a long time hopes were entertained

of a profitable trade being carried on there. In 1725 a

little ambergris, some aloes, three hundred pounds weight

of copper, more than two tons of ivory, thirty-four slaves,

and a few ounces of gold dust were received from that

station. It was impossible to obtain any reliable informa-

tion concerning the interior of the country from the natives

at the bay ; but it was observed on one occasion that two of

the chief Maphumbo's men went inland and returned with

some gold dust within fourteen days. This raised a hope

that the gold fields might be easily reached, and on the

27th of June 1725 an expedition left Fort Lagoa in search

of them. It consisted of thirty-one men under Sergeant

Jan Mona, with a clerk named Frans de Kuyper as journalist.

After a toilsome march of twenty days, a party of hostile

blacks was encountered, who opposed further advance. In

a skirmish several of the natives were shot, but as the pack

oxen were killed by the enemy and all the baggage and

goods were seized, the expedition was obliged to return.

A.n attempt to search for the copper mines, made by a

party under the mineralogist Jan Hendrik Hoom, was also a

failure.

The directors now issued instructions that attempts to
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reach the gold fields and the empire of Monomotapa, which

was still believed to be a reality, should be made by means
of boats pushing their way up the rivers. An old skipper,

named Jan de Koning, was appointed commander, and the

garrison was strengthened with a hundred soldiers and

sailors.

At the end of May 1726 Commander De Eoning arrived

at Fort Lagoa. He found the secunde, Jan de la Capelle,

who had been acting head of the station, engaged in making
experiments in the cultivation of sugar cane and indigo.

There were constant feuds between the various clans around

the bay, but the Europeans were on good terms with all.

The most powerful of the chiefs was named Maphumbo, but

another, named Manisa, was almost as strong. The latter

had his kraals on the banks of the river Dos Keys of the

Portuguese, where Vasco da Gama had landed ; and the

Dutch called the stream after him, the Manisa.

The natives were credited with a belief that the Euro-

peans purchased slaves to fatten and eat them, and it was
supposed that this belief was the cause of their bringing so

few for sale. To counteract it. Commander De Koning sent

three men of rank with their attendants on a visit to the

Cape, that they might see for what purpose slaves were

needed. One of those who visited the Cape was a nephew

of Maphumbo. He had been to England, and had there re-

ceived in baptism the name of John ; but had been sent back

to Delagoa Bay in 1723. He spoke English fluently. The
visitors professed to be pleased with the manner in which

they saw the slaves were treated ; but the traffic did not in-

crease after their return.

As Fort Lagoa was too small for the accommodation of

the garrison now stationed there, a larger area was enclosed

with earthen walls, to which the name of Lydzaamheid was

given. The rivers were ascended as far as they were navig-

able with boats ; but very little information was obtained

concerning the country. The Dutch officers were never

able to ascertain the exact position and distance of either

the copper mines or the gold fields. The gold dust brought
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bj the natives for sale was so mixed with other substances

as to cause the assayers in Batavia to flssevt that every

stiver's worth cost the Company a floi in.

In December 1726 fever attarVed the (jd-rrison, as it had
done every previous summer, and \u a few mouths thirty-

eight men died, among them being Coir/ iitauder De Eoning.

The secunde Jan de la Capelle then became acting head of

the station again. Reinforcements were sent from the Cape,

and attempts to explore the interior were renewed, but with

no greater success than before. At the beginning of the

following summer a party of sixteen soldiers deserted and
made their way overland to Inhambane, where most of them
perished. A little later sixty-two men at the station entered

into a conspiracy to rebel and desert, but the plot was dis-

covered in time to prevent its being put into execution.

The garrison was then one hundred and eighty-six strong.

The directors now resolved to leave the abandonment

or retention of Fort Lydzaamheid to the discretion of the

council of policy at the Cape. The council thereupon re-

solved, 11th of June 1730, that the sooner it could be

abandoned the better. On the 12th of August the little

vessels SnuffelaaVf Zeepoat, and Feyenoord, which were era-

ployed as packets at the Cape, left to bring away the garri-

son and effects. Before their arrival another disaster

occurred. Ensign Mona and twenty-nine Europeans were
surprised and killed by a party of natives. On the 27th of

December 1730 the acting commander Jande la Capelle and
one hundred and thirty-three men, to which number the

garrison had been reduced, embarked in the vessels sent for

them, and they arrived at the Cape on the 13th of the fol-

lowing January.

Delagoa Bay was abandoned, but the Company had still

a strong desire to establish a station somewhere on the

south-eastern coast of Africa. In September 1731 the

Snuffelaar and Zeepoat were sent to examine the seaboard

carefully as far north as Inhambane. Jan de la Capelle

accompanied the expedition as journalist. A Portuguese

station was visited, but nothing unknown before was dis-

II. H
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covered. At and near St. Lucia Bay many lives were lost

by fever, and the survivors then returned to the Cape with a

report that no suitable place for a station could be found.

The expedition was absent five months.

In September 1732 the Zeepost and Feyenoord were sent

to make another search. After spending four months ex-

amining the coast, they returned to the Cape, when their

ofl&cers reported that north of Port Natal they could find no

place where a station could be established to advantage,

'''he design was then given up by the directors.

Previous to 1732 ground was held by individuals in the

colony either under freehold title or annual leases. On the

18th of February of this year, by order of the directors,

another system of land tenure was introduced. It was en-

acted that garden ground in the Cape peninsula and small

plots of land adapted for agriculture and bordering on free-

hold farms could be leased for periods of fifteen years, during

which they were to be irreclaimable ; and if at the expira-

tion of any term of fifteen years the Company should resume

possession, the tenant was to be compensated for all build-

ings at a fair valuation. The rental first named was eight

shillings and fourpence a morgen yearly, but in the follow-

ing year it was permanently fixed at two shillings and a

penny a morgen. At the same time the rental of the large

farms or cattle runs held under annual leases was raised

from 21. iOs. to 61.

As far back as 1719 the burgher councillors, acting on

behalf of several colonists who were acquainted with the east

coast and the islands of Madagascar and the Mascarenhas

group, had requested liberty to trade with those countries upon

payment of reasonable import and export duties. They pro-

posed to purchase manufactured goods from the Company,

and to exchange these goods and Cape produce for slaves,

ivory, gold dust, and anything else of commercial value that

should be obtainable. The directors had at first hesitated,

but they were now disposed to take the request into favour-

able consideration, if the colonists would submit their plans

in detail. In 1732 a committee of officers of the Cape

1
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government, consisting of Messrs, Adriaan van Kervel,

Nicholas Heyning, and Eyk Tulbagh, was appointed to

meet the acting and retired burgher councillors, and after

discussing the question with them, to draw up a report for

transmission to the Netherlands. The conference took place

;

but the burgher councillors stated that circumstances had
changed since 1719, those who were then prepared to embark
in the trade having died or engaged in other pursuits, and
they thought no advantage coidd now be derived from the

project.

In June 1734 a homeward bound Indiaman, named the

'Rnis te Marquette, put into Mossel Bay in distress, which

led to the governor visiting that port. On the 7th of July

he left the Cape, attended by the secretary, Eyk Tulbagh,

the master of the naval department. Jacobus MoUer, Ensign

Eudolph Sigfried Alleman, and the burghers Jan Kruywagen,

Jan Hop, Jan Christoffel Bek, Jacobus Botha, and Andries

Grove, whose farms were in the neighbourhood of Mossel

Bay and who offered the use of their waggons and cattle.

The distressed ship was relieved, and the bay was examined;

but the governor left with a very poor opinion of its capa-

bilities as a harbour. The party proceeded eastward to the
* forests in the district once occupied by the Outeniqua tribe,

which the governor wished to explore. Heavy rains, however,

set in, which necessitated a return before the rivers should

become flooded. The party was absent not quite two months.

At Mossel Bay the governor caused a stone beacon, with the

arms of the republic engraved on one side and those of the

East India Company on the other, to be erected as a mark of

possession.

A few weeks later, a small military outpost, similar to

those at Waveren and the river Zonder End, was established

at Eiet Vlei, on the Buffeljagfcs river, between the present

villages of Swellendam and Heidelberg. The objects were
to prevent illicit cattle dealing with the natives, and to pro-

vide protection to the farmers and the Hottentots from the

Bushmen. In the same year a corporal and six men were
sent to form a temporary outpost at St. Helena Bay, where

h2
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it was feared that the French had an intention of establishing

a refreshment station. After an occupation of a few months,

upon receipt of intelligence from Europe, this outpost was

broken up.

During the night between the Ist and 2nd of July 1786

the brigantine Feyenoord was driven ashore in a gale near

Salt River mouth, and became a wreck. Only one life was

lost.

The following year was one of the most disastrous ever

known to shipping at the Cape. On the 2l8t of May 1737

a fleet of nine ships, mostly of the third class, was lying at

anchor in Table Bay ready to sail for the Fatherland. During
the preceding night a heavy gale had set in from the north-

west. At daylight the wind veered a little more to the

westward, increasing the swell of the sea. Huge waves were

rolling in between Robben Island and Green Point, and the

bay was like a sheet of foam. As the gale increased, the

ships' cables began to part, and between ten and eleven

o'clock in the morning minute guns were heard.

In a short time the Ypenroode was seen to be drifting.

She struck close to the mouth of Salt River, and with the

shock her masts fell and she broke into fragments in the

surf. Some of her crew managed to get to land. The
Goudriaan parted next. She struck broadside on, with her

stern in the mouth of Salt River, and went to pieces at once.

The larger number of those on board perished. At noon the

Flora struck at the same place as the Goudriaan. She, too,

went to pieces immediately, and of her crew only six men
got to land. The Paddmhurg followed, but her crew were

more fortunate. She was carried in on the crest of a moun-

tain wave, and passed directly over the other wrecks, striking

high up on the beach. She went to pieces with the shock,

but most of those on board escaped with their lives. At
half past two in the afternoon the Westerwyk was driven

ashore at the same place. She ran high on the beach with-

out breaking up, and only a few of her men were lost. At

four o'clock the Buys struck close to the WesterwyJe, but she

went to pieces at once, and only five of her crew were saved»

1
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Early in the evening the DuynheeJe was driven ashore beyond

Salt River mouth, and broke up immediately, very few of

her men being saved. Later on, the Boodenrys struck at the

same place, but she held together until all of her crew but

six got to land by means of a rope attached to a yard which

was washed up. At the same time the brigantine Victoria,

one of the Cape packets, was carried by a great wave high

on the beach, where she lay dry when the gale was spent.

Nearly all of her crew were saved.

There were now left in the bay only the Papenhurg, home-

ward bound Indiaman, and the Goede Hoop, a small vessel

built at the Cape in 1733 and used as a packet. These

managed to ride out the gale.

In all two hundred and eight men were lost out of seven

hundred and thirty-nine that formed the crews of the wrecked

Indiamen. The purchase price of the cargo with which the

beach was strewn was 160,128?.

While the ships were drifting ashore a placaat was issued

threatening summary execution to any one found pilfering

the wrecked cargo. A military guard was stationed on the

beach, and four men who were caught stealing were actually

hanged on a gallows erected near the water's edge, where

their bodies were left exposed as a warning to others. These

executions took place on the same principle as that which

permitted the shooting of Bushman cattle-lifters, the prin-

ciple that it is justifiable to put to death a thief caught

redhanded.

In the preceding chapter we left the Rev. Messrs. D'Ailly

and Slicher clergymen at the Cape, Mr. Bek at Stellenbosch,

and Mr. Van Aken at Drakenstein. In December 1724 Mr.

Van Aken died. For some months the pulpit was vacant,

but at length the council of policy resolved to send Mr.

Slicher to Drakenstein, and leave the Cape to the care of

Mr. D'Ailly alone until another clergyman should be pro-

vided by the directors. Mr. Slicher accordingly took over

the duty on the 15th of July 1725. Early in the following

year Mr. D'Ailly was taken seriously ill, and he died in June,

-when Mr. Bek was removed to the Cape, Mr. Slicher being

I
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directed to hold services occasionally at Stellenbosch. Sa
matters remained for more than three years.

The directors sent out as second or assistant clergyman

at the Cape the Rev. Tranycis le Sueur, who conducted

service here for the first time on the 16th of October 1729.

In June 1730 Mr. Slicher died, when the council instructed

Mr. Le Sueur to act provisionally at Drakenstein and Stellen-

bosch. He returned to the Cape in April 1731, upon the

arrival from Europe of the Rev. Johan Wilhelm Hartzo-

genrath, who had been appointed by the directors clergyman

of Drakenstein. At the same time the council resolved that

Mr. Hartzogenrath should act as consulent of Stellenbosch,.

and permitted Mr. Bek, who was advanced in years and very

feeble, to retire on a pension.

In April 1732 the Rev. Hendrik Kock arrived from

Europe, having been appointed second clergyman of the

Cape, and he was followed in November of the same year by

the Rev. Salomon van Echten, who was sent out as clergy-

man of Stellenbosch. Thus the whole of the churches were

again supplied with ministers, after a series of vacancies

during eight years. In June 1736 the Rev. Mr. Hartzogen-

rath died, when Mr. Van Echten was removed to Draken-

stein, with instructions to act as consulent for Stellenbosch.

The country at this time must have been explored far

inland, for parties of elephant hunters were sometimes

absent from the settlement eight or nine months together

before returning with their waggons laden with ivory. But

these people were very reticent upon the subject of routes

and hunting grounds, and information obtained from them

was known to be so unreliable that the government did not

take the trouble to place it on record.

There was, however, one notable exception.

In May 1736 a party of elephant hunters, headed by a

man named Hermanns Hubner, left the settlement, and

travelled eastward to Kaffirland. There were eleven white

men in the party, with thirteen waggons and a strong band

of Hottentots. Passing through the district occupied by

the Gonaquas, at whose head was a chief whom they called
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Captain Babbelaan, they came to the kraal of a petty Kosa
chief, and then to the residence of Palo, paramount ruler of

the Eosa tribe. Proceeding still further, they reached the

country of the Tembus, where they found four colonists,

with six waggons, hunting elephants and trading with the

natives for ivory.

The two parties here united, and went on to a district

which they believed to be part of Natal, where they found

a tribe whom they termed Nomotis. There can hardly be

a doubt that the Pondos are the people referred to. Here
they met three Englishmen, named Thomas Wilier, Henry
Clark, and William Bilyert, who had been shipwre \ed many
years before, and were living in all respects like the natives,

having numerous wives and children. From these English-

men they purchased on credit about five tons of ivory, for

which they undertook to deliver at a future date a certain

quantity of iron, copper, and beads. They had now sufficient

ivory to load ten waggons, each with eighteen or nineteen

hundred pounds weight. They therefore commenced the

return journey, intending to hunt by the way, the three

Englishmen proposing to accompany them as far as Palo's

kraals. From the country of the Nomotis, they passed

through that of the Tembus, and kept on until they reached

the kraal of Palo, where it was their purpose to remain for

a week or two to let their cattle rest. So far they had been

treated in a friendly manner by the natives with whom they

had come in contact, and they had no cause to suspect dif-

ferent conduct at Palo*s kraal.

After resting a while, nine of them, with seven waggons,
went on ahead, and after a day's journey came to a river

which was so swollen that they were obliged to encamp on
its bank and wait its fall. The name of this river is not

given. The three Englishmen were with this party, but
did not intend to proceed further. The river was falling,

though slowly, and on the eighth day after leaving Palo's

kraal they were still waiting on its bank, when two of

the Hottentots whom they had left with their companions
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appeared and informed them that all the others had been

massacred.

The Hottentots stated that Hermanns Hubner was

sitting in front of the tent, in which the other Europeans

were lying down, when one of the servants reported that he

had observed indications of a hostile design on the part of

Palo's people. Hubner took no notice of the warning,

replying that the people were friendly and there was no

cause whatever for alarm. Shortly afterwards some Kaffirs

drove up eight oxen, and on behalf of the chief presented

them to Hubner. While they were talking, one of them
suddenly stabbed Hubner with an assagai. He drew the

weapon from his body, and tried to reach his gun, but

before he could do so was killed by another stab in the

back. The Kaffirs then rushed upon the tent from all sides,

and murdered Trederik Hubner, Andries Esterhuis, and

Gerrit van Vuuren before they could take any step to protect

themselves. Philip Constant and Anthonie Pottier managed
to get out of the tent, but were killed close by. The bodies

were afterwards mutilated.

The murderers then unloaded the twelve waggons and

burnt them, probably to get the iron. Among the stores

were three kegs of gunpowder, each containing fifty pounds.

The Kaffirs broke these open, and threw the powder on a

heap, when suddenly there was a tremendous explosion and
a great number of those who were close by were killed and

wounded.

Upon learning the fate of their comrades, eight of the

Europeans at the river hastened across with the waggons.

The three Englishmen, who had no fear of the Kaffirs, re-

mained behind, and one of the hunters, by name Louis

Cloete, thought it advisable to place himself under their

protection. Soon after crossing the river, the party was
overtaken by a great horde of Kaffirs, among whom they

recognised some half-breeds. They fired upon the pursuers,

and struck down ei^ht or ten ; but as they had very little

powder left, they took the first opportunity of abandoning

the waggons and continuing their flight on foot. For three

9i
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<lays and two nights the Kaffirs followed, until they came to

the Gonaqua country, where Captain Babbelaan gave them
an escort as far as the Fish River. One of their number,

by name Christoffel Hoogreefde, became faint on the way,

and they left him under the care of the Gonaquas.

The seven who had escaped continued their journey on

foot to the Sunday river, where they met another party of

elephant hunters, under Gerrit Oosthuizen and Jacob van

Deventer, travelling eastward. Four of them—Daniel de

Vries, Jan de Bruin, Jan van Vuuren, and Coenraad Scheffer

—

joined this party. The other three—Hendrik de Vries,

Hendrik Scheffer, and Jan de Vries—came on to the Cape,

where on the 10th of July 1737 the two first-named gave

an account of their journey in the form of an attestation.

During the period embraced in this chapter, or so shortly

afterwards as to be practically within it, the following names
are found in the records : Jeremiah Auret, Jan Bam, Jan

Blignaut, Carel Buitendag, Dirk Craffort, Jan Ditlof, Jan

Fleck, Andries Holtshuizen, Hermanns Keeve, Frans Marx,

Jacob Naude, Hendrik Nefdt, Adriaan de Nys, Godlieb

Opperman, Christiaan Eabe, Pieter Radermacher, Andries

Schutte, Frederik Seele, Jan Serrurier, Jan Hendrik Swem-
mer, Jan Andries Truter, Willem van de Vyver, and Ernest

VTepener.

Governor De la Fontaine was now advancing in years,

and infirmities were creeping upon him. He was a widower,

his wife having died in June 1730. He had children for

whom he desired the advantages of a residence in Europe,

and from whom he did not wish to be separated. During

the twenty-eight years that he had served the Company he

had amassed considerable wealth, and it had become a desire

with him to spend the evening of his life in repose in the

Fatherland. In 1 736 he applied to the directors for permission

to retire. They heard of his resolution with regret, for he had
performed his duties to their satisfaction ; but his request was
80 reasonable that it could not be refused. They therefore

appointed the secunde Adriaan van Kervel as his successor,

and promoted Mr. Hendrik Swellengrebel to be secunde.
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The retiring governor was permitted to hand over the ad-

ministration whenever it should please him to do so, and to

return to Europe with his rank and salary. On the 17th of

June 1787 despatches to this effect were received at the

Cape, and on the 31st of August Mr. De la Fontaine trans-

ferred the duties to Mr. Van Kervel. He remained in the

colony until the month of March following, when he sailed

for Europe as admiral of a fleet of five ships.
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CHAPTER XXI.

ADEIAAN VAN KgSVEL, OOVfiRNOR, INSTALLED 31 AUGUST 1737,

9IE8 19 SEPTEMBER 1737.

DANIEL VAN DEW Si3»©aBL, FISCAL, ACTING HEAD OP THE
GOVEENMBSTT, 20 gBPTEMBER 1737 TO 14 APRIL 1730.

HENDRIK SWELLlKeBBBEL, GOVERNOR, INSTALLED 14 APRIL

17S9, BETIREO 27 FEBRUARY 1751.

Death of Governor Vm KPfvel—Election of the fiscal Van den Henghel to act
as head of the gav^rHHlont—A|>polntment by the directors of the secunde
Hendrik SwellengreUel ag governor—Petty insurrection under Etienne
Barbier—Raid by IJiwhffleil—Ofttoe laws—Visit of the governor-general
Gustaf Willem van Imhof=Establl8hment of churches at Waveren and
Zwartland—MomvJftn flilwdon to the Hottentots—Account of the mis-
sionary George HehkaJt, and of his work—Opening of Simon's Bay as a
port of call in the winter souaon—Failure of an attempt to construct a
mole in Table Hay-^A^rmmeht with the burghers concerning the purchase
by the Company ot witie, peas, and beans—Perquisites allowed to the
officers of governmont =Nfc(W system of land tenure—Establishment of the
districtof 8welJ©n(r|flii}=l*fJeeof wheat—Condition of the farmers—Powers
and duties of the hnimh ut Ifltiddtoat and heemraden—Construction of for-

tifications in Table Vftll«y--Hupposed discovery of a silver mine at Draken-
stein—Proceedings of ft mining association—Succession of clergymen in
the difiEerent chur«h«*»=SJilps tliat called—English services in the Dutch
Reformed church ftfc (lie Capo—Wrecks on the coast—The seasons-
Exports of the colony=Jnteteotif8e between colonists and natives— Extent
of the European setH«in»ont-=8hock8 of earthquake—Appointment of the
stadtholder to be eUM difoctof and governor-general of the East India
Company—Rejolcingg ftt the Capo—Retirement of Governor Swellengrebel
—Appointment of the socttndo Ryk Tulbagh as governor—Departure of
Mr. Swellengrebel f«r Kufrtpe—His death at Utrecht.

Governor Van Kesvil had passed a great portion of his life

in South Afriea. Prom 1719 to 1725 he had been secretary

to the council of poliey. Then he became fiscal, and after-

wards secunde, m that his experience was varied and exten-

sive. He held thi highest office in the land less than three

weeks, and only presided in the council on one occasion.

After a short illntii, h© di©d on the 19th of September 1737.
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A.Z he had expressed a desire to his daughter that his funeral

should he conducted without the usual state, the council

respected his dying wish, and his remains were buried in the

church between seven and eight o'clock in the evening of

the 24th, the officers of government and principal burghers

attending without the parade of draped banners, muffled

drums, and minute guns. He left a widow and a daughter,

who remained in the colony, as most of their near relatives

were resident at the Cape.

On the morning after the governor's death the council

met for the purpose of electing an acting head. There were

six members present, and of these, two put forward claims

to the vacant place. The secunde, Mr. Hendrik Swellen-

grebel, was one. He was by birth a colonist, being a son of

Johannes Swellengrebel, who, after holding several less im-

portant offices, was dispenser and member of the high court

of justice at the beginning of the century. He based his

pretensions on precedents, the custom having invariably

been that upon the death of a governor the second in com-
mand should act until the pleasure of the supreme authori-

ties could be knovjrn. It was true he had only been secundo

nineteen days, but that did not affect his position, for, as he

had been a member of the council of policy for thirteen years,

he had ample experience.

The independent fiscal, Mr. Daniel van den Henghel,

claimed the appointment, on the ground that he had been

a senior merchant longer than Mr. Swellengrebel. He had
been in the colony since March 1731.

The question was put to the vote, when Messrs. Nicholas

Heyning and Christoffel Brand were found to favour the

fiscal's claim, while Captain Johannes Tobias Rhenius and
the secretary Eyk Tulbagh supported the secunde.

Hereupon the fiscal objected to Mr. Tulbagh having a

voice in the matter, because he was married to Mr. Swellen-

grebel's sister, and must therefore be held to be prejudiced

in his favour.

The secretary replied that the right to vote had never

before been disputed on such grounds. He had been a
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member of the council of policy for nine years. During'

that time he had always voted according to his conscience,

and he would continue to do so.

The others maintained Mr. Tulbagh's right, upon which
the master of the warehouses, Mr. Brand, proposed that as
the members were equally divided and no decision could be
arrived at, the lot should be cast. This was agreed to, when,
the result being in favour of the fiscal, he took the vacant
chair.

The Assembly of Seventeen did not approve of the ap-

pointment of Mr. Van den Henghel, because they considered

the secunde the proper person to assume the chief authority

upon the death of a governor. They therefore sent out
instructions that he should return to his office of indepen-

dent fiscal, that Mr. Swellengrebel should take the place of
governor, and Mr. Ryk Tulbagh that of secunde. These
changes took eflect on the 14th of April 1739.

Mr. Van den Henghel remained in the colony as fiscal

until the 18th of September 1741, when he was relieved

by Pieter van Reede van Oudtshoorn, who was sent out
by the supreme authorities. A few months later he re-

turned to Europe as commodore of a squadron of four

vessels.

In 1739 a petty insurrection took place. Some Hottentot
captains having complained that a party of Europeans living

along the Elephant river had robbed them of cattle under pre-

tence of barter, these persons were summoned to appear before

the landdrost's court at Stellenbosch, and their stock was sum-
marily impounded to prevent concealment. They declined

to obey the summons, and raised an outcry that the land-

drost's assistant had acted in excess of the law in taking
possession of their cattle before it was proved that they had
been engaged in the forbidden traffic. The matter was re-

ferred to the fiscal, who investigated the case, and found the

Hottentots had sufficient cause of complaint. Their property
was therefore restored, and they were taken under the
Company's protection. At the same time the landdrost's

assistant was found to have acted with unnecessary violence.
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and he was in consequence replaced by a more prudent

officer.

A summons was now issued for the Europeans to appear

before the court of justice and answer for their conduct in

ignoring the constituted authority. But, as on the former

occasion, they did not comply. A turbulent individual named
Etienne Barbier, by birth a Frenchman, who had been in the

Company's military service and had risen to the rank of

sergeant but had deserted about a year before, represented

to these persons that he possessed great influence in Europe,

and induced them to join him. His object was to attain

such a position that he could make terms with the govern-

ment. The malcontents werejoined by some other disaffected

Europeans, chiefly deserters and Company's servants with

passes to seek employment, and on Sunday the Ist of March

1739 the whole rabble, mounted and armed, appeared at

Drakenstein. After reading a seditious document to the

people, Barbier affixed it to the door of the church. Upon
intelligence of this event reaching the castle, instructions

were sent to the landdrost to have Barbier seized and brought

before the high court of justice, and, if resistance was made,

to shoot him.

Just at this time a horde of Bushmen made a raid upon

the scattered farmers of Piketberg and the Bokkeveld,

murdered two Europeans and several slaves, set fire to some

houses, and swept off large herds of cattle. In the pre-

ceding year the same maurauders had driven off the stock of

a farmer named August Lourens, but had been pursued, and

the cattle had been recovered without any bloodshed. By
direction of the council, the landdrost and board of militia

of Stellenbosch had then requested a discreet farmer to

endeavour to enter into a friendly agreement with the Bush-

men, and presents were made in hope of inducing them to

abstain from robbery. The farmers of the frontier, however,

had no confidence in the success of such treatment, and they

were now seized with a general panic, fearing that the

government would again try to conciliate rather than pimish.

t
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Most of them in consequence abandoned their farms and fell

back towards the Cape.

The government, however, acted in a different manner.
The old burgher councill-or Jan Kruywagen was instructed

to raise a commando ai J follow up the marauders, and all

who had joined Barbier were offered pardon if they would
take part in the expedition. Fifteen of them accepted the
offer at once, and the remainder shortly afterwards. Barbier
managed to keep in concealment for a few months, but was
eventually apprehended. In November he was tried, con-
demned to death, and executed. After the barbarous manner
of that time in Europe as well as in South Africa, his body
was divided into portions, which were affixed to posts in

different parts of the country.

Some of the farmers who were called out by Kruywagen
refused to act under him, and his commando was too weak
to accomplish the purpose for which it was raised. In
attempting to expel the Bushmen from a mountain, a number
of men, including the commandant, were wounded, and one
was killed. A stronger force was then raised, and took the
field in two divisions, some soldiers having previously been
sent to occupy temporary stations in the disturbed districts

where the families of the men on commando could be pro-
tected. In August one of the marauding bands was defeated

and some cattle were recovered, only one burgher being
killed. Reinforcements were then sent to the front, and in

October more than sixty Bushmen were killed and upwards
of thirty others were wounded. A party of Europeans, who
were searching along the coast for a ship that was supposed
to have been wrecked, shot from thirty to forty more. The
Bushmen then agreed to terms of peace. On the European
side during the latest operations three farmers had been
wounded in action, and two—Jan Engelbrecht and Philip
Meyer—had been surprised and murdered.

In September 1740 the leaders of these Bushmen to
whom the Dutch had given the names Waterboer, Anthonie
Dragonder, and Klein Jantje, with a small following visited
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the castle, where they were well treated, and acceptable pre-

sents were made to them when they left.

From time to time regulations were issued for the pre-

servation of harmless wild animals, and for the destruction

of beasts of prey. In November 1739 the reward for killing

' a lion was reduced from 3Z. 9s. fid. to 2Z. Is. 8t?., for a

leopard from 2Z. Is. 8c?. to \l. 5s. Oc?., and for a hyena from
12s. ^d. to 8s. ^d. Half of these premiums were paid by the

Company, the other half by the burgher council if the

animal was destroyed in the Cape district, and by the court

j
. of landdrost and heemraden if it was destroyed in the dis-

N^ trict of Stellenbosch and Drakenstein. In 1745 a regulation

was made that in order to obtain the premium the dead
animal must be exhibited at the castle or at the office of the
landdrost. Previous to that date it had been paid on ex-

hibition of the skin, but at this time it was suspected that

some unprincipled persons were bartering furs from the

Hottentots of the interior.

The elephant had nearly disappeared from the settled

districts, owing to the demand that always existed for ivory.

In July 1737 elephant hunting beyond the eastern border

was prohibited, owing to *.he massacre of Hubner's party.

The love of gain was, however, so strong that in the following

October the prohibition was cancelled, and the only restriction

placed upon elephant shooting was that each hunter should

pay two shillings and a penny for a license. In the license

it was forbidden to molest natives or to trade with them.

In 1742 an order was issued prohibiting the destruction

of zebras under a penalty of 10^. for each oflfence. The
remarks of the members of the council of policy with regard

to the extirpation of this animal show that they could look

at the question in a broader light than that of mere profit.

Its presence on the hillsides, according to them, was an
attractive feature. They thought also that it could be tamed,

and with a view of r aking an experiment, they oflfered a
premium of 20i. each for three young ones to be delivered at

the castle.

In January 1743, Gustaf Willem van Imhof, governor-
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general of Netherlands India, called at the Cape on his way
to Batavia, and was installed here with much ceremony.

He made a short tour of inspection in the country, and
instituted an inquiry into the condition of the farmers, the

result of which was very unsatisfactory.

The only churches in the colony were at the Cape,

Stellenbosch, and Drakenstein. These were at the time all

provided with clergymen, the Rev. Willem van Gendt having
been sent out by the directors and stationed at Stellen-

bosch in December 1738. At each of these places there

were schools, but everywhere else the education of the

children was greatly neglected, being in most instances

entrusted to no more competent a teacher than a soldier

engaged for a short term. There were over four hundred

leasehold farms or cattle runs, some of which were three or

four days' journey from the nearest church, so that the

attendance on public worship was frequently neglected for

long periods. The governor-gen aral consulted the clergymen

Fran9ois le Sueur and Willem van Gendt, who recommended
the establishment of more churches and schools. At this

date the European population of South Africa consisted of

about four thousand colonists and fifteen hundred servants of

the Company with their families.

The governor-general called the members of the council

of policy together, and issued certain instructions. Two
new churches were to be erected in the outlying districts

with as little delay as possible, and at each were to be

stationed a clergyman and a comforter of the sick, the latter

of whom should also act as schoolmaster. The clergymen

were to be detained from the first Indiamen calling at the

Cape with chaplains on board. A comforter of the sick

was also to be sent without delay to labour among the

scattered inhabitants beyond the Breede river.

The places selected for the new churches were the sites

of the present villages of Tulbagh and Malmesbury.

The first was the most convenient place of meeting for

the farmers occupying the country on that side of Riebeek's

Kasteel, the Land of Waveren or present Tulbagh Basin,

II. I
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the Warm Bokkeveld, and the valleys of the Upper Breede

and Hex rivers. It was beyond the first range of mountains,

but was accessible by a road over the Eoodezand pass, not

far from the ravine through which the Little Berg river

flows, and where the railway now enters the Tulbagh Basin.

The course of the old road can still be clearly traced, and a

formidable rock that nearly blocked up the passage is yet an

object of interest to the inhabitants of the neighbourhood.

The landdrost and heemraden of Stellenbosch used frequently

to spend an hour or two trying to devise some means of

getting rid of this rock, but they never succeeded in their

object. Some few years after this date the Eoodezand pass

was abandoned, and a rough waggon road was made through

the New Kloof, which is the gateway of the valley at the

present day.

A site was selected along a gentle slope, where water

could easily be led on, and here the foundations of a church

and parsonage were laid without delay. The original build-

ings are standing yet, the parsonage, which is partly con-

structed of materials imported from Holland, still serving

the purpose for which it was designed. A few weeks after

the governor-general's instructions were given, a ship put into

Table Bay, having on board as chaplain the Eev. Arnoldus

Maurits Meyring, who was detained for duty here. He
preached at the Cape for the first time on the 31st of March
1743. The Eev. Hendrik Kock had returned to Europe in

February 1742, and Mr. Meyring was therefore kept at the

Cape as assistant clergyman until the parsonage at Waveren
was fit for occupation. He held the first service there in

September 1743, but the regular duty was not begun until

some months later. On the 8th of October 1743 a con-

sistory was established, when Jacobus Theron and Pieter

Theron were approved by the council of policy as elders, and

Jacobus du Pre and Gerrit van der Merwe were selected as

deacons from a double nomination. Between the church

and the parsonage gradually rose the houses of a little

village, which until 1804 had no other name than Eoodezands

Kerk.
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There was a little difficulty in selecting a site for the

second church. It was recognised that the situation in

which it would be of greatest service was in the centre of

the district known as the Zwartland, then as now the best

wheat-producing *^^'act of country in South Africa. But upon
inspection it was found that there was no suitable place

which was not already occupied as a farm. At length the

widow of Pieter van der Westhuizen made an offer, which

the council of policy accepted on the 16th of June 1744.

She received in exchange for her farm another which she

had previously selected, and the congregation paid her a

sum of money equal to one hundred and seventy-four pounds

sterling for the buildings. A sick comforter, Wietse Botes

by name, who was serving on board a ship in the bay, was
thereupon transferred to the church place, and opened a

school at once. On the 9th of May 1745 an agreement

was made with the Eev. Rutger Andries Weerman, chaplain

of a passing ship, and he became the first pastor of the con-

gregation. A consistory was formed on the 8th of July,

when Pieter Venter and Gerrit Olivier were chosen as elders,

and Jun Loubser and Ploris Smit were appointed deacons.

The church place was known p.s Zwartlands Kerk until 1829,

when it received the name of Malmesbury.

Close by is a hot mineral spring, like those which are

found in many other parts of South Africa, and which are

used by persons troubled with rheumatism and some other

diseases. But even with the advantages of a central situa-

tion, a church, and a mineral bath, besides having no moun-
tain barrier between it and the Cape, the site was not an
attractive one. The ground is very uneven, and the colonists

of those days were partial to tolerably level surfaces for

building upon. There is no permanent stream of water

which can be led out for household purposes and to irrigate

gardens, the supply in summer being obtained from wells.

Further, the belief was general that the brackish soil, though

capable of producing the finest wheat in the world, was unfit

for the growth of trees, a matter always of primary im-

portance in a Dutch village. This belief had some slight

I 2
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foundation, but of late years it has been put to the test, and

the trees now flourishing in the streets of Malmesbury and

on many farms in the district prove that with industry and

care the defects of the soil can be overcome.

The boundaries of the several parishes were settled on

the 30th of August 1745 by a combined ecclesiastical council,

consisting of the clergyman and an elder of each of the five

congregrtions, presided over by a political commissioner.

Thereafter such councils met yearly, on the third Monday
of every January, to arrange matters of common interest.

While the number of parishes connected with the state

religion was thus being increased, dissenters were prohibited

from establishing churches in which a different form of

worship should be practised. There were many Lutherans

at the Cape, and they were anxious to have a resident clergy-

man, but could not obtain permission from the government.

In 1742 a strong petition of theirs was refused. No ob-

jection was raised to Lutheran chaplains of Danish ships

holding service in a private house, but this was the utmost

liberty that was granted.

Another instance of the same kind of treatment occurred

in connection with a Moravian missionary who was sent

from Germany to attempt the conversion of the Hottentots

to Christianity, and who established himself for that purpose

at Baviaans Kloof, now Genadendal, in the district of

Stellenbosch. The first mention of this missionary is found

in the proceedings of the council of policy of the 11th July

1737, in which it is stated that 'a certain person named
George Schmit had come here in the ship Knis te Renshurg,

with the object of converting the Hottentots to Christianity,

if that should be possible ; that it was to be hoped such a

desirable result would be attained by the blessing of the

Lord upon the means to be employed, so that those people

might be brought to the true knowledge of God ; and there-

fore all possible assistance was to be given to the said per-

son in the prosecution of that meritorious work.'

It was contemplated that if any Hottentots should be

converted to the christian faith the missionary would pre-
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sent them to the clergyman of the parish for baptism, and
that he would not attempt to form a separate congregation

with rules differing from those of the Dutch Eeformed

church. He collected a party of Hottentots, with whom he

laboured for five years, doing his utmost to teach them the

doctrines of Christianity and the advantages of a settled

industrious life. All this time he met with nothing but

kindness from the government, but when in 1742 he bap-

tized five of his converts he was immediately called to

account.

On the 4th of September of that year the matter was dis-

cussed by the council of policy. Schmit's authority to ad-

minister the sacraments was examined and found to be a

document signed by the head of a foreign society, which the

council ruled could not be held to have any force in South

Africa. The missionary was therefore forbidden to baptize

any more, but he was advised to continue instructing the

Hottentots, in which work his great zeal was admitted.

The clergymen of the Cape, Stellenbosch, and Drakenstein

were requested by the council to draw up a report of the

circumstance and submit it to the classis of Amsterdam for

instructions.

This decision seemed to the missionary to make his posi-

tion, if not quite untenable, at least very unpleasant. In

his account, he says that he thought it very absurd that he

should teach the Hottentots and send them for baptism to

ministers who did not concern themselves about their con-

version. But now he had to contend against popular pre-

judice, for his conduct caused many of the colonists to

regard him as a heretic, and it came to be generally believed

that the Moravians were fanatics who held wild views of

Christianity. The people whom he had collected together

left him, probably out of love of change, though he believed

it to be owing to representations by neighbouring farmers

that the religion he was teaching was not that of the bible.

He complained of this to the council, and instructions were

sent to the sergeant in command of the military post close

by to inquire carefully into the matter, in order that any
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one hindering him in his good work might be brought to

account; but the people who had dispersed could not be

collected together again.

Under these circumstances Schmit found himself in-

capable of effecting any good, and he therefore requested

permission from his Society to return to Europe. He hoped

that upon his representations the Moravian body would be

able to obtain from the directors a reversal of the order

concerning baptism, and that he might return to South

Africa with assistants to carry on the work. The Society

acceded to his request, and on the 28th of January 1744 he

appeared before the council of policy and asked for a free

passage in one of the Company's ships to Holland. This

was granted, and he returned to Europe. But the directors

refused to permit any other church than the Dutch Ee-

formed to be established in the colony, and there -re the

Moravians were compelled to abandon their benevolent

enterprise.

Owing to the heavy losses which the Company had sus-

tained by shipwrecks in Table Bay, in 1741 the directors

resolved that their fleets should thereafter refresh at Simon's

Bay from the 15th of May to the 15th of August, the season

when gales from the north-west were common^ The time of

sailing from the Netherlands and the Indies was so arranged

that under ordinary circumstances there would not be many
ships in our seas during that period, but storms and unavoid-

able detentions had to be taken into account. Simon's Bay
ofEered secure shelter during the winter season, but there

was a drawback to its use in difficulty of access by land,

which made the supplying a ship with fresh provisions very

expensive. In 17 12 it was first used as a port of call, when
it was found that in fine weather boats could ply from the

head of Kalk Bay, thus shortening the land carriage con-

siderably.

In February 1743 a site for a station was selected by the

governor-general Van Imhof on the southern shore of the

bay, and in the following month a commencement was made
with the erection of a building to serve as a magazine, a

m
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charge.hospital, and quarters for the party

soldiers were stationed there under command of Sergeant

Justinus Bias, who had the title of postholder. In coiirse of

time a small village was built, which was occupied by fisher-

men and people who depended for a living upon the shipping.

It took its name from the bay, being called Simon's Town.

The establishment was at first conducted in the least ex-

pensive manner possible, for the directors had resolved to

make an experiment with the construction of a mole or

breakwater in Table Bay, and should this succeed, the other

port would not be needed. The mole was commenced on
the 4th of February 1743. As it was considered a work of

importance to the colony as well as to the Company, a

special tax was levied upon all the Europeans in South

Africa, Company's servants and burghers. Those in the

Cape district were assessed at the labour of 153 stout slaves

for two months in the year, and those in the country at

293Z. 6s. %d. in money or provisions. All the Company's
slaves and all the waggons and cattle that could be spared

from other work were employed upon the mole. A strong

gang of convicts was sent from Batavia to assist in its con-

struction.

The general direction of the undertaking was entrusted

to Messrs. Johannes Carolus de Wet and Jacobus Moller,

the first a retired burgher councillor and the other the head

of the Company's naval establishment at the Cape. They
gave the mole a base of one hundred feet in breadth, sloping

upwards to twenty-four feet at the top. By the close of

1746 it was three hundred and fifty-one feet in length from

the shore ; but the work was then suspended, owing to the

destruction of vegetation by a plague of locusts. In the

mean time, the convicts sent from Java had nearly all died

from change of climate and excessive fatigue, and the

burghers declared that they could not pay their quota any
longer. The expense was found to be beyond the means of

the Company, and the completion of the mole was abandoned.

As far as could be judged, it promised, if carried out to a

sufficient length, to protect the bay without causing it to
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silt up. The water remained at its original depth on the

inner side, while on the outside a bank of sand had formed,

which strengthened the work.

The abandoned mole, after being beaten down by storms

and waves, and serving as a quarry for buildings in its

neighbourhood, is still to be seen like a reef running out from

under the present lighthouse, its site having ever since been

called on that account Mouille Point.

For a long time past the winefarmers had been making
complaints of there being no sale for the produce of their

vineyards, then from two to four thousand leggers a year

;

and to relieve them the directors had resolved, if no other

remedy could be devised, to substitute wine for spirits to a

large extent in their ships and Indian establishments, pro-

vided a moderately good article could be obtained. The
burgher councillors, on behalf of the farmers, addressed the

governor-general Van Imhof on this question. The governor-

general offered them free trade in India, upon payment of

16s. 8d. freight and 2Z. 10s. Od. duty a legger. The burghers

replied that such a privilege would be of no use to them.

The governor-general then proposed that the tax on wine

should be increased from 48. 2d. to 128. 6(i. a legger ; that

upon payment of this, a fee of 48. Id. to the fiscal, and a fee

of \l. Os. V)d. to the licensed dealer, the burghers should be

at liberty to sell without let or hindrance to all visitors,

Dutch or foreign, at the best price they could obtain ; and
that the Company should purchase at hi. Be. lOd. a legger

sufficient for its own needs, which would be on an average

about four leggers for each ship leaving the port, in addition

to a quantity to be sent to the Netherlands and to Batavia

for ships coming to the Cape and for the use of the work-

people in India. With this proposal the burgher councillors

on behalf of the farmers expressed themselves satisfied.

The question of a market for other produce than corn and
wine then came on for discussion. The governor-general

proposed to reduce the price of peas to 11. and of beans to

168. a muid, and offered on behalf of the Company to take as

much as they chose to grow at those prices. Whatever was
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not needed for tho u«e of the ships could be sent to Batavia.
To this arrangement also the burgher councillors agreed.

Since 1722 tho oifleera of government at the Cape had
been permitted to have gardens for their own use, not ex-

ceeding two morpii in extent; but they were prohibited
from selling anytbittg out of them or of trafficking in any
manner whatever with farm produce. Their salaries were
insufficient for their deeent maintenance, but they had been
allowed to trade in various kinds of foreign wares on their

own account, Tb© governor-general prohibited further

trading, and as eompensation allowed the officials certain

fixed suras on different transactions. Thus, for every legger
of wine purohaied by the Company from the farmers, ten
rixdollara were to b© divided between the governor and the

secunde in the proportion of two-thirds to the former and
one-third to the latter. In practice it came to this, that a
farmer who delivered a legger of wine for exportation or for

the use of the Oompany'i ships signed a receipt for 8Z., but
actually received only U, 6«. lOd., 12s. M. being deducted
for the Company, \l, 1b. Qd. for the governor, and 13s. \\d.

for the secunde. The fiscal had corresponding privileges in

issuing lieeniiieg to trtule, and the minor officers were pro-

vided for in ft sifflilar manner.
No official doeument could be drawn up for a burgher

without a heavy fee being paid. This was an ever-increasing

evil, for the fees were constantly being augmented. Thus,
a few years later, a eertiflcate of release from the service of

the Company had to be written on a stamp of 12s. Qd., and
the secretary of the eouncil of policy received 2/. Is. M. for

drawing it out and signing it.

The practice of using different money from that of the

Netherlands opened a door to what would now be termed
fraud, but what was in those days regarded as a legitimate

perquisite of the oMeers of government. In the accounts,

two and a half Duteh gulden of twenty stivers each were
«qual to one rixdoUar, But at the Cape and throughout
India a fictitious gulden, of which there was no metallic

representation, .was in use. In receiving money for taxes
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or goods, three of these were counted as one rixdoUar. But
in paying out money—for instance to a Cape farmer for

grain—the fictitious gulden was reckoned at sixteen stivers,

thus giving to the officer in charge of the granaries a per-

quisite of four per cent upon the value of the transaction.

In converting the money of the old records into British

coinage, the fictitious gulden must therefore sometimes be

taken at one value, sometimes at the other. Before 1770

there was no attempt to rectify this evil. Another per-

quisite—considered legitimate—was receiving grain at a

heavier weight the muid than it was debited to the Company.
The last or load, in which the accounts were kept, at this

time consisted of seventeen muids, a few years later of

eighteen muids and a half. The muid, as charged to the

Company, weighed 175 Amsterdam pounds, as delivered by

the farmer, weighed from 180 to 190 pounds.

The colonists were constantly taking possession of new
tracts of country and laying them out in cattle runs never

less than five or six thousand acres in extent, for each of

which they paid to the Company a yearly rental of 2Z. 108.

before 1732, and hi. after that date. Upon the slightest

fault being discovered in a cattle run, the occupier did

not hesitate to abandon it and move to another further

in the interior. A vast region, almost untenanted since

its desolation by small pox in 1713, lay open before the

colonists.

The governor-general Van Imhof regarded this condition

of things as boding no good to the future of the European

race in South Africa. In his opinion it would tend to un-

settle the colonists and turn them into a body of half

barbarous nomads. To attempt to fix the people to the soil,

he issued instructions that any one who so desired could

convert sixty morgen of ground about his homestead into

freehold property, upon application to the council of policy

and payment of from lOZ. 8s. 4(Z. to 41L 13s. 4£?. according

to the value of the land. The remainder of the farm was to

be held as before; its use, as long as it was not required

by the Company, being allowed upon payment of a yearly
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rental of hi. This measure, though well intended, had not

r-'uch effect, as very few farmers availed themselves of it.

P^fore 1743 there was outside of Cape Town but one

seat of magistracy in South Africa. Over all the wanderers

who were pushing their way inland the landdrost and

heemraden of Stellenbosch legally held jurisdiction, but

practically many of them were soon beyond the reach of

law. On the 12th of November of this year four heemraden

were appointed to form a court of justice for the residents

beyond the Lower Breede river. Their names were Cornelis

van Booyen, Jan Loots, Andries Holtshuizen, and Jacobus

Botha. They were selected out of a double number nomi-

nated by the board of landdrost and heemraden of Stellen-

bosch and Drakenstein, as it was at first intended that for

general purposes they should sit in that court.

In January 1744 Mr. Johannes Theophilus Ehenius,

previously a bookkeeper in the Company's service, was ap-

pointed assistant landdrost and secretary in subordination

to the landdrost of Stellenbosch. Almost immediately a

dispute arose concerning the rank of the cfi&cials. The
heemraden maintained that Mr. E.henius, being their secre-

tary, was beneath them in dignity, while he on his part

contended that as assistant landdrost he was their superior

officer.

The question was referred for settlement to Governor

Swellengrebel and the council of policy. They decided that

when the court sat to hear judicial cases Mr. Rhenius was
to preside, but when it sat to arrange district affairs the

oldest heemraad present was to occupy the chair. This

arrangement did not answer at all. But on the 31st of

August 1745 the dispute was ended by the separation of

the country beyond the Lower Breede from the district of

Stellenbosch, and the elevation of Mr. Ehenius to the full

rank of landdrost. The number of heemraden was increased

to six, owing to the great size of the new district, the

boundaries of which were not otherwise defined than * where

the power of the Honourable Company ends.' Half of the

heemraden retired every year, after sending a list of six names
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to the council of policy, from which list their successors

were chosen by that body.

There was as yet no place selected for the seat of the

new magistracy, and for a time the court met at the resi-

dence of one of the heemraden. The government wisely left

this to be arranged by the court itself. Some excellent sites

were already occupied as farms, but it was not deemed ad-

visable to eject government tenants. The board of landdrost

and heemraden prudently took time, and only after much
inspection and discussion was a site agreed upon. Appli-

cation was then made to the governor and council, by whom
on the 25th of October 1746 permission was given to use

the ground selected and to put up such buildings as might

be needed.

Mr. Bhenius and the district councillors chose a charm-

ing locality. From the Langebergen issue at various places

little streams of clear fresh water, feeders of a river which

drains a valley stretching from the Warm Bokkeveld to the

sea. One of these streams which, for want of a more origi-

nal name, was called the Cornlands river, winds through a

dell some miles in length before it unites its waters with

those of the Breede. Here, with the mountains close in

front and rich soil capable of being irrigated around, a

drostdy and other necessary buildings speedily arose. At
the present day the village, with its scattered houses and

gardens on each side of a single winding street, extends

quite three miles along the vale, but in the middle of last

century few people could maintain themselves except by
farming, and hence many years elapsed before it could fairly

be called more than a hamlet. It received a name in 1747,

as on the 26th of October of that year the council of policy

decided that the district should be called Swellendam, and
in conformity with the usage of the time the seat of magistracy

took the same name. Building sites for the use of persons

not in the government service were first surveyed in 1750.

In 1744 the Indian authorities reduced the price of wheat
delivered at the Company's magazines at the Cape to 98. ^d.

the muid. Thereupon some of the most substantial burghers
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In tLe country assembled at Stellenbosch to confer with the

landdrost and heemraden, and endeavour through their solici-

tation to obtain a higher price.

They represented that the ordinary work of the agricul-

turist was performed by his slaves, but at harvest time he
required more labourers. These he obtained by hiring slaves

from the townspeople at the rate of from Is. 8d to 28. a day.

If he needed the services of a European mason or carpenter,

he had to pay from 2«. 6rf. to 4«. a day, in addition to food,

though occasionally an inferior workman could be hired at

2Z. a month. After paying wages at this rate, and deducting

the Company's dues, he could not sell wheat at 9«. 4t?. the

muid. The landdrost and heemraden were of the same
opinion, and they requested the governor and council of

policy to petition the Indian authorities to raise the price

again to 10«. %d. In June 1745 the governor-general and
council of India agreed to what was asked of them.

The farmers were now in this position. The Company
purchased from them as much ordinary wine as it needed at

hi. 5«. 10c?. a legger clear, and as much wheat as it needed

at 10«. 8(Z. a muid, from which was deducted the tithe, leav-

ing 9s. l^d. clear for the grower. They could sell surplus

produce of any kind to any one who chose to buy, upon
paying first the Company's dues of lOs. %d. upon every ten

muids of wheat and 12s. 6(i. upon every legger of wine,

secondly 1?. Os. V)d. a legger to the licensed dealers in wine

if this article were sold to the master or purser of a ship,

and thirdly a fee to the fiscal when ships' people were

purchasers of produce.

Complaints of the quality of the wine were frequently

made by the Indian authorities. The directors sent out

skilled persons from Europe to instruct the farmers in its

proper manufacture, and the authorities at the Cape tested

every legger that was purchased, but the complaints continued

as before.

In 1744 M. La Bourdonnais, governor of the French

island of Mauritius, proposed to the council of policy at the

Cape a free exchange of the productions of the two countries.
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and stated that fifty or sixty loggers of wine would be needed

yearly by the colony under his rule, exclusive of the shipping.

The council replied that they could not establish a regular

trade, nor receive the produce of Mauritius in barter ; but

that Frenchmen could purchase at the Cape as much wine

as they chose, upon paying cash for it, and could then remove

it at their pleasure.

The farmers were generally in such a condition that the

accumulation of wealth was impossible. In 1750 the direc-

tors mooted the subject of increasing the number of colonists,

and the council of policy called for reports. The reply of the

board of heemraden of Stellenbosch and Drakenstein is dated

11th of January 1751. In it the heemraden express their

opinion that there were too many European families then

in the country to get a good living, and that people were

anxious about the future for t^\eir children's sake. The

burgher councillors went to the very root of the matter. In

their reply they state they knew of no means by which a

greater number of people could obtain a living unless free

exportation of produce to all countries was permitted.

In their report the heemraden incidentally refer to the

change then rapidly taking place in the old settled districts,

in the disappearance of grass and the springing up of small

bushy plants in its stead.

The village of Stellenbosch was by this time quite em-

bowered among its oaks. It had been quickly rebuilt after

the fire of 1710, and all travellers who now visited it described

its beauty in glowing terms. The board of landdrost and

heemraden acted as a court of justice, and performed also the

duties which are now undertaken by municipal and divisional

councils. A few of its enactments will illustrate its powers

and the way in which it used them.

A contract was made with a farmer to place a pontoon

upon the Berg river and to keep in repair the road over the

Eoodezand pass, for which he was to receive yearly from

every family residing beyond the Berg river either a muid

of wheat or eleven shillings in money.

In December 1742 permission was given to the burgher



t i

Hendrik Swellengrebel 12'/

Pieter Wion to open a butcher's shop in the village, on the

following conditions. Every Wednesday and Saturday he

was to offer for sale good wholesome fresh mutton at the rate

of two pence for a single pound, or six pence for four pounds,

and to refuse no one at that price. Four times a year he

was to offer beef for sale at the same rates. Failing these

<3onditions he was to pay a fine of 61. to the deacons for the

benefit of the poor.

Some of the burghers were in the habit of grinding their

corn with hand mills or little water mills of their own con-

struction. From this custom the board anticipated a serious

decrease in the price paid for the leases of the public mills

at Stellenbosch and Drakenstein, which carried with them
the exclusive privilege of grinding all the corn consumed
within fixed limits at certain stated charges. The district

was then receiving 1261. 13s. M. a year for the lease of each

of these mills. Yet the members of the board were very

willing to assist their fellow burghers, if it could be done

without affecting the revenue, and generally an arrangement

was made that the owner of the hand mill should satisfy the

lessee, and be allowed to grind his own com. As an instance,

it is recorded that the burgher Michiel Otto, of Hottentots

Holland, petitioned to be allowed to grind sufficient corn for

the use of his household with a small water mill which he

had erected on his farm. His request was acceded to, upon
condition that he should pay to the miller of Stellenbosch

the same fees as if he had his com ground at the district

mill, and that this permission should not form a precedent.

The convulsions in Europe which followed the death of

the emperor Charles VI (20th of October 1740), and which

began by the king of Prussia invading Silesia, largely affected

the Dutch East India Company. In September 1744 de-

spatches were received here announcing that France and
England were at war, ari ohat there was a likelihood of the

Netherlands being involved at no distant date. The council

was informed that the Company had resolved to construct

a line of fortifications along the shore of Table Bay, and to

strengthen the garrison of the Cape.



128 History of South Africa

The fortifications then existing consisted of the castle

and a battery on the shore where the breakwater now runs

into the bay. The latter was commenced in February 1715

and completed in April 1726. It was at first termed

Mauritius, but afterwards came to be popularly called the

Chavonnes battery, a name which was officially conferred

upon it in November 1744. On the opposite side of the

castle a fort was being built, the foundation stone of which

was laid on the 24th of October 1743. It was completed

in October 1744, and received the name Fort Knokke, which

it still bears.

A line of batteries was now thrown up along the shore,

only one of which—the Imhof—still remains. This was in-

tended to cover the face of the castle, and rose from the

margin of the sea, where the waves in winter storms dashed

against its walls. Its foundation stone was laid on the 23rd

of November 1744, and cannon were mounted on it in July

of the following year. The others were less solidly built.

There were four between the castle and the mouth of Salt

River, named Swellengrebel, Elizabeth, Helena, and Tulbagh.

Between the castle and the Chavonnes battery there was

one, called Heeren Hendriks Kinderen, on which ten guns

were mounted.

During the time that it was feared the colony might be

attacked by an enemy, the burghers of the country districts

were required to furnish a contingent of fifty mounted men
to assist in keeping guard at the Cape. Every month they

were relieved by fifty others, so as to make the task less

heavy for individuals. It was felt as a great relief by the

burghers, however, when on the 26th of September 1748

the British man-of-war Tartar brought intelligence that a

truce had been arranged between the belligerents, and a

little later the conclusion of peace at Aix-la-Chapelle per-

mitted them to be relieved of military duty. A temporary

outpost at St. Helena Bay, which had been established to

give notice of any ships that might touch there, was broken

up at the same time. The Waveren outpost, which had

been maintained since 1700, was withdrawn in October 1743,
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when the building with sixty morgen of ground about it

was sold by auction to Pieter de Vos for 266^ 13«. 4d. The
other military outposts—Saldanha Bay, Klapmuts, Groen
Kloof, Ziekenbuis, and Eiet Vlei—remained as before.

In November 1740 a good deal of excitement was created

at the Cape by a report from a man named Frans Diederik

MuUer, who professed to be an experienced mineralogist, that

he had discovered a rich silver mine at Groot Drakenstein,

close to Simonsberg. The governor immediately left to in-

spect the locality, and was persuaded by MuUer that ore was
to be had in enormous quantities, only requiring capital to

extract it. As the Cape government could not incur the

estimated expense without authority from the directors, an

association was formed by some burghers to work the mine.

This met with the approval of the Assembly of Seventeen,

and early ii^ ^ 743 a charter was granted to Mr. Olof de Wet,
for himself '

is associates, in which they were granted

the exclusiv ;
- t of searching for and extracting metals

within the area bounded by the Paarl, French Hoek, and
Hottentots Holland mountains, upon condition of paying to

the Company afteen per cent of everything valuable obtained

and delivering the surplus at prices which were specified for

almost all known metals.

Mr. De Wet, who was the chief director of the mining

association, then engaged a large number of men to whom
the government had granted passes for the purpose, and the

work of prospecting in the mountains and excavating at the

so-called silver mine was commenced. Muller was engaged

as master miner. For more than five years the clever rogue

managed to keep up the hopes of his employers without

producing anything valuable. The ore which was found he

first pronounced to be silver, then he termed it copper, and

finally he asserted it to be gold. At this stage some of it

was sent to Holland to be tested by competent persons, when
it was found to contain only * a very inexpensive metal which
was mixed in small quantities with other materials in casting

bells to improve their sound.' The work then ceased. Muller

was brought before thp council, who declared him an im-

II. K
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poster, confiscated his property, and banished him to Batavia.

The pits and underground passages, which had cost the

association a great deal of money, are still objects of curiosity

to strangers.

In the staff of clergymen several changes were caused

by death or removal. The Eev. Mr. Le Sueur, having pur-

chased a farm at Eondebosch on the estate of his wife's

father, Johannes Swellengrebel, was obliged to resign his

position in the Company's service, and in August 1746 was

succeeded by the Eev. Euwardus Cloppenburg, who was sent

out by the directors. Three weeks later the Eev. Petrus

van der Spuy arrived from Holland to fill the post of second

clergyman at the Cape, which had long been vacant Mr.

Cloppenburg's domestic life was such that in January 1748

he was suspended by the consistory, and in March of the

same year was dismissed by the council and sent back to

Europe without rank or salary. Mr. Van der Spuy then

remained for some time sole clergyman of the Cape congre-

gation, but was greatly assisted by Mr. Le Sueur, who was

very highly esteemed, though in accordance with the law he

coidd not draw a salary from the Company while he was

owner of more than two morgen of land.

In October 1744 the Eev. Willem van Gendt died, from

which date the church at Stellenbosch was without a resi-

dent clergyman until September 1747, when the post was

filled by the Eev. Edward Arendsen, who was sent out by

the directors. Mr. Arendsen died in July 1749. The Eev.

Mr. Van Echten, of Drakenstein, was then required to act

as consilient of Stellenbosch until the directors could make
another appointment.

The Eev. Mr. Meyring remained at Eoodezands kerk.

In December 1748 the Eev. Mr, Weerman, of Zwartlands

kerk, at his own desire was transferred to Batavia. The
congregation remained without a clergyman until August

1750, when the Eev. Christiaan Benjamin Voltelen arrived

from the Netherlands, and took over the duty.

In the thirteen years 1738-1750 there put into Table Bay
640 ships belonging to the Dutch East India Company, 193



Hendrik Swellengrebel 131

English, 23 French, and 20 Danish. Simon's Bay began to

be used in 1742, and bexore the close of 1750 seventy-seven

ships, all belonging to the Company, put into that harbour.

The average number touching at South African ports veaa

thus 73 yearly.

Among the E glish ships that called was the Omfwnow,
Commodore George Anson, bound homeward after her famous

cruise in the Pacific. She was here in March and April

1744. Admiral Boscawen also, in April 1748, put into

Table Bay with 26 men-of-war and transports, when on his

way to India with a force intended to restore English power
after the capture of Madras by the French. Great Britain

and the Netherlands were then in alliance, and all possible

assistance was therefore given to the English fleet. The
troops were landed, and formed a camp just above the

<!lompany's garden, where they were drilled for some weeks,

as many of them were recruits.

In the following year some ships of this fleet put into

Table Bay when returning home. A large number of

Englishmen being on shore, the commodore requested one

Sunday that his chaplain might be permitted to preach in

the church. Leave was granted without demur, and on the

20th of April 1749 divine service according to the rites of

the church of England was held in the Dutch church in

Table Valley.

On the 9th of February 1751 another English service

was held in the same building. Mr. William Wake, recently

governor of Bombay, died here while on his passage home,

when his widow and the captain of the ship in which he

was returning requested the government that his body might

be buried in the church with the state due to his rank. The
request was complied with. The Dutch ofl&cers took part in

the funeral procession, the flag on the castle was lowered,

the bell was tolled, and minute guns were fired from the

batteries. The surgeon of the Boscawen read the English

burial service, and the body was deposited in a vault below

the floor of the church. There was another instance of the

kind on the 5th of February 1752, when an English officer

K 2
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of rank—Commander Lisle—was buried under the pavement

of the church, the surgeon of the Vigilant reading the

funeral service.

Several wrecks took place on the South African coast

during this period. ,

In the night between the 5th and 6th of May 1740 the

Company's outward bound ship Visch, when attempting to

come to anchor in Table Bay in a stiff gale, ran ashore above

the castle, and became a complete wreck. Her sick men,

who were between decks, were drowned; the others, with

one exception, reached the shore safely by means of a

hawser.

On the 25th of October 1747 the Company's outward

bound ship Reygersdaal ran ashore on the coast between

Dassen and Eobben islands, and went to pieces at once, only

twenty men getting to land. She was four months and a

half from Holland, and had lost one hundred and twenty-

five men from scurvy. Eighty-three of the remaining crew

were too ill with the same disease to keep their feet, and the

few who were able to work could not manage the ship.

They were trying to get into Saldanha Bay when the final

disaster took place.

At dawn of the 19th of January 1760 the French ship

Centaur, homeward bound from Mauritius, ran ashore near

Cape Agulhas in perfectly fine weather. Her crew of 300

souls and about 100 passengers, including 9 ladies and

several children, got safely to land ; but suffered great hard-

ships before they reached the Cape, though as soon as

intelligence of the disaster was received, waggons and pro-

visions were sent to meet them.

On the 8th of August 1750 a Danish ship named the

ElepJiant, homeward bound from Tranquebar, was purposely

run ashore close to the mouth of the Gauritz river, where

some days later she went to pieces. She had made a long

and disastrous passage, during which her provisions ran

short, and when land was sighted there was not a drop of

fresh water on board. The crew therefore ran her ashore as

the only means of saving their lives. They, to the number
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of 65 men, got safely to land, and after a time reached the

Cape.

During the thirteen years 1738-1750 there were several

had seasons and one exceptionally good one. The exports

therefore fluctuated greatly. The year 1738 was one of

drought, and consequently the harvest was so poor that in

1739 only 340 muids of wheat and 85 muids of rye could be

sent abroad. The next crops were almost destroyed by rust,

so that in 1740 not only could no grain be exported, but

famine at home was feared. The government was obliged

to regulate the issue of bread very carefully. As those who
had a supply of grain in store naturally demanded a high

price for it, a placaat was ir ued declaring such demands
extortionate, and prohibiting the sale of wheat at a higher

rate than lis. \d. a muid. Following the famine, the wheat

«rop of 1740 was the best ever known in the country, and after

the magazines had been filled, 17,000 muids were exported,

a larger quantity than in any previous year.

In 1746 abundance of rain fell, and the wheat crop

harvested was an exceedingly good one, but before the beans

and peas were off the ground enormous swarms of locusts

made their appearance, a plague from which the colony had

been free since 1695. On the 28th of December they found

their way in such vast numbers into Table Valley that the

air seemed filled with them, and in a few days there was

nothing edible left, not even leaves on the trees. The
counfil appointed the 22nd of February 1747 to be observed

as a day of fasting and prayer that God would be pleased to

remove the plague. In the country districts the gardens

were completely destroyed, and as there was nothing

left for the cattle to eat, so many oxen and sheep died

that meat, which, owing to there having been no disease

among cattle for many years, had been previously sold at

less than \d. a pound, at once doubled in price. By the end

of April 1747, however, the locusts had almost disappeared.

The remaining years were free from excessive drought

and insect plagues. The average exports to India during

the period were 7,539 muids of wheat, 115 muids of rye,
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289 muids of peas, and 271 muids of beans. Of ordinary-

wine, every year on an average 384 leggers were sent to

Batavia, exclusive of that supplied to the ships. All the

Constantia wine that could be obtained was exported, and

ten times the quantity would have found a ready sale. Ivory,

skins of wild animals, ostrich plumes, and dried fruit were

also among the exports of the colony.

The Europeans and the Hottentots were living together

on friendly terms, but occasionally the peace was disturbed

by Bushman marauders. In 1747, and again in 1750,^

rumours reached the Cape that certain farmers on the distant

border of Swellendam had not scrupled to shoot down
women and children as well as men, when they were en-

deavouring to recover cattle and punish the murderers of

their servants. The government caused strict inquiry to be

made, with the object of bringing the offenders to justice

;

but it was impossible to obtain evidence sufficient to secure

conviction.

The country along the coast was now occupied by Euro-

peans a few miles farther eastward than Mossel Bay. Some
graziers had taken possession of land on the banks of the

Gamtoos, but in January 1745 the landdrost of Stellenbosch,

acting under orders from the governor, had required them
to return to the westward of the Great Brak river. The
circumstances under which the graziers lived were, however,

so favourable to expansion of the colony, that they could not

long be kept within the assigned limits.

That the Cape is subject to occasional shocks of earth-

quake was experienced in the early morning of the 5th of

September 1739, and again at daybreak on the 27th of

August 1749. In the first instance there was a single shock,

in the second there were two in quick succession. On both

occasions there was a rolling noise, as of passing thunder.

Beyond causing alarm, no damage was done.

The East India Company had recently undergone a change

in its constitution. During the late war the office of stadt-

holder had been again created in the Netherlands, after

its abrogation for a number of years; and Willem Carel
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Hendrik Frlso, prince of Orange, had been raised to the

dignity, which wtw declared to be hereditary, with the

additional title of captain and admiral general of the re-

public. On the 26th of March 1749 he was created chief

director and govtmor-general of the East India Company,
and theucdfortli all appointments to office were made by him
upon recommendations from the Assembly of Seventeen.

At the Oapt the oiBcers of government were enthusiastic

partiaanii of the Orange, as against the pure republican

faction, and intellignnce of the resumption of the stadt-

holderate was received with great rejoicing. The 29th of

November 1747 was kept on this accorjit as a public holiday.

There were preeesuions through the streets, ringing of bells,

and firing of salutes, every person being decorated with

orange cockades, while above the towers of the cu'iroh and

the castle orange banners were streaming. In the evening

the houses were illnminated. For two nights in succession

there were balls at the governor's residence ; but in those

days guests retired before midnight.

Governor Swellengrebel gave contentment to the colonists

by his administration, though his talents were not of a

brilliant order. The directors were also satisfied with him,

and, as ft mark ©f their approbation, in March 1744 he

received the rank and title of councillor extraordinary of

Netherlands India. After holding the office of governor

ten years, and having been in continuous service since 1713,

in April 1749 he wrote to the directors for permission to

retire. He assigned as his reason that he wished to spend

the remainder of his life in the Netherlands. This was

then the prevailing custom with most of the Company's

servants who attained high rank and who had accumulated

wealth, and with him such a desire could only be compli-

ance with fashion. Except two of his sons who were studying

at Utrecht, all his near relatives were living at the Cape.

He was a widower, his wife having died in December 1746,

and as an old man he was going to a country which was not

his fatherland in any other sense than that his mother was

a Dutch woman. His father was by birth a Eussian.
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The same despatch that announced Governor Swellen-

grebePs wish to retire contained a request from the remain-

ing members of the council that if the directors consented

to relieve him, the secunde Byk Tulbagh might be appointed

in his stead. The directors and the stadtholder consented

to what was asked, and on the 1st of April 1750 a despatch

was received announcing the appointment of Mr. Tulbagh as

governor and of Mr. Sergius Swellengrebel as secunde. The
retiring governor was permitted to transfer the administra-

tion whenever he chose, and to proceed to Europe as admiral

of a homeward bound fleet. It was nearly a year before

the final arrangements were made, for it was only on the

27th of February 1751 that the administration was handed
over to Mr. Tulbagh. On the following day the late

governor embarked, and on the 2nd of March he sailed for

Europe with a fleet of five ships. He took up his residence

at Utrecht, to be near his sons, and died in that city in

1763.
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CHAPTER XXII.

ETK TULBAGH, GOVEENOR, ASSUMED OFFICE 27 FEBEUAET
1751, DIED 11 AUGUST 1771.

Early life of Ryk Tulbagh—His arrival in South Africa—Various offices filled

by him—His character and conduct—Corruption in the Company's service

—Suppression by the governor of fraudulent practices—Tax in aid of the
Netherlands—Work of the astronomer De la Caille in South Africa—Com-
memoration of the first century of the colony's existence—Exploration of

the country bej'ond the eastern border of the settlement—Cliaracter of

legislation in the middle of the eighteenth century—The slave code

—

Horrors of the slave trade—Sumptuary laws—Etiquette of salutes—Com-
pulsory education—Proposed new taxes—Experiments in agriculture

—

Secoiid outbreak of small pox in the colony—Wreck of the English ship
Doddington— Leprosy in South Africa— The wine trade—Trade with
foreigners—Establishment of a public library by bequest of Mr. Van
Dessin—English astronomers at the Cape—Treatment of English visitors

—Exploration of Great Namaqualand—Shock of earthquake—Third out-
break of small pox—Improvements in Cape Town, Simon's Town, Stellen-

bosch, and Swellendam—Dealings with the natives—Boundaries of dis-

tricts and of the colony—The seasons—Exports—Succession of clergymen
in the various churches—Statistics of shipping—Notable visitors—Wrecks
on the coast—Death of Governor Tulbagh—Changes in the official staif

—

Arrangements made by the council for carrying on the government—Names
of new colonists.

The memory of Governor Ryk Tulbagh is still preserved

by tradition in South Africa as that of a wise, just, and
benevolent ruler. The eldest son of Dirk Tulbagh and
Oatharina Cattepoel, he was born in the city of Utrecht on

the 2l8t of May 1699. He was of a plain, but honest and

respectable family, many of the members of which had done

good service for their country in time of war. Several of

his near relatives, and among them in later years his father,

laid down their lives on the battle field, fighting in the

cause of the Netherlands. His parents removed from
Utrecht to Bergen-op-Zoom while he was still an infant,

and at this place his early life was spent. Here he remained
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at school until he was sixteen years of age, when his fHends

considered liim sufficiently well educated to make his way
in the world. Other capital than his own good qualities

and the knowledge gained at school he had none.

In those days, although its purest period was past, the

East India Company's service offered special inducements

to lads like young Tulbagh. Whatever were the faults in

colonising and ruling immense territories by means of such

an Association, there were merits also which ordinary

governments do not possess. One of these merits was that

the Company regarded ability in its officers as so much
capital to be turned to account. Its agents abroad were far

more competent, taken man for man, than the civil servants

of the mother country. Men of genius and intellect, of

energy and industry, were sure of rapid promotion, while

the dullard and the idler were equally certain of remaining

in the lowest ranks.

Tulbagh entered the Company's service under an agree-

ment for five years to act in whatever capacity he should be

found most competent. The directors resolved to send him
to South Africa, and in the year 1716 he bade his friends at

Bergen-op-Zoom farewell and embarked in the ship Terhorst.

He was not quite seventeen years of age when he landed in

this country.

The lad had not been long here when he attracted the

attention of his superiors by his excellent conduct. There

was an earnestness in his demeanour that recommended him,

and it was observed that whatever was given him to do, no

matter how trivial it might be, was thoroughly well done.

His obliging disposition, his utter forgetfulness of self when
he could serve others, made him a general favourite.

Colonel De Chavonnes, who was then governor, observed

that young Tulbagh spent his leisure hours principally in

reading useful books. He found, on inquiry, that the youth

was a fair accountant, and that his style of composition was
much better than that of many old clerks. The neatness of

his papers and the clearness of his handwriting pointed in

the same direction. The governor, therefore, in 1718, placed

1^1
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liim as an assistant clerk in the office of the secretary of th<^

council of policy.

This appointment gave him a slight increase of pay^

which he much needed, and it afforded him greater opportu-

nities for study. His memory to the day of his death was

exceedingly retentive, and it was at this period of his life

that he laid by much of that great store of knowledge which

those who came in contact with him halfa century later con-

sidered marvellous in one whose schooldays had been so

short. In his new employment his first care was to make
himself master of his work, and thereafter to do it in a mas-

terly manner.

It was a peculiarity in the religious teaching of those

days, and especially in the pulpit utterances, that models for

imitation were almost invariably selected from the old testa-

ment, not from the new. Of the numerous sermons and

texts of sermons that have been handed down to us, nearly

all are taken from that source. The power and majesty and

wrath of God are continually dwelt upon, and the terriblf

judgments that overtake the wicked may almost be termed

a favourite theme. Under this tuition men grew up to fear

God, as undoubtedly they ought to do, but generosity and

sympathy with distress were in most instances undeveloped.

With Ryk Tulbagh this was not the case. In all his

dealings with others he did as he would have wished to

be done by. His word was ever known to be strictly

the truth. He often left himself without comforts, such

as most men in his position would have re^, iv'^ed as

necessaries of life, and no one would know the ii..^ Mjn why
until some poor widow or orphan or other distressed person

would give the explanation. The Company'*? books in our

archives show that a large proportion of his *::, iary was trans-

mitted every year to his widowed mother, Catharina Catte-

poel, until her death in 1757. He disliked to have his

charity spoken of, and it was remarked of him that his judgr

ment was never at fault except in the estimation of his own
good deeds. Of these he was sure to make light.

Tulbagh remained as junior until 1722, when he was.
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raised to the post of chiefclerk to the secretary ofthe council

of policy. In the following year, upon the promotion of

Mr. Hendrik Swellengrebel to be master of the warehouses,

Tulbagh was chosen to succeed him as clerk in that depart-

ment. In 1725 the secretary, Adriaan van Kervel, became
fiscal, when Tulbagh was appointed to the vacant o£&ce. He
remained in it without a vote until the 16th of September

1728, whfn he became a member of the council of policy,

and at the same time had a seat given to him in the high

court of justice. In 1726 he had been named by the local

authorities ajunior merchant on approbation, and this dignity

was now confirmed by the directors. In 1732 he was further

elevated in rank by having the title of merchant conferred

upon him.

Thus gradually he was making his way upward in society,

in every post giving entire satisfaction, and always esteemed

and beloved by his colleagues. He had taken to wife a young
lady who was by birth a colonist. Several of her relatives

were then in the service of the East India Company, and
among them her brother, Mr. Hendrik Swellengrebel, who
was on several occasions Tulbagh's immediate superior in

oflBce.

He remained secretary of the council of policy until the

14th of April 1739, when by order of the Assembly of Seven-

teen he became secunde. At the same time he was raised

to the dignity of senior merchant. He had long been a

member of the high court of justice, and now he became its

president, an ofl&ce at this period always held by the secunde.

He was not quite fifty-two years of age when, on the

27th of February 1751, he became governor of the colony.

The ceremony of public presentation to the burghers and of

receiving the promise of fidelity from the various official

boards did not take place until the 15th of April.

As governor, the high qualities which he possessed were

prominently shown. He was accessible without the least

difficulty to all who wished to see him. The humblest in-

dividual could pour his grievances, if he had any, into the

«ars of the father of the country, and be sure of a patient
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hearing. If his complaints were well grounded, he obtained

speedy redress, and in any case he was sure of good counseL

It was this quality that more than any other endeared him
to the people. They knew that he studied their interests,

that although he was their governor he was still their adviser

and friend. No man, however good and wise he might be,

could ever gain the affections of a people like the South

African colonists if he held himself aloof from them.

His probity was beyond suspicion, and that in an age

when probity was hardly looked for in men holding positions

such as his. The salaries of officers in the Company's service .

were small, and it was taken almost as a matter of course

that all who could do so would supplement their incomes in

any way not punishable by law. Some of the practices re-

sorted to were perhaps harmless, but others had a tendency

to lead on to real pilfering. They had further the effect of

causing men to look upon commercial immorality as after

all not a very serious crime. He who became wealthy

through dishonest, even fraudulent, transactions was too

often admired as a sharp, clever, business man, and not

regarded as a swindler should be. Governor Tulbagh set

his face firmly against everything of this nature. He
neither traded on his own account, nor would he allow any

other officer of the government to do so. The fees which

they were permitted to receive in certain transactions were

fixed, and they were restricted from taking more. As for

himself, he regulated his expenses so that he lived well

within his income and allowarces, and used wha.t he had to

spare in relieving the wants of others.

Under his administration every man was certain of get-

ting his dues. The petty, shameless, pilfering system, often

previously in vogue, under which farmers were compelled

to bribe the Company's officers before they would receive

produce, and then bribe them again before proper accounts

could be had, was not tolerated. The governor took care

that no man was put to unnecessary delay, and that no bribes

were received or false account rendered, so that the farmers

were not exposed to injustice or vexatious treatment.
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During the war in Europe which was brought to a close

by the treaty of Aix-la-Chapelle, the United Netherlands

had been put to enormous expense. The public finances

were in such a condition that it became necessary to resort

to special taxation for the purpose of raising a large sum of

money. On the 29th of December 1750, the States General

imposed a tax called the fiftieth penny upon the inhabitants

of the United Provinces, that is, every one was obliged to

pay a rate nearly equal to five pence in the pound upon the

value of his property. The governor-general, Jacob Mossel,

and the council of India, on the 20th of December 1751,

decreed that the tax should be paid by all Europeans in the

Company's possessions.

The first names upon the list of those who paid in South

Africa are those of Eyk Tulbagh and his wife Elizabeth

Swellengrebel. Then come those of the members of the

council of policy as follows : the independent fiscal Pieter

van Beede van Oudtshoorn, his wife Sophia Boesses, and
eight children; Lieutenant-Colonel Izaak Meinertzhagen

;

Captain Rudolph Sigfried Allemann, his wife Alberta Mey-
boom, and eight children; the issuer of stores Nicholas

Heyning, his wife Gertruyd Vermey, and six children ; the

master of the warehouses ChristoflPel Brand, and his wife

Sarah van Brakel, also for the children of Burgert Brand,

and his wife Anna van der Byl ; the chief salesman Comelis

Eelders, his wife Johanna Catharina van der Poel, and three

children ; the secretary Joseph de Grandpreez, and his wife

Adriana Slotsboo.

On the 19th of April 1751 the Abbe Nicolas Louis de la

Oaille, member of the Royal Vcademy of Sciences at Paris,

arrived in South Africa. He had already attained celebrity

in France by his astronomical researches and his writings,

when he resolved to visit the Cape of Good Hope with the

object of making a sidereal chart of the southern skies and

of measuring an arc of the meridian. He brought a letter of

recommendation from the Prince of Orange to the authorities

at the Cape. From Governor Tulbagh, who took a warm
interest in his work, he received all the assistance that it



Ryk Tulbagk 143

was possible to give. He remained in *he colony until the

Sth of March 1753. During his stay he performed an

almost incredible amount of astronomical work, and all that

he did was surprisingly well done. When measuring his

base line on a plain east of Saldanha Bay he had the aid of

an engineer officer named Muller, belonging to the Cape

garrison, but for the remainder of his work in the field his

only assistants were untrained and uneducated men. The
arc which he measured by triangulation extended from a

point within a few yards of the comer of Strand and Adderley

streets in Cape Town to Klipfontein in Piketberg, 1° 13' 17*5"

according to his computation. He found the degree of lati-

tude to be 364,728-4 English feet.

Sir Thomas Maclear, astronomer royal at the Cape of

Good Hope, was employed from 1840 to 1848, with an able

staff of assistants, in verifying and extending De la Caille's

arc of the meridian. Witn the greatly improved instruments

of his time, he ascertained that the French astronomer's

latitude of his observatory was incorrect by only 2*01", and

that the true length of a degree of latitude northward from

it is 364,439 English feet. The difference between the two

calculations amounts to less than twenty miles for the

whole circumference of the earth. The position of the stars

in De la Caille's chart was found to be equally accurate.

Saturday, the Sth of April 1752, was observed by the

Europeans in South Africa as a day of thanksgiving to

Almighty God for the undisturbed possession of the colony

by the Company for a hundred years. Special services were

held in the churches at Cape Town, Stellenbosch, Drakenstein,

Eoodezand, and Zwartland.

On the 29th of February 1752 an expedition left the Cape

to explore the country to the eastward of the settlement and

report upon any changes that had taken place since 1688.

It was under command of Ensign August Frederik Beutler,

and was of sufficient strength to defend itself in case of

sudden attack by Kaffirs. There were thirty-seven petty

^ers and soldiers, twenty-five waggon drivers and leaders,

y iperintendent of the train, a botanist, a blacksmith, and
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a waggonmaker. The clerk Carel Albrecht Haupt went a»

journalist, the marine officer Pieter Clement to determine

latitudes and distances, the surveyor Carel David Wentzel

to make a map, and the surgeon Jan van EUeve to attend

to the sick. They had eleven waggons to transport baggage,^

stores, presents for native chiefs, and a boat to convey them
across flooded rivers. No expedition fitted out on such a

scale had ever left the Cape before, except when Commander
Simon van der Stel visited the copper mountain in Namaqua-
land.

By the 31st of March the Gaurits river was reached, and

while resting there the party was joined by a French sailor

in a half-famished condition. He had come from Mauritius

in a brig named the Necessaire, which was one of three

vessels sent to explore the south-eastern .oast of Africa and

look for a suitable place for a French settlement. At
Algoa Bay a boat with an officer and eight men had been

sent ashore, when the boat was swamped, and the Necessaire

sailed away without an attempt to rescue the crew.

For thirty-four days the man who gave this account of

himself had been travelling westward, and he did not know
what had become of his companions. Ensign Beutler sent

him to Swellendam, with a letter to Mr. Jan Andries Horak,

who in April 1749 had succeeded Mr. Rhenius as landdrost,

requesting that he should be forwarded to the Cape.

On the 2nd of April the farm of Esaias Meyer at

Mossel Bay was reached. Here the officer of the French

boat met them, and corroborated the account of the sailor

in every particular. He could give no information as to the

fate of the remainder of the crew, except that he knew one

man had died from eating part of a poisonous fish. The
ensign directed him to the farm of Ignatius Ferreira, who
sent him on to the Cape.

On the 4th of April the Little Brak river was passed,

and on the following day the farm of the widow Hasewinkel,

the last occupied by Europeans, was reached. On the 7th

the expedition came to the foot of a formidable mountain,

at the place now called Montagu Pass. It took three days
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of excessive toil to get the waggons across the moantain,

in some places a tackle being used to assist the oxen, in

other places the waggons needing to be steadied by ropes

held by the soldiers.

Having got safely over this barrier, the expedition found

itself in the long kloof, a narrow valley of great length be-

tween two ranges of mountains running nearly parallel to

the coast. That section of it had already been named
Cannaland by the elephant hunters, on account of the canna

plant, which was used by the Hottentots as a purgative,

being found there in great abundance. Very little grass was

to be seen, but rhenoster bush was plentiful.

On the 17th of April they passed the head waters of the

Keurbooms river, their chieftrouble now being the numerous

lions that infested the valley. On the 20th they encamped

at the Moordenaar's river, which had received its name from

a deserter who had been living with a Hottentot clan being

murdered on its bank some years before.

On the 4th of May they came to the end of the long

kloof, and found that the mountain range on their right

terminated on the shore of the sea. For some days they

had been travelling along a stream which was a branch of

the Gamtoos, but they left it before reaching the junction,

and proceeded to the beach to examine the curve that now
bears the name of St. Francis Bay. They found it an open

roadstead, protected only on the north and west. At the

mouth of the Kabeljaauw river they set up a beacon with the

Company's mark upon it, as a token of possession, and then

proceeded onward.

The Gamtoos river was crossed on the 6th of May, and

three days later the expedition reached the Galgenbosch.

The manner in which names were given to places from the

most trivial events was here exemplified. Some elephant

hunters had carved their names in the bark of a tree, and a

later traveller had cut the figure of a gallows above the

signatures, from which circumstance the forest was called

the Galgenbosch.

On the 13th of May the expedition encamped at the

II. L
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mouth of the Zwartkops river. The broken boat of the

Neceasaire was lying on the beach, but there was no other

trace of European handiwork. The salt pans in the neigh-

bourhood were visited, and the bearings of the shore around

Algoa Bay were taken. The ensign regarded the roadstead

as too exposed to be of any use for shipping. A beacon,

however, was set up at the mouth of the Zwartkops, with

the letters V C (Vereenigde Oost-Indische Compagnie)
upon it, to denote that possession had been taken on behalf

of the Company.

On the 16th of May they passed the Sunday river, on
the 17th a place called by the Hottentots Koernoe—meaning
small forest—but which they named Hoender Kraal on
account of the great number of Guinea fowls seen there, and
on the 20th they crossed the Bushman's river. Keeping

near the sea, on the 2nd of June they passed the Tish river,

and on the 5th reached the Keiskama.

So far they had met only Hottentots. The names of

the tribes are given in the report of the expedition, but they

need not be repeated, as they have long since passed into

oblivion. From Oannaland to the Keiskama the Hottentots

were found in a condition of great poverty, arising partly

from depredations by Bushmen, partly from wars with the

Kaf&rs, and partly from feuds among themselves. They were

very thinly scattered over the country. The Europeans

noticed some of the heaps of stones which are still to be

seen near the Fish river, and observed that the Hottentots

who had joined their train threw green branches of trees

upon the cairns as they passed, at the same time muttering

some words or phrases. When questioned why they did so,

the most intelligent among them replied that the devil had

made the cairns, and that in this way they prayed for good

luck and a long life. The Gonaquas, living between the Fish

river and the Keiskama, were on good terms with the Kaffirs.

As the Keiskama was considered the boundary between

the Bantu and Hottentot tribes, the party was now divided

in' three watches, one of which was constantly armed and

on guard. Two burghers—Andries Arendsdorp and Gerrit

(
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van Nimwegen—had joined them, and there was a large

number of Hottentots m the train. After crossing the river,

several Kaffirs came to meet them, and with these and some
Gonaquas presents were sent on in advance to the great

chief Palo and to another of lower rank whom they called

Banke.

As the expedition advanced, the country was found to be

more thickly peopled. It was the winter season, and the

district had been subject to a long and severe drought, still

there was ample proof that the inhabitants were agricul-

turists. Gardens were seen, in which millet stalks were still

standing, and leaf tobacco was also noticed. Before they

reached the Buffalo river, which they crossed oi^ the 17th of

June, all the Hottentots with the train, except a few Gona-

quas, deserted through fear of the Kaffirs.

On the 24th of June the Gonubie river was reached. On
the 28th the expedition halted at the kraal of Galeka (correct

Kaffir spelling Gcaleka), great son of Palo, somewhere near

the present village of Komgha. The place where Hubner's

party had been massacred was not far off. Upon being

questioned as to the massacre, the Kaffirs tried to throw the

blame upon Hubner's interpreters, who, they said, had caused

a misunderstanding. It may have been so; but tlie de-

clarations of the survivors record an event similar to some

of our own day, in which misunderstanding certainly had no

part.

After resting a little, the party crossed the Kei on the

3rd of July, and on the following day encamped at the

Toleni river. Here messengers whom they had sent in

advance to the Tembu chief Tzeba met them and delivered

a friendly greeting. To the east of the Kei only Tembus
were found, and in Ensign Beutler's report that ri^er is

stated to be the boundary between them and the Kosas. As
these tribes were frequently at war, it is evident that the

Kosas had been defeated and driven for a time from the

district between the Kei and the Bashee. Five days longer

the party marched north-eastward, without making any

discovery of note. The oxen were now beginning to die

1.2
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from fatigue and scarcity of food, and the members of the

expedition were almost wearied out. Travelling over a

broken country, where at every brook a road had to be made,
was no easy task. The ensign took counsel with the leading

men of the party, and all decided that it wa& advisable to

go no further. On the 10th of July therefore they turned

towards home.

Palo, the head of the Kosa tribe, was then living at the

foot of the Amatola mountains. They were desirous of

seeing him, but he probably feaved meeting a strong party

of Europeans, for no one would guide them to him. They
noticed that from the eastern side the peak which the

elephant hunters called Kafi&rland's Berg, because they con-

sidered the Kaffir country commenced there, could be seen

at as great a distance as when approaching in the opposite

direction. This is the Intaba-ka-Ndoda—the Mountain of

the Man—of the present day.

Keeping close to the foot of the mountain chain, tha

expedition, after leaving the Kaffir country, passed the

Tyumie, Kat, Koonap, Baviaan's, Tarka, and Fish rivers.

The only inhabitants of this tract of country were Bushmen,
with whom it was impossible to have much intercourse. In

the report it is stated that one division of these savages

practised polyandry as well as polygamy, but this may be

doubted, as there is not sufficient evidence in support of the

assertion. The Bushmen along the Fish river—called Little

Chinese by the Europeans—were reported to be monogamists.

Many rock paintings made by these people were noticed. The
country was so parched by a long drought that the cattle

were half famished, and large thorn trees were perishing

through want of moisture. The ensign had not been able to

purchase from the Kaffirs as many oxen as he needed, so after

keeping upward along the bank of the Fish river until the

18th of August without discovering anything of importance,

he turned again towards the sea. For many days nothing

more noteworthy occurred than the recovery of a runaway

slave of the burgher Willem Landman.

When resting at the farm of Hendrik Blankenberg at

'ill
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Zoetmelkii rl?©r, the ensign received a letter from the

landdroit of ^wellendani) written under instructions from
the governor, directing him to search for a bay that was re-

/ported to huve been found by some hunters on the coast of

Outeniquftlftud. Me accordingly sent part of the train on to

the Cape, amd with a few men on horseback he endeavoured
to find a Wfty to the shore. He reached the two lakelets

nearest the preient village of George, and supposing them to

have been miittiken for a bay, he turned back without see-

ing the Knynnft lagoon. On the 6th of November he reached
the Cape, after an absence of a little over eight months.

The lftW8 of the colony at this time were much harsher
than they ar© in our days. They were, however, seldom en-

forced in all tbeif severity, the object of legislation being to

lay down the lieaviest punishment which could be inflicted

for oflfencei, rather than the ordinary penalties. Far greater

power was thus placed in the hands of administrators and
judges than is now the case.

It was held to be one of the duties of government to

regulate many matters which are now left to settle them-
selves under th© action ofdemand upon supply. Thus in 1744
a proclamation of Governor Swellengrebel and the council

-was issued, in which the price to be charged by waggon-
makers and blacksmiths for every part of their work was
minutely fixed.

In 1753 a regulation was made concerning the sale of

ivory. It fixed th© price of prime tusks at one shilling and
four pence per pound, and of inferior tusks in proportion.

Any one detected disposing of ivory, except to the Company,
was made liable to a heavy fine and to be banished from
South Africa, The purchaser was to be punished in the

same inanner, Any petty officer or soldier of the patrol who
should through want of proper diligence allow a tusk to pass

the barrier by day or by night, except to the Company's
stores, was made liable to be severely flogged, to be branded,
and to sepv© ten years in chains.

In the slave code the wide difference between the spirit

of those times and theie in which we live is very observable.
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There were then more slaves than Europeans in South

Africa, notwithstanding the manumission of such as were

considered deserving of freedom and of those who could lay

claim to it under the law. Some were sent here from

Batavia, sentenced to periods of servitude varying in length.

Officers of ships and private individuals regarded them as

the most pruritable article in which they could carry on a

small trade, and brought so many from India that the

government became apprehensive that this class of the popu-

lation might too greatly preponderate, for when excited they

were prone to commit appalling crimes. The council of

India was therefore earnestly requested to prohibit the ex-

portation of Asiatic slaves to this colony, but they continued

to arrive in considerable numbers until 1767, when the re-

quest of the Cape government was complied with, and

further importations ceased. A few were brought from the

east coast of Africa. With Madagascar there was a regular

trade in slaves, small vessels being sent frequently from the

Cape to procure them. They cost there less than three

pounds sterling each, though the rivalry of the English,.

French, and Portuguese was complained of as increasing the

price and making it difficult to obtain cargoes.

It was nothing unusual when one fourth to one third

of the number taken on board died during the passage.

And frequently from one third to half of those landed died

within three months, from despondency and change of

climate and food. After the arrival of a slave-ship, it is not

uncommon to find in the journal whole pages of names of

those who died during the preceding month, with an

occasional comment as to the loss to the Company, but

never a word of compassion for the wretched negroes. And
this during the government of such a thoroughly good man,

according to the views of his time, as Ryk Tulbagh. More

pity would be expressed to-day for a shipment of horses.

Occasionally captives on boar^^l ship made attempts to

regain their liberty, but in general such precautions were

taken that they were utterly helpless.

There is in the Cape archives of the early years of the
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third

And

eighteenth century a statement that exhibits in a very clear

light the views of those times regarding negro slaves. It

was made by the master of an English slave-ship bound to

the West Indies, who put into Table Bay for provisions, and

who asked to be treated with exceptional favour, on the

ground of his voyage having been disastrous. On the pas-

sage from Madagascar he had observed symptoms of dis-

content among the negroes, he said, and to prevent them
from rising and murdering his crew, he had considered it

necessary to throw the sturdiest of them overboard. The
event is recorded with no more feeling for the blacks than

if they had been bales of calico.

In 1765 the Cape packet Meermin was sent to Madagascar

to procure slaves for the Company. Her supercargo called

at several ports in the island, and succeeded in purchasing

one hundred and forty of both sexes. On the passage back,

the skipper—Gerrit Mulder—caused the irons to be taken

oflP the slaves, and a few days afterwards— 18th of February

1766—the supercargo very imprudently gave some of them
a number of assagais to polish. They seized the opportunity,

rose suddenly, and killed the supercargo and the whole of

the watch on deck, twenty-four men all told. There were

twenty-nine men below. None of these were allowed to

come on deck for the next forty-eight hours, but at the end

of that time, through the medium of a woman, an agreement

was made that no harm should be done to the white men,

they on their part promising to convey the negroes back to

Madagascar.

The way the crew of the Meermin kept their promise was

by steering for Cape Agulhas. After four days sail, land

was seen, and the negroes were assured that it was their own
country. At a distance of some miles from the coast they

required the sailors to drop the anchor and get out the long-

boat and pinnace, in which over fifty of them, male and

female, went ashore, after promising to make signal fires

if all was right, and send the boats back for their companions

as soon as they could. Near the place where they landed

was a farm belonging to Matthys Eostock. Upon seeing the
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house, the negroes first became aware that thej had been

deceived. Intelligence of their landing soon spread, and
the neighbouring farmers assembled. As the blacks would

not surrender they were attacked, when fourteen were shot

and the others were taken prisoners.

The negroes on board the Meermin became very impatient

when the boats did not return for them. There was a cur-

rent setting towards the land, so the crew wrote an account

of their condition, and put the papers in bottles which they

dropped overboard. They begged that three fires might be

kindled on the shore. Two of the bottles were picked up

on the beach, and the fires were kindled, as requested. The
negroes then cut the cable, and when the Meermin drifted

close to the shore, a canoe was got out in which six of them
landed. They had hardly touched the beach when they were

surrounded. One was shot, the other five were made
prisoners. Those still on board, on seeing this, attacked

the crew ; but the sailors were able to defend themselves

Tintil the vessel ran ashore, when the blacks surrendered.

One hundred and twelve of the slaves finally reached the

Cape. The Meermin could not be got oif again, and went to

pieces where she struck.

The nature of the industries carried on in the colony

prevented slavery from becoming here what it was on an

American cotton or sugar plantation, and few instances of

extreme cruelty are on record ; but under the law bondsmen

were in a very abject position.

In the preamble of a slave code drawn up by Governor

Tulbagh and the council it is stated that notwithstanding

the stringent proclamations that had from time to time been

issued, the misconduct of the slaves was such that for the

preservation of peace and good order it was necessary to

collect all the laws into one ordinance, and to amplify

them to meet existing circumstances. After mature de-

liberation, the code was drawn up in the castle of Good Hope
on the 3rd of September 1754, and two days later was pub-

lished by being af&xed to the notice board, with the great seal

of the Company attached to it.
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The second paragraph condemns to death without mercy

any male or female slave who shall raise his or her hand,

though without weapons, against master or mistress. The
twenty-third condemns every slave found loitering about the

entrance of a church, when the congregation was leaving, to

be severely flogged by the ministers of justice. The twenty-

fourth subjects to the same punishment any slave, adult or

child, found within a churchyard at the time of a funeral.

The twenty-eighth prohibits more than twenty slaves from

following the corpse of a companion to its burial. The
number was to be regulated according to the rank of the

owner of the deceased, by whom a fine of 5/. was to be paid

if the rule was transgressed.

For many offences slaves could be flogged at once by the

oflScers of justice, without any trial. When convicted of

ordinary crimes, they were punished much more severely

than freemen. Some of the death sentences recorded against

them horrify the reader by their barbarity. It is sufficient

to say that impalement, breaking the limbs on a wheel, and
slow strangulation were among the methods of execution.

In the Indies there had been of late years a growing

tendency with Europeans towards luxurious habits, and the

authorities feared that the descendants of the sturdy pioneers

would sink into effeminacy. It was observed that the chil-

dren or grandchildren of men who had toiled with their hands

to earn their food were not content unless they could ride

in carriages and be waited upon by menials. The directors

did not reflect that this was inevitable in countries where

there were inferior races and where the road to wealth was
open to colonists ; they regarded it simply as an evil that

would lead to ruin, unless checked in time. They attempted,

therefore, to prevent it by issuing stringent sumptuary laws,

by which all undue display was prohibited. These laws

failed in their object, but while they were still on trial the

council of India sent a copy of them to the Cape with orders

to enforce them here also.

There was no dependency of the Company in which such

regulations could have less effect than in this colony, because
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there was very little accumulated wealth here except in the

form of farming stock. The people generally were above

fear of want, but there were few who could pretend to live

in luxury. Yet Governor Tulbagh favoured the sumptuary

laws, not ov}j because he was instructed to put them in

force, but because he believed them to be well adapted to

form a simple, honest, manly race of colonists, to preserve

the hardy virtues which had made the people of the Nether-

lands a powerful nation.

On the 25th of March 1756 the sumptuary laws of India

were referred to a committee to make such alterations as

were necessary to adapt them to the condition of this country,

and they were thereafter promulgated. They comprised

such regulations as the following : no one except the governor

may use a gilded coach or one with a coat of arms emblazoned

on it ; no one except a member of the council of policy may
dress his coachman in livery ; no one may use large umbrellas

except senior merchants and ladies whose husbands or fathers

have seats at any of the public boards.

There were other regulations hardly less than the fore-

going in accordance with modem ideas.

Every foreign vessel that put into Table Bay was required

to fire a salute of nine guns, upon which the castle replied

with seven. A French ship came to anchor in March 1754,

and her captain declined to salute unless the fortress would

return an equal number of shots. The governor was at his

country seat at Newlands, but the secunde Swellengrebel

informed the French captain, who had come on shore, that

no provisions would be supplied until he conformed to the

usual custom. Re could get water and firewood, but nothing

more. The Frenchman returned to his vessel, but disdained

to fire a shot. Early in April another French ship came in,,

and met with the same reception. Governor Tulbagh would

not allow even a boat to go off to either of them. At length

one of the French captains offered to fire the required

number of guns for both vessels. The governor replied that

each must fire. They held out a little longer, but at length

submitted, fired their guns, and were afterwards treated in
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the most friendly manner and supplied "with whatever pro-

visions they needed.

In the same year there was a widow living in the town
who refused to allow her two children to attend school. The
elders of the church reminded her of her duty, and the

clergyman reprimanded her, but to no purpose. The con-

sistory next reported the circumstance to the council of

policy, and by that body she was admonished not to bring

up her children as heathens. Still she remained obdurate,

maintaining her right to have the children educated or not,

as she pleased. The matter came again before the council,

but now the governor settled it. The widow was ordered at

once to consign her children to the church authorities that

they might be instructed in the duties of Christians. If she

did not comply, it was added, she should be flogged. Upon
this she wisely submitted.

In 1754 the council of India, in order to derive greater

benefit than previously from this colony, proposed to reduce

by one-third the prices paid by the Company for produce, to

charge a duty of a penny a pound upon meat, two shillings

and eight pence a muid upon meal, and thirty-two shillings

a legger upon wine supplied to foreign ships, also to permit

the importation of clothing materials in foreign ships upon

payment of a duty of twenty per cent upon the value. The
council of policy, guided by Governor Tulbagh, objected to

these proposals, for the following reasons. The prices of

colonial produce were already so low that a reduction of one-

third would ruin the farmers. A duty of a penny a pound
upon meat supplied to foreign ships would not benefit the

Company in the least. Already foreigners were complaining

because tbey had to pay twice as much as the inhabitants

for meat, and it was this privilege of charging double prices

to them which enabled the contractors to supply the Company
at very cheap rates. The proposed duties on meat, meal, and

wine would drive foreigners from the port, and from them
the burghers made their largest profits. As for the importa-

tion of clothing materials in foreign bottoms, it would hardly

be worth while to make one class of merchandise an excep-
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tion to the general rules. The question was submitted to the

directors, by whom these views were endorsed, and matters

were left as they always had been.

Instructions were at this time given by the directors to

renew experiments in the cultivation of indigo, and also to

try if cotton could not be successfully grown in South Africa.

These orders were carried out in the Company's gardens at

the Cape, Eondebosch, and Newlands, with the result of

showing that neither indigo nor cotton could be produced

with profit.

For forty-two years the colony had been free of small

pox when in 1755 that scourge made its appearance again.

It was introduced at the beginning of winter by a homeward-
bound fleet from Ceylon. At first the disease was supposed

to be a kind of fever, but after a few days there were cases

that admitted of no doubt. It assumed, however, various

forms, and among some of the distant Hottentot tribes

diflfered in appearance so much from what was held to be

true small pox that the Europeans termed it gall sickness.

In Table Valley it was of such a malignant type that

hardly a single adult who was attacked recovered. In July

the weather was colder than usual, and during that month
four hundred and eighty-nine Europeans, thirty-three free

blacks, and five hundred and eighty slaves perished. If

that death rate had continued, before the close of the year

there would have been no one remaining, but as soon as the

warm weather set in the virulence of the disease abated.

Two great hospitals were established: one for poor Euro-

peans, supported by the board of deacons, the other for

blacks. To the latter all slaves who were attacked were

sent, the expense being borne by their owners, who were

required to pay one shilling and four pence a day for each.

Those who recovered were employed as nurses. In Table

Valley from the 1st of May to the 31st of October nine

hundred and sixty-three Europeans and eleven hundred and
nine blacks died.

In the country the European inhabitants did not suffer

very severely, as they remained so secluded on their farms
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that for several months hardly a waggon load of produce

was taken to the Cape for sale. The dead were not removed
from the farms for burial. The government excused the

muster of the militia for drill, and even the services in the

churches were not attended by people from a distance.

In the census returns of 1754 the number of colonists of

both spxes and all ages is given as 5,610, and the number of
slaves owned by them as 6,279 ; in those of 1756 the number
of colonists is given as 5,123, and of their slaves as 5,787.

In ordinary years the number of deaths was in proportion

to the number of baptisms as 100 to 261,^ and there was a
constant accession to the colonial population by servants of

the Company taking their discharge, so that these figures,

though they cannot be depended upon as absolutely accurate,

give an idea of the heavy loss of life by the small pox.

With the Hottentots also it created great havoc, for it

spread further inland than in 1713. It is not possible to

say exactly how far it extended, but its ravages were felt in

Great Naraaqualand at least to the twenty-sixth parallel of

latitude, and in the east to the Great Fish river.

Before midsummer it entirely died out.

A shipwreck which took place at this time was made
famous by the display on the part of a few survivors of

such industry and ability to overcome difficulties as have

seldom or never been surpassed.

The English East India Company's ship Doddington

sailed from the Downs on the 23rd of April 1755. At a

quarter to one in the morning of Thursday the 17th of July,

while no one on board suspected danger, she struck a rock

on the eastern side of Algoa Bay, and at once went to

pieces. Of two hundred and seventy persons on board, all

perished but twenty-three. Those saved found themselves

upon a barren islet frequented only by sea-birds. Fortu-

nately for them, a quantity of provisions, a small boat, a

' A mean of tbe entries for eight years of deaths and baptisms, excluding

deaths of seamen in the hospital and of the troops. The returns of deaths in

the country districts are, however, not to be too firmly relied on, and these

figures can therefore only be regarded as approximately correct.
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sinith's bellows, much timber, and numerous other tiaeful

articles washed up from the wreck. They at once set to

work to build a sloop of twelve feet beam and thirty feet

keel, with which to make their escape. They had no nails ;

but a Swedish sailor, who had once been a blc 'zsmith, put

up a forge, and with iron obtained from pieces of the wreck

managed to make as many as were needed.

As smoke was often seen on the mainland, on the 3rd of

September three men left in the little boat to find out some-

thing of the country and its people. They steered for a

point about nine or ten miles east of the islet, but when
attempting to land the boat was overturned in the surf, and
one man was drowned. The other two passed the nig on

the shore. Next day they found the boat, and managed to

pull it up on the beach. That night, weary and almost

exhausted from want of food, they turned the boat over and
lay down under it to sleep, but were disturbed by wild

animals prowling about. Next morning a party of Hottentots

appeared, who took from them a pistol and the greater part

of their clothing, though otherwise the wild people were

friendly and, seeing their distress from hunger, gave them
some roots to eat. The wind was adverse that day, and they

were obliged to pass another night under the boat, but on

the following morning they returned to the islet.

During the last months of the year the wrecked people

had as jiany sea-birds' eggs as they chose to gather, and at

all times fish could be obtained, so that they did not suffer

from hunger. On the 16th of February 1756 they launched

their sloop and named her the Happy Deliverance. Two days

later they sailed from the rock, to which they gave the name
Bird Island, which it still bears. They reached Delagoa Bay
safely, and there found a ship in which some of them ob-

tained a passage home. The others proceeded to Bombay in

their sloop.

Two burghers—Andries du Pre and Pieter Ferreira—who
were hunting elephants along the Bushman's and Sunday
rivers, heard from some Hottentots rumours of the landing

of the boat, and sent a report to the landdrost of Swellen-
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•dam. Mr. Horak thereupon directed the farmers Nicholas

Haarhof and Pieter van Vuuren to make inquiries among
the natives, and they obtained the pistol which had been

taken from the English sailors, but could learn nothing of a

wreck. For anything they could gather, the boat might

have belonged to a passing ship. In December 1755, by

order of the government, the landdrost sent Dirk Marx, a

hunter who was well acquainted with the country, to look

for any white people who might be in distress ; but he could

hear of none, nor could he find any trace of a wreck. He
reported having met Kaf&rs as far west as the Great Fish

river.

The coloured races of South Africa, though singularly

free of disease, were subject to one of the most dreadful

maladies with which mankind is afflicted. There are no

means of ascertaining the ravages made by leprosy among
the Hottentots, but it is tolerably certain that though they

were acquainted with the disease, the number of individuals

affected was very small. It is not once named in the early

records, and it is only from tradition that it is known to

have existed among these people before their intercourse

with strangers. Whether the Bushmen were liable to be

attacked by it is uncertain. Among the Bantu tribes it was

by no means rare, and the slaves of all nationalities who
were brought into the colony were subject to it. It was now
proved that Europeans also were liable to its attacks. Some
cases having been suspected, in May 1756 a commission of

medical men was appointed, who examined the sufferers, and

reported that one man, who had been eighteen years ill, was

afflicted with leprosy, that his eldest daughter was showing

symptoms, and that another man, who had been nine years

ill, was suffering from the same disease. The government

recommended isolation of the sufferers, but did nothing

more.

The quality of the wine sent to India was frequently

complained of, but no improvement was made in it. The
master of the Company's wine stores at the Cape professed

that the greatest care was taken to reject the worst that was
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brought for sale, and that he could not obtain a better

article than was forwarded. The result was that the council

of India declined to take as large a quantity as previously,

and the exportation to Batavia, which for the five years

1751-5 had averaged 558 leggers, fell off to 262 leggers on

an average during the next ten years. There was some
correspondence with the directors concerning the conversion

of the wine into brandy, and it was ascertained that if more

stills were introduced there would be no difficulty in pro-

curing aunurllv 400 leggers at a price not exceeding

14Z. lis. 8(i. ' /egger. But the quality of the brandy sent aa

samples ^\i.g so objectionable that the project fell through.

Th diiecto/;i just at this time also saw fit to make wine

a special . »>} , yet of taxation. The colonial revenue and the

p ont Oil ^\ ocls sold here now amounted to between 11,0002.

ai' 1 i2fO0'V i^ ^ar, but the sum paid out of the Company's

treitsiir)? at vhe Cape was in round numbers 20,000i. more,

taking cue year with another. To increase the revenue,

in 1756 an export duty of \l. per legger was laid by the

directors upon all wine and brandy sold to strangers in bulk.

This was in addition to the dues previously levied. The

duty was farmed out by auction, and in the first year was

sold for no more than 33?. 6s. %d. Four years later it rose

to 400Z.

In 1756 and 1757 only twelve foreign ships called, and

though three of these were sent from Mauritius to procure

provisions for the French troops there, the supply of wine

far exceeded the demana. Insolvencies of wine-farmers

became alarmingly frequent. The governor-general Van
Imhof in 1743 had allowed the :lscal •, fee of four shillings

and twopence upon every legger of wine sold to a foreigner.

Governor Tulbagh, as the only measure of relief which he

could think of, arranged with the independent fiscal Van

Oudtshoorn that he should abandon his claim *^^o this fee,

and in its stead receive one shilling and fourpence on every

hundred pounds of grain or meal sold to a foreigner.

Matters were at their worst when in December 1758 and

January 1759 a fleet of seventeen French men-of-war and
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transports with troops arrived from Mauritius. They were

sent here purposely to refresh and lay in a supply of pro-

visions. At once the price of farm produce doubled or

trebled, all the surplus stock was disposed of, and everything

was paid for in money.

From this date until the termination of the war in India

between the English and the French, the farmers were in a
prosperous condition. French men-of-war until 1761, and
after that date ships of both nations, came here to refresh

and take in supplies. The officers of French packets from
Mauritius and of English packets from St. Helena bid against

each other for cattle and meal and wine. On more than

one occasion the government was unable to procure as much
provision as was needed for the Company's ships, as the

burghers were desirous of selling at high prices to strangers.

There was a remedy for this, however. In August 1762 a

placaat was issued prohibiting the sale of wine to foreigners

under penalty of confiscation of all that was offered and a
fine of ^^l. 13s. 4cZ. This had the desired effect, the Com-
pany obtained as much as was needed, and four weeks from

the date of its issue the placaat was withdrawn. In January

1763 it was necessary to resort to the same means to pro-

cure a supply of butter.

The government, as well as individuals, profited by the

strangers. The revenue was increased, a quantity of surplus

wheat in the magazines was disposed cf, and some shipments

of Bourbon coffee were purchased at the low price of twenty-

five shillings per hundred pounds for transmission to Europe.

This season of prosperity lasted until March 1763, when
intelligence was received of the conclusion of peace between

France and England.

On the 8th ot December 1760 the secunde Sergius

Swellengrebel died. On the 12tli the council of policy

decided that the independent fiscal Pieter van Reede van

Oudtshoorn should fill the vacant office until the pleasure of

the supreme authorities could be known. Mr. Van Oudts-

hoorn was confirmed in the appointment by the directors,

II. 3i
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and Mr. Jan Willem Cloppenburg was sent out as fiscal.

The latter officer arrived in September 1762.

In 1761 Mr. Joachim Nicholas van Dessin, who had been

for nearly a quarter of a century secretary of the orphan

chamber, bequeathed to the colony his library consisting of

three thousand eight hundred printed books, many manu-
scripts, some mathematical and astronomical instruments,

several oil paintings, &c. He appointed the consistory of

the Cape guardians of this bequest. He also left the sum
of one thousand rixdollars—then equal to 208i!. 68. 8cZ.—to

form a capital fund, the interest of which was to be applied

to the preservation and enlargement of the library. The
books were placed in a building near the church, and the

sexton was required to perform the duty of librarian. The
institution, however, was not much used, and in course of

time several of the most interesting volumes disappeared,

without any record being left of the manner in which they

were lost. Those which remain are known as the Dessinian

collection, now kept in the gallery of the South African

Public Library. Among them are still many works of per-

manent value.

On the 27th of April 1761 Messrs. Charles Mason and
Jeremiah Dixon, two astronomers who had left England with

the intention of observing at Bencoolen the transit of Venus
on the 6th of June following, arrived at the Cape. They
had been delayed on the passage, and therefore resolved to

observe the transit here. From Governor Tulbagh they

received all the assistance that he could possibly give. The .

6th of June was showery, but at the time of the transit

there were no clouds over the sun's disc, so that they were

able to observe it. Their instruments were two reflecting

telescopes of two feet focal length and magnifying one

hundred and twenty times, a quadrant of a foot radius, and

an astronomical clock. They remained at the Cape until the

3rd of (Vtober.

In 1759 an armament was sent by the government at

Batavia to reinforce the garrison of the Dutch factory of

Chinsurah on the Ganges. Colonel Clive was then the repre-
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He appreli@nded that if the Dutch forces were increased,

the nabob Meet* Jaffler, who had been raised to power by his

assistance, wonld form an alliance with them to the detriment

of English interests in Bengal. England and the Netherlands

were at peoeo, btit Clive resisted the passage of the Dutch
fleet up the Hoogly, captured the ships, and destroyed the

army. Conditions were imposed upon the authorities at

the Dutch faetoi'y, under which they were prohibited from
building fortlfletttions or raising troops.

When Intelligence of this event reached Europe, the

friendly feeling that had existed between Great Britain and
the United Provinces was disturbed, and for a time it was
doubtful whether peace would be maintained. Orders were

issued by the directors that nothing which could be refused

under existing treaties should be supplied to English ships

touching at tli© Cape. The matter, however, was adjusted

without a rnptnre, and in 1761 instructions were received

that English visitors were to be treated in a liberal manner.

In January 1702 his Britannic Majesty's ships of war
Chatham and Y»rh put into Table Bay, where they were sup-

plied with whfttiver they needed. The commodore, Thomas
Lynn, taking Governor Tulbagh to be an obliging, good-

natured individual, who would do almost anything he was
requested to, aslced that all the English seamen in Dutch
ships in the bay sliottld be sent on board his vessel. But he

met with a deelded refusal, for in this the governor and
council held that the honour of their flag was at stake.

In 1760 a burgher named Jacobus Coetsee with twelve

Hottentots proeteded northward from his farm at Piketberg,

and hunted elephants beyond the river known to us as the

Orange, which it was believed had never been crossed by a

white man before. Some time after his return he informed

Hendrik Hop, otie of the captains of the burgher militia,

who occupied the farm Slot van de Paarl, that he had heard

of a tribe of blaek people called Damrocquas living ten days

journey beyond the farthest point which he had reached,

and that they had long hair and wore clothes made of linen

Ii2
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cloth. In June 1761 Captain Hop reported this to the

government, and offered to lead an exploring party in that

direction. The offer was accepted, and the captain then

called for burghers to volunteer for the expedition. Such
an undertaking was no longer so formidable as in the days

of Simon van der Stel, for white men were now in permanent
occupation of cattle runs as far north as the mouth of the

Elephant river. Since 1685 the base of supplies had been

moved inland nearly two hundred miles. The services were

secured of the botanist Jan Andries Auge, who was to collect

information on plants, the surgeon Carel Christoffel Rykvoet,

who v^ent in the capacity of mineralogist, and the surveyor

Carel Frederik Brink, whose duty it was to determine posi-

tions, to make a map, and to keep a journal.

It was arranged that the members of the expedition

should assemble at a place called the Bakoven, near the

mouth of the Elephant river, and from that point commence
the journey. On the 16th of August 1761 all was ready,

and tho caravan left the Bakoven for the north. Beside the

four Europeans named, there were thirteen colonists : Jacobus

and Joris Ooetsee, Abraham Russouw, Hendrik Kruger,

Andries Greef, Jan van Niekerk, Tieleman Roos, Pieter

Marais, Casper and Jan Badenhorst, Josua Joubert, Coenraad

Scheepers, and Ocker Heyns. They had fifteen waggons
and sixtv-eight half-breed Hottentot servants.

They passed by the copper mountains of Little Namaqua-
land that had been first visited by Europeans in 1685, and

keeping in a direction almost due north, crossed the great

river on the 29th of September, ai a ford where the stream

was nearly eleven hundred feet in width. The Little Nama-
quas were found in an impoverished condition. They had
been robbed by Bushmen of the greater part of their cattle,

and it seemed as if they must eventually be utterly destroyed.

The Great Namaquas had migrated to the north about

twenty years before.

The names given by Captain Hop to places north of the

great river have long since been replaced by others, but there

is no difficulty in following the route of the expedition. They
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passed the hot spring now known as Nisbett's Bath, and

kept along the western base of the Earas mountains, between

the ei;j:hteenth and nineteenth meridians from Greenwich,

the same route as that of Sir James Alexander in 1838.

They found giraffes soon after crossing the great river, and

killed several. Governor Tulbagh, who had already enriched

the chief museums of the Netherlands with many specimens

illustrating the botany and zoology of the colony, sent the

skin of one of these giraffes to the museum of the University

of Leiden. It was the first taken to Europe from South

Africa.

The expedition reached latitude 26° 18' S., and two of the

burghers penetrated the country some miles further. But
the heat had now become almost insupportable ; there was
such a scarcity of food for the cattle that they were dying

off rapidly, and though numerous beds of rivers were found,

there was no water in any of them except at distant points

where the natives had made deep pits in the sand. Captain

Hop called a council, and there was but one opinion ex-

pressed, that it was impossible to go further.

On the 7th of December the caravan turned to the south.

At the great river some time was spent in refreshing the

worn-out cattle, which afforded an opportunity to examine

the country around. In the mountains bordering on the

river copper was discovered, but the conclusion which

Captain Hop and his assistants came to was that it would

not pay to extract it. They observed first that there was

no wood in the neighbourhood which could be used as fuel,

consequently the ore must needs be taken away in its crude

«tate. Next, there were obstructions in the river which

would prevent the use of boats to transport the ore to the

sea, so that it would be necessary to remove it in waggons.

And lastly, the country was not only very difficult to traverse,

but it was so parched by the summer heat as not to afford a

supply of food for draught cattle. The mouth of the river

was too distant to be examined.

During the night of the 11th of January 1762 the water in

the Great river rose suddenly. The expedition was encamped
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on the bank, unsuspicious of danger, and it was with-

diffieultj that the waggons were removed to a place of

safety. One night a little later thirty of the oxen were

stolen by Bushmen. The colonists had volunteered to ac-

company the expedition, chiefly with a view of obtaining a

large number of cattle in barter, but they had not succeeded

according to tlieir anticipations.

No infoiTnation of a positive kind was obtained concern-

ing the black people to the north, then called Damrocquas,

now Damaras. But the wild stories that had previously

been current of their having long hair and wearing linen

clothing were found to be incorrect, for the Great Namaquas
knew of no people answering that description except

Europeans. Information was obtained concerning the

Betshuana, then called Briquas or Birinas, living east of the

Kalahari. And it was ascertained that the small pox in

1755 had spread into Great Namaqualand and caused the

loss of many lives.

Pieter Marais, one of the burghers who accompanied the

expedition, understood the Hottentot language, and was a

man given to inquiry. He and Tieleman Eoos drew up a

report upon the natives, showing that the different clan»

which were met were members of one tribe. They had wit-

nessed the method of worshipping the new moon by singing,

dancing, and invocations; and they had learned that the

Great Namaquas had some faint conception of a supreme

being, whom they called Chuyn, but what the nature of this

being was supposed to be they had not ascertained. They
had seen the natives smelting copper and working it into

ornaments by means of a stone hammer and anvil. The
Great river was called by the Namaquas Chari or Eyn.

The last word was the same as that given to Commander
Van der Stel by the Little Namaquas in 1685. The first

word Chari is the same as Gariep of our days.

On the 27th of April 1762 the expedition reached the

castle, none of its members having died or suffered serious

illness during the journey.

A little before two o'clock in the morning of the 14th of
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July 1766 a slight shock of earthquake was felt throughout

the Cape peninsula. It was accompanied by a noise like

rolling thunder. No damage was caused by it, though at

Simon's Town it was sufficiently violent to throw the bed-

steads in the hospital against the walls of the wards.

In 1767 the small pox was again brought into the colony.

On this occasion it was introduced by a Danish ship return-

ing to Europe. From May until November it was prevalent

in Cape Town, but owing to precautions which were taken,

only a few families in the country districts were attacked

by it. In 1713 and 1755 it died out entirely when the hot,

weather set in ; but there were occasional cases throughout

the summer of 1767-8, and it was not until April 1769 that

it quite disappeared. Altogether between eighteen and
nineteen hundred persons were attacked, of whom one hun-

dred and seventy-nine Europeans, one hundred and forty-five

free blacks, and two hundred and fifty-one slaves died. The
ravages of the disease were thus slight when compared with

earlier years.

During the period that Governor Tulbagh was at the

head of the colony, the town in Table Valley was con-

siderably enlarged, and strangers began to know it by its

present name of Cape Town, though by the colonists it was
still termed the Cape. Several new streets were laid put.

The parade ground was again levelled, and an oak hedge was
planted round it. The artificial fountains from which the

inhabitants got water were renewed. The town house—the

same that is still in use—was built by the burgher council.

The tower of the church was raised a few feet higher by the

consistory, and a clock was placed in it, which did not, how-

ever, indicate the time until the 25th of November 1771.

The graveyard round the church was closed, and early in

1770 the cemetery between the Lion*s Eump and the shore

of the bay was opened for use. The hospital was falling to

ruins, and it had been resolved by the directors to build a
new one, but the work was not yet commenced, though the

materials were being collected. The fortifications were
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repaired, and a new battery was constructed near the mouth
of Salt River.

At Simon's Town expensive works were carried out. The
hospital—a square building of 130 feet frontage—was com-

menced in 1760 and completed in 1765. Substantial store-

houses were then put up, and when these were finished, in

1768 a stone pier was constructed. A slaughter house, a

bakerj, workshops for smiths and carpenters, and a dwelling

house for the officer in charge of the station, followed. The
building erected in the time of Governor Swellengrebel

—

which was 450 feet in length and had previously served for

all purposes—was now used solely as quarters for the gar-

rison and workmen. In March 1751 Adriaan de Nys was

appointed postholder in succession to Justinus Bias. Mr.

De Nys died in May 1761, when Jan Frederik Kirsten was
appointed officer in charge at Simon's Town, with the title

of resident.

The village of Stellenbosch was also considerably en-

larged and improved in appearance during this period. On
the 3l8t of October 1762 the drostdy buildings were de-

stroyed by fire, but they were shortly rebuilt in a handsomer

style. On the 30th of May 1768 much damage was done

to the village by a flood, which for some hours threatened

the total destruction of the place. The same thing had

occurred once before—on the 13th of October 1716. To
prevent similar disasters in future, the course of the river

was altered, according to plans furnished by the heemraad

Martin Melk, under whose supervision the work was carried

out. In September 1748, upon the death of Pieter Lourens,

Adriaan van Schoor had been appointed landdrost of Stellen-

bosch and Drakenstein. In August 1763 this gentleman

was promoted to an office in Cape Town, and Jacobus

Johannes le Sueur succeeded him as landdrost. Mr. Le
Sueur held the appointment until June 1 769, when he was
promoted and was succeeded by Lucas Sigismundus Faber.

Swellendam remained a mere hamlet. To facilitate

access to it from the Cape, in 1757 a pontoon was placed on

the Breede river, close to the junction of the Zonder End.



Ryk Tulbagk 169

In 1766 Mr. Horak retired from the Company's service and
became a burgher, when Joachim Frederik Mentz, who had
previously been secretary of the district, was appointed

landdrost.

During the administration of Mr. Tulbagh the natives

gave very little trouble to the colonists. The Hottentot

clans that still held together in compact bodies within the

limits of the European settlement retained their own govern-

ment, though their chiefs were practically appointed by the

Dutch authorities. Only when Europeans or slaves were

also concerned were they made amenable to colonial law.

But the greater number of these people had lost their old

tribal distinctions, and recognised no chief of their own race.

Many of them were living as dependents of farmers, or

wandered about the country, taking service occasionally as

they felt so disposed. These were of necessity amenable to

colonial law, even in matters affecting their relationship to

each other.

There were instances of harsh and unjust treatment of

Hottentots by colonists, especially on the remote border ; but

the courts of law were open for their protection, and the

heavy sentences that are found recorded against European

criminals in such cases prove that the law was not a dead

letter. The government of Mr. Tulbagh, being popular, was
strong ; and oppression of the Hottentots on any large scale

could only take place in times of anarchy. Land was allotted

to colonists without consulting them, which will be considered

just or unjust according as one regards the right of property

in the soil by a race of nomads unacquainted with agricul-

ture. As yet there was plenty of land left for them and

their cattle, so that this question was not a pressing one. It

had ali^eady been noticed, and was as well recognised then as

it is now, that nearly every case of cruelty by colonists was

committed by men who either had coloured blood in their

veins or who had mixed with the uncivilised coloured people

on terms of equality.

The government was anxious to prevent the Hottentots

from becoming possessed of guns and horses, as many of
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those who accompanied the elephant hunters in their ex-

peditions had learned to be expert marksmen, and might

prove dangerous to the peace of the colony if mounted

and armed. In 1755 some Hottentots in the district of

Swellendam acquired several horses and a couple of muskets

as wages from burghers, when the landdrost was instructed

to endeavour to procure the forbidden property in a friendly

way in exchange for something else, and strictly to prohibit

such actions in future.

With Bushmen there were occasional contests.

In the spring of 1754 a large party of these savages

made their appearance in the Roggevelden, and drove off

great herds of cattle. Only one individual—a Hottentot

—

was murdered by them; but the farmers on the north-

western frontier abandoned their homes in alarm. The
military board (krygsraad) of Stellenbosch and Drakenstein

instructed the field corporals Willem van Wyk, Godlieh

Opperman, Nicholas Ryk, Pieter van Zyl, Barend Lubbe,

and Barend Forster to proceed with their forces against the

robbers. For six weeks the commando was in the field, a&

the Bushmen retired to mountains, where they made an
obstinate resistance. One stronghold was besieged in vain^

the robbers from secure positions shouting defiance and
declaring they would have the whole of the cattle in the

country. In other places, however, sixty-four Bushmen
were killed, at a cost on the farmers* side of one white man
and two Hottentots wounded. The commando then re-

turned home, with only seven head of cattle out of all that

had been lost.

A little later in the same year the cattle of Jacobua

Gildenhuis were driven away from his farm in the Bokke-

veld. Gildenhuis's neighbours—Dirk Koekemoer, Jan van

Aswegen, and Andries van der Heiden, with twenty Hotten-

tots, pursued, shot down twenty-six of the robbers, wounded
eight others, and recovered nearly all the cattle.

The Bushmen in that part of the country then promised

to abstain from robbery, and peace was made with them.

In May 1758 a party of about two hundred Bushmen'
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from beyond the interior range of mountains made a raid

into the Boggeveld, and drove oflF some four hundred head of

cattle. A commando, under David van der Merwe, assembled

and pursued the robbers for fourteen days. The Bushmeur
were overtaken in a mountain, when fifty-six were shot, and
all the cattle but forty-eight were recovered. Commandant
Van der Merwe was slightly wounded, but there was no other

casualty on the European side.

In the winter of 1763 a party of Bushmen drove off the

cattle of Pieter Loubser from his farm in the Bokkeveld. A
European named Hermanns Yos and a few Hottentots

pursued the robbers, but upon being overtaken the Bushmen
turned and killed Vos with poisoned arrows, when the

Hottentots retreated. Landdrost Van Schoor called out a

commando, which was placed under order of Dirk Koeke-

moer. The commando searched for the Bushmen for three

weeks without success, and then broke up. In January

following the farms of Nicholas Loubser and VVillem Engel-

brecht were in the same way cleared of cattle. On this

occasion a commando assembled more hastily, when the

Bushmen were surrounded, and the whole of them were shot.

In June 1764 some Bushmen visited a cattle station on

the Zak river, where the burgher Jacob van Eeenen had
some sheep running. They murdered Van Eeenen's Euro-

pean servant, who was in charge of the station, and drove

off three hundred sheep. Upon hearing what had occurred,

Gerrit van Wyk, who was the nearest field corporal, raised

a commando and hunted up the robbers. Their retreat was
discovert i, and they were attacked, when twenty-five of

them were shot, and ten children were taken away. Only

sixty-three sheep were recovered. The children were dis-

tributed as servants among some of the members of the

commando, on the ground that it would be unjust to shoot

them for the sins of their parents, that to leave behind

those whose parents were killed would be to leave them to

perish, and that those who had relatives to provide for them
would assuredly become robbers if not removed from evil

influences.
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In May 1770 some Bushmen drove oflf thirty-four head

of cattle from the farm of Casper Scholtz on the Salt

river, between the present viUages of Beaufort West and

Murraysburg. Adriaan van Jaarsveld, a man whose name
was afterwards to be well known throughout South Africa,

was then field corporal of that part of the country. He
mustered a commando, foUowed the Bushmen, and shot six

of them, the others managing to escape. The cattle were

found dead. The commando, before dispersing, came across

a party of Bushmen in the act of lifting the cattle of David

van Heerden. They shot two, and made prisoners of the

others, who were afterwards distributed as servants.

Later in the same year many of the farms along both

sides of the Eoggeveld and Nieuwveld mountains were

plundered by Bushmen, and three servants of Barend Lubbe,

Cornelis van Wyk, and Willem van Zyl were murdered.

The field corporals assembled their forces, hunted up the

plunderers, and shot a good many, the exact number not

being given. Some of the cattle were recovered, and for a

time it was hoped that there would be no more depreda-

tions. But early in 1771 the Bushmen mustered in force,

laid siege to several houses, murdered three of Jacob

Joubert's servants, and drove off large herds of cattle.

Adriaan van Jaarsveld determined upon giving the ma-
rauders a severe lesson. With thirty picked men, well

mounted, he took the field, and did not return until he had
<K)unted ninety-two dead Bushmen. After that there was
quietness for a short time.

In December 1769 a commission consisting of Lucas

Sigismundus Faber, landdrost of Stellenbosch, Joachim

Frederik Mentz, landdrost of Swellendam, two heemraden

from each court, and the two secretaries, was directed to

lay down a permanent boundary between the two districts.

The Zwartberg range was settled upon as a good dividing

line, the country to the north being allotted to Stellenbosch,

and that to the south to Swellendam.

The commission was also required to inspect the most

distant farms and ascertain the state of affairs on the
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firontier. They reported that they found between the

Gatntoos and Fish rivers many persons with large herds of

cattle, who were not paying rent to the Company, and
others who were paying for a farm within the colonial

limits, but who were moving about with their cattle

wherever they pleased. They had reason also to believe

that notwithstanding the placaat of the 8th of December

1739, which prohibited the purchase of cattle from natives,

a large trade with the Kosas was being carried on, for they

found a well-beaten waggon-road from Swellendam into

£affirland.

The council of policy therefore resolved—13th of
February 1770—that on the northern or Stellenbosch side

of the Zwartberg and the corresponding range further east-

ward the colonial boundary should be the hills known as

Bruintjes Hoogte, that on the southern or Swellendam side it

should be the Gamtoos river, that all persons then beyond

these limits should be called upon to return to the colonial

side, that all cattle found away from farms held on lease as

well as all found in possession of nomads should be forfeited

to the Company, and that landdrosts who neglected to pre-

vent such irregularities should be dismissed and declared in-

capable of serving the Company.

During the period Ist of January 1751 to 31st of

December 1771 there were five years of drought, more or

less severe, in the corn-growing districts. The? ; years were

1766, 1766, 1763,' 1764, and 1771. In 1756 uv- drought

was severe during the early months, and many cattle died

of starvation, but after June abundance of rain fell, and the

com crop was a very good one. In 1756 the rain that fell

was insufficient for wheat, and only a poor crop was gathered.

There was such a quantity in reserve, however, that as much
as usual was exported. In 1763 not only was the drought

severe, but south-east gales set in early and with such force

as partly to destroy what wheat was growing, and a plague

of caterpillars followed, so that little or nothing was reaped.

There was plenty of grain in reserve, but it was considered

prudent only to send one-fourth of the usual quantity ta

I
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India. In 1765 the drought continued, and there was hardly

any harvest. Of the grain which remained in stock, a small

quantity was sent to India, but rice was imported to com-

pensate for it. In 1771 the drought was not very severe,

though the crop gathered was poor.

During these twenty-one years the average quantity of

farm produce exported to India was 11,791 muids of wheat,

202 muids of rye, 68 muids of barley, 202 muids of peas,

174 muids of beans, and 346 leggers of common wine. In

1754 butter was first exported to India. During the next

eighteen years the quantity sent abroad annually averaged

^2,322 pounds. It was usually purchased at the Company's

stores at six pence to eight pence a pound, but occasionally

in times of scarcity as much as a shilling a pound was paid

for it. A small quantity of dried fruit and a little ivory

were also exported to India.

To Europe were sent yearly rather over 100 leggers of

common wine and as much Constantia wine as could be

obtained, which was usually not more than 14 or 16 leggers.

From 1736 to 1761 the price paid by the Company for red

Constantia wine was 20Z. 16«. 8d. and for white Constantia

wine lOZ. Ss. 4d. the legger, the proprietors of the farms into

which the original estate was divided being obliged under

an old contract to sell at that price. But as they could easily

get double those sums from foreigners, they were loud in

complaining, and in 1761 an agreement was made with

Jacobus van der Spuy, then owner of High Constantia, that

he should deliver to the Company two-thirds of all the red

wine made by him at 31Z. 5^., and two-thirds of all the white

wine at 15^ 128. 6i.* the legger, he to be at liberty to sell

the remaining third to whom he chose at the best price

which he could obtain. A similar agreement was subse-

iir

The agreement was made in rizdoUars, at that time current at two and
a half gulden of Holland, or four shillings and two pence English money each.

In 1770 the supreme authorities issued instructions that the rixdollar was to

be valued at 2^ gulden of Holland, equal to four shillings English money.
The prices named must be reduced by four per cent after that date, for the

sellers had to bear the loss in the difference of exchange.

<-
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money,

for the

quently made with Lambert Myburgh, owner of Great

Constantia.

In 1 761 the first aloes were exported from South Africa.

A quantity of two hundred and eighteen pounds in weight

was produced by the old burgher councillor Petrus Johannes

de Wit, who lived at the Cape, but who had a farm in the

country, and had caused the drug to be prepared there. The
council of policy decided to send it to Europe, whei'e it was
pronounced to be of good quality. The directors issued

instructions to purchase it at the stores at a price not ex-

ceeding two shillings and three pence half-penny a pound.

From that date it has been an article of export to Europe,

but the quantity in demand being inconsiderable, it has not

been of much advantage to the colony.

The first horses were exported from South Africa in 1769.

Six years earlier the horse sickness had been unusually severe,

the burghers losing over 2,500 within a few months ; but

the loss had been made good by breeding, and when some
English officers visited the Cape to procure remounts for

India, there were plenty to be had, though they were small

and not very handsome. On the 25th of December 1769 the

Duke of Kingston sailed from Table Bay with a shipment for

Madras.

The various churches in the colony were well supplied

with clergymen during the administration of Mr. Tulbagh.

When he became governor, Mr. Van der Spuy was alone at

the Cape, Stellenbosch was vacant, Mr. Van Echten was at

Drakenstein, Mr. Meyring was at Waveren, and Mr. Voltelen

was at Zwartland.

In October 1 752 the Eev. Hendrik Kroonenburg arrived

from Europe and was stationed at the Cape. In January

1753 Mr. Van der Spuy was transferred to Drakenstein, at

his own request, when Mr. Van Echten returned to Holland.

The Cape church was then again under the care of a single

clergyman until September 1754, when the Rev. Gerhardus

Croeser arrived from Europe, and was inducted as assistant

pastor. In November 1755, under an arrangement between

themselves of which the government approved, Mr. Croeser
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went to Zwartland and Mr. Voltelen came to the Gape. In
April 1768 Mr. Voltelen died, but his place was filled in

November of the same year by the Rev. Johannes Frederik

Bode, who was sent out by the directors.

In March 1760 the Rev. Johannes Petrus Serrurier

arrived from Europe. The council of policy decided to keep
him at the Cape, and to send Mr. Bode to Waveren. But
Mr. Bode declined to remove, on the ground that having

been inducted as clergyman of the Cape he could not be
Required to fill a position of less dignity, without being found
guilty of misconduct. Some members of the council were
also of this view, but the majority suspended him from duty

and stopped his pay until the opinion of the directors could be
made known. The directors decided that his contention was
just, and they issued instructions—which were received here

in April 1761—that Mr. Serrurier should be inducted as

third clergyman of the Cape, that Mr. Bode should resume
duty as second clergyman and be paid his arrear salary, and
that upon the first death or removal of either Mr. Kroonen-
burg, Mr. Bode, or Mr. Serrurier, no successor should be
appoi^^.ted. They were all in active service at the close of

the period embraced in this chapter.

In September 1763 the Rev. Johannes Appeldoorn arrived

from Europe, and in the following month was stationed at

Stellenbosch. He was still there in 1771, as was Mr. Van
der Spuy at Drakenstein.

In May 1757 the Rev. Mr. Meyring died. In January

1768 the commissioner Johan Gideon Looten, who was then

at the Cape, removed the Rev. Remmerus Harders from a

ship of which he was chaplain, and sent him to minister to

the congregation at Waveren until the place should be filled

by an appointment from the Netherlands. In 1761 the

directors issued instructions that Mr. Harders was to remain

there permanently, and he was still doing duty in 1771.

In May 1770 the Rev. Gerhardus Croeser died. No
successor had been appointed in 1771, but the three clergy-

men of the Cape were required by the council of policy to

hold service at Zwartland monthly in succession.
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In 1759, by order of the council of policy, the yearly

meetings of the combined consistories ceased to be held.

The council considered that the meetings were serving no

useftil purpose, and that the travelling charges of the clergy-

men and elders were burthens too heavy to be borne by the

congregations.

During the 21 years 1751-1771 there put into Table Bay
938 ships belonging to the Dutch East India Company, 168

English, 147 French, 31 Danish, 13 Swedish, 4 Prussian,

1 Portuguese, and 1 Spanish. During the same period 129

ships belonging to the Dutch East India Company, 14

English, 11 French, 13 Danish, and 2 Swedish put into

Simon's Bay. The whole number that touched at the two

ports was 1,472, and the averagis yearly number 70.

The Prussian flag was first seen on a ship in Table Bay
in 1755, and the Swedish in 1759. The Spanish ship touched

here in 1770. According to the treaties of Miinster and

Utrecht, the Spaniards were prohibited from sending vessels

to India by the way of the Cape of Good Hope. The
government therefore refused to allow the captain of this

ship, which was a man-of-war, to procure any supplies except

water and fuel. The other foreigners obtained whatever they

chose to pay for, excepting when the council thought it

necessary to prohibit the sale of such articles as the Company
needed and of which the supply was insufficient for all.

Among persons of note that called at the Cape during

the government of Mr. Tulbagh was Lord Clive, who touched

here when on his way to India for the last time, on the 1 7th

of December 1764. Shortly after the anchor of his ship

—

the Kent—was dropped, a stiff south-easter set in, but Clive

determined to try and get ashore. He left the ship in a

large boat well manned, but could not reach the jetty, and

after a long struggle against the gale, was obliged to run to

Eobben Island and pass the night there.

On landing at the Cape next morning. Lord Clive was

received with all possible honour, and during his stay he

resided in government house in the garden as the guest of

the Company. He was provided with a military guard, not

II. N
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onlj for himielfi but for the colonels who accompanied him.

Captain Collins, who commanded an English man-of-war

lying in the bay, took offence at this. He was lodging on

shore, and ascertaining late one evening that Clive's colonels

bad a guard of soldiers, he sent to request the immediate

attendance of the government secretary. When that gentle-

man arrived. Captain Collins demanded that he should be

informed on the authority of the governor why he, who held

the king's commission, was treated with less courtesy than

officers who held their rank from Lord Clive. It was with

difficulty that the offended captain could be induced to

let the matter rest for that night, as the governor had re-

tired, and the secretary did not wish to disturb him. In the

morning the matter waa laid before Governor Tulbagh, who
assured the captain that no slightwhatever had been intended

;

and a guard was placed at his service, as he desired it.

Lord Clive remained ashore until the 12th of January

1766, when he embarked, and sailed on the 16th. On the

22nd of April 1767 he arrived at the Cape again, on his

return passage to England. On this occasion also the

government house in the garden was placed at his disposal,

but he declined it with thanks, and took lodgings with the

burgher Petrus Johannes de Wit. He left on the 4th of

May.

A visitor scarcely less eminent was Captain James Cook,

who called at Table Bay in the Endeavour on his homeward
passage, on the 16th of March 1771. After refreshing his

crew and taking in a stock of provisions, he sailed again on

the 14th of April.

Bemardin de St. Pierre, author of Paul et Virginie, also

spent about six weeks at the Cape in 1771.

There were but few disasters on our coast at this period.

The loss of the Doddington and the drifting ashore of the

Meermin have already been mentioned. The only other

casualties were the following

:

On the 0th of June 1762 the Danish ship Crown Princess

of Denma/rk, homeward bound from Tranquebar, put into

Mossel Bay disabled, haying sustained great damage in a
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•gale. The cargo was landed and stored in f»h@di until it

could be forwarded to Copenhagen, and the wrock wai then
abandoned. All possible assistance was given to the crew
by the Cape authorities.

On the 19th of March 1756 the French ship Qijhdle^

bound to Mauritius from the coast of Guinea with ilavea
in trying to beat into Table Bay jan ashore a littk above
Blueberg, and shortly went to pieces. Her crew, with the
slaves, got safely aboard another French ship lying at anchor
in the bay.

On the 3rd of June 1756 the Cape packet SehuylenUwfg
left Table Bay to take some stores to Simon's Bay. That
night there was a violent storm, and the 8chuylmburf/ was
never afterwards heard of.

On the 8th of June 1757 the Company 'g provision ship
VoorzigtigJieid, which had recently arrived from Batavia with
goods for the Cape, in a gale from the north-west went ashore
near Salt River mouth, and became a wreck. H©r crew of
fifty-nine men got safely to land.

In January 1757 the Company's ship Naarstlghmd sailed
from Bengal with a valuable cargo, and on the 9th of the
following April was dismasted in a hurricane. During six

weeks her crew did their best to reach False Bay under jury
masts, but finding this impossible, and being in great distress

they put the ship about and steered for Mozambique. The
Agulhas current being now against them, they found they
could not get so far north, so on the 1st of July they put
into Delagoa Bay, and cast anchor before the ruins of the
abandoned Dutch fort. They then sent out parties to en-
deavour to reach the Cape and Mozambique overland, but
these were soon obliged to return unsuccessful. In May
1758 a boat with an officer and five men left to try and reach
Mozambique, but she was never afterwards hoard of. After
being dismasted, the Naarstigheid was spoken by the English
ship Delaware, homeward bound, whose master reported the
circumstance to the Chamber of Delft. The directors there-
upon issued instructions to the Cape government to cause a
search to be made, and towards the close of 1758 the packet

n2
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Hector left Table Bay for this purpose. She found the wreck,

with fifty-nine individuals—including some passengers—still

living. The greater portion of the cargo was undamaged.

The Hector returned to the Cape with the intelligence, when
some vessels were sent for the crew and cargo. As she also

brought word that elephants in large numbers had been seen

in the neighbourhood of the wreck, four experienced hunters

from the district of Swellendam, who volunteered for the

purpose, were sent to Delagoa Bay by this opportunity. Two
ofthem died of fever immediately after landing, and the other

two—Hans Ditlof and Jacob Kock—only shot twenty ele-

phants, most of the animals having gone inland before their

arrival.

On the 11th of September 1763 the French man-of-war

Fortim^y homeward bound from Mauritius, after encountering

a heavy gale off the coast put into Fish Bay in a sinking

condition. She was kept afloat until everything of value

was landed, but was abandoned on the 27th, when she went
down at her anchorage. Two days later she broke up in a
storm. Her crew and some troops on board, 441 in all,

proceeded overland to the Cape, where they embarked in

French ships returning to Europe.

Governor Tulbagh was regarded as a model officer by
his superiors in Europe and India. In March 1755 he was
raised to the dignity of councillor extraordinary of Nether-

lands India, a position which gave him higher rank than

that of governor, though it did not add to his duties. In

March 1767 he was further elevated to be an ordinary

councillor. He had now only two superiors out of Europe,

the governor-general and the director-general.

In his declining years he was often laid upon a bed of

sickness. In 1 766 his life was despaired of, but he rallied,

though he did not recover his former strength. At length,

in the winter of 1771, he was prostrated by illness which

he felt was to be his last, for to other ailments was now
added a painful attack of gout in the feet. His deathbed,

on which he lay for eleven weeks, was one of patient suffer-

ing and contemplation of the hereafter. In the afternoon

1 \



\ j

rreck,

-still

laged.

when
e also

a seen

inters

OT the

Two
3 other

by ele-

e their

of-war

itering

jinking

f value

le went

up in a

in all,

rked in

icer by

he was

[ether-

ik than

Les. In

[rdinary

lurope,

bed of

rallied,

length,

which

kas now
tathbed,

suffer-

tternoon

> I

/iyk Tulbagh i8i

of the 11th of August he appeared to be better than usual,

but between five and six o'clock in the evening, without a

struggle, his spirit passed away. He died at the age of

seventy-two years and nearly three months.

A quarter of a century earlier he had been surrounded

by his wife's relatives, who then formed a very numerous

family. At the time of his death he had no nearer connec-

tion in South Africa than the three brothers Le Sueur, who
were his wife's nephews. The whole of the Swellengrebel

family had moved to other countries or had died out. The
governor had no children, and he had been a widower since

October 1753. By will he left his property to his younger

brother, Johannes Tulbagh, a retired captain of the national

army, who was living at Bergen-op-Zoom, and to whom for

a long time he had made an allowance of 200?. a year.

On the morning after Mr. Tulbagh's death, the council

of policy met to make provision for carrying on the govern-

ment. The principal ofl&ces at the time were filled by men
with only acting appointments. In April 1766 the secunde

Van Oudtshoorn had gone to Europe on leave of absence to

attend to his private affairs, when the fiscal Cloppenburg

was chosen to act for him, and Mr. Otto Luder Hemmy was
directed to act as fiscal. In March 1767 a despatch from

the directors was received, announcing that Mr. Van
Oudtshoornhadresigned, that Mr. Cloppenburg was to succeed

as secunde, and Mr. Joachim van Plettenberg—then a

member of the high court of justice at Batavia—was ap-

pointed fiscal. On the 21st of December of the same year

Mr. Van Plettenberg arrived in South Africa. On the

30th of May 1770 Mr. Cloppenburg died, and the council

then directed Mr. Van Plettenberg to act as secunde until

the directors could make their wishes known. He was also

to perform the most important duties of fiscal, but his

assistant, Mr. Olof Godlieb de Wet, was to relieve him of

the routine work of the ofl&ce. This was the condition of

matters at the time of Mr. Tulbagh's death, for the directors

had not yet expressed their pleasure.

The council decided that Mr. Van Plettenberg should act
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both as governor and secunde, and that the secretary,

Mr. Olof Martini Bergh, should act also as fiscal until the

supreme authorities could make new appointments. They

then resolved to go into full mourning with their families

for six weeks. The principal townspeople did the same.

The funeral of the late governor was kept back till the 17thy

to allow the country people to attend. On that day the

town was filled as it never had been before, and with all the

solemnity and state that was possible the remains of the

landsfather were laid beneath the pavement of the church.

The records during these years contain many names of

individuals then recently arrived, whose descendants are still

in South Africa. They were chiefly officers in the Company's

service, who subsequently settled here as burghers. Among,
them are

:

i

Hendrik Albertyn

Eric Gustaf Aspeling

Anthonie Berrange

Christiaan Bester

Johannes Bresler

Willem Buissinne

Jan Hendrik Coenradi

Willem Dempers

Andries Dreyer

Jan Augustus Dreyer

Hendrik Jacobus Eckard

Jan Zacharias Eelhof

Jan Fischer

Carel Augustus Freislich

Jan Coenraad Gie

Adriaan de Graaff

Jan Greyling

Jan Adam Hartman
Godfried Gabriel Hauptfleisch

Pieter van den Heever

Albert Herhold

Jan Frederik Heydenryk

Jan Hendrik Hofmeyr
Butger van Huysteen

Job Ludolf Immelman
Joachim Kannemeyer
Rynard Keet

Johan Bernard Koch
Johan Frederik Koch
Willem Adolf Kriege

George Frederik Langejan

Jan Liebenberg

Andries Christoffel Lind
Jan Adam Luckhof

Hartwich Jan Luttig

Honoratius Maynier

Nicholas Meeser

Godfried Mocke
Christiaan Ludolf Neethling

Coenraad Nelson

Jan Hermanus Redelinghuis.

Johan Frans Reyneke

Jan van der Riet

Daniel van Ryneveld

Hercules Sandenberg

Simon Jacobus Sandenberg

Johan Frederik Schikkerling.

Christiaan Sederblad
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Hendrik Stander
Johan Godlieb Stegmann
Matthias Taute
Martin Theunissen
Jacobus Gustaf Triegard
Jacobus Verster

183

Kenne Nicholas Volsteedt
Abraham Wannenburg
Jan Carel Winterbach -'"'

Maurits Herman Otto Woeke
Matthys Zondag
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CHAPTER XXni.

DESOBIPTION OF THE NATIViT BAOES OF SOUTH AFRICA.

'Ill

Dividing line between the Hottentot and Bantu tribes—Territory occupied by
the Bushmen—Characteristics of the Bantu, of the Hottentots, and of the
Bushmen—The Hottentots—Division into tribes—Property—Food—Cloth-

ing—Dwellings—Weapons—Arts—Government—Superstition— Character
—Language—The Bushmen— Language— Dwellings—Pood—Weapons

—

Stone implements—Character—Independence—Superstition—Art of paint-

ing on rocks—T'.ie Bantu—Personal appearance—Tribal divisions—Clicks

in the Kosa dialect—Formation of the tribes—Government—System of

law—Tribunals of justice—Religion—Belief in witchcraft—Witchfinders

—

Rainmakers—Herbalists—Charms—Method of computing time—Folklore
—Practice of circumcision—Weapons—Domestic life—Agriculture—Food
—Land tenure—Villages—Dwellings—Wealth in cattle—Law of inherit-

ance—Clothing—Manufactures—Habits—Line of descent of Kosa chiefs

—

Traditional history of the Kosa tribe.

As the colonists were rapidly approaching territory occu-

pied by Bantu tribes, it is necessary to devote a chapter

to explain in what respects these people diflfered from the

natives with whom Europeans had long been in contact.

A shoi*t review of the condition of the Hottentots and Bush-

men when white people began to colonise the country must
first be given.

In 1652 the south-western portion of the African con-

tinent was inhabited by the people whom we call Hottentots.

A totally distinct race, now termed the Bantu, occupied the

eastern seaboard and the country to the north. A straight

line drawn on a map from Walfish Bay to the mouth of the

Kei would form a fairly correct boundary of the Hottentot

territory at that time. On the north-eastern side the

Bantu tribes did not touch that line along its whole length,

as there were large tracts of land without other inhabitants

than Bushmen. Between the Bantu and the Hottentots

there was nearly always deadly enmity. At only two points
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along the border was there anything like a mingling of

blood. At its south-eastern extremity this was being

effected to a slight extent by the extermination of Hottentot

tribes with the exception of young females, and nearly

midway between the oceans a few of the feeblest of the

Bantu were in the habit of marrying Hottentot women in

the intervals of peace.

Another class of people, known to us as Bushmen, roamed
over the entire country. They were to be found in the in-

terior at least as far as the Zambezi, and probably very much
farther ; but owing to the Bantu possessing greater means

for their extermination than the Hottentots had at their

disposal, they were most numerous in the territory of the

latter. They were of the same branch of the human family

as the Hottentots, but as distantly related as Celts to

Teutons. The enmity between them was constant and

strong.

The greatest differences between these divisions of people

are now known to be in the constitution of their minds, but

early observers did not detect these. The variations which

they noticed were chiefly the following

:

Bantu : frame of those on the coast generally robust and

as well formed as that of Europeans, head covered closely

with crispy hair, cheeks full, nose usually flat but occasionally

prominent, hands and feet large, colour brown to deep

black ; weapons assagai, knobkerie, shield
;
pursuits agricul-

tural, pastoral, and metallurgic
;
government firmly consti-

tuted, with perfect system of laws ; habitations strong frame-

work of wood covered with thatch; domestic animals ox,

goat, dog, barnyard poultry ; demeanour ceremonious, grave,

respectful to superiors in rank; language musical, words

abounding in vowels and inflected to produce harmony in

sound.

Hottentots : frame slight but sometimes tall, back hollow,

head scantily covered with little tufts of short crisped hair,

cheeks hollow, nose always flat, eyes far apart and often set

obliquely, hands and feet small, colour yellow to olive;

weapons assagai, knobkerie, bow and poisoned arrow, shield

;
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pursuits pastoral and to a very limited extent metallurgic

;

government feeble ; habitations slender wickerwork covered

with skins or reed mats ; domestic animals ox, sheep, and

dog ; demeanour inconstant, marked by levity ; language

abounding in clicks.

Bushmen : frame dwarfish, colour and general appearance

those of the ugliest specimens of Hottentots ; weapons bow
and poisoned arrow

;
pursuits those of a hunter ; government

none but parental ; habitations caverns or mats spread over

branches of trees ; domestic animal the dog ; demeanour

that of perfect independence ; language abounding in clicks

even more than that of the Hottentots, and in deep guttural

sounds from which that of the Hottentots is free.

The investigations of the late Dr. Bleek have shown that

the language of the Bushmen differs in construction from

that of the Hottentots, that the Bushmen are monogamists

while the Hottentots are polygamous, and that in many
other respects they vary so greatly that the relationship be-

tween them must be very remote.

To a European ear the Hottentot language sounds like a

continuous clapping of the tongue and clattering of the

teeth. Most of the words are monosyllables or composites,

and much the greater number contain clicks. The liquid

consonant I is wanting. Missionaries have reduced the

Nama dialect to writing, and a considerable amount of

literature exists in it. But at the present day, excepting a

few Namaquas and Koranas, there are no Hottentots who use

the language of their ancestors. Nearly all now speak a

patois of the Dutch.
^

The Hottentots were divided into a great number of

tribes, each tribe being usually composed of several clans

loosely joined together. They were frequently at war with

each other. The chiefs were hereditary, but their authority

was very slight.

Their principal property consisted of horned cattle and

sheep. They had great skill in training oxen to obey certain

calls, as well as to carry burdens. The milk of their cows

was the chief article of their diet. They did not kill horned.
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and

cattle for food, except on occasions of feasting, but they ate

all that died a natural death. The ox of the Hottentot was

an inferior animal to that of Europe. He was a gaunt,

bony creature, with immense horns and long legs, but he

was hardy and well adapted to supply the wants of his owner.

The sheep were covered with hair instead of wool, were of

various colours, and had long lapping ears and tails six or

seven pounds in weight. The milk as well as the flesh was

used for food. Children were taught to suck the ewes, and

often derived their whole sustenance from this source. The

only other domestic animal was the dog. He was an ugly

creature, his body being shaped like that of a jackal and the

hair on his spine being turned in the wrong direction ; but

he was a faithful, serviceable animal of his kind.

The food of the Hottentots consisted of milk, the flesh

of game obtained in the chase, the meat of tame animals,

locusts, and wild roots and fruits. Some impoverished clans

on the coast lived chiefly on shellfish and the produce of the

sea. They rejected no part of an animal except the gall.

Agriculture, even in its simplest forms, was not practised by

them, but they collected for food many kinds of wild plants

with whose properties they were acquainted. They knew
how to make an intoxicating drink of honey, large quantities

of which were to be had in the season of flowers. With a

pipe made of the horn of an antelope, they smoked dacha,

a species of wild hemp, when it was procurable. This is

one of the most powerful intoxicants known.

Their clothing was made of skins, usually prepared with

the hair on. When removed from the animal, the skin was
cleansed of any fleshy matter adhering to it, and then rubbed

with fat till it became soft and pliable. The ordinary cos-

tume of a man was merely a piece of jackal skin suspended

in front,' and a triangular piece of leather behind. In cold

weather he wrapped himself in a kaross or mantle of skins

sewed together with sinews. The women wore at all times

a headdress of fur, an apron, and a wrapper or a girdle of

leather strings suspended from the waist. In cold weather

they added a scanty kaross. Children wore no clothing
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whatever. Bound their legs the females sewed strips of raw
hide, like rings, which, when dry, rattled against each other

and made a noise when they moved. Both sexes ornamented

their heads with copper trinkets, and hung round their necks

and waists strings of shells, leopards' teeth, or any other

glittering objects they could obtain. Ivory armlets were

worn by the men. From earliest infancy their bodies were

smeared with fat and rubbed over with clay or soot, and to

this may partly be attributed the stench of their persons.

The coat of fat and clay was not intended for ornament
alone. It protected them from the weather and from the

vermin that infested their huts and clothing.

Their dwellings were oval or circular frames of light

undressed wood, sometimes covered with skins, but usually

with mats made of rushes. They w6re not more than five

feet in height, and had but one small opening through which

the inmates crawled. In cold weather a fire was made in a
cavity in the centre. The huts of a village were arranged

in the form of a circle, the space enclosed being used as a

fold for cattle. They could be taken to pieces, placed

on pack oxen, removed to a distance, and set up again, with

very little labour and no waste.

The weapons used by the Hottentots in war and the chase

were bows and arrows, sticks with clubbed heads, and
assagais. They usually covered the head of the arrow with

poison, so that a wound from one, however slight, was mortal.

The assagai could be hurled with precision to a distance

of thirty yards. The knobkerie or clubbed stick was almost

as formidable a weapon. It was rather stouter than an

ordinary walking cane, and had a round head two or three

inches in diameter. Boys were trained to throw this with so

accurate an aim as to hit a bird on the wing at twenty or

thirty yards distance. It was projected in such a manner
as to bring the heavy knob into contact with the object

aimed at, and antelopes as large as goats were killed with it.

The bow was a weapon of little force, and the arrows would

have been harmless to large game if they had not been

poisoned.
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The Hottentots were acquainted with the art of smelting

iron, but were too indolent to make much use of it. Only a

few assagai and arrow heads were made of that metal. Horn
was ready at hand, was easily worked, and was commonly
used to point weapons. Masses of almost solid copper were

obtained in Namaqualand, and this metal was spread over

the neighbouring country by means of barter, but was never

used for any other purpose than that of making ornaments

for the person.

They could also manufacture earthenware pots for cooking

utensils. Milk was kept in skin bags or in large bowls made
by hollowing out a block of wood. Ostrich egg shells and

ox horns were used for carrying water and other domestic

purposes.

Each kraal or village was under the government of a

chief, whose authority, however, was very limited, as his

subjects were impatient of control. The succession was
usually from father to son, bvt sometimes to brother or

nephew.

The Hottentots were a superstitious people, who placed

great faith in the efficacy of charms to ward off evil. They
believed that certain occurrences foreboded good or ill luck,

that a mantis alighting on a hut brought prosperity with it,

and many other absurdities of a like nature. They were in

dread of ghosts and evil spirits. They invoked blessings

from the moon, to whose praise they sang and danced when
it appeared as new. They also invoked blessings from dead

ancestors, to whose shades sacrifices were offered by priests

on important occasions, and they implored protection and

favour from a mythical hero named Heitsi-eibib, whose wor-

ship consisted in throwing a bit of wood or an additional

stone upon a cairn. Cairns of great size raised in this

manner are to be found at the present day far within the

territory occupied by Bantu tribes, showing, like many other

indications, that the Hottentots in times long gone by
occupied a much larger area than when Europeans became

acquainted with them. They made offerings also to a power-

ful evil spirit, with a view of averting his wrath. Their
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system of relij^ion could not be explained by themselves,

what they understood being little more than that the cus-

toms connected with it nad come down to them from their

ancestors. They had not the faintest expectation of their

own resurrection, or conception of a heaven and a hell.

A more improvident, unstable, thoughtless people never

existed. So long as they had food they were without care

or grief. They delighted in dancing, and many early tra-

vellers speak with astonishment and admiration of the music

which they were able to produce from reeds. Active in this

amusement and in hunting, in all other respects they were

extremely indolent. Their filthiness was disgusting to

Europeans. They were in the habit of abandoning aged

and helpless persons as well as sickly and deformed children,

and allowing them to perish of hunger. But they regarded

this as mercy, not as cruelty. Better that a helpless wretch

or a cripple should give up life at once than linger on in

misery. For the same reason, when a woman giving suck

died, the child was buried with its parent.

It was customary with some, perhaps with all, to take

wives not from their own but from some other clan. Cattle

were given by the bridegroom to the nearest relatives of the

bride. A system almost as bad as that of free love pre-

vailed, for the marriage tie on both sides was very lightly

regarded.

The women were more nearly the equals of the men than

among most barbarians. They were mistresses within the

huts. The stores of milk were under their control, not

under that of their husbands, as is the case with the Bantu
tribes. The men tended the cattle, but their daughters

milked the cows. The females exercised much greater free-

dom of speech in domestic disputes than is usually tolerated

by savages.

The Hottentots termed themselves Ehoikhoi, men of

men, as they flattered themselves that they were models for

the rest of mankind. Their language was divided into

many dialects, but these did not vary greatly,—not more
than some dialects of English. When this language was
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thoroughly examined by competent persons, it was found to

be of a high order, notwithstanding its numerous clicks. Its

roots are monosyllabic, and end in vowels. It is inticcted by

means of nfHxes only, which places it in contrast with the

Bantu languages, as hese are i/iflected chiefly by preflxes.

It has three numbers, singular, dual, and plural. Its system

of counting is decimal, and is perfect at least (ip to a hun-

dred. From common nouns, abstract nouns and adjectives

are formed by regular rules, and in other respects the lan-

guage is so flexible that there is no lack of means of ex-

pressing ideas in it.

The people who termed themselves Khoikhoi, and who
were termed Hottentots by Europeans, called the pigmy
hunters who lived on the same soil and looked so much like

themselves Sana. The early Dutch residents in South

Africa gave them the title of Bushmen. Their language

has not been examined as carefully as that of the Hotten-

tots, except by the late Dr. Bleek and by Miss L. Lloyd,

whose researches have not yet been published. It is known,

however, to be divided into a great number of dialects, some
of which vary as widely as English from German. Many of

its apparent roots are polysyllabic, but there is a doubt

whether some of the supposed roots are not really compo-

sites. It is irregular in its formation. Only one instance

of a dual form has been discovered, that of the first personal

pronoun. The plural of nouns is often formed by reduplica-

tion. Sometimes a plural idea is expressed by a word which

has nothing in common with the one which expresses the

singular. In none of the dialects has any word for a

numeral higher than three been discovered.

When the white man came to South Africa he found the

Bushmen inhabiting the mountains and deserts, and carry-

ing on incessant war with the Hottentot and Bantu tribes.

A cave with its opening protected by a few branches of trees,

or the centre of a small circle of bushes round which skins

of wild animals were stretched, was the best dwelling that

they aspired to possess. Failing either of these, they scooped

a hole in the ground, placed a few sticks or stones round it,
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and spread a skin above to serve as a roof. A little gras9

at the bottom of the hole formed p bed, and though it was

not much larger than the nest of an ostrich, a whole family

could manage to lie down in it.

Their ordinary food consisted of roots, berries, wild

plants, locusts, white ants, reptiles, birds, and mammalia of

all kinds. No chance of plundering the pastoral tribes of

domestic cattle was allowed to escape them. They were

capable of remaining a long time without food, and could

then gorge immense quantities of meat without any ill

effects. They were careless of the future, and were happy
u the wants of the moment were supplied. Thus, when a

large animal was killed, no trouble was taken to preserve a

portion of its flesh, but the time was spent in alternate

gorging and sleeping until not a particle of carrion was left.

When a drove of domestic cattle was stolen, several were

slaughtered at once and their carcases shared with birds

of prey, while if their recapture was considered possible, every

animal was killed. Such wanton destruction caused them
to be detested by all other dwellers in the land.

Their weapons were bows and arrows. The bows were

nothing more than pieces of saplings or branches of trees

about four feet in length, dressed down a little, and strung

with a cord formed by twisting together the sinews of

animals. The arrows were from twenty to thirty inches in

length, made of reed pointed generally with bone. The
arrowhead and the lashing by which it was secured to the

reed were coated with a deadly poison, so that the slightest

wound caused death. The arrows were carried in a quiver

made of the bark of a species of euphorbia, which is still

called by Europeans in South Africa the kokerboom or

quiver tree. They were formidable solely on account of the

poison, as th^j could not be projected with accuracy to any

great distance, and had but little force. In after years the

colonists considered their clothing ample protection at fifty

yards distance. The Bushmen made pits for entrapping

game, and also poisoned pools of water, so that any animal

that drank perished.
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They used stone flakes for various purpoies, but took
no trouble to polish them or give them a neat appearance.

Their knives, scrapers, awls for piercing skins, and arrow-

heads were commonly made of horn or bone. There wai a
stone implement, however, which was in general uie. It

was a little spherical boulder, from three to six inches in

diameter, such as may be picked up in abundance all over

the country, through the centre of which the Bushman
drilled a hole large enough to receive a digging stick, to

which it gave weight. With the tools at his disposal, this

must have required much time and patience, so that in his

eyes a stone when drilled undoubtedly had a very high value.

On it he depended for food in seasons of intense drought,

when all the game had fled from his part of the country.

Drilled stones from an inch to three inches in diameter have
been found in considerable numbers in tracts of country once

inhabited by Bushmen, but from which those savages have

long since disappeared. None so small as these have been

noticed in use in recent times. It is conjectured that they

were probably intended as toys for children.

The Bushmen wore few ornaments. Their clothing was
similar to that of the Hottentots. They rubbed their bodies

with fat and clay or ashes, which made them even more
hideous in appearance than they were by nature. When
they expected to meet an enemy, they fastened their arrows

in an erect position round their heads, so as to appear as

formidable as possible. In times of scarcity they wore a

belt, which they tightened to assuage the pangs of hunger.

They lived in small societies, often consisting of only a

couple of families. They were vindictive, passionate, and
cruel in the extreme. Human life, even that of their

nearest kindred, was sacrificed on the slightest provocation.

They did not understand what quarter in battle meant, and
when surrounded so that all hope of escape was gone, they

fought till their last man fell. They never spared an enemy
who was in their power. Their manner of living was such

as to develop only qualities essential to hunters. In keen-

ness of vision and fleetness of foot they far surpassed

II.
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Europeans; they could travel immense distances without

taking rest, and yet their frames were so feeble as to be

incapable of labour.

They possessed an intense love of liberty and of their

wild wandering way of life. To this day, though strenuous

and long-continued efforts have been made by various mis-

sionary societies for their reclamation, there is not a single

instance of a Bushman of pure blood having permanently

adopted the habits of European civilisation. Hereditary

chieftainship was not recognised by them. It sometimes

happened that the bravest or most expert of a party became

a leader in predatory excursions, but his authority did not

extend to the exercise of judicial control. Each man was
independent of every other. Even parental authority was

commonly disregarded by a youth as soon as he could pro-

vide for his own wants.

They were firm believers in charms and witchcraft. In

some localities they have been found performing ceremonies

and making offerings to propitiate an evil spirit, but it is

doubtful whether this belief was general. Dr. Bleek and

Miss Lloyd obtained from several individuals prayers to the

moon and to stars. But all their religious ideas were vague

and childish. They could not explain them any more than

they could explain the structure of their language. And
Europeans have not yet placed on record a sujficient number
of reliable observations upon either the one or the other to

make any deductions from them authoritative and final.

It is difficult to conceive of human beings in a more de-

graded condition than that of the Bushmen. The rearing

of cattle placed the Hottentot on a much higher level, low

as that level seems to Europeans. Yet in one respect the

Bushman was in advance of the other. He was an artist.

On the walls of caves and the sheltered sides of great rocks

he drew rude pictures in profile of the animals with which

he was acquainted. The tints were made with different

kinds of ochre having considerable capability of withstanding

the decay of time. There are caves on the margins of rivers

in Kaffraria containing paintings which have been exposed
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to the action of water during occasional floods for at least a
hundred years, and the colours are yet unfaded where the

rock has not crumbled away.
In point of artistic merit, however, the paintings are not

superior to the drawings on slates of European children

eight or nine years of age. No knowledge of perspective or

of shading is displayed. Two colours are sometimes used,

as, for instance, the head or legs of an animal may be white,

and the remainder of the body brown. But each colour is

evenly laid on as far as it goes. In short, the paintings

might be mistaken by strangers for the work of children,

but for the impressions of the hands often accompanying

them, and the scenes being chiefly those of the chase.

The Bantu have no word to signify the whole of their

race, ntv, in their language meaning a human being or

person of any colour or country ; but ethnologists felt the

want of a name to distinguish the group to which they be-

long from the rest of mankind, and chose this as a convenient

one. The Bantu occupy the larger portion of the African

continent, and though some of the tribes are more degraded

than others, everywhere their principal characteristics are

the same.

The black man who occupies the land along the coast

north of the Great Fish river is in general large without

being corpulent, strong, muscular, erect in bearing, and with

all his limbs in perfect symmetry. His skull is shaped like

that of a European, but the bone is thicker. His intellec-

tual abilities are considerable, his reasoning powers when
defending himself in a controversy being equal to those of

an ordinary white man. He is haughty in demeanour, and

possesses a large amount of vanity. The men are hand-

somer than the women, owing to the girls being stunted in

grovyth and hardened in limb by carrying burdens on their

heads and toiling in the gardens at an early age.

In 1771 the tribes that inhabited the lower plateaux of

the belt of country between the Kathlamba mountains and
the sea were, first or adjoining the colony the Kosas, next

the Tembus, following them the Pondos, the Pondomisis,

o 2
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and the Kesibes. Further northward it is unnecessary to-

proceed in this chapter. Each of these was independent of

all the others, and wars between them were not uncommon.

The Kosae,—Amaxosa they style themselves,—having a

click in their tribal name which is unpronounceable by

European tongue, have been usually called Kaffirs by the

colonists. But they find as much difficulty in repeating this

word as white people find in their correct title, for the

English sound of the letter r is wanting in their language.

In the Kosa literature of the present day r is used to signify

the sound which g has in Dutch or ch in the Scotch word

loch. C, q, and x are used to denote the clicks. The other

letters of the English alphabet represent the same sounds

as with us, but there are combinations of consonants which

it is very difficult for strangers of mature years to master.

The clicks are only found in a few dialects of the language

spoken by the Bantu family. They seem to have been de-

rived in the south from Hottentot, and in the north from

Bushman sources, though further investigation is needed as

to those beyond the equator. The group presents this

peculiarity, that some of the dialects on the opposite borders

bear a closer resemblance to each other than to those be-

tween them. The tribes seem to have been scattered and

mixed together again by violent convulsions in some long-

forgotten time.

However that may be, it is certain that at least a large

proportion of the clicks in the dialect of the Kosa and ad-

joining tribes came from Hottentot sources. They were

introduced by females who were spared when the hordes to

which they belonged were conquered, as is evident not only

from tradition, but from the words in which they occur being

chiefly those pertaining to occupations of women. A few

names of places east of the Kei are Hottentot words slightly

changed. The Kosa names of rivers and mountains west of

the Kei are all Hottentot words, and contain clicks, but this

circumstance arises from recent events. Many of the people

of this tribe show traces of Hottentot blood in their features

and in- the lightness of their colour. They are also more
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volatile in disposition than their neighbours higher up the

€0a8t.

The Kosa and Tembu, like most other Bantu tribes, are

composed of a number of clans, each under its own chief,

but all acknowledging the supreme authority of one par-

ticular individual. In the case of the Kosas, the chiefs of

all the clans, with a solitary exception, are members of the

same family, of which the paramount ruler is the head.

Some of them are cousins seven or eight degrees removed

from others, but all, with the exception referred to, trace

their descent from a great-grandson of Kosa. It is different

with the Tembus, many of whose clans are remnants of

tribes which were broken up by wa' ' in bygone times, and

which kept their own hereditary chiefs when they were in-

corporated as vassals. The cohesion of the members is much
weaker than with the Kosas.

In times of peace the government of the supreme chief

is in ordinary matters hardly felt beyond his own village.

Each clan possesses all the machinery of administration, and

in general it is only in cases of appeal or serious quarrels

that the tribal head uses his authoiity. In war he issues

commands to all, and on important occasions he summons
the minor chiefs to aid him with advice. The members of

the ruling family, even to the most distant branches, are of

aristocratic rank, and enjoy many privileges. Their persons

are inviolable, and an indignity offered to one of them is

considered a crime of the gravest nature.

With regard to the common people, the theory of the law

is that they are the property of the rulers, consequently an

ofEence against any of their persons is atoned for by a fine

to the chief. Murder and assaults are punished in this

manner. Thus in theory the government is despotic, but in

practice it has many checks. The first is the existence of a

body of councillors about the person of each chief, whose

advice he is compelled to listen to. A second is a custom

that fugitives must be protected by strangers with whom
they take refuge, so that an arbitrary or unpopular ruler is

in constant danger of losing his followers.
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The law of succession to the chieftainship favours th©

formation of new tribes. The first wives of a chief are

usually the daughters of some of his father's principal re-

tainers ; but as he grows older and increases in power his

alliance is courted by great families, and thus it generally

happens that his consort of highest rank is taken when he

is of advanced age. Usually she is the daughter of a neigh-

bouring ruler and is selected for him by the great council of

the tribe, who provide the cattle required by her relatives.

She is termed the great wife, and her eldest son is the prin-

cipal heir. Another of his wives is invested at an earlier

period of his life, by the advice of his councillors and friends,

with the title of wife of the right hand, and to her eldest

son some of his father's retainers are given, with whom he

forms a new clan. The government of this is intrusted to

him as soon as he is full grown, so that while his brother is

still a child he has opportunities of increasing his power. If

he is the abler ruler of the two, a quarrel between them
arises almost to a certainty as soon as the great heir reaches

manhood and is also invested with a separate command.

Should peace be maintained, upon the death of his father

the son of the right hand acknowledges his brother as

superior in rank, but neither pays him tribute nor admits

his right to interfere in the internal government of the new
clan.

Since Europectns became acquainted with the coast tribes,

the Kosas in this way separated into two branches, which,

but for outside pressure, would certainly before this date

have become quite independent of each other ; the Pondo-

misis broke into two sections, thereafter almost constantly

at war until both came under the colonial government ; and

in our own days the Pondos have become two practically

independent tribes. The Tembu tribe was divided 'br a

time in another way. A hostile invading force, acting like

a wedge, broke off a large section, which but for the action

of the colonial government would have become indeper wiit.

There is always a tendency towards division and subdi-

viflion of the tribes into little clans. In some of them two,.
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in others three, sons of every chief divide their father's ad-

herents among them. In the latter case the third heir is

termed the representative of the ancients, or the son of the

left hand. In olden times this disintegrating process was to

some extent checked by constant fends and wars, but since

the tribes have been compelled to live in comparative peace

it has been in active operation. Every little Kosa kraal at

the present day is practically a separate clan.

The Bantu have a system of common law and perfectly

organised tribunals of justice. Their laws have come down
to them from a time to which even tradition does not reach,

and those which relate to ordinary matters are so well known
to every member of the community that trials are mere
investigations into statements and proofs of occurrences.

When complicated cases arise, precedents are sought for, an-

tiquaries are referred to, and celebrated jurists even in other

tribes are consulted. Should all these means of ascertaining

the law fail, and the chief before whom the case is being

tried not be a man of generally recognised ability, it often

happens that no judgment is given, for fear of establishing

a faulty precedent. Trom the decisions of the minor chiefs

there is a right of appeal to the head of the tribe.

A lawsuit among these people is commonly attended by all

the men of the kraal where it takes place. Nothing is more

congenial than to sit and listen to the efiPorts of the querists

to elicit the truth, or for the ablest among them to assist in

the investigation. The trial takes place in the open air.

The person charged with crime or the defendant in a civil

case undergoes a rigorous examination, and must give a sa-

tisfactory account of himself or be condemned. The senti-

ment of considering a man innocent until he is proved guilty

has little sympathy from them, and the English practice of

warning an individual on trial against criminating himself

is held to be perversion of justice.

The accuser or plaintiff or a friend prosecutes, and a

friend of the individual on trial conducts the defence ; the

councillors, who act as assessors, put any questions they

choose ; and the mass of spectators observe the utmost silence
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and decorum. At the conclusion of the trial, the councillors

express their opinions, and the chief then pronounces judg-

ment.

There are only two modes of punishment, fines and death,

except in cases where an individual is charged with having

dealt in witchcraft, when torture, often of a horrible kind, is

practised. In this class of trials every one is actuated by

fear, and is in a state of strong excitement, so that the for-

malities required on other occasions are dispensed with. The
whole clan is assembled and seated in a circle ; the witch-

finder, who is fantastically painted and attired, goes through

certain incantations ; and when all are worked into a state of

frenzy he points to some individual as the one who has by

bewitchment caused death or sickness among the people,

murrain among cattle, blight in crops, or some other disaster.

The result to the person so pointed out is confiscation of

property and torture, often causing death.

The Bantu are seen in the most favourable light at the

ordinary lawsuits before the chief and councillors, and in

the most unfavourable light at the trials for the discovery

of wizards and witches. In the one case men are found

conducting themselves with the strictest gravity and pro-

priety, astonishing even highly educated Europeans by the

acuteness of their reasoning and the skilful method of their

inquiries. In the other case the same people are seen as

a panic-stricken horde, deaf to all reason, and ready to

perform the most atrocious acts of cruelty, even upon persons

who just previously were their companions.

The sentences pronounced in ordinary cases often seem

to Europeans unjust, but that is because our standard of

comparative crime is not the same as theirs, and because

with us there is no difference of punishment according to the

rank of the criminal. With them the ruling family in all

its branches has the privilege of doing many things with

impunity that a commoner would be severely punished for.

Bribery is not unknown, but in courts as open as those of

the Southern Bantu, and where there is the utmost freedom

of inquiry, it cannot be practised to any great extent.
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When a case is talked out, everyone present is usually

acquainted with its minutest details.

The religion of the Bantu is based upon the supposition

of the existence of spirits that can interfere with the affairs

of this world. These spirits are those of their ancestors and

their deceased chiefs, the greatest of whom has control over

lightning. When the spirits become hungry they send a

plague or disaster until sacrifices are offered and their hunger

is appeased. When a person is killed by lightning no

lamentation is made, as it would be considered rebellion to

mourn for one whom the great chief has sent for. They
have no idea of reward or punishment in a world to come
for acts committed in this life, and each one denies his own
immortality.

In olden times, when common people died, their corpses

were dragged a short distance from the kraal, and there

left to be devoured by beasts of prey ; but chiefs and great

men were interred with much ceremony. A grave was dug,

in which the body was placed in a sitting posture, and by it

were deposited the weapons of war and ornaments used in

life. When the grave was closed, such expressions as these

were used :
' Remember us from the place where you are

;

you have gone to high places ; cause us to prosper.'

The Kosas have a dim belief in the existence of a power-

ful Being, whom they term Qamata, and to whom they

sometimes pray, though they never offer sacrifices to him.

In a time of great danger, one of them will exclaim, *

Qamata, help me,' and when the danger is over, he will

attribute his deliverance to the same Being. But of Qamata
nothing more is known than that he is high and mighty,

and that though at times he helps individuals, in general he

does not interfere with the destinies of men. They are not

given to inquiry or speculations upon matters of this kind.

Recent investigations have shown that the belief in Qamata
does not extend far among the Bantu tribes, and it is now
supposed to have been acquired from the Hottentots. Not
that the Hottentots venerated a deity under that name, but

that a knowledge of some other object of worship than their
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own ancestral shades having been obtained through the

Hottentot females whom they took to themselves, this name
was given to the unknown divinity.

Nearer than the spirits of deceased chiefs or of their own
ancestors is a whole host of hobgoblins, water sprites, and

malevolent demons, who meet the Bantu turn which way
they will. There is no beautiful fairyland for them, for all

these beings who haunt the mountains, the plains, and the

rivers are ministers of evil.

No days or seasons are considered more sacred than

others. The rites of religion consist merely in sacrifices to

appease the spirits. When an individual is ill or some
domestic calamity occurs, the head of the family sacrifices

an animal. The flesh is eaten, it being supposed that tho

spirit who is hungry will be satisfied with the smoke, la

cases of tribal disaster, or when a member of the great

chief's family is ill, animals are sacrificed with much cere-

mony by the tribal priest. This man possesses enormous

influence throughout all the branches of the tribe that are

not of alien origin. In addition to his duties as a priest,

he prepares the army for the field, by administering medicines

and supplying charms to make the warriors 'irnve and all

who do their duty invulnerable. Each ruling family has its

own priest. When a community is broken in war and com-

pelled to become a vassal clan of some other tribe, it retains

its priest until by time or circumstances a thorough incor-

poration takes place. This is a process, however, that is not

usually completed until several generations have passed

away.

This religion is the principal counteracting force against

the tendency of the Bantu tribes to break into fragments.

The fear of offending the spirits of the deceased chiefs, and

so bringing evil upon themselves, keeps the clans loyal to

their head. He is the representative, the descendant in the

great line, of those whose wrath they appease by sacrifices.

A tribe all of whose clans are governed by off'shoots of the

family of the paramount chief is thus immensely stronger in

war than one of equal size made up of clans thrown together
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by chance. In the one case the religious head is the same
as the political, in the other they are separated. The Eosas
are more powerful than the Tembus for this reason. With
one exception, the chiefs of every clan in the Kosa tribe

trace their descent from Tshawe, Kosa's great-grandson-

In the Tembu tribe, a large proportion of the clans are

aliens, under chiefs not related to the paramount family.

The belief in witchcraft is deep-seated and universal.

The theory is that certain evil-disposed persons obtain power

from the demons to bewitch others, and cause sickness, death,

or disaster of some kind. They can only be discovered by
individuals who go through a very severe novitiate, and to

v\rhom the necessary knowledge is imparted by people who
live under water. The witchfinders are commonly regarded

by Europeans as impostors ; but they are really monomaniacs,

and have the firmest conviction in their own ability to do

what they profess.

Occasionally a person believes that he has received revela-

tions from the spirit world. If his statements are credited,

his power at once becomes equal to that of the highest chief,

and his commands are implicitly obeyed. Crafty chiefs

have sometimes made use of such deranged beings for the

purpose of exciting the people to war, or of inducing them

to approve of measures which would otherwise have been

unpopular.

There are individuals who profess to be able to make
rain. There are also persons who are skilful in the use of

herbs as remedies for diseases, and who are well acquainted

with different kinds of poison. It often happens that the

three offices of witchfinder, rainmaker, and herbalist are

combined in the same person, but this is not always the

case, and the occupations are distinct. When practising,

these individuals attire themselves fantastically, being

painted with various colours, and having the tails of wild

animals suspended around them.

Charms are largely depended upon to preserve the wearers

against accident or to produce good luck. They are merely

bits of wood or bone, which are hung about the neck, and
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are regarded just as lucky pennies and fortunate days are by

some silly Europeans. But the belief is firm in charms and
medicines which give to a gun the property of shooting

straight, to an individual the property of winning favour,

and such like. Some events, which to us appear natural,

are regarded by them very diflferently. A party of Kosas,

for instance, when travelling come to the banks of a river.

Each one picks up a stone and throws it upon a heap to

propitiate the spirit of the stream. In crossing, one of them
gets into deep water and is in danger of being drowned.

The others make no eflFort whatever to save him, but rush away
frantically in search of cattle, which they drive hastily into

the river, hoping that the spirit will be satisfied with an ox

and release their comrade. Cases precisely similar to this

still occur frequently, even among those who have been in

contact with civilisation for many years.

The Bantu know of no other periods in reckoning time

than the day and the lunar month, and can describe events

only as happening before or after some remarkable occur-

rence, such as the death of a chief, a season of famine, or an
unusually heavy flood. The rising of particular constella-

tions just after sunset is regarded as indicating the approach

of the planting season. To these constellations, as well as

to several of the prominent stars and planets, they have

given expressive names. They have formed no theories con-

cerning the nature of the heavenly bodies and their motions,

and are not given to thinking of such things. If questioned

by a European, they may venture to remark that the sky is

smoke which has risen from fires, but in such cases it is

evident that the effort to find a solution to a query of this

kind is new to them.

Their folklore, of which sufficient to fill many volumes

can be collected in every kraal, is neither of a moral

character, nor does it convey any useful lessons. The actors

in it are animals which speak as human beings, persons who
are bewitched and compelled to appear as beasts, individuals

with magical powers, fantastic creatures, imps, cannibals,

young chiefs, girls, &c., &c. The characters in the tales



The Coast Tribes of Bantu 205

told round an evening fire by Kosa women to their children

are identical with those told under similar circumstances on

the shores of Lake Nyassa or on the banks of the Limpopo.

There is nothing that partakes of the nature of true poetry

or that lep Is to elevation of thought in any of these stories.

To Europr.*an minds there is very little that is even amusing

in them, but they give a large amount of pleasure to those

among whom they pass current. Many of the proverbs in

common use, on the contrary, convey excellent lessons of

prudence and wisdom.

When about fifteen or sixteen years of age, Kosa boys are

circumcised. The rite is purely civil. By it a youth is en-

abled to emerge from the society of women and boys, and is

admitted to the privileges of manhood. Its performance is

attended with many ceremonies, some of a harmless, others

to European ideas of a criminal nature. At a certain period

in every year, unless it is a time of calamity or the chief haa

a son not yet ready, all the youtho of a village who are aid

enough are circumcised. Thereafter for a couple of months

or longer they live by themselves, and are distinguish* d by
wearing a peculiar head-dress and a girdle of long grass

about the loins, besides having their bodies covered with

white clay. During this period they have license to steal

freely from their relatives, provided they can do so without

being caught in the act. After returning to their homes
they are brought before the old men of the tribe, who lecture

them upon the duties and responsibilities which they have

taken upon themselves. Presents of cattle and weapons are

afterwards made by their friends to give them a start in

life. A free rein is then given to all kinds of immorality,

without let or hindrance from their elders.

In case a scion of the ruling house is growing up, the

performance of the rite of circumcision is generally allowed

to stand over for a year or two, so that he may have a large

number of companions. These are all supposed to be bound

to him by a very strong tie. In after years they are to be

his councillors and attendants, and in case of danger are to

form his body guard. There is no instance on record of any
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one who was circumcised at the same time as a chief after-

wards proving unfaithful to him, but numerous instances

have come under the notice of Europeans where such persons

have sacriflced their lives for him.

Females who arrive at the age of puberty are introduced

into the state of womanhood by peculiar ceremonies, which

extinguish all virtuous feelings within them. Originally,

however, the very worst of the observances on these occasions

was a test of self-discipline. The object of the education

whioh a people like the Eosas go through is to make a man
entirely master of himself. He must be able to control him-

self so that no trace of his emotions shall appear on his

countenance, he must not wince when undergoing the most

severe punishment. In olden times a further test was applied,

which has degenerated into the most abominable licentious-

ness. It will be suflBcient to say that the young women who
attend the revels on these occasions are allowed to select

temporary companions of the other sex, and if they decline

to do so, the chief distributes them at his pleasure. As
these pages are being prepared, a Kosa chief who is con-

sidered one of the most advanced of his tribe in civilisation

has come into legal collision with the colonial authorities

for distributing, in a district annexed to the colony, a large

number of girls in this manner.

The Bantu of the coast belt are warlike in disposition

and brave in the field, though they have not often ventured

upon a pitched battle with Europeans. In olden times,

their weapons ofoflFence were wooden clubs with heavy heads

and assagais or javelins. The assagai consists of a long,

thin, iron head, with both edges sharp, and is attached by

thongs to a slender shaft or rod. Poising this first in his

uplifted hand and imparting to it a quivering motion, the

warrior hurls it forth with great force and accuracy of aim
;

but, formidable as this weapon is in native encounters, it is

of little effect when opposed to firearms. The club is used

at close .quarters, and can also be thrown to a considerable

distance. Boys are trained from an early age to the use of

l;>oth these weapons. Of late years firearms have come into
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the

general use, but the assagai and clubbed stick havi not yet

been discarded. Before they became acquainted with Euro-
pean weapons, the warriors carried shields made of oxhide,

which varied in size and pattern among the trib@i. These
>are now seldom seen.

The Bantu are polygamists, and women occupy a much
lower position than men in their eociety, A woman id a
drudge, upon whom the cultivation of the ground and other

severe labour falls ; her aflfections are not consulted in the

choice of a husband, but a match is made for her by her
nearest male relatives ; she can inherit nothing \ and ahe is

liable to severe castigation from her husband, without pro-

tection from the law. She can only obtain redresi when she

is permanently maimed. Wealth is estimated by the number
ofwives and cattle a man possesses, and the one \% always made
use of to increase the other. The husband is head or lord

of the establishment, and the wives are required to provide

the food. Each has a hut of her own, which she and her
children occupy, and the husband uses his caprice ai to

which he shall honour with his society at any time.

In conversation a Kosa woman uses for many purposes
different words from those used by everyone around her.

This arises from a custom which prohibits females from pro-

nouncing the names of any of their husband's male relatives

in the ascending line, or any words whatever in which the

principal syllables of such names occur. The violation of

this custom is considered as showing a want of proper

respect for connections by marriage. Women avoid meet-
ing their husband's male relatives in the ascending line,

whenever it is possible to do so, and never git in their

presence.

All the Bantu practise agriculture. A species of millet,

called by the colonists kaffir-com, was the grain exclusively

cultivated by the Kosas before their intercourse with Euro-
peans. They raised large quantities of this, which they used
either boiled or bruised into a paste from which bread was
made. They were acquainted with the art of brewing, and
in good seasons turned much of their millet into beer. A
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supply of grain sufficient to last until the next season wa»
preserved from the attacks of weevil by burying it in air-tight

holes excavated beneath the cattle folds. When kept for a
long time in these granaries^ the grain loses the power of

germinating, and acquires a rank taste and smell. It is,

however, none the less agreeable to the Kosa palate, though

it is offensive to Europeans. The Kosas had also pumpkins,

a species of gourd, a cane containing saccharine matter in

large quantities, and a sort of ground nut. The other

productions of their gardens, as we see them at present,

have been introduced since they became acquainted with

white men.

Of those mentioned their food consisted, with the ad-

dition of milk and occasionally flesh. Milk is kept in skin

bags, where it ferments and acquires a sharp acid taste. As
it is drawn off, new milk is added, for it is only in this state

that it is used. Europeans soon come to be as fond of it

as are the natives themselves, and in warm weather it is

perhaps the most agreeable and healthy beverage that can

be used. The art of making butter and cheese is unknown
to the Kosas. They have two meals every day : a slight

breakfast in the morning, and a substantial repast at sunset.

Boys before being circumcised are permitted to eat any kind

of meat, even that of wild cats and other carnivora, but after

that ceremony is performed the flesh of all unclean animals is

rejected by them. They do not use fish as food.

They have an admirable system of land tenure. The
chief apportions to each head of a family sufficient ground

for a garden according to his needs, and it remains in that

individual's possession as long as it is cultivated. He can

even remove for years, with the consent of the chief, and

resume occupation upon his return. He cannot lend, much
less alienate it. But if he ceases to make use of it, or goes

away for a long time without the chief's permission, he loses

his right. Under the same conditions he has possession of

the ground upon which his hut stands, and of a yard about

it. All other ground is common pasturage, but the chief has

power to set aside portions of it for use in particular seasons
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only. No taxes of any kind are paid to a chief for land, air,

or water.

Villages are usually built in situations commanding an

extensive view of the surrounding country, and always on

ground with good natural drainage. The brow of a hill,

with a clear flowing stream at its base and fertile garden

ground beyond, is the site most favoured.

The huts are shaped like beehives, and are formed of

strong frames, thatched with reeds or grass. They are proof

against rain or wind. The largest are about twenty-five feet

in diameter, and seven or eight feet in height at the centre^

They are entered by a low, narrow aperture, which is the

only opening in the structure. A hard and smooth floor is

made of antheaps, moistened with water and then kneaded

with a round stone. When this has set, it is painted with a

mixture of cowdung and water, which is the material used

ever afterwards for keeping it in good order. In the centre

of the floor a fireplace is made, by raising a band an inch or

two in height and three or four feet in diameter, and slightly

hollowing the enclosed space. Many women bestow a great

deal of attention upon their fire-circles, often enclosing them
with three bands, a large one in the centre and a smaller one

on each side of it, differently coloured, and resembling a

coil of large rope lying between concentric coils of less thick-

ness. Against the wall of the hut are ranged various utensils

in common use, the space around the fire-circle being re-

served for sleeping on. Here in the evening mats are spread,

upon which the inmates lie down to rest, each one's feet

being towards the centre. Above their heads the roof is

glossy with soot, and vermin swarm on every side. It is only

in cold or stormy weather that huts are occupied during the

day, for the people spend the greater portion of their waking

hours in the open air.

Homed cattle constitute their principal wealth, and in

days of old formed a convenient medium of exchange through-

out the country. Great care is taken of them, and much
skill is exhibited in their training. They are taught to obey

signals, as, for instance, to run home upon a certain call or

II. >
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whistle being given. In former times every man of note had

his racing oxen, and prided himself upon their good qualities

as much as an English squire does upon his blood horses.

Until quite recently ox racing was connected with all kinds

of festivities. The care of cattle is considered the most

honourable employment, and falls entirely to the men. They
milk the cows, take charge of the dairy, and will not permit

a woman so much as to touch a milksack.

The descent of property is regulated in the same manner

as the succession to the chieftainship, so that there are

always a great number of poor among them.

Their dress was formerly composed of skins of animals

formed into a square mantle the size of a large blanket,

which they wrapped about their persons. The skin of the

leopard was resen'^ed for chiefs and their principal councillors,

but any other could be used by common people. Within

the last half century woollen and cotton blankets have come
into such general use that a fur robe is now rarely seen.

Married women wear a leather petticoat at all times. In

warm weather men and small children usually go quite

naked. They are fond of decorating their persons with

ornaments, such as necklaces of shells and teeth of animals,

arm rings of copper and ivory, head plumes, &c. They rub

themselves from head to foot with fat and red clay, which

makes them look like polished bronze. Their clothing is

greased and coloured in the same manner.

Their manufactures are not of a very high order. Fore-

most among them must be reckoned metallic wares, which

include implements of war and husbandry and ornaments
,

for the person. In many parts of the country iron ore is

abundant, and this they smelt in a simple manner. Forming

a furnace of clay or a boulder with a hollow surface, out of

which a groove is made to allow the liquid metal to escape,

and into which a hole is pierced for the purpose of intro-

ducing a current of air, they pile up a heap of charcoal and
virgin ore, which they afterwards cover in such a way as to

prevent the escape of heat. The bellows by which air is in-

troduced are made of skins, the mouthpiece being the horn
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•of a large antelope. The molten iron, escaping from the

crude yet effective furnace, runs into clay moulds prepared

to receive it, which are as nearly as possible of the same
magnitude as the implements they wish to make. These

are never of great size, the largest being the picks or heavy

hoes used in gardening.

The smith, using a boulder for an anvil and a hammer
of iron or stone, next proceeds to shape the lump of metal

into an assagai head, an axe, a pick, or whatever is required.

In this laborious operation a vast amount of patience and
perseverance is exercised. The neatly grooved assagai heads

of our own day are made of iron obtained in trade from the

colonists, but their manufacture is still the same as it was
a century ago. Now that all kinds of goods of European

manufacture are to be had in every part of the country,

native smelting furnaces are seldom seen, but thore are a

few rigid conservatives who scorn to depart from the customs

of their ancestors, and who therefore still obtain their iron

in the ancient manner. Before the arrival of Europeans the

Bantu of the coast were also acquainted with copper, which
they wrought into a variety of ornaments for their persons.

In the manufacture of wooden articles, such as spoons,

bowls, fighting sticks, pipes, &c., they are tolerably expert.

Each article is made of a single block of wood, requiring

much time and patience to complete it, and upon it is fre-

quently carved some simple pattern.

Skins for clothing are prepared by rubbing them for a

length of time with grease, by which means they are made
nearly as soft and pliable as cloth.

In their department the women are equally skilful.

Earthenware vessels containing from half a pint to fifty gal-

Ions are constructed by them, some of which are almost as

perfect in form as if they had been turned on a wheel.

Though they are frequently not more than an eighth of an
inch in thickness, they are so finely tempered that the most
intense heat does not damage them. These vessels are used

for beer pots, grain jars, and cooking utensils. The manu-
facture of earthenware vessels, however, bids fair to be lost

F 2
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at no distant date. Already wooden casks have taken the^

place of the larger ones, as it has been found by experience

that less labour is required to furnish the means of pur-

chasing a cask than is needed to make a jar, and the one

answers all the purposes of the other. Iron pots, too, are

everywhere superseding the native cooking utensils.

Baskets for holding grain, rush mats, and grass bags are

made by the women. The last are so carefully and strongly

woven that they are used to hold water or any other liquid.

When not engaged in the trifling industries that have

been i.aentioned, the men are habitual idlers. A great por-

tion of their time is spent in visiting and gossip, of which

they are exceedingly fond. They spend days together

engaged in small talk, and are perfect masters of that kind

of argument which consists in parrying a question by means
of putting another. They pay very little regard to truth,

and, though not pilferers, are invoterate cattle thieves.

According to their ideas, cattle steali g is not a crime: it is

a civil offence, and a thief when detected is compelled to

make ample restitution ; but no disgrace is attached to it,

and they have no religious scruples concerning it.

Before the arrival of Europeans, the Southern Bantu
bad no knowledge of letters or of any signs by which ideaa

could be expressed. Their history is thus traditional, and
can only be considered trustworthy for five or six generations.

There are old men in every tribe who profess to be ac-

quainted with the deeds of the past, but their accounts of

events more than a century distant from their own birth

seldom correspond in details. The genealogy of the great

chiefs is preserved in all the tribes for twelve or fourteen

generations.

The Kosa antiquaries give the line of descent of their

great chiefs as follows : (1) Kosa (correct Kaffir spelling

Xosa), (2) Malangana, (3) Nkoziyamtu, (4) Tshawe, (5)

Ncwangu, (6) Sikomo, (7) Togu, (8) Gonde (correct Kaffir

spelling Gconde), (9) Tshiwo, (10) Palo, (11) Galeka (correct

Kaffir spelling Gcaleka), (12) Kawuta, (13) Hintsa, (14)

Sarili, called by Europeans Kreli, the present chief.
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Before the time of Nkoziyamtu there was a law that a

<;hief might have as many wives as he chose, but only one

son must be allowed to live. All the others were destroyed

in infancy. Nkoziyamtu introduced the custom of the right

hand wife, and thus preserved two sons alive. These were

Cira, great son, and Jwara, right hand son.

A third, who was destined to surpass both his brothers

in barbarian fame, was preserved by the flight of his mother

to her father's people, the Abambo. Among them the boy,

Tshawe by name, grew up, and proved himself so valiant that

a large number of young men were given to him as followers

by the chief, for he was known to be the son of Nkoziyamtu.

At length he became desirous of visiting his father and show-

ing him his greatness, so at the head of his followers and
with immense herds of cattle he journeyed southward from

Embo. On the way he was joined by many people whose
only weapons were clubs and stones, and who were glad of

the opportunity of ranging themselves under such a famous

leader.

Upon arriving in the country of his father, he found that

Nkoziyamtu was dead. His two brothers assembled their

followers to oppose him, and a great battle took place, in which

they we^Q completely defeated, owing to Tshawe's original

retainers being armed with assagais, weapons unknowr.

before to the Amakosa. This battle established Tshawf i

supremacy in the land, and he was joined thereafter by

nearly all his father's people, though he still acknowledged

the superiority in rank of Cira. As for Jwara, after the

battle he wandered away with a few followers to the north,

and died there.

This legend shows that very remote events may easily

become grouped round a comparatively modern hero. The
assagai was to a certainty in use by all the Bantu long

before the time of Tshawe. In the Kosa folklore there are

tales of people using stone weapons, which must have had
their origin ages ago, for there cannot be a shadow of

-doubt that iron was known to the Southern Bantu before

they broke up into the existing sections. But being aware
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that there was a time when their ancestors were unacquainted

with that metal, and Tshawe being their great hero, they

attributed its introduction to him. The Kosas are not alone

in this respect, for there are other tribes in South Africa who
have traditions in which the use of iron was made known to

them by their most famous chief.

There is some corroborative evidence of the battle in

which Tshawe was victorious, in traditions among the tribes

north of the mountains of the defeat of Jwara and his subse-

quent wanderings. The traditions are dim and devoid of

particulars, but the name of the chief has been preserved^

together with the fact of his having been driven by war from
his own country to die in exile.

Tshawe is the hero of many legends, and stands promi-

nently out among the great ones of the misty past. The
two chiefs before him are often omitted in the line of descent,,

and he is then termed the great one of Eosa's sons. He
deserves, indeed, to be considered the real founder ofthe tribe,,

for in him the direct line of the great chiefs was lost. To
this day all his descendants are of aristocratic rank in the-

Kosa tribe.

To Tshawe succeeded his son Ncwangu, and to him agaiu'

Sikomo, of neither of whom is much known. The great,

son of Sikomo was Togu, during whose government accord-

ing to tradition the tribe moved westward as far as the Kei>

Here there is an opportunity of comparing tradition with,

contemporaneous records. Togu was the great chief of the

Kosa tribe when the wrecked sailors of the Stavenisae were

in his country, and they found an offshoot as far west as the

mouth of the Buffalo. But that offshoot cannot have been

a clan of any importance, for the closest inquiry made by

and for the writer of this history from the recognised anti-

quaries of the tribe has failed to recover any trace of it or of

a chief of the name given by the wrecked sailors. It may
have been merely a small section of a clan driven out for a.

time by some petty feud.

The great son of Togu was Gonde, who died young, and
left Tshiwo, great son, Umdange, right hand son, and Tinde^
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left hand son. The mother of Tinde was of Hottentot

blood.

During the government of Tshiwo an event took place

by which an individual who did not belong to the family of

hereditary chiefs was raised to the rank of head of a clan.

Among the Southern Bantu it often happens that an in-

dividual of considerable wealth is accused by a witchfinder

of having caused some calamity. In the phraseology of the

country such a person is * smelt out.' He is allowed no
opportunity to defend himself, but is kept quite unconscious

of there being a charge against him. A party of execu-

tioners is sent, who fall upon the person accused, usually

during the night, and kill him and his family. His cattle are

taken to the chief, who reserves the greater number for him-
self, but allows the witchfinder and the executioners a share.

In Tshiwo*s time a succession of disasters was followed

by an unusually large number of people being smelt out.

The principal attendant of the chief, who was generally

entrusted with the duty of carrying out decisions in these

cases, was a man named Kwane. Instead of literally obey-

ing orders, Kwane was in the habit of allowing many of

those to escape whom he was sent to destroy, and contenting

himself with seizing their cattle. The fugitives took refuge

with the Gonaqua tribe of Hottentots, by whom they were
kindly received as being outcasts from their own people.

On one occasion towards the close of his life, when Tshiwo
was sore pressed and greatly in need of reinforcements,

Kwane boldly presented himself at the head of a strong

band of those whom he had saved, and tendered their

services. Tshiwo was so delighted at receiving aid thus

opportunely that he appointed Kwane to be chief with here-

ditary rights over the former fugitives. By this time these

were, so mixed in interests and family connections with the

Gonaquas that separation was impracticable. The whole
horde thereupon received Kwane as its chief, and was thence-

forth regarded as a Kosa clan. In the time of Cungwa,
third in descent from Kwane, we shall find it a formidable

enemy of the colony. It had then entirely adopted the Kosa



2l6 History of South Africa

language and customs, and termed itself the Gunukwebe
(correct Kaffir : Amagqunukwebe).

Tshiwo's great son Palo was not bom until after his

father's death. Gwali, Tshiwo's right hand son, was then in

the prime of life, and being ambitious he attempted to make
away with his brother. A portion of the tribe, however,

rallied round the guardians of the infant chief, and Gwali

was compelled to ilee. With his own adherents and the

Tinde clan he crossed the Kei and took refuge with a Hot-

tentot chief named Hintsati, who resided near the site of

the present village of Somerset East. Tradition points these

out as the first compact bodies of Bantu to cross the Kei.

The date was the year 1702. They were the people en-

countered by the European marauding party mentioned in

chapter seventeen.

Gwali was received in a friendly manner by Hintsati, to

whom he gave one of his sisters in marriage. After a long

time an army was organised to follow him up. Hintsati's

kraal was surrounded in the night, the chief was killed with

many of his people, and his cattle were taken. The army
at once commenced its return march, but was followed

closely by the Hottentots. At the Koonap river it was
overtaken, and an indecisive battle was fought. Further on,

at the broad ford of the Keiskama, another engagement took

place, and yet another on the Debe flats, where the Hotten-

tots recovered many of their cattle.

About this time the clans terming themselves the Imi-

Cange and the Kosini (correct Kaffir : Amangqosini) crossed

the Kei, and they have remained west of that river ever since.

The left hand son of Tshiwo was named Tiso. He died

without issue, when Palo placed his son Langa at the head

of the clan. This petty chief and his people crossed the Kei

some time before the year 1740, and never returned. There

had thus been for a considerable time a tendency on the

part of the Kosa tribe to throw its offshoots over the Kei.

These appear to have avoided a conflict with the Hottentots,

who still occupied the greater portion of country on the

right bank of that river, and even had outposts as far east*
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ward as the Tsomo. There are no traditions of wars between

them, but Kosa antiquaries cannot explain why they did not

iight. It may have been that the migratory clans were re-

garded by the Hottentots as refugees, as was the case with

the individuals who took shelter with the Gonaquas.

The great son of Palo was named Galeka. The right

hand son, Barabe, was a man of mature years when the

great son attained his majority, and was in intellectual

power the higher of the two. War between the brothers

followed, and was waged with great bitterness. When the

strife commenced, the principal sections of the tribe were

beyond the Kei, and they alone took part in it. Numbers
were on the side of Galeka, but skill on that of Earabe. It

was a natural consequence of a civil war of this kind that

the weaker of the two combatants should endeavour to

remove from the neighbourhood of the other. To the west-

ward stretched a tract of country of unknown extent, in-

habited by hereditary foes. In that direction Earabe cast

his eyes.

Yith a great body of followers, he reached the Kei, at

the place now known as the lower drift, and found there a

Hottentot army ready to dispute his passage. If half of

what Kosa antiqua .les relate of the action that followed be

true, the Hottentots fought bravely and well. Each side

pressed its foremost men against the enemy and compelled

them thus to battle to the death. They met in the stream,

which was soon so choked with corpses that its water was

red with blood. At last, by sheer force of pressure, the

Hottentots were driven back, and Earabe won a footing on

the western bank. But this success was so dearly bought

that he preferred to negotiate rather than risk another such

encounter, and so for a great number of cattle ho purchased

a tract of country between the head waters of the Keiskama

and Buffalo rivers, including the Amatola mountains, from

the wife and followers of the chief who had fallen in the

struggle. The name of this Hottentot chieftainess was

Hoho, and after her the Perie forest is stiU called by the

Kosas ' the forest of Hoho.'
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The Kosas soon acquired sole dominion as far aa the

Great Fish river, though many Hottentots held honourable

positions among them, while matrimonial connections tended

to obliterate all distinctions between the two races.

Native traditions agree with European records as to the

recent advance westward of the Kosas. The exploring

expedition of 1752 found the Keiskama the dividing line

between the Bantu and the Hottentots, but in 1756 the

hunter Dirk Marx reported that he met Kaffirs as far

westward as the Great Fish river. V

Barabe, for a barbarian, was a man of considerable

ability. He governed his people wisely, and was so greatly

esteemed that his name was adopted and is still retained by
all the Ciskeian Kosa clans, who term themselves Amararabe
in distinction to the other branch of the tribe, which is

known as the Amagaleka. He was the favourite son of his

father Palo, who crossed the river and continued to reside near

him until the death of the old chief, which occurred about

the year 1770.

At this time Barabe's paramount authority was recog-

nised throughout the whole district between the Great Fish

river and the Kei. But each clan had its own head, and

these often acted in important matters without consulting

him. The Imidange clan, under the chief Mahuta, was
then the farthest western outpost of the tribe, occupying, as

it did, the country along the right bank of the Koonap»

Galeka, who usually resided beyond the Kei—though found

by Europeans on one occasion on the right bank—was ac-

knowledged in name as the head of the whole Kosa tribe

;

but practically the adherents of Barabe were not in any

way subject to his authority. Two generations later, the

nominal head recovered considerable influence with th&

western section, but that was almost entirely owing to pres-

sure by Europeans.

A few years after this date Barabe died in battle. H&
had sent one of his daughters to be the wife of a Tembu
chief, who returned only a hundred head of cattle. Baraba

was indignant that his daughter should be valued at so low

u
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a rate, and with hig bravest warriors he marched against his

son-in-law and attacked him. His forces were victorious,

but he fell pierced with an assagai in the thickest of the

fight. His son Ndlambe then became regent, as the heir in

the great line was a minor.

The Kosa tribe at this time occupied, or rather was thinly

scattered over, the country between the sea and the range ot
mountains of which the Winterberg and the Amatolas form

part. North of that range as far east as the Tsomo river

the only inhabitants were Hottentots and Bushmen. Beyond
the Kosas, in the district between the Bashee and Umtata
rivers, were the Tembus ; but as it was not until 1827 that

the colonists came in contact with this tribe, it is unnecessary

to enter into their history in this chapter.

mm'
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CHAPTER XXIV.

JOAOEIM VAN PLETTENBSBG, FISOAL AND SECUNDE, AOTINa

HEAD OP THE GOVERNMENT, 12 AUGUST 1771 TO 18 MAY
1774 } GOVEENOE, INSTALLED 18 MAT 1774,

EETIEED 14 FEBEUAET 1785.

Appointment of Mr. Van Oudtshoorn as governor—Death of that gentleman
on tho pasiage ou])—Appointment of Mr. Van Plettenberg as governor,

Mr. Uemmy an secunde, and Advocate Boers as fiscal—Extension of the

colony Ottstward—Erection of a new hospital—Exportation of Cape pro-

duce to tho Nethorlaii 's and to India—Statistics of shipping—Trade with
forolgnor»=llogulations regarding half-breed children bom on farms

—

Petition of frontier colonists for a landdrost's court and a church—Visit of

the governor to the eastern frontier—Meeting and arrangement with Kosa
obleli—Naming of Plettenberg's Bay—Naming of the Orange river by
Captain Uordon—Extension of jurisdiction of the country courts—Decla-
ration of tho Fish river as the eastern boundary of the colony—Discovery
of the Oango caverns—Character of the administration of Governor Van
Plettenberg—Sending of a deputation by the colonists to the Netherlands
to oomtilttln of the corruption and tyranny of the government—Action of

the (lir«!(Jt0r»--^Defeftce of the Cape otficials—War between England and
the Netherlands—Defenceless state of the colony—Constant warfare with
Bu8hmon=-Wnr between the colonists and the Kosas—Sending of several

retorn ghlps to Saldanha Bay to be out of danger—Expedition under
Commodore Johnstone sent from England to seize the colony—Expedition
under Admiral Suffren sent from France to oppose the English—Naval
battle ot I'orto I'raya—Arrival of the French fleet and troops at the Cape
—Solisuro by Commodore Johnstone of the Dutch ships in Saldanha Bay
—IsBue of paper money—Composition of the garrison at the Cape—fiesig-

natlon of the fisoal Boers—Decision of the directors regarding the com-
plaints of the colonists—Appeal of the colonists to the States-General

of the Netherlands—Changes in the administration—Great damage sus-

tained by tho Company in the war with England—Increase of foreign

shipping at tho Cape—Distinguished visitors—Wrecks on the South African
COa«t™M(iccos8ion of clergymen in the various churches—Permission ob-

tained by the Lutherans to establish a church—Succession of officers in

the country districts.

JOAOHIM TAN Plbtthnbebg, who was elected bj the council

to act as head of the govemment until the pleasure of the

4ireotori could be known, had been educated as a lawyer.
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and had very little experience in any other employment.

Before the death of Mr. Tulhagh -was known in the Nether-

lands, the Prince of Orange, acting upon the nomination of

the directors, appointed Mr. Pieter van Eeede ran Ondts-

hoom secunde, as that gentleman had applied for employ-

ment again in South Africa, where some of his children were
residing. It was then intended that Mr, Van Plettenberg

should resume the duties of fiscal.

Despatches announcing the death of Mr. Tulbagh arrived

from the Cape, however, before Mr. Van Oudtshoom could

leave Holland, and he then had the office of governor con-

ferred upon him, Mr. Van Plettenberg being at the iame
time appointed secunde. This information wa» received at

the Cape on the 4th of September 1772.

The newly appointed governor embarked in the ihip A%%%
but was taken ill at sea, and after nineteen days confinement

to his bed, died on the 23rd of January 1773, His body
was placed in a leaden coffin which he had taken on board
with him, and a few days after the arrival of the ihip was
buried with state under the pavement of the church.

The Prince of Orange then, upon the nomination of the

directors, appointed Mr. Van Plettenberg governor, Mr. Otto

Luder Hemmy secunde, and Advocate Willem Oomelis
Boers fiscal. The ceremony of installation of the new
governor took place on the 18th of May 1774, Mr. Hemmy,
who had previously filled the post of chief sftleiman, took

over the duty of secunde some three weeks earlier. Advocate
Boers, who was practising at the Hague when he received

his appointment, did not arrive in the colony until the 10th

of the following December. The office of maiter of the

naval establishment had become vacant in April 1773, and
the council had filled it provisionally by detaining here an
energetic skipper, named Damien Hugo Staring, whose
appointment was now confirmed by the supreme authorities.

The eastern boundary of the colony at thii time was,

according vo the resolution of the council of policy, Bruintjes

Hoogte and the Gamtc-^s river; but, in defiance of the

prohibition of the 13th of February 1770,^ Europeans were
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settled along the high lands as far as the Little Fish river.

The first white man who made himself a home on the banks

of this stream was an old elephant hunter named Willem

Prinsloo, who in June 1771 obtained permission from

Governor Tulbagh to select two farms within the colonial

limitS; but had gone beyond them and occupied the site of

the present village of Somerset East. In October 1772 the

ucting governor Van Plettenberg came to hear that Prinsloo

was living beyond the boundary, and instructed the land-

drost of Stellenbosch to have him removed ; but he managed
to evade the summons. Several others soon followed him.

These settlers sent a petition that they might be authorised

to remain where they were, and, in order to secure the land

rents, on the 11th of July 1775 the council of policy decreed

the extension of the district of Stellenbosch eastward to the

Fish river, and of that of Swellendam to the Bushman's

river.

The boundary between the new portions of the two

districts was referred for settlement to the combined land-

drosts and heemraden, who fixed upon the mountain range

corresponding to the Zwartberg and parallel to the coast.

The district of Swellendam was thus clearly defined on all

sides, but Stellenbosch had no fixed limit on the north. In

that direction, the Kamiesberg, the Hantam mountain in the

present district of Calvinia, the coimtry about the sources of

the Zak river in the Nieuwveld mountains, and the Sneeuw-

berg had been occupied for several years.

The ground upon which the new hospital was to stand

had been prepared before the death of Governor Tulbagh,

but the building had not been commenced. It was designed

for the accommodation of one thousand four hundred and fifty

patients, with quarters for the medical officers and attendants,

and spacious storehouses. The foundation stone was laid by

Mr. Van Plettenberg on the 2nd of November 1772.

As most of the materials used in the construction of this

building—now the military barracks—were sent from the

Netherlands, the directors, in a despatch dated 18th of

October 1771, required the council to provide return cargoes
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of Cape produce for the ships bringing them out, provided

produce of good quality could be had at reasonable rates.

They complained of the high prices and inferior quality of

various samples previously sent home, excepting wheat, and
they therefore issued orders that the bulk of the cargoes

should consist of that grain.

When these instructions arrived in South Africa, the

French were laying in large supplies of meal, wine, and meat
for their men-of-war and magazines at Mauritius, and the

preceding harvest had not been quite as good as usual, so

that prices were ruling high. In 1772 only one ship laden

with materials for the Cape arrived, but she was a large one,

and brought out reinforcements of troops also. The council

found it would not be possible to get a full cargo for her,

ao they sent her to Batavia for orders, and prepared the Cape

packet Zow, a vessel of about three hundred tons burden, to
* ika produce to Europe. To obtain even this quantity, it

?- necessary to prohibit for a time the sale of grain to

^' r^'gners for exportation.

This first cargo of Cape produce sent to Holland consisted

of 2,997 muids of wheat, purchased at 9«. 7^f?. a muid free of

the tithe ; 37 muids of rye, purchased at 8s. 4|c?. a muid ; 222

muids of barley, purchased at 4s. 9f(i.a muid; 32 leggers

of assorted wines, for which the farmers were paid from

hi, 8s. to 13Z. 8s. a legger according to quality ; and 6,300

pounds of tallow, purchased at 20s. the hundred pounds.

On arrival at Amsterdam, the wheat was sold at 16s. Id. to

16s. 6fZ. a muid, and the wine at Wl. 16s. to 48?. 19s. a

legger. These profits were so satisfactory to the directors

that they resolved to continue the importation of South

African produce, especially as the Cape government wrote

that purchases would in future be made at much lower

rates.

From this date until the commencement of the war with

England, a period of nine years, a quantity of Cape produce

was yearly sent to the Netherlands. In 1777 the grain crop

was very poor, owing to a severe drought, and after the

requirements of the Company in India had been met, on
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wheat could be spared, but the usual quantity of wine was
forwarded. The average exportation to Europe during these

nine years, 1772-1780, was 15 leggers Constantia wine, 93

leggers ordinary wines, 10,714 muids of wheat, 23,800 pounds

of tallow, and 3,614 pounds of aloes. Small quantities of

brandy, rye, barley, vegetable wax, oxhides, sheepskins,

coarse wool, skins of wild animals, and leather were also sent

to Europe, but neither regularly nor of sufiBcient value to

need further notice.

During these nine years the average export to India was
14,419 muids of wheat, 180 muids of rye, &Q muids of barley,

37 muids of beans, 100 muids of peas, 296 leggers of wine,

13,613 pounds of butter, 11,555 pounds of tallow, and 1,183

pounds of ivory. Some dried and preserved fruits, mustard

seed, peltries, and leather, though not to any great value,

were also exported to India.

The increase of exports above those of previous years

did not, however, cause increased prosperity to the colonists.

The prices paid by the Company were ruinously low. For

the wheat sent to India the farmers received only 8s.9f(^

and for that sent to Europe only 5s. \\\d. a muid, after the

government dues were deducted. The butter was bought at

<od. to 8(^., and the tallow at about 2flJ. a pound.

At the same time there was a constant demand for all

kinds of farm produce at more than double the prices which

the Company was giving. In the year 1772 there was a

sudden and great increase in the foreign shipping that put

into South African ports, and the number of vessels did not

fall off again until the commencement of the war with

England. During these nine years, 1772-1780, there put

into Table Bay 418 Dutch ships, 159 English, 192 French,

41 Danish, 7 Swedish, 16 Spanish, 9 Portuguese, and 3

Austrian ; and into Simon's Bay 47 Dutch, 85 English , 46

French, 17 Danish, 1 Austrian, and 6 Swedish ships ; or, on

an average, 52 Dutch ships and 65 under various other flags

touched yearly at the two ports.

All of them needed fresh provisions. Some of the French

vessels, indeed, were sent here from Mauritius expressly to
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or, on

)r flags

obtain cargoes of grain, meat, and wine ; and occasionally an
English vessel arrived from St. Helena for the same purpose.

The directors admitted that thej should be encouraged to

call, as they brought ready money into the country and
increased th6 revenue. Owing to them, the contract for the

supply of meat to the Company could now be taken at less

than ^^d. a pound, for the contractor had the privilege of

charging foreigners 2cZ. The farmer of the duty of 1?. a

leggev on wine and spirits sold to foreigners for exportation

could now afford to pay nearly 1,000?. a year for it. The
licensed retail dealer in wines and spirits could afford to bid

1,000^ a year more for his monopoly. The average produc-

tion of wine was 3,244 leggers, and the Company needed

only 945 leggers for its own use and for sale in Europe

and India. The directors were therefore only too glad to

know that the surplus could be sold at high rates at the

Cape. Thejf protected their own trade, however, for in 1776

when some burghers requested to be allowed to export wine

to Holland, they declined to give permission.

With grain it was different. As much of this as could

be produced could be sold at a profit, and it therefore became

a matter for calculation to get as large a quantity as possible

without driving foreigners away. The fiscal took control of

the trade, and permitted nothing to be sold to strangers

without his leave. The burghers protested against this

infringement of their rights, but to no purpose.

The number of male slaves imported was always much
larger than that of females, and as a consequence many of

those men who were unable to obtain wives of their own
colour had formed connections with Hottentot women. A
large class of halfbreeds had sprung from such unions, and

these were generally indisposed to gain a living by honest

industry. From early times it had been observed that

Hottentot women who formed connections with either

Europeans or slaves had many more children than those who
took husbands of their own race. The farmers could not

prevent their union with slaves, for if they tried to do so the

slaves were certain to run away. And if they permitted the

II. Q
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women to remain on the farms, directly or indirectly they

were obliged to maintain them and their offspring, without

any return in labour.

These circumstances gave rise to a regulation which was
first put in force in 1775, and which provided that children

born of Hottentot mothers by slave fathers upon attaining

the age of eighteen months should be apprenticed to the

owner of the farm on which they were living until they were

twenty-five years old. In every case a formal application

to the board of landdrost and heemraden of the district was
to be made by the owner of the farm, and a register of all

apprenticeships was to be kept by the secretary of the board.

Hottentot mothers were to be at liberty to remove their

children under eighteen months of age. The apprentices

were to be properly fed and clothed, and were to be otherwise

well treated.

In February 1776 a despatch was received, announcing

that the governor had been raised to the dignity of councillor

extraordinary of Netherlands India. In January 1777 the

secunde Hemmy died. The council met on the 1st of

February to elect an acting successor, when the fiscal Boers,

to whom the post was offered, declined to accept it. Pieter

Hacker, who had long been in service at the Cape and
then filled the situation of master of the winestores, was
thereupon chosen, and his appointment as secunde was
shortly afterwards confirmed by the directors. He was
succeeded as master of the winestores by Jacobus Johannes
le Sueur.

In October 1777 the surveyor Hieronymus Leiste was sent

to inspect the country as far as it was occupied by Europeans,

and to frame a map. He returned in January following,

having made but slight acquaintance with the interior.

In March 1778 a petition was sent to the council by Jan
Kruger, Jan Adriaan Venter, Adriaan van Jaarsveld, Jan
Oosthuizen, and thirty other heads of families living near

the eastern frontier, praying for the establishment of a

landdrost's court and a church in that part of the country.

This petition, together with Leiste's report and the
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-numerous accounts of depredations by the Bushmen, caused

the governor to resolve upon visiting the eastern border and
ascertaining for himself the condition of affairs there. Four
months before he intended to set out, orders were issued to

the landdrosts of Stellenbosch and Swellendam to have

burgher escorts and cattle ready to forward him on his

journey.

On the 3rd of September 1778 he left Cape Town with

two travelling and four baggage waggons, taking with him
the junior merchant Olof Godlieb de Wet as secretary, the

surgeon Johan Michiel Seyd as medical attendant, and the

captain Ghristiaan Philip van Heyden as purveyor and con-

ductor of the train. He travelled by way of the Berg river

valley, through t^e Roodezand kloof, down the valley of the

Breede river, past Swellendam, and onward to the Little Fish

river, somewhere near the present village of Somerset East.

The journal of this important expedition is unfortunately

missing from the Cape archives, and it is only from state-

ments in other documents of the time that the chief events

can be gathered.

The governor met the frontier farmers who had peti-

tioned for a landdrost and a clergyman, and made himself

acquainted with their condition. They represented that

owing to the unbridged rivers it was often a journey of a
month to the village of Stellenbosch, so that practically they

were cut off from a court of justice. It was also a matter of

great hardship to them to attend the militia exercises in that

village, as during their absence from home their stock was

subject to depredations by Bushmen. For the same reason

they were unable to attend the church services, and their

children (vere growing up without proper instruction. They
were willing to contribute liberally towards the expense of

greeting the necessary buildings. The governor admitted

that their request was reasonable, and promised to recommend

it favourably to the directors, a promise which was fulfilled

upon his return to Cape Town, though it was not immediately

attended to in Holland.

He also had a conference with several Eosa chiefs, and
q2

!
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arranged with them that the Fish river should be a boundary

between the Europeans and the Bantu. Whether these

chiefs were men of high position in their tribe it is impos-

sible to saj; as their names cannot be recovered.

He proceeded northward to the Zeekoe river, and on the

bank of this stream he caused a beacon to be erected to

mark the termination of his tour and the north-eastern limit

of the colony.

On the 3rd of November the governor was at the bay

into which the Keurboom river falls. To this bay he gave

his own name, and caused a landmark with the Company's

arms upon it to be erected as a sign of possession. The
stone is still standing where it was set up. On the 26th of

November the party arrived in Cape Town again, having

been absent nearly three months.

An o£&cer whose name was to be closely connected with

South Africa during the next eighteen years was on the

frontier at the same time as the governor. This was Captain

Robert Jacob Gordon, previously an ofl&cer in the Scotch

regiment under Colonel Dundas in the service of the United

Provinces, but who had recently been engaged by the East

India Company, and had arrived at the Cape on the 1st of

June 1777. At this time he was second in command of the

garrison, the chief military officer being Lieutenant-Colonel

Van Prehn.

In October 1777 Captain Gordon left Cape Town in

company with Lieutenant William Paterson, an English

traveller, on a journey of exploration. He proceeded by

way of the Sneeuwberg to the Great river, which he came
upon quite unexpectedly somewhere near the twenty-sixth

meridian from Greenwich. He travelled for a day along

its southern bank in search of a ford, but did not find

one, so was unable to cross. From the summit of a hill he
observed that the river was formed by the junction of two
streams, at no great distance to the eastward. Lieutenant

Paterson had returned to the Cape, in ill health, some time

before.

Two years la^r the same gentlemen made another journey
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togethe' , this time travelling northward through Little Nama.-

qualand to the mouth of the great river. Captain Gordon
had taken a boat with him, which he placed on the stream,

80 that he had now a much better opportunity for examining

the immense flow of water than in 1777, when he had seen

it at a point inland nearly six hundred miles distant. On
the 1 7th of August 1 779 he hoisted the Dutch colours to a staff

in his boat, and while floating in the centre of the stream he

named it the Orange, in honour of the stadtholder. He and
Lieutenant Faterson examined it from the mouth upwards
some thirty or forty miles. Since that date geographers

have usually called the river by the name which Captain

Gordon gave it, but the crionists term it indiscriminately the

Orange, Great, and Gar .ep.

In 1779 the juriadiction of the courts of landdrost and
Sieemraden was enlarged, owing to the difl&culty of bringing

cases from distant parts for trial before L%e court of justice

in Cape Town. Henceforth civil cases in which the nmount
in dispute was less than 10/. were summarily decided in these

•courts.

Governor Van Plettenberg bad arranged v/ith some Kosa
chiefs that the Fish river should not be crossed by either

Europeans or Bantu, but this agreement had not been

officially recorded. On the 14th of November 1780, however,

the councU of policy resolved that the Fish river along the

whole of its lower course should be the colonial boundary,

thus adding to the Company's possessions the tract of

country then usually known as the Zuurveld, now the districts

of Albany and Bathurst.

In 1780 the Cango caverns, in the present district of

Oudtshoom, were accidentally discovered by a farmer named
Van Zyl, who was out hunting. They are of great size,

passages having been explored for at least a mile into the

mountain, without the end being reached, while on each side

openings of unknown depth occur at short intervals. The
stalactites in some of the chambers present a very grand

appearance when seen by the light of numerous torches,

^eing saturated with water, they are semi-transparent and of
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dazzling brightness, while they present innumerable varieties

of fanciful and grotesque forms. One of the chambers is

eight hundred feet in length, another six hundred feet in

length, one hundred in breadth, and sixty to seventy in.

height.

Ever since the accession of Mr. Van Plettenberg to power

there had been a feeling of discontent throughout the colony.

There was no sympathy between the governor and the people^

If his proclamations be compared with those of his prede-

cessor, and judgment be formed by them alone, the adminis-

tration of Mr. Tulbagh will be pronounced the harsher of the

two. Yet in reality not only was the reverse the case, but a

period of misrule had succeeded a period of tranquillity.

Governor Tulbagh had kept a watchful eye upon every official,

and allowed no one to overstep the directions concerning

farming and trading, or to take a fee that he was not entitled

to. Governor Van Plettenberg permitted his subordinates

to do almost as they chose. The result was a condition of

affairs in which no transaction with government could be
carried on without bribery, in which many of the officials

farmed and traded openly, and the colonists generally became
discontented.

From the earliest days of the settlement the government

had claimed and exercised the right of sending out of the

country persons of bad character, especially those of idle and

dissolute habits. During the forty years from 1738 to 1778

thirty-three individuals were thus deported, without a trial

before a court of justice. In some instances the burgher

councillors or the heemraden requested that a vagabond of

some kind should be removed, in other instances notorious

offenders were thus summarily disposed of. Governor Tul-

bagh, during the twenty years that he was head of the

colony, had sent away ten. Governor Van Plettenberg va

less than eight years sent away eighteen.

The fiscal was detested as few men in South Africa have

been, and instead of being a check upon the governor, he

was held to be the worse of the two. His control of trade

with foreigners opened a door to extensive bribery. The
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system of paying higher prices at the Company's stores for

produce sent to India than for that sent to Europe led also

to serious abuses.

The American revolution had commenced, and tidings

came over the sea of other colonists resisting rulers who
oppressed them. In distant farmhouses and in dwellings in

Cape Town the question of rights and liberties was discussed

as it had never been before. By some of the least educated

very wild views were enunciated, views subversive of all

government ; but the great majority of the people favoured

a strong administration, provided it was honest. Party
feeling began to run very high. The junior officials were
mostly either colonists by birth or married into colonial

families, so that the existing system had its defenders.

There was a large party loyal to the Netherlands, but
desirous of a change from a bad to a good government, and
there was a small party ready to plunge into anarchy, with-

out understanding what they were advocating.

Matters were in this state when the fiercest passions of

the burghers were roused by an act of the government
as imprudent as it was tyrannical. A man named Carol

Hendrik Buitendag, who had been living in the Land of

Waveren, had recently come to reside in the town. This

man was addicted to intemperance, and when partly

intoxicated was very violent in his conduct. He was married

into a respectable colonial family, but his treatment of his

wife and of his Hottentot servants was at times so brutal

that when he was residing at Waveren the landdrost and
heemraden of Stelienbosch and Drakenstein petitioned the

council of policy for his forcible removal. No action was
taken upon this petition, nor was any immediate notice

taken of an application to the fiscal by his wife to be separ>

ated from him, made during one of his outbursts of in-

temperance.

Twenty days later, however,—20th of January 1779,—
when he was conducting himself properly and the domestic

quarrel had been forgotten, he was seized in his own house

by order of the fiscal, dragged hurriedly through the streets

I
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by the lowest menials of the law, and sent on board the

Honhoop, a vessel lying in the bay and bound to Batavia.

His wife and children followed to the beach, crying and

imploring help, but there was not time to effect a rescue.

The persons employed by the fiscal to arrest Buitendag and

convey him to the ship's boat were the black scavengers of

the town, who were used to take drunken slaves to prison.

Hardly any act of oppression could have wounded the

burghers so deeply as this, for pride of race was part of their

nature.

On his arrival at Batavia, Buitendag complained of his

treatment to the council of India, by whom permission was

given him to return to the Cape. He therefore embarked

in the first ship that left, but died during the passage.

The deportation of Buitendag in the manner here related

brought on a crisis. The most respectable burghers con-

sulted together, and came to a determination to send

delegates to the Netherlands to endeavour to obtain from

the stadtholder and the directors redress of their grievances

and guarantees against future misgovernment. Then for

the first time in the history of the colony was discussed the

right of the people to have representatives in the legislature,

and the theory rapidly gained ground that such repre-

sentation would prove the best safeguard of liberty.

At the sitting of the council of policy on the 30th of

March 1779 a letter was read from the three burgher

councillors, Cornelis van der Poel, Christiaan George

Maasdorp, and Gerrit Hendrik Meyer, and four of the

heemraden of Stellenbosch and Drakenstein, Philip Albert

Myburgh, Jan de Villiers, Joost Rynhard van As, and

Hendrik Louw, stating that they had been requested by
between three and four hundred burghers to apply for

permission to elect some persons to be sent to Holland to lay

before the directors the condition of affairs in this colony,

and asking leave to do so. The council refused its consent,

but asserted its willingness to consider any complaints made
to it and to redress any grievances that could be shown to

exist.
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The opponents of the government were not satisfied with

this decision, because they had no confidence in the men
who were at the head of affairs. They made no farther

applications to the council therefore, but elected the

burghers Jacobus van Reenen, Bareud Jacob Artois,

Tieleman Roos, and Nicholas Godfried Heyns as their

representatives to proceed to Europe. These persons drew

up a memorial of grievances and proposed remedies, which

received the approval of their constituents. It was dat^ed

the 7th of May 1779. The four delegates then proceeded to

Holland, carrying with them a document authorising th jm

to act for the persons who signed it, four -undred and f^iir

in number. The memorial contained thuty-seven clauses.

The first part was devoted to accusing the ofiic ;rs of

government, and particularly the independent fisca' Willem
Cornells Boers, of fraudulent conduct and oppressior

.

Many of the junior officials were accused of trading n
openly that shops were kept and accounts made out in tLei^

names. The burghers of the town who lived by coumerce,

it was asserted, could not compete with these tiaders, and

Tvere consequently being ruined. The whole system of

exacting fees by the various officials on almost every

business transaction was explained, and the individuals

receiving them were charged with corruption. B a in this

the complainants laboured under the same difficulties that

those must always do who are ignorant of the confidential

instructions of the heads of a government to subordinates.

They supposed that the receipt of fees except in certain

well-known cases was unauthorised, , 'I'^^eas in reality the

various officials were empowered to cLi^i ^e certain amounts,

and could in justice only be accused of corruption when these

amounts were exceeded.

The complainants asked tha^ iie orders issued in 1706

prohibiting officials from farming or dealing in farm produce

should be strictly enforced; that the burghers should be

allowed to dispose of the produce of the country to strangers,

without first obtaining the consent of the fiscal ; that pv^^rsons

banished from the colony should be sent to the Fatherland,
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not to India; that the burghers should be at liberty to

punish their slaves without the necessity of first applying-

to the fiscal ; that the laws of the country should be clearly

defined and made known ; that seven burgher members
should have seats in the council of policy, and that these

members should send a report upon the colony yearly to the

Assembly of Seventeen; that the high court of justice

should consist of equal numbers of officials and burghers

;

that there should be a right of appeal to the courts of the

Fatherland, instead of to the court at Batavia ; that the

burghers should be allowed to trade with the Netherlands to

the extent of one or two ships' cargoes yearly ; that they

should also be allowed free trade with India and in slaves with

Madagascar and the east coast of Africa ; that the Company
should purchase ordinary wine at 8i. a legger, from which

nothing should be deducted but 128. government dues ; that

foreigners should not be allowed to travel about the country

;

that a smaller rental than U. 16s. should be charged on

farms of inferior quality ; and that more churches should be

provided.

On the 10th of October 1779 the four delegates appeared

before the Assembly of Seventeen. They made a verbal

statement of the wretched condition of the colony and the

unjust acts of the officials, and deUvered the memorial with

a large number of documents supporting it. In the fol-

lowing week the whole of the papers wer3 referred to a
committee of the chambers of Amsterdam and Zeeland to

examine, collect evidence, and report upon. A copy of the

memorial and its annexures was sent to the Cape ff the

various officers concerned to reply to. The directors at the

same time wrote expressing their great regret that there

should be an ill feeling between the colonists and the

officials, and hoping that tranquillity would be speedily

restored. They expressed a desire for the prosperity of the

colonists, and commanded that everything that was possible

should be done to allay strife. They would be greatly dis-

pleased, they said, if any resentment were shown, directly

or indirectly, towards those who had signed the memorial.
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Governor Van Plettenberg's reply is dated tb© 21«t of

March 1781. He did not think the memorial could be taken

to represent the views of the whole body of coloniit», as

there were nearly three thousand burghers in tbe country,

and the delegates had been chosen by only four hundred and

four. It had always been a custom for the government to

consult the acting and retired burgher councillorB whenever

it was requisite to make regulations affecting the colonists,

and he had not failed on any occasion to do so. The country

presented every appearance of prosperity. There was no

difference observable between wealthy and poor people, all

showed signs of being in comfortable circumstaneoi. Num-
bers of the Company's servants, who had the condition of

affairs before their eyes, were yearly taking their discharge

and becoming colonists, in preference to returning to

Europe.

On the frontiers, he stated, the people were leii fortu-

nately placed, for they were exposed to depredations from

Bushmen and Kosas^ and had suffered greatly by recent

inroads of the savages. With them money was not plenti-

ful, but following the example of Mr. Tulbagh and others of

his predecessors, he had usually taken three young bullocks

instead of the U. 16s. yearly rent for each of their farms.

Tho colonists in general, he affirmed, desired to lead an
indolent life, merely directing the labour of Hottentots and
slaves. They were not disposed to qualify themselves either

as mechanics or as schoolmasters, in proof of which there

were then nearly two hundred of the Company's soldiers on
leave earning their living in these capacities ; and more had
been applied for, but he had refused to allow a larger number
to be temporarily released from duty. The colony furnished

no seamen, though many of those who complained of poverty

could obtain a living in the fleets. They preferred, however,

to depend upon a single industry, the chief profits from
which were precarious, being derived from foreign ships.

Their right to trade in the products of the country was un-

disputed. The interests of the officials and the burghers were

the same, for with few exceptions they were intermarried^
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most of the junior officials indeed being members of colonial

families.

He objected to the admission of burgher members to the

•council of policy. The interests of the colony should not be

lost sight of by the government, but those of the Company
'were to be regarded as of greater importance. If there were

burgher members in the council, everything that the govern-

ment did for the colonists would be attributed to them, and
the Company would lose favour. There would also be con-

stant strife, owing to the divisions among the burgher popu-

lation. The request of the complainants that the high

court of justice should consist of equal numbers of officials

and burghers he recommended should be acceded to. He
also favoured their petition that the laws should be clearly

defined, and stated that the collection of the placaats for

that purpose had already been commenced.

He protested that he had done nothing to draw upon
himself the enmity of the colonists. He thought the position

of high officials would be greatly improved if the suspicion

of corrupt dealing were removed by giving them suitable

salaries and depriving them of perquisites. The principal

perquisite of the governor and the secunde was \l. 6s. 8d!. for

the first and 13s. ^d. for the second on every legger of wine

sold by the burghers to the Company. The seller was obliged

to sign a receipt for 8?., whereas he only received hi. Ss., the

remaining 12s. being the government duty. It could make
no difference to the Company, and be much better in appear-

ance, if a receipt for only 5Z. 8s. were demanded. The other

perquisites of the governor he thought there could be no

objection to. They were, first, the produce of the farm

Visser's Hok, which farm had from early times been culti-

vated at the Company's expense for the express purpose of

supplying the governor's household with grain and his stable

with forage ; second, the contractor for meat was required

to supply him with twelve sheep monthly and such other

meat as he might require for his household at the same price

as was paid by the Company.
In conclusion, he requested to be relieved of his duties.
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Party feeling was runniner very high in the colony, he said,,

and only an entire 8tra\tger could restore concord.

The document containing the comments of the fiscal

upon the memorial of the complaining burghers is dated

2nd of February 1781, and is of great length. Mr. Boers

was a man with many good qualities. He was hospitable,

generous, diligent in his duties, fond of scientific pursuits.

But his sympathies were all with the ruling classes of

society, and he felt and expressed supreme contempt for the

colonists, who were to him simply unlettered peasants.

For more than a century the burgher councillors had
been consulted by the government whenever enactments

affecting the colonists were in contemplation. They had no
taxing powers, but upon their recommendation the council

of policy levied rates which they collected and applied to

the construction and maintenance of roads and bridges, the

employment of watchmen, and other purposes now provided

for by divisional and municipal councils. They proposed

maximum prices for articles, inspected weights and mea-

sures, and performed a great variety of other duties. In

numberless instances they had appeared before the author-

ities as the representatives of the burgher community.

Yet Mr. Boers maintained that their sole functions were

those of assistant members of the high court of justice when
cases in which colonists were concerned were being tried,

and in support of his contention he quoted the terms of the

appointment of the first burgher councillor by the com-

missioner Van Goens in 1657. Long usage did not affect

the question in his eyes.

He admitted that the right of the farmers to free trade

in the produce of their land had been recognised by the

supreme authorities. But he pleaded that the circumstances

of the country were such that the channel in which the trade

should flow must be pointed out by the government. The
farmers here, he said, were like those in Europe, always

eager to make large profits, and were unwilling to sell to

the Company when they could get higher prices from

foreigners. Ifno restraint were put upon them, the country

\ -
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miglit often be in danger of famine, and the consequences

might be very serious, for food could not be imported in

time to avert starvation. On this account it had on more
than one occasion been found necessary to prohibit for a

time the sale of grain and cattle to foreigners. The governors

De Chavonnes and Tulbagh had been obliged to do so. For

this reason, and also to collect the export duty of \l. and the

licensed dealer's dues of \l. on every legger of wine and his

own fee of Is. 4c?. on every hundred pounds of grain or meal

supplied to foreigners, he had prohibited the sale of any-

thing without his permission. The burghers talked about

the law of free trade, he begged to state that there was also

a law prohibiting foreigners from selling anything at the

Cape, yet it was never observed.

The colonists prated of their rights. Who were these

colonists? he asked. A ;; reel of people who had been

released from the Company's service, and permitted as an

act of grace to live in the country, under condition that they

could be ordered back into service at the will of the govern-

ment. He quoted the wording of a certificate of permission

to a discharged soldier to reside in the country, and argued

that as no one could transmit greater rights than he himself

possessed, the descendants of released soldiers were in the

same condition as their ancestors. He quite ignored the

fact that a very large proportion of the colonists were de-

scendants of immigrants who had never been in the Com-

pany's service.

A document of great length was drawn up by Mr. Boers

in this strain. The other officials who were accused of

wrong-doing also drew up statements, admitting some of the

charges, denying some, and endeavouring to explain away

the remainder. The transmission of these papers to the

Netherlands was delayed, however, for several months by

the cessation of the ordinary traffic.

On the 31st of March 1781 the French frigate Silphide

arrived in Table Bay with a despatch from the Dutch ambas-

sador at Paris, announcing that on the 20th of the preceding

December Great Britain had declared war with the United

\
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Provinces, and that the States were in alliance with France.

The intelligence was received with alarm by the government,

for the mother country no longer occupied the proud position

among nations which was hers a century earlier, and it was
certain that England was casting longing eyes upon the Cape,

as the key of the Indian seas.

The colony was almost defenceless. Its revenue was
between 15,000 Z. and 16,000?. a year. For a long time the

balance of expenditure over revenue had averaged 25,000L a

year, and the Company, which was declining in wealth and
power, could not afford to maintain a large garrison. There

were five hundred and thirty soldiers of all arms on the books,

but to save expense, more than one-fourth of these had been

allowed to take service with farmers, and it was pretty cer-

tain that many would never return to their colours. There

were further some six hundred and fifty individuals in the

Company's pay, including the civil servants, the mechanics

at the workshops, the boating establishment, and convalescent

sailors. Next there was a corps of free blacks, which had
been in existence ifor many years, and which was usually

drilled for a few days in the month of October. From these

sources combined about eleven hundred combatants could be

counted upon, of whom only one half were well drilled.

At the head of the military forces proper was Captain

Gordon, who in February 1780 had succeeded Lieutenant-

Colonel Van Prehn as commandant of the garrison. He was

a man of unblemished character, an enthusiast in the study

of natural history, and an ardent explorer, but with no special

qualifications as a leader in war. Next to him in rank was

Captain Carel Matthys Willem de Lille, who had been in the

colony since December 1773. The seamen and mechanics

were under command of the old skipper Staring, as brave a

man as ever sailed the sea, but so deeply implicated in the

prevailing peculations that he was greatly disliked by the

<jolonists.

The Company relied chiefly upon the burghers to protect

the country, but the South African militia, though nearly

three thousand strong on paper, could not furnish a fourth

\
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of that number of men for the defence of Cape Town. These
three thousand burghers were scattered over an immense
area, covering not less than ninety or a hundred thousand

square miles. Along the frontier, east and north, they were
constantly in arms to hold their own against Kosas and Bush-
men, to whom their flocks and herds presented an irresistible

temptation to plunder.

The struggle between the farmers along the northern

border and the Bushmen had become almost incessant. The
two races could not live side by side. Occasionally white
men, obliged to defend themselves without aid of soldiers or

police, committed acts almost equalling in cruelty those of

their savage opponents. Yet without violence the country

could not be held. All the philanthropic efforts of the present

century, supported by a strong police, have not succeeded in

establishing a single Bushman community in a civilised mode
of life.

The method of conducting warfare against these savages

needed no knowledge of complicated military movements.
There were probably many contests between farmers and
Bushmen of which the government never heard. Those that

are recorded, however, give very plain pictures of what was
taking place.

In May 1772 a letter was received from the landdrost of

Stellenbosch, giving information that a party of Bushmen on
the border of the Eoggeveld had murdered a burgher named
Hendrik Teutman, his wife and daughter, and a servant of

Adriaan Louw ; and that they had driven off the cattle from
several farms. The field corporal Willem van Wyk raised a
commando, followed the marauders to a mountain, and be-

sieged a cave in which they took shelter, but was unable to

capture it. He then wrote to the landdrost for help. The
council of policy resolved to send a corporal and five grena-

diers, with a supply of hand grenades, to aid him. A party

of Hottentots was also engaged to assist, and upon the arrival

of these reinforcements the cave was stormed. Six Bushmen
were killed, and fifty-eight of both sexes, great and small,

were captured. The prisoners were forwarded under escort
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to the Cape, where they arrived on the 27th of June. After

some delay the men were brought to trial before the high

court of justice, and on the 31st of December sentence

was passed. One was broken alive on a wheel; one was

hanged ; four were flogged, had the tendons of their heels

severed, and were kept to hard labour for life ; and three were

flogged and kept to hard labour for life. The women and

children were distributed as servants for periods varying in

duration.

In October of the same year the landdrost of Stellenbosch

reported that a party of Bushmen had stolen eighty-eight

head of cattle from the burgher Gorrit van Wyk. Thereupon

a commando assembled, followed up the robbers, shot thirty-

one of them, and recovered thirty-nine of the cattle.

Despite of such punishment, the Bushmen . 3med to

become constantly bolder, and at length they did not fear to

attack farmhouses in open day. Horned cattle, sheep, and

goats were driven off in hundreds together, the herdsmen

were murdered, and from several localities the Europeans

were obliged to retire. In May 1774 the council of policy

approved of the appointment by the board of militia of Stel-

lenbosch of Godlieb Rudolph Opperman, a burgher of long

experience and recognised ability, as field commandant of

the whole northern border from Piketoerg to Sneeuwberg,

and operations were planned with a view of punishing the

marauders and restoring the farmers to the places from which

they had been driven.

The Hottentots and halfbreeds were just as anxious as

the colonists to chastise the Bushmen, for they had suffered

equally from their attacks. The Hottentots indeed were

more embittered than the others, for many of them had lost

all their cattle and had besides to lament friends and rela-

tives put to death by torture. Some of the Hottentots were

living in reserves, under captains recognised by the Cape

government, and were not subject to colonial courts of law

except in cases affecting white people. The tract of land

called Lily Fontein, in the Kamiesberg, where an important

Wesleyan mission was founded in the early years of the

.11 B
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present century, for instance, was a reserve secured to th e

Hottentot capiain Wildschut and his people by Governor Van
Plettenberg in 1772. Others of this race were living with

the colonists, either in charge of herds of cattle or as domestic

servants. As many as were needed joined the burghers on

the expedition against the common enemy, and were pro-

vided with firearms and ammunition.

At the beginning of summer three parties of mixed

burghers, halfbreeds, and Hottentots, acting in concert, took

the field under Commandant Opperman and the field corporals

Nicholas van der Merwe and Gerrit van Wyk. The base of

operations was more than three hundred . miles in length.

The country along the great mountain range of South AMca
was scoured, and all the Bushmen found who would not

surrender were shot. According to the reports furnished to

the government, five hundred and three were killed and two

hundred and thirty-nine taken prisoners. Some of these

were afterwards released, and others were apprenticed to the

farmers for a term of years. Only one European was killed

during the operations. From the leader of one party of Bush-

men a promise was obtained to keep the peace and abstain

from robbery, and to him presents were made as proofs of a

desire for friendship. The instance, however, was a solitary

one.

It was hoped that the punishment inflicted by the expe-

dition would deter the Bushmen from continuing hostilities,

but it had no such effect. They became even more trouble-

some than before, and year after year it was necessary to

call out commandos against them. Thus it often happened

that the farmers were unable to attend the musters for drill,

which took place at the drostdies yearly in October. They
had come to regard these musters as vexatious taxes upon

their time, and military drill as useless in their circumstances.

The men of the northern border considered their first duty

to be the protection of their families against savages, and

hardly gave a thought to the Company's interests at the

remote seat of government.

On the eastern border matters were in a similar condition.

\
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'The colonists there had to deal with the advanced clans of

the £osa tribe, a people who might be called civilised when
• compared with Bushmen, but who were almost as expert

. stocklifters.

In 1779 the Imidange under the chief Mabuta, the

Amambala under the chief Langa, and some other clanfi of

less note crossed the Fish river and spread themselves over

the present districts of Somerset East and Albany. Some
persons asserted that the Europeans had provoked the Kosas

to invade the colony. There was a story in circulation that

old Willem Prinsloo, of the Boschberg, had exasperated the

Imidange by shooting one of them whom he caught in the

act of stealing a sheep, and by seizing some of their cattle to

make good his losses. There was another story that Mar-
thinus Prinsloo, a son of the former, had gone across the

Keiskama with a party trading for cattle in defiance of the

prohibitions of the government, and had there in a quarrel

killed one of Barabe's immediate retainers. It was stated

also that a petty chief named Koba, who was one of those

that agreed to the Fish river being the boundary, having

crossed over to the colonial side, was driven back again by

the colonists with unnecessary violence. It is impossible

now to say whether these reports were true or not. They
were put in circulation by men who were certainly biassed in

favour of the Kafirs, and the explanations of the Prinsloos,

if any were ever given, are not to be found.

The official reports were to the effect that the first parties

who crossed the Fish river said they did not want to quarrel

with the Europeans, but they had a feud with the Gunu-
kwebe clan, and these, having taken shelter behind the

colonists on the Bushman's river, sent out parties to lift

their cattle. To prove the truth of their assertions, they

murdered a number of Hottentots and took their cattle, with-

out molesting the colonists. But shortly they began to drive

off the herds of the white people also, and on the 27th of

September 1779 the field corporal Jan Hermanns Potgieter

sent a report that the farmers of the Zuurveld or the pre-

sent districts of Albany and Bathurst, together with those

B 2
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along the right bank of the Bushman's river, had been

obliged to withdraw to a place of greater safety.

The same tactics that have been practised by the Kosas

in every subsequent struggle with the colony were used in

this, the first Kaffir war. Earabe sent a message to the

nearest European outpost, to the eflPect that the clans com-

mi.ting the depredations were rebels, and that he would be

glad to receive assistance against them. The colonists, as

yet without experience of Bantu duplicity, believed Earabe's

statement, though some of his immediate followers were

among the plunderers.

During the summer of 1779-80 two commandos took the

field for the purpose of expelling the intruders. One, com-

posed of the farmers from both sides of Bruintjes Hoogte,

was under command of Josua Joubert. The refugees from the

Zuurveld and their friends west of the Bushman's river

formed the other, which \ras commanded by Pieter Hendrik

Ferreira. The Imidange were attacked and defeated on

several occasions, when a considerable number of their cattle

were taken ; but they were not entirely driven to their own
side of the Fish river.

During the winter those who had been apparently sub-

dued crossed again into the colony, accompanied by many
others, and it became evident that a grand effort must be

made to expel them. On the 24th of October 1780 the

council ofpolicy, at the request ofthe district courts, appointed

Adriaan van Jaarsveld field commandant of the eastern fron-

tier, and gave him military authority over the whole of the

border farmers. There was no man in the country better

qualified for the post than he. Accustomed from his earliest

boyhood to warfare with savages, compelled to be ever ready

to defend his family and his flocks from marauders, he knew
exactly how to act in an emergency of this kind. He had

retired to Bruintjes Hoogte from the Sneeuwberg in 1776 to

be free of depredations by Bushmen, and he was resolved not

to move again if he couid by any means hold his own.

On the 14th of November the council of policy resolved

that as the Kaffirs had not kept their agreement with the
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-governor to respect the Fish river as the boundary, the

<;ommandant should be authorised to expel them by force.

On the 5th of December instructions were issued for his

guidance, in which he was directed to endeavour to come to

an amicable arrangement with the intruders, on the basis

of their retirement across the Tish river and a mutual

restoration of all cattle captured. If they would consent to

this proposal, the commandant was to take care that no
European molested them or thereafter entered their country

for any purpose, and he was not to interfere in the feuds

between the clans. But if they declined, he was to assemble

an armed force and drive them over the river.

Early in the summer the old chief Langa, brother of

Rarabe and head of the Amambala clan, moved to the west

bank of the Bushman's river. As a peace offering he sent

to the nearest European camp a small herd of cattle and a

few horses taken from farmers in the Zuurveld, with a

message that he wished to remain for a short time where

he was. He was still there when Commandant Van
Jaarsveld offered him the choice of retreating to his own
country or being attacked. Langa elected to retire, and did

so at once. He was consequently not molested, but of all

the chiefs who had invaded the colony he was the only one

willing to retreat.

The several divisions of the Imidange, the Amagwali
under the chief Titi, the Amantinde under the chief Cika,

and a number of other clans of less note declined to move.

The commandant therefore collected all the European and

Hottentot families of the frontier in a couple of lagers 'or

camps formed by drawing up waggons in a circle and filling

the spaces between the wheels with thorn trees. Leaving

a few men to defend the lagers, with ninety-two burghers

and forty Hottentots, all mounted and well armed, he fell

iupon the Kosas and smote them hip and thigh. The com-

mando was in the field from the 23rd of May to the 19th

of July 1781, and was only disbanded when the last of the

intruders was again beyond the Fish river, and the first

JKaf&r war was over.



246 History of South Africa

II
•

1

i

II? I

The spoil—five thousand three hundred head of-homed
cattle, among which, however, were many recently taken from

the farmers—was divided by the commandant among the

members of his force. On the 9th of October the matter

was discussed by the council of policy, when it was resolved

that the cattle which were taken from the Kaffirs and divided

among the men,of the commando might be retained on this

occasion, but that this decision was not to form a precedent,

much less was it to serve as a basis for the colonists to seek

a quarrel with the Kaffirs and to rob them of anything that

belonged to them.

While these events were taking place, it was too much
to expect that the farmers of the eastern districts would

leave their families and property exposed, and proceed to

Cape Town, four or five hundred miles distant, to keep

watch against a foreign foe. ^
As soon, however, as intell^nce was received that the

mother country was at war, the burghers within the old

settled districts declared their readiness to do all in their

power for the defence of the colony. Their disatfection to

the government of Mr. Van Plettenberg did not interfere

with their loyalty to the Netherlands. A call was made
upon the burghers of Stellenbosch to come to the assistance

of the garrison, and on the 2nd of April a detachment

arrived at the castle. It was arranged that half of the

Stellenbosch militia should remain under arms in Cape Town
for a month, and then be relieved by the other half, who
would remain for the same period.

There were several richly laden ships, homeward bound,

lying in Table Bay, and their officers as well as the Cape
council considered it injudicious for them to proceed upon

their voyage until they could sail under the protection of a

fleet of war. But as the winter was approaching they could

not be kept in Table Bay, and in Simon's Bay there were

no means of defending them in the event of an attack by an

English fleet. Under these circumstances it was resolved

to protect the entrance to Hout Bay by constructing a

battery upon the western point and mounting twenty cannon.
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upon it. Within the next few weeks the ships Baiavia,

Amsterdam, Morgenatevy and Indiaan were sent there for

safety.

But Hout Bay is too small to contain more than four or

five ships of heavy burden, and it was therefore resolved to

send any others that might arrive to Saldanha Bay, which

was considered less liable than Simon's Bay to be visited.

On the 13th of May the homeward bound ships Hoogkarspel,

Honkoop, Middelhurg, Paarl, and Dankbaarheid were sent

there, and with them was sent the Held Woltemaade, an
outward bound Indiaman, that she might undergo some
necessary repairs and refresh her crew before proceeding to

Ceylon. Gerrit Harmeyer, skipper of the Hoogkarapel, was
appointed commodore of the squadron. He was directed to

anchor in a sheltered position and then unbend all the sails

of the ships, which he was to stow away in the packets Zon

and 8nelheid, which were now useless owing to the war. These

vessels were to be sent some distance up the bay, so that

they could be easily destroyed in case of necessity. The
commodore was enjoined to make the best possible prepara-

tions for defence, but no means could be provided by the

government beyond the ordinary armaments of the India-

men.

The day after intelligence was received that the United

Provinces were at war, the English brig Betsy—a packet

used by the government of St. Helena—came into Table

Bay and dropped her anchors without suspicion of danger.

Some French cruisers were lying in the bay, and as soon as

the Betsy's yards were lowered they sent their boats and

took possession of her without resistance. The French also

seized a vessel under Tuscan colours lying in the bay, and

retained her as a prize on the ground that she was really

English property.

The Betsy was transferred by her captors to Governor

Van Plettenberg, by whom she was renamed the Postiljon.

Fran9ois Duminy, an old French skipper who had been

living at the Cape for some time, was placed in command of

her, and she was sent with all speed to Ceylon with intelli-
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gence of the war. The Company's packet Herstelder was
ready to sail with a cargo of wheat for Europe. Her desti-

nation was altered, and within twenty-four hours she was on
her way to Batavia with despatches.

There were several English visitors at the Cape, pas-

s^r-gers by Dutch Indiamen to Europe, and others. These,

with the officers of the Betsy, were sent to one of the

Company's outposts, to prevent them from communicating

with their countrymen. The English sailors were distri-

buted among the Dutch ships.

Seven weeks of suspense and anxiety passed away
without any further knowledge of what was transpiring

in the outer world. At length, on the 20th of May, the

French frigate Serapis dropped anchor in Simon's Bay,

and her captain reported that a French fleet with a

strong body of troops might shortly be expected to protect

the Cape.

The intelligence was correct. As soon as war was pro-

claimed with the Netherlands, the English government

commenced to fit out an expedition to seize this colony.

Eveiy particular concerning it, however, was made known
to the French court by a spy named De la Motte, who was
resident in London, and who was detected, tried for high

treason, and condemned to death a few months later. At
this time a French fleet was being prepared to assist in the

operfc-tions against Sir Edward Hughes in the East Indies.

Its equipment was therefore hurried on with the utmost

expedition, and some transports were added to it for the

purpose of conveying land forces to South Africa. It was
seen to be a trial of speed, in which the possession of the

Cape was to be the prize of the winner.

On the 13th of March 1781 the English fleet sailed from

Spitheod. It consisted of the Romney, of 50 guns, carrying

the flag of Commodore George Johnstone, commander-in-

chief of the expedition, the Hero, 74i, Monmouth, 64, Jupiter,

60, Jaw, 60, Apollo, '68, Jason, 36, Active, 32, Diana, 28,

Infernal, fireship. Terror, bomb, seven light armed cruisers,

two cutters and a sloop as despatch vessels, four transports.
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eight storeships and victuallers, and thirteen Indiamen, in

all forty-six sail. Three thousand troops, under General

Meadows, were on board. On the fourth day after sailing,

a Dutch merchantman was chased by the Eattlemahe cutter,

and captured after a sharp action.

All went well until the arrival of the fleet at St. Jago,

where the commodore intended to take in a supply of fresh

water, for which purpose he came to anchor in Porto Praya
roads. He had no suspicion of danger, an he did not con-

sider it possible that his destination was known to the enemy.
No precautions were therefore taken against surpriwe, but,

on the contrary, the decks of the ships of war were encum-
bered with casks and lumber of various kinds, and the best

of the seamen were sent ashore to bring water to the boats.

While in this condition, on the 16th of April some strange

ships with no colours flying were observed from the Mb to

be standing in under all sail, and immediately the intelli-

gence was conveyed by signal to the rest of the fleet. There
was hardly time to clear the guns before the strangers were
abreast of the outermost English ships, and dropping anchor

within cable's length of the Isis, the leading vessel poured a

broadside into that frigate and then ran the French flag to

her mizen peak.

The fleet which made the attack was under command of

Pierre Andre de Suffren, vice admiral of France, and con-

sisted of the Heros, 74, Hannibal, 74, Vauganr, 04, Artiaan,

64, and Sphinx, 64. A corvette and eight transports with

troops on board remained in tbe offing and took no part in

the engagement.

Suflren sailed from Brest on the 2nd of Mareh, hoping

to reach the Cape before Johnstone. When off Ut. Jago the

Artisan, which was in advance, observed the English fleet,

and Captain De Cardaillac, her commander, at once put

about and informed the admiral. It seemed as if fortune

had specially favoured them with an opportunity to destroy

their rivals. Suffren instantly prepared to attack. Captain

De Cardaillac hailed him, and inquired wliat was to be done

if fire should be opened upon them from a fort on land, as
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the Portuguese—the owners of the island—were neutral in-

the war. * Open fire in return * replied the admiral.

The English fleet was taken at a tremendous disad-

vantage. The commodore's ship, moored inside the India-

men, could take little or no part in the defence. The
smaller men-of-war were almost useless against such formid-

able assailants, and the transports, victuallers, and merchant-

men were in even a worse condition. The five French ships

of the line were anchored to windward, and were pouring in

broadsides as fast as their guns could be loaded. As the

smoke rolled over the English fleet the enemy could not be

clearly distinguished, and some of the transports in the

confusion fired into the Indiamen.

But the English seamen were neither idle nor dismayed..

Soon after the I&is received the broadside of the Keros they

were answering shot for shot, and in ten minutes from the

commencement of the action a cheer arose from the outer-

most ship and was echoed throughout the fleet as the French

admiral's mizen topmast and ensign were carried away»

One worthy scion of the seakings, Captain Ward of the

jffero, was not content with mere defence, but resolved to

become the assailant. Having got hands from the nearest

ships to assist in working his guns, he boarded the Artisan.

with some of his own crew, and though he did not succeed

in capturing that vessel, after a desperate fight in which

Captain De Cardaillac was killed, he actually took twenty-

five prisoners and brought them away with him. From;

these prisoners the English officers and sailors first learnt

that their destination was the Cape of Good Hope, for the

fleet was sailing under sealed orders, no one except the

commodore himself being acquainted with the object of the

expedition.

After cannonading each o-:her at cable's length for nearly

two hours it was still doubtful which side would be vic-

torious, when the Hannibal's fire slackened, her mizen mast

was seen to fall, and almost immediately afterwards her

main and fore masts tottered and went over. Cheer after

cheer now went up in the English fleet, and hundreds of
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the

men stood ready for the order to spring into the boats and
board the wreck. Suffren hailed the Harmihal, and asked

after the condition of the crew. The captain had been

killed and nearly two hundred men were lying dead or

wounded on the decks, was the reply. There was not a

moment therefore to lose, so the cables of the French ships

were cut, the Hawnibal was taken in tow by the Heros, and

Suffren stood out to sea. He took with him the Hinchin-

hroJee and Fortitude, Indiamen, the Infernal, firesbip, and the

Edward, victualler, which had been cut out and placed in

charge of prize crews.

Johnstone at once gave orders for the ships of war under

his command to follow the enemy. But some of them were

quite unprepared for sea, and it was only after three hours

delay that they assembled outside. The Isis was then

found to be crippled by the loss of a topmast and several

yards, besides having her sails and rigging cut to pieces^

and two or three others had sustained injuries which needed

prompt attention. Meanwhile the French fleet was increas-

ing its distance, and as night was settirg in |;)je commodore
judged it expedient to abandon pursuit.

In the action at Porto Praya the English loss was only

forty-two killed and one hundred and forty-one wounded, that

of the French was somewhat heavier. Both suffered more in

material comparatively than in men. Several of the India-

men were badly cut up. The Terror, bomb, lost her bow-

sprit and foremast ; she then caught fire, and her cable

parting she drifted out to sea, but managed to get back in

the night. The Hinchinhroke, Fortitude, Edward, and Infernal

were made prizes, but none of them remained under the

French flag. The first three were ao shattered that the

prize crews abandoned themj and they were all recovered

within a few days. The Infernal was retaken by her own
crew while the captors were off their guard. Twenty-one

Englishmen, however, had been removed from this vessel

and remained prisoners in the Heros, against whom, on the

other side, must be counted the twenty-five Frenchmen

carried off by Captain Ward from the Artisan.
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Suffren, after the action, made the best of his way to the

Cape. Jury masts were fitted up in tbs Hamiibal, and as

the wind was generally fair, a quici£ passage, under the cir-

cumstances, was made. On the 21st of June the Heroa

arrived in Simon's Bay in advance of the rest of the squadron.

It was feared that the English fle "^ was close at hand, so the

signal guns which had been placed on prominent hills were

fired, and in response a large body of burghers hastened from

all parts of the country within two hundred miles to aid in

the defence of Cape Town.
After a few days the French transports arrived, when a

company of artillery, part of the infantry regiment of

Austrasie, and the regiment of Pondicherry—the last com-
manded by Colonel Conway, an Irish : in the French

service—were landed. These troops marched overland to

Cape Town, where they arrived on the 8rd of July. The
Austrasie regiment was not intended to remain here long.

It was quartered in a large warehouse adjoining the Lutheran

church, until it could be sent to Mauritius. The regiment

of Pondicherry, which was to remain here during the war,

was quartered in a wing of the new hospital. This building

was not yet completed, though eighty to a hundred men had
been working upon it for nearly nine years. In June 1779

a portion of it was first used as a hospital. One large ward

was employed as a grain and another as a wine magazine.

And now for the first time, owing to there being no other

accommodation available, the right wing was turned into a

barrack.

The demand for provisions for the French fleet and troops

caused a sudden and great increase in prices. The governor

and council considered this circumstance unfair to those who
had come to save the colony from conquest, and they there-

fore invited the acting and retired burgher councillors to form

a committee with two government officers to draw up a scale

of prices which should be adhered to while the war lasted.

The committee proposed as a maximum : wheat to

strangers not higher than twelve shillings a muid, meal

fourteen shillings and eight pence farthing the hundred
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pounds, wine nine pounds a legger (of which one pound wa»
to be paid to the licensed dealer), beef two pence a pound,

and mutton a penny a pound. To this scale the council of

policy agreed, and all persons were prohibited under heavy

penalties from selling at a dearer rate.

To prevent intelligence being conveyed to the English,

two Danish Indiamen, homeward bound, that put into

Simon's Bay for supplies, were detained there, as it was feared

that they might either touch at St. Helena or meet with

strangers at sea. The "Held Woltemaade, however, having

completed her repairs, was permitted to sail for Ceylon.

On the morning of the 22nd of July a report reached

Cape Town that a fleet of thirty-three sail was in sight

off Saldanha Bay. The burgher lieutenant Van Reenen was
thereupon hurried off with a troop of mounted men to ascer-

tain particulars, and a messenger was despatched to Hout
Bay with orders to the skippers of the vessels there to return

at once to Table Bay, to keep close in shore on the passage,

and if attacked to run their ships aground and destroy them.

Lieutenant Van Reenen had not proceeded far when he met
a company of sailors who informed him that an English fleet

was in possession of Saldanha Bay.

As soon as Johnstone could refit his ships after the action

at Porto Praya, he had sailed for the Cape, which he still

had some hope of reaching before Suffren, as he thought it

likely that the French admiral would be compelled to put

into a Brazilian port to repair his damages. This being

doubtful, however, when near his destination he sent the

Active on ahead, for the purpose of reconnoitring Table Bay.

Soon after parting from the fleet, a strange sail standing

to the southward was observed by the Active's lookout, upon

which Captain Mackenzie hoisted French colours and ran

towards her. It was the Held Woltemaade, just out of

Saldanha Bay. Being hailed in French, the ofiicers of the

Indiaman wero unsuspicious of danger, and they gave full

information concerning the arrival of Suffren and the condi-

tion "f the five ships they had recently parted from. Captain

Mackenzie then hauled down the French flag and demanded
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the surrender of the Wolt&maade under pain of instantly

sinking her. She was given up without a blow. On taking

possession, the captors found in addition to a valuable cargo

a sum of money equal to forty thousand pounds sterling,

which was intended to aid the government of Ceylon. The
Active immediately returned with her prize and reported to

the commodore, who, upon learning that the Cape was now
too strong to be attacked, resolved to make himself master of

the five ludiamen.

At half past nine on the morning of the 21st of July, a

signal was made from the look-out station at Saidanha Bay
^hni; a large fleet under French colours was in sight and

standing straight in. An hour later the leading ships were

Tvirhiti the entrance, when they hauled down the French and
I'Oisted English colours.

According to their instructions, the Dutch ofl&cers should

now have destroyed their ships, seeing that defence and
'^Hcape were alike impossible. But Skipper Van Gennep of

the Middelburg was the only one of the Ave who had taken

the precaution to have a quantity of inflammable materials

in readiness for such an occasion, and the consequence was

that although all the ships were hastily set on fire and aban-

doned, the English sailors got possession of the Hoogkarspel,

Honkoop, Paarlf and Dankhaarheid, in time to extinguish the

flames before any material injury was done.

Three fires were kindled in the hold of the Middelburg by

her chief officer, Abraham df Smidt, ancestor of the colonial

family of this name. He yi th the steward and one seaman

had remained behind for that purpose when the remainder

of the crew left, and they did not make their escape until

the English were witlun r /nnon shot. In a moment the

flames were pouring through the lower hatchways, and

shortly they reached tho magazine, when an explosion took

place which hurled chests of tea and bales of cotton goods

together with fragments of timber high into the air. What
was left of the hull sank to the bottom, but as the water was
shallow the remains of the cargo were easily recovered some

years later.

'i

ii.
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The Zon and Snelheid were abandoned without any eflPort

to destroy them, and thus the captors obtained possession

of all the equipage of their prizes. At Saldanha Bay two
Indian princes were found, who had been banished by the

Batavian government from Ternate and Tidor for political

offences. These exiles were released from captivity, and
"were received as guests on board one of the men-of-war. In
two days the Indiamen were got ready for sea, and on the

24th the fleet sailed, leaving nothing afloat but the two
empty packets Zon and 8nelheid, which were so old and de-

cayed as not to be worth taking away.

The main object of the expedition having been frustrated,

Commodore Johnstone resolved to. send the troops on to

India and to take a portion of the fleet back to Europe. He
therefore placed Captain Alms in command of the convoy,

for the protection of which he left five of his best ships of

war; and with the Romney^ JupiteVf Diana, Jason, Terror,

Infernal, one light cruiser, three victuallers, and the Dutch
prizes, he stood away for England.

As there was now no danger of an immediate attack, in

August the burghers were permitted to return to their homes.

The governor reported to the directors that their alacrity to

serve had surprised him, and Colonel Conway expressed great

satisfaction with their conduct. The defence of the Cape

was left to the regiment of Pondicherry and the Dutch troops,

together with a small corps of halfbreeds and Hottentots

vvhich was raised in the country and stationed in Cape Town.
The armaments on the forts were very defective, but in

November forty cannon and a large supply of ammunition

arrived from Mauritius.

The necessities of the government were pressing and the

treasury was empty. No money could be expected from the

mother country during the continuance of the wat. In these

straits, on the tith of November 1781 the council of policy

resolved to borrow from the colonists as much as was urgently

needed, to pay interest monthly for the loan at the rate of half

per cent, and to promise to repay the principal upon the

arrival of the first outward bound fleet. Sufficient money
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was not to be obtained in this way, however, and after th&
30th of April 1782 expenditure was met by notes, which in

a short time were issued to the amount of 185,0442. Thi»

was the introduction of a system of equalising revenue and
expenditure that for nearly half a century caused great con-

fusion in commercial transactions.

A few years later notes to the amount of 165,1802. were

redeemed, either in specie or by bills on Holland, but further

issues were afterwards made. In 1795 the amount of such

paper outstanding, with no security except the promise of

the government to pay when it could, was 122,7822. The
notes oflCered great temptation to unprincipled persons to

defraud the uneducated farmers of the interior. They were

easily forged, and in this way many persons became the

victims of swindlers.

In May 1782 the garrison was strengthened by the

arrival of a body of troops termed the regiment of Luxem-
burg, raised in France, but in the pay of the Dutch East

India Company. This regiment remained until February

1783, when it was sent to Ceylon. Just before it left the

Cape, the regiment of Meuron, a strong body of Swiss troops

in the pay of the Dutch Company, arrived to replace it. In

February 178b the French regiment of Waldener, also in the

Company's pay, arrived and formed a camp under canvas at

Diep Eiver. In April of the same year this regiment left

for Batavia. The regiment of Pondicherrj', which was sent

to assist the Dutch, but was not in the pay of the Company,
remained at the Cape until some time after the conclusion

of peace, as it was not until April 1784 that it embarked for

Mauritius. In 1 785 the troops that remained consisted of

the Swiss regiment of Meuron, some five hundred Dutch

infantry under Gordon, who had been advanced to the rank

of colonel, and a few engineers under Major Philip Herman
Gilquin, who since June 1779 had been director of fortifica-

tions in Table Valley.

Owing to the war with England there was no communi-

cation between South Africa and the Netherlands for more

than a year, and it was not until the 1st of April 1782 that



Joachim van Plettenberg 257

the replies of the officers of the Cape government to the charges

made against them by the burghers could be sent away. When
these documents reached the Netherlands they were referred

by the directors to the committee which had the case under

examination. One of them attracted special attention. This

was tl\e statement of the fiscal, the tone of which convinced

the directors that Mr. Boers was not an officer who could

safely be left in power. They therefore agreed without hesi-

tation to his request to resign his duties, but required him
to furnish bail to the amount of a little over 1,000Z. if he

should leave the colony for Europe before the charges against

him were decided. He retired from office in April 1783.

Mr. Jan Jacob Serrurier was instructed by the council to act

as fiscal, and in November 1784 he received from the prince

of Orange the permanent appointment.

The principles of Mr. Boers have been commented upon,

but another instance of the manner in which he put them in

practice may be given. During the war there was such a

scarcity of blankets and rough cloth in the colony that the

slaves were almost naked. Thereupon several enterprising

persons formed the idea of manufacturing blankets and cloth

at the Cape, and a company was got together prepared to

risk the necessary capital. There was coarse wool to be had

in plenty, and a burgher named Frederik Heyneman, who
was living in the village of Stellenbosch, and who had been

a weaver before he came to this country, was engaged to

commence the work. All was in readiness, and only per-

mission was needed from the government. The company

—

Messrs. Tobias Christiaan Eonnekamp, Jan Frederik Kirsten,

Olof Godlieb de Wet, and Gerrit Hendrik Cruywagen, all in

the government service, and the burghers Jan Meyndert

Cruywagen, Jan Serrurier, Jan Bottiger, and Gerrit Hendrik

Meyer—applied to the council for the necessary leave. All

the members were willing, except Mr. Boers, who denounced

the project of establishing manufactures in a colony as little

short of treason, and succeeded in thwarting the plan.

The old skipper Staring, head of the naval establishment,

left South Africa before the fiscal. In January 1782 the

u. s
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Danish ship Gatile of Dandburg put into Table Bay, where an
embargo was laid upon her. Staring and Captain De Lille

went on board to communicate the decision of the council,

when the Danish skipper ordered sail to be set and iried to

get away. Fire was then opened upon the ship from the

forts, upon which the skipper obliged Staring to stand in the

most dangerous position. He did so with the utmost com-

posure, although the shot was flying thick around him. In

a few minutes the Dane was obliged to surrender. But
Staring, brave in front of cannon balls, feared the result of

the inquiry that was being made into his alleged peculations,

and within a week of this event he requested the council of

policy to allow him to take his discharge. This was granted,

much to the dissatisfaction of the directors when they were

informed of it, and he left for Europe in a neutral ship.

He was succeeded as head of the naval establishment by

Justinus van Gennep, recently skipper of the Middelhurg.

While the statements of the o£5cials were on the way to

Europe, the Assembly of Seventeen met. The delegate Eoos

had died, but Messrs. Van Eeenen, Artois, and Heyns were

still in Amsterda,m. They delivered to the directors another

memorial containing further charges against the Cape

officials, supported by numerous documents. The memorial

and its aniiexures were referred to the committee of investi-

gation. The directors resolved to instruct the government

at the Cape to do everything in its power, consistently with

the Company's interests, to smooth over matters and to

allay the discontent of the burghers. But they did not

explain how that was to be eflFected without making
concessions or amending the system under which their

officers were paid, so that sucli instructions were practically

of no value.

It was not until towards the close of 1783, four years

after the matter had been placed in their hands, that the

committee of investigation sent in a report. They bad
come to the conclusion that the complainants could not be

held to represent the whole body of burghers at the Cape,

and that the charges against the officials had not been
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proved. They recommended that no changes in the regula-

tions regarding commerce should be made until a general

European peace, and that consequently the colonists should

not be granted liberty to trade on their own account with

Europe and India. They objected to allowing an appeal

direct from the high court of justice at the Cape to the

supreme court of the Netherlands instead of to the court at

Batavia, as that would practically remove the Oape from the

jurisdiction of the Company ; but they approved of recon-

stituting the high court of justice, so as to make it consist

of six servants of the Company beside the president and six

burghers, instead of nine servants of the Company and three

burghers as f'^rmerly. They were in favour of allowing the

Company's servants to have gardens for their own use, but

not to sell produce from them. They left to the fiscal his

perquisites, including the fee of one shilling and four pence

on every muid of corn or meal sold to foreigners ; but they

proposed to restrict to 40i. his power of compounding cases

instead of bringing them into court.

On the 3rd of December 1783 this report was adopted

by the Assembly of Seventeen, and was communicated to the

Cape government by the next ships that sailed. At the

same time the directors resolved not to prohibit the banish-

ment of useless persons from the colony, but to instruct the

governor and council of policy to use this power sparingly

and with discretion, and to give the person deported the

choice of removal to Europe or India.

This result of their complaints gave great dissatisfaction

to the colonists. Since 1779 the condition of affairs had

greatly altered, as there had never before been such a

demand for produce as that created by the large garrison

and the French forces in the East. A French commissariat

oflBcer, M. Percheron, resided at the Cape, and purchased

large quantities of provisions at high prices. Other nation-

alities also had agents here for the same purpose, though

their requirements were not nearly so great. Next to the

French in commercial dealings in South Africa at this time

were the Danes, whose agent in Cape Town was the burgher

9 2
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Hendrik Jnstinus de Wet. Many new trading houses had'

been established by burghers. In Cape Town there was a

display of prosperity which astonished strangers. European

and Indian wares in the greatest variety and of the most

costly description were introduced in large quantities by

Danish ships \ and though the prices asked were exorbitant,

they commanded a ready sale. The defective means of

communication with the interior attracted greater attention

than at any previous period, and the council of policy was
desired to adopt measures for making good roads, that the

inhabitants might more easily exchange the productions of

the country and obtain foreign wares. The subject of a free

coasting trade came also into prominence, and a memorial

upon it was addressed to the government.

But the burghers of South Africa, though keenly alive

to the advantages of material prosperity, have at every

period of their history shown a firmer attachment to what

they hold to be their political rights and liberties. There

have indeed been times when considerable parties of men
have wavered between money and freedom from misrule, but

the women have never hesitated in rejecting prosperity at

the price of oppression or disdainful treatment. And per-

haps nowhere else in the world have women the influence

that they have on South African farms. On this occasion

neither men nor women were disposed to let the question

rest. The government resorted to various petty persecu-

tions, but the party opposed to it increased in strength, and
resolved now to appeal to the States General of the Nether-

lands.

With this object, in December 1784 two memorials,

signed by M. Bergh, C. Maasdorp, G. H. Meyer, J. P.

Wamecke, J. Myburgh, J. D. de Villiers, J. B. Groeneveld,

P. Myburgh, H. Louw, and J. Roos, who had been chosen as

representatives by the Cape burghers, were forwarded to the

delegates who were still in Holland. In these memorials
complaints were made of iniquitous and imperious govern-

ment, of maladministration of justice, and of the scanty
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attention paid by the directors of the Eaat India Company
to the representations of the colonists.

In the mean time, however, the directors had come to

the conclusion that changes were necessary in the govern-

ment of the Cape, though they could not bring themselves

so far as to grant to the colonists liberty of foreign com-
merce. They had narrowly escaped losing the country

altogether, and they were now aware that the burghers were

not in a position to defend it from foreign attacks. Governor

Van Plettenberg, who had been surprised at the alacrity

shown by the farmers to aid the garrison in time of danger,

had tried to get a , company of burghers stationed in the

town, to be relieved monthly by others, but the duty to be

permanent. In this he had not succeeded. Early in 1783

the preliminaries of a treaty of peace had been arranged

with Great Britain ; but it was admitted on all sides that a

garrison of at least two thousand men was required to secure

the Cape against surprise in the event of another war, and

that additional fortifications must be built.

The directors therefore resolved to send out as governor

a military officer of rank and experience, to station here a

large body of troops as a dep6t for India, and to employ

these troops in the construction of necessary works. In con-

currence with the States General, they selected as governor

Lieutenant-Colonel Cornells Jacob van de Graaff, an engineer

officer, who was then controller general of the fortifications

in Holland, and who enjoyed the confidence of the stadt-

holder. Colonel Van de Graaff with his family arrived in

South Airica on the 22nd of January 1785, and he took over

the administration on the 14th of February. On the 10th of

April Mr. Van Plettenberg left for Europe as admiral of the

homeward-bound fleet of the year.

During the war with England the Company's trade had
been almost annihilated. Its fleets were laid up in harbours

or were swept from the seas. It was compelled to employ

ships under neutral flags to convey cargoes to and from

India, and to prevent the utter ruin of its dependencies was

•obliged to allow any one who chose to buy and sell freely in



262 History of South Africa

its foreign possessions. There was hardly a nation in Europe

that did not furnish adventurers to take advantage of this>

condition of things. The list of ships that put into the two

open ports of South Africa during the four years 1781-1784

shows this very clearly.

Table Bay Simon's Bay

1781 1782 1783 1784 1781 1782 1783 1784

Dutch . . .

English .

French
Danish . .

Swedish .

Austrian .

Portuguese
Italian . .

Prusoian .

Ha'jQbuig .

Russian . .

Spanish
American .

29
2
19
10
3
1

1

1

13

18
18
3
8

2

1

14
18
42
20
8

27
3

1

8

1

2

38
18

40
14

8
12

2

4

1

1

1

2

16

6
1

2

38
5
1

7

8
7
2
2

4

10

6
6
6

3

1

1

Thus out of an average yearly number of 135 ships,

only 29 were Dutch, and many of these were owned by

individuals or were men-of-war belonging to the national

government. In September 1783 peace was concluded, but

the old order of things could not at once be restored.

During these years it was not possible to send much
produce to Europe, though a considerable quantity of pro-

visions was forwarded to the Company's establishments in

India, for the use of the garrisons there. Three or four-

hundred casks of beef and pork salted at the Cape formed

part of these shipments. The years 1783 and 1784 were-

marked by severe drought in the western parts of the

colony, and the grain crops were very poor ; but abundance-

of rain fell in the east, and meat and butter were plentiful

and cheap.

While Mr. Van Plettenberg was governor, the colony was
visited by distinguished travellers of various nationalities,

who have left impressions of what they saw in several

interesting volumes. First among these ranks the SwedishiL
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10
5
6

6

3

1

naturalist Sparrman. Dr. Thunberg, also a Swede, Captain

Stavorinus, a Zeelander, Lieutenant Paterson, an English-

man, and M. Le Yaiilant, a Frenchman, gave accounts of

the country of greater or less value.

The English explorer Captain Cook touched at Table

Bay with the Resolution and Adventv/re on his outward pas-

sage in November 1772, and when returning homeward in

March 1775. He was here again when outward bound on
his last voyage with the Resolution and Discovery in Octo-

ber 1776.

The French explorer Captain Kerguelen when proceeding

to visit the South Polar Sea put into Simon's Bay with the

Rolland and Oiseau in May 1773. Just a year later he put

into the same port again when returning to Brest.

During this period the following shipping disasters took

place on the South African coast

:

Contrary to the instructions of the directors, there were

five Indiamen in Table Bay on the 1st of Jun«j 1773, when a

gale from the north-west set in. A little after dawn, one

of them—the outward-bound ship Jonge Thomas—was driven

from her anchors and cast on the beach beyond the mouth
of Salt River. It was aeen that the wreck could not hold

together long, but for some time nothing was done to save

the crew. In the course of the morning, however, a dairy-

man named Wolraad Woltemaade visited the scene of the

disaster. Woltemaade, who was mounted on a powerful

horse, dashed into the breakers and reached the ship's side.

With two men holding to the horse's tail he returned to the

shore, and this feat he repeated until he had saved fourteen

of the crew. In the next venture he was swept under a
breaker and was drowned. Shortly after this the wreck

broke up, when one hundred and thirty-eight men lost their

lives and fifty-three reached the land, making sixty-seven

saved in all. The directors caused the exploit of the brave

dairyman to be pictured on the stern of the next ship built

for them, which they named the Held (or Hero) Woltemaade,

On the 3l8t of January 1776 the Company's homeward-

bound ship Nieuw Rhoan when attempting to enter Table
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Bay was driren by a violent southeaster upon a reef at

Eobben Island, and was badly damaged. She was got off,

and was brought up to the anchorage; but it was found

necessary to beach her by the jetty to save her cargo.

On the 15th of October of the same year the French

ship Ce/TM^ homeward-bound from Pondicherry, in a gale

from the north-west parted her cables and went ashore near

the mouth of Salt Biver. The ship broke up quickly, and
very little cargo was saved j but no lives were lost.

On the 26th of August 1778 the English East India

Company's outward bound ship Colebrooke when entering

False Bay ran on a concealed reef, and was so much damaged
that it was necessary to beach her near Cape Hangklip to save

the crew. She went to pieces «>,lmo8t at once, and all the

cargo was lost ; but the crew, with the exception of two men,
were saved by boats sent from ships in Simon's Bay.

In January 1778 the Company's ship Venus left Batavia

to return to Europe. In July she put into Dela^oa Bay
with her rudder loose, and only eighteen men able to work.

Fifty-five sailors had died of scurvy. One English and two
Austrian vessels were found in Delagoa Bay, and with these

intelligence of the condition of the Venus was sent to Ceylon,

whence it reached the Cape. In June 1779 a packet from

Table Bay found the ship with forty-five living men on board,

out of the original crew of one hundred and twenty-nine.

A fresh crew and provisions were sent from the Cape, the

damages were repaired, and the Venus resumed her voyage.

On the 6th of January 1780 the Company's homeward-
bound ship Mentor went down in a great gale off the

southern coast. On the 9th two of her crew were picked up
by the French ship Salomon. They had been drifting about

on a fragment of the poop, and were the only ones saved.

On the 24th of September 1782 the French corvette

Victor, having anchored in the night too close to the breakers,

was driven ashore in a north-west gale beyond the mouth of

Salt River, and went to pieces. Nearly all of her crew were

saved.

On the 11th of July 1788 the Danish outward-bound ship
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gale

Jficohar ran ashore on the coast a little to the eastward of

Cape Agulhas, and became a total wreck. Only eleven of

her crew managed to get to land.

On the 27th of January 1784 the French 64-g\in ship

Severe when trying to beat up to the anchorage in Table

Bay missed stays, and ran ashore on the Blueberg beach.

She became a total wreck, but her crew got away safely

in boats.

On the 7th of July following the Company's ship Ho(^
ran ashore in the night close to Mouille Point, and became

a wreck. Only one of her crew was lost.

More noteworthy than any of the above was the wreck

of the English East India Company's ship Oroavenor, which

was lost on the coast a few miles north of the Umzimvubu
river in August 1782. This wreck has been a favourite

theme for poets and romance writers, and to the present

day speculations are frequently put forward as to the fate of

the lady passengers. The Grosvenor sailed from Trincomalee

on the 13th of June, having on board one hundred and fifty

souls, passengers and crew all told. Among the passengers

were several oflScers of position in the English East India

Company's service, viz. Colonel James, Mr. Hosea, Captain

Adair, and Messrs. Williams, Taylor, and Newman. Colonel

James was accompanied by his wife, and Mr. Hosea by his

wife and three children. The other passengers were Captain

Talbot, of the royal navy. Colonel D'Espinette and Captain

Olivier, French exchanged prisoners of war, Mrs. Logic, wife

of the chief officer of the ship, and several children proceed-

ing to England fco be educated.

The ship was believed to be still a day's sail from the

African coast, when at half past four in the morning of the

4th of August some seamen aloft saw land ahead. The fact

was reported to the officer of the watch, who would not

believe it. Presently the land was seen from the deck,

though it was not yet daylight, and as the officer was still

incredulous, a quartermaster ran below to the captain's

xabin and begged him to hasten up. Captain Coxon instantly
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gave orders to wear ship, but before that coald be done the
Orosvenor was in the breakers and struck heavily.

A raft was made, but it broke adrift and was dashed to>

pieces. Two lascars then swam ashore with a lead line, hj
which means a hawser was stretched between the ship and
the beach, and a number of men went safely along it. The
wreck soon broke up, when a portion of the poop and quarter,

upon which the passengers had crowded, drifted ashore. One
hundred and thirty-six persons now found themselves on dry

land, the remaining fourteen had been drowned. Some pro-

visions were washed on the beach, and having collected these*

on the third day after the disaster the whole party, except

two men who preferred to remain where they were, set out

in hope of being able to make their way to the Cape. They
had suf&cient food to last eight or nine days, and were

provided with five or six cutlasses. A great many natives

made their appearance, but instead of helping the distressed

people, they robbed the lady passengers of their trinkets,

and carried oflF all the iron they could find.

Shortly after setting out, a quarrel arose with some
natives, but it ended in a skirmish without a serious battle.

Then the crew broke up into several parties, and the sturdiest

pushed on ahead. One hundred and sixteen days after the

wreck, six sailors, who had suffered very severe hardships

from want of food, reached a farm on the Zwartkops river,

where they were treated with the utmost kindness. Five of

them were sent on to Swellendam, where they arrived on the

4th ofDecember. By order of the governor and council, a relief

expedition, consisting of one hundred Europeans and three

hundred Hottentots, was at once organised, with which two
of the sailors returned to the £a£&r country. Before reach-

ing the Fish river, three more sailors and a lascar were

met. Captain Hillegard Mulder, who was in command of

the expedition, left the waggons at the £!ei, and pushed on
with a party on horseback, but was obliged to turn back by

the hostile attitude of the Tembus. In the Kaffir country

six lascars and two black women who had been servants to

the lady passengers were found. These stated that to the

i
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best of their belief all the other shipwrecked people had
either been killed by the Kaffirs or had perished of want and
fetig^e. '.

They had been eye witnesses of the death of many, but as>

they had left parties still struggling on behind, the fate of

the others is involved in mystery. Two white men lived for

some years near the scene of the wreck, but whether they

were the same who remained behind, or others who turned

back, is doubtful. One of them formed a connection with a
native woman, and left a son who in 1824 was in the service

of Mr. F. G. Farewell at Natal. This man informed Mr.
Farewell that two women had also lived near the wreck for a
time, but that upon an invasion by a tribe from the westward^^

they had hid in a forest, and were there starved to death.

Who these women were cannot be ascertained, but it is

nearly certain that they were not wrecked in the Orosvenor.

The lady passengers—Mrs. James, Mrs. Hosea, and Mrs.

Logie—were with their husbands and Captain Coxon when
they were last seen by those who were rescued. Three girls

—Misses Dennis, Wilmot, and Hosea—^were also with this

party. No trace of any of these has ever since been found,

and there can hardly be a doubt that they all perished of

hunger and fatigue.

In 1790-1 an expedition under the leadership of Mr. Jacob

van Eeenen proceeded from the colony to the scene of the

wreck in search of survivors, but found none, and heard no
tidings of any. Mr. Van Reenen's party visited a villr ^^>> in

which they met three aged white women, survivors c' a
wreck which must have taken place on the coast about 1730

or 1740. They could not speak any European language, nor

did they know to what nationality their parents belonged,

though from one of them being called Bessie it was concluded

that they were English. No information was obtainable

from them. They had been married to natives, and had a
numerous offspring, whose descendants are still living in the

Pondo country.

There was an almost entire change in the clerical stafiE

during this period.
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The church in Cape Town continued to be ministered to by

three clergymen until December 1778, when Mr. Eroonen-

burg retired on pension, owing to age and ill health. He
died in June following. It had been understood that upon

the first death or retirement a successor would not be

appointed; but the directors now annulled their former

decision, and sent out the Bev. Christiaan Fleck, who was

inducted as third clergyman of the Cape in January 1781.

In July 1 784 the number was again reduced to two by the

death of Mr. Bode.

At Stellenbosch the death of Mr. Appeldoom in Septem-

ber 1772 left the congregation without other ministrations

than those of a consulent. The post remained vacant until

April 1777, when the Eev. Philip Kuys arrived from Hol-

land, and was appointed resident minister of Stellenbosch.

Mr. Kuys died in February 1785, when the church was again

for a time attended to by the clergyman of Drakenstein

acting as consulent.

The church at Drakenstein was an arena of strife during

the early years of this period. The election in January 1772

of Thomas Arnoldus Theron as an elder was objected to

by a considerable section of the congregation, on the ground

that he was not properly qualified, and the controversy soon

became violent. Four of the opposite faction were excom-

municated by the consistory. By 1775 the strife was so

great that many persons refused to attend the services, and

the disaflected party sent Messrs. Pieter Marais and Jan

Boos to Holland, to bring their case before the directors and

the classis of Amsterdam. Mr. Marais died soon after

reaching the ^Netherlands. The directors declined to inter-

fere in the matter, but the classis investigated the dispute,

and tried to conciliate the opposing factions. The dissension

in the congregation was continued, however, until March
1781, when Mr. Van der Spuy was obliged to retire on

pension, owing to age and bodily infirmities. In April 1 784

he was succeeded by the Bev. Eobert Nicholas Aling, who
was sent out by the directors.

In June 1774 the congregation of Waveren was left with-

[nil
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ont a clergyman by the failure of Mr. Harders' health, and
his consequent retirement on a pension. In April 1777 the

Bev. Johannes Abraham £!uys arrived from the Netherlands,

and was stationed there.

The church at Zwartland was without a clergyman until

April 1774, when the Rev. Daniel Goldbach arrived from the

Netherlands, and was appointed to that charge. Mr. Gold-

bach died in March 1783, and the church was then for a
time left to the care of a consulent.

Before 1780 no other public worship than that of the

Dutch Reformed church was tolerated in the colony ; but the

Lutherans, who were numerous in Cape Town, now obtained

permission to have a resident clergyman of their own denom-
ination. They had been striving for this privilege during

more than half a century. It was at last granted by the

directors, on condition that they should pay the minister's

salary and all other expenses, without assistance from the

Company. The Lutheran church in Amsterdam was re-

quested to select a clergyman, with the sole reservation that

he should be a Netherlander by birth. The choice fell upon
the Rev. Andreas Kolver, who arrived in South Africa on

the 22nd of November 1780, and on the 10th of December
held service here for the first time. The church in Strand

street had previously been erected and presented to the con-

gregation by a wealthy burgher named Martin Melk.

In the staff of officers in the country districts the follow-

ing changes had taken place

:

In August 1773 Landdrost Faber, of Stellenbosch and

Drakenstein, died. The secretary of the district—Abraham
Faure—acted until October, when Marthinus Adriaan Bergh

was appointed landdrost. In December 1778 Mr. Bergh

retired at his own request. His term of office had been

marked by violent altercations with the burghers, and it had

become impossible for him to hold the situation longer. He
was succeeded by Olof Godlieb de Wet. In February 1 782

Mr. De Wet was promoted to be master of the warehouses,

and was succeeded as landdrost by Daniel van Ryneveld.

During Mr. Van Ryneveld's tenure of office the council
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It I

of policy authorised the landdrost and heemraden to diyide

the old churchyard into building loti, and diipoie of them
for the benefit of the church and district. The lite of the

old church was alone reserved. It was encloied by a wall

built upon the foundations, which had not been disturbed

since the fire that had destroyed the building. The aliena-

tion of the cemetery was repugnant to the feelings of many
of the inhabitants, who threw the blame of the transaotiou

entirely upon the landdrost. Even after his death several

years later the matter was not allowed to be forgotten, and
for a couple of generations children in the village heard from
their elders tales of a spectral landdrost doomed at dead of

every night to bewail the desecration he had committed.

In February 1776 Landdrost Mentz, of Swellendam, re-

tired from the service at his own request, and Sergeant

Pieter Diederik Boonaker was appointed by the council to

succeed him. But upon this appointment being reported to

the directors, they expressed their disapproval of it, on the

ground that a new landdrost should have been chosen from

the civil—not from the military—branch of their service.

Sergeant Boonan:er was therefore replaced in May 1777 by
Daniel van Eyneveld. In February 1782 Mr. Van Byneveld

was transferred to Stellenbosch, and Constantyn van Nuld
Onkruydt succeeded as landdrost of Swellendam.

In May 1774 Mr. Kirsten, the resident at Simon's Town,
-was promoted, and the bookkeeper Christoffel Brand was
appointed to succeed him.

The outposts at Saldanha Bay, Groenkloof, Elapmuts,

Zonder End, and Buffeljagts River were still maintained. In

July 1777 another was formed at Zwart River, in Outeni-

qualand, between the present villages of George and Knysna.

A few soldiers were sent there, but the object was not so

much to establish a military station as to assist a party of

woodcutters who were employed in felling and preparing

timber for the Company's use.
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CHAPTER XXV.

OOENELIS JACOB VAN DB OEAAPP, OOVERNOB, INSTALLED
14 PEBKUART 1786; LEFT SOUTH AFRICA 24 JUNE 1791.

JOHAN ISAAC RHENIUS, SEOUNDE, ACTING HEAD OF THE GOVERN-
MENT, 24 JUNE 1791 TO 3 JULY 1792.

Character of the new governor—Decision of the directors concerning the
complaints of the colonists—Changes in the administration at the Cape

—

—Long drought—Mossel Bay opened to trade—Timber shipped at Pletten-
berg's Bay—Erection of fortifications in Table Valley—Troops in garrison
at the Cape—Formation of the district of GraatT Keinet—Site of the
drostdy—Pursuits of the frontier farmers—Struggle with Bushmen—Deal-
ings with Kaffirs—Condition of the Kosa tribe—Invasion of the colony by
Kosa clans—Measures of defence adopted by the colonists—Humiliating
arrangement made by the government—Grievances of the frontier colonists
—Condition of the people in the districts of Graaff Reinet, Swellendam,
Stellenbosch and Drakenstein, and in Cape Town—Reckless waste of the
Company's effects by the governor—Public expenditure—The colonial
revenue—Insolvency of the East India Company—Reduction of the garri-
son at the Cape—Very extensive retrenchment—Quarrels among the prin-
cipal officers of government—Petty conduct of the governor—Political
changes in the Netherlands—Recall of Governor Van de GraaS—Flight of
the fiscal Van Lynden through fear of incensed burghers—Condition of
the fortifications in Table Valley—Cost of the new hospital—Census re-

turns of 1791—Commerce in European wares thrown open to private indi-
viduals—Belief in the existence of gold in Great Namaqualand—Journey
of exploration undertaken by Mr. Willem van Reenen—First authentic
information concerning the Ovaherero or Damaras—Condition of those
people—Their subjugation by the Namaquas—First meeting of Europeans
with the degraded race known as Berg Damaras—Meeting with the
Hottentot clan now called the Red Nation—Statistics of shipping—Wrecks
on the coast—Changes in the staff of clergymen—Formation of a consis-
tory at GraafE Reinet—Arrangement of a dispute concerning baptism
between the Dutch Reformed and Lutheran consistories at the Cape

—

Desire for the establishment of better schools in the colony—Investigation
of the East India Company's affairs by the States General of the Nether-
lands—Appointment of a board with very extensive powers to carry out
reforms and suppress abuses—Instructions concerning the Cape Colony
given to Messrs. Nederburgh and Frykenius, two members of this board-
Arrival of Messrs. Nederburgh and Frykenius at the Cape, and their
assumption of the government as Commissioners General.

Colonel Van de Graaff had the reputation of being an
able military officer, but his qualifications were small for such
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a situation as that of governor of the Gape colony. He wa?^

arbitrary and headstrong in disposition, violent in temper^

and utterly careless in business matters. In addition to the

salary and perquisites of his predecessor, which amounted to

about 3,6502., he had a special allowance of 1,5002. a year.

He had the official residence in the castle, the house in the

gardens, and the country seat at Newlands. He was pro-

vided with carriages and horseo, and had the produce of the

farm Yisser's Hok, besides the eatablished table allowances.

On the 10th of May 1785 the last memorial sent from the

Cape was laid by the delegates of the burghers before the

States General of the Netherlands. By that body it was
referred for report to the chamber of Zeeland. An informal

conference of the leading members of the legislature and of

the directorate of the Company was held, the result of which

was that on the 28th of July the Assembly of Seventeen

announced its resolution to make several changes in the

system of government.

The members of the council of policy were all to rank as

senior merchants, and the secretary, who was not to have a

voice in the proceedings, was to rank as a merchant. The

high court of justice was to be presided over by the secunde,

and was to consist besides of six servants of the Company
and six burghers, all of whom were to rank as merchants.

Its secretary was to rank as a junior merchant. Only mem-
bers of the Dutch Reformed church could sit in ».ither tha

council of policy or the high court of justice ; but Lutherans

could be appointed to any other offices.

The Company would purchase and send to Europe all

grain, wine, and other produce of the colony that could not

be sold to foreigners, after the wants of the Cape and India

had been supplied. The prices were to be fixed yearly by a

board to be appointed by the council of policy from the

members of the high court of justice, and to consist of three

servants of the Company and three burghers. This board

was also to propose to the council of policy the method and

amount of taxation ; it was to have tbe care of roads, bridges,

and other colonial works ; it was to let the public mills, to
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The council was directed to report upon the likelihood

of obtaining produce at various bays, pending the receipt of

which report no decision would be arrived at concerning a

coasting trade.

The request of the frontier colonists to have a landdrost

and a clergyman stationed among them was to be complied

with, and a new district was to be created, with a board of

heemraden similar to those of Stellenbosch and Swellendam.

All the governing bodies in the Netherlands were agreed

that the system thus introduced should have a fair trial, so

no further redress was to be had from the States General.

The cliange in the high court of justice was made in

March 1786. One of the three councillors under the old

system retired at that time, and out of eight names presented

by the court, the council selected Christiaan Greorge Maasdorp,

Gerrit Hendrik Meyer, Jan Coenraad Gie, and Hendrik
Justinus de Wet to make the number of burghers up to six.

The board that was to fix prices and perform so many
other duties was established at the same time. It consisted

of six members of the high court of justice, three of whom

—

Gerrit Hendrik Kruywagen, Salomon van Echten, and Jan

Marthinus Horak—were servants of the Company ; the other

three—Jan Smuts, Andries van Sittert, and Christiaan George

Maasdorp—being burghers. This board was a failure from the

very first. The officials and burghers could not work amicably

together, and everything proposed by one party was objected

to by the other. As for fixing prices of produce, it had no

opportunity of making trial of its ability. The harvest of

1785 entirely failed, owing to protracted drought, and when
in 1786 the ship Negotie arrived from Amsterdam to take in

a cargo of wheat and wine, there was not a muid of grain to

be had, and the government was obliged to send her to

Batavia in ballast. The directors were thus disappointed,

and the plan was never again brought forward.

In its stead, in October 1789 the directors gave the

colonists permission to export wine to Holland on their own
II. T
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account, provided it was sent in the Company's vessels, and
\l. 138. 4i.—shortly afterwards increased to 2Z. 13«. 4f?.

—

a legger freight paid upon it.

There being a large profit to be made on wheat, the

Company endeavoured to procure as much of that article as

possible for the European market. In 1786 it was necessary

to import large quantities of flour from Europe and rice from

Java to ward off actual famine ; but in that year the long

drought broke up, and in 1787 and later there was a con-

siderable surplus of grain in the colony.

To encourage its growth in the district of Swellendam, a

magazine was built at Mossel Bay, where the grain was
received, so that the long overland journey to the Cape was
saved to the farmers. The first cargo shipped at that port

was in July 1788, when the Company's yacht Jb^an^ia Jamba
was laden with wheat for Batavia. It was purchased by the

of&cer stationed there at 98. *J\d. a muid clear to the pro-

ducer, after the tithe was deducted, which was the price

given at the Cape. But after 1789 the price at Mossel Bay
was reduced to 7^. 2feZ. a muid, after the deduction of the

tithe, the difference between that and the price given at the

Cape being set against the cost of sending vessels specially

for it.

In the same year a magazine for storage of timber was
opened at Plettenberg's Bay, the post at Zwart River having

been broken up and the men removed to the forest nearest

the bay. Mr. Jan Frederik Meding was placed in charge of

the magazine. The first cargo of timber was shipped in

August 1788, when the Cape packet JIfeermm, of which

!Fi'an9oi8 Duminy was master, was laden with waggon wood
and material for gun carriages.

When Governor Van de Graaff arrived in South Africa,

the construction of the Amsterdam battery was so far

advanced that he was unable to alter the design, though

he considered it faulty. He therefore completed it, and in

February 1787 the guns were mounted. On the 23rd of

that month the first trial of the armament was made, when
one of the cannon burst, and two men were killed and five
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l}adl7 wounded. The governor, who was standing close by,

was also slightly hurt.

A battery was then built in Bogge Bay, and after its

completion some additions to the old battery Ohayonnes
were commenced. The remaining forts in Table Valley

were repaired. The earthen embankment thrown up by the

French troops in 1781 between Fort Enokke and the Devil's

Peak—commonly called the French lines—was strengthened,

as was also the line between the castle and Fort Knokke.

In the summer of 1787-8 the regiment of Wurtemburg

—

a body of mercenary troops two thousand strong—arrived

at the Cape to relieve the Swiss regiment of Meuron, which
proceeded to Colombo. The garrison included also the

national battalion, as it was called, under Colonel Gordon,

about six hundred strong, and four hundred engineers and
artillerymen.

As landdrost of the new district, to the formation of

which the directors had consented, on the 13th of December
1785 the council of policy selected an old burgher resident

in the village of Stellenbosch, named Maurits Herman Otto

Woeke, who was believed to be a man of sound judgment.

He was directed to make a tour along the border, to select a
site for bis court, and to report fully to the council. The
district at the same time had the name Graaff !Beinet given

to it, in honour of the governor and his lady. It was
decided that it should be bounded on the west by the

Gamka river from its source to the Zwartberg, that range of

mountains to the Gamtoos river, and thence the Gamtoos to

the sea ; on the east by the Great Fish river ; and on the

south by the ocean. On the north the boundary was un-

defined, the only fixed point being the beacon that had been

placed by Governor Van Plettenberg on the bank of the

Zeekoe river.

As the best site for the public offices, Mr. Woeke selected

two farms near the source of the Sunday river, then in occu-

pation of a burgher named Dirk Coetsee, who agreed to

dispose of the buildings on them for about 5302., and to

accept land of equal extent elsewhere. This arrangement was
T 2
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ratified by the council. In July 1 786 a board of six heemraden

was appointed, two of whom were thereafter to retire every

year, and to be succeeded by others selected by the council

of policy from a double nomination. The first members

were Adriaan van Jaarsveld, David de Yilliers, David Schalk

van der Merwe, Andries Pieter Burger, Josua Joubert, and

Jacobus Gustaf Triegard. In October the landdrost opened

his court for the first time.

In the new district, cattle breeding was almost the only

pursuit of the Europeans. Until building sites were given

out in the village of Graaff Reinet, there was not a rood of

ground held under any other tenure than that of yearly

lease. Once in a twelvemonth each family who could do so

sent a waggon laden with butter and soap to Cape Town to

procure household requisites ; but the people, without feeling

it a hardship, managed to live with very few imported

articles. From long warfare with savages, their habits of

self-reliance were highly developed, and they were ex-

ceedingly averse to restraint.

It was intended by the government that the district

should be nearly self-supporting, that is, it was to cost the

Company very little for defence or maintenance. Funds for

local purposes were to be raised, as in Stellenbosch and

Swellendam, by a yearly tax of one shilling and four pence

for every hundred sheep and one penny for every head of

horned cattle, besides special rates when necessary.

The struggle for existence carried on with the Bushmen
in the new district was constant, and on neither side was

any quarter shown or indeed possible. The reports of

murders of Europeans and farm servants, of depredations

and reprisals, are wearisome to read, and it would need

volumes' to repeat them all, without any clearer idea being

given of the nature of the warfare than can be conveyed in a

few sentences. No European dared venture an hour's ride

from his homestead without arms in his hand. From four

farms adjoining the drostdy the cattle were swept off

within a few weeks after the arrival of the landdrost. The
Hottentots suffered even more severely than the Europeans,
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-^^hole clans being ruined, and numerous individuals being

tortured to death by Bushmen. On th? other hand, com-
mandos of Europeans and Hottentots were almost constantly

engaged hunting the marauders in the mountains, and
shooting down all who would not surrender. The govern-

ment provided ammunition, but nothing else. Captive

women and children were distributed among the farmers in

the vain hope of compelling them to live by industry, but

they invariably made their escape after a short detention,

and returned to their predatory habits. This was the

normal condition of things throughout the district of GraafE*

Seinet and along the northern border of the district of

SteUenbosch.

Mr. Woeke was instructed by the council to visit the

principal Kaffir chiefs in the neighbourhood of the colony,

to assure them of the friendship of the government, and to

make them presents of brass wire, beads, and other articles

of small value which they were known to prize highly. He
was ordered to take great care that the Fish river was

observed as the boundary, and that no Europeans crossed it

or molested the Kaffirs in any way. The bartering of cattle

by the colonists was strictly forbidden.

The condition of the Kosa tribe at this time was such

that it was difficult to make any satisfactory arrangements.

Since the first Kaffir war, the chief Earabe had been

killed in an engagement with a Tembu army. His great

son, TJmlawu by name, had died before him, and had left a

lad of tender years as heir to the dignity of principal ruler

of all the clans west of the Kei. Upon Earabe's death, his

councillors selected his son Ndlambe as regent during the

minority of Gaika (correct Kaffir spelling : Ngqika), heir of

Umlawu. This was in accordance with custom, and there

was po other person who could be appointed ; but the clans

that had crossed the Kei before Barabe maintained that with

his death theii: vassalage had ceased, except to Galeka, the

paramount head of the whole tribe. There was thus a great

<^deal of jealousy and discontent among the chiefs.

Mr. Woeke had a meeting with Ndlambe, who expressed
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himielf desirous of living in peace and friendship with the^

white people, and presents were exchanged between them.

The landdrost reported, however, that a rupture between the

two races could easily take place. There were Kaffirs in

service with farmers all over the country, even to within two-

days' journey of t)ie village of Swellendam, and the colonists-

were imwilling to part with them. A single case of ill

treatment might at any moment bring on hostilities. Not a^

few lawless individuals also were engaged in the forbidden

cattle trade with the Kaffirs, and as they were not accus>

tomed to restraint, mere placaats had no terrors for them..

With fifty or sixty soldiers stationed in posts along the

Fish river, it would be possible to maintain order; but

without physical force to support the law, the irregularities

complained of would continue.

The condition of suspense described by the landdrost

lasted until March 1789, when a large body of Ka£&rs^

headed by the chiefs Langa, Gungwa, and others of less note»

suddenly crossed the Fish river, and spread over the Zuur-

veld. The farmers fled before the invaders, but were unable

to save the whole of their cattle. The landdrost immediately

instructed the burgher captain Daniel Willem Kuhne to

take measures for the defence of the district, and despatched

an express to Cape Town with a report that war was^

unavoidable and a request that the council would send a

hundred soldiers to his assistance.

Mr. Woeke's letter reached Cape Town on the 20th of

March. The council at once met, and came to a decision that

war with the Kaffirs must be avoided at any price. The land-

drost was censured for giving instructions to call out a

commando for defence, as a collision might be the result.

The secretary of the district—Jan Jacob Wagener by name

—

had tendered his resignation some time previously, and the

council now appointed a clerk named Honoratus Christiaan

Maynier to succeed him. Mr. Wagener was a professor of

the belief that simplicity and innocence were virtues of

savage life, and Mr. Maynier, who on all occasions studied

his own pocket more than anything else, professed whatever-
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principles his superiors for the time being held, so that he

could be depended upon to carry out the views of the govern-

ment. The council appointed these two men to form with

the landdrost a commission to arrange matters with the

£afSrs who had overrun the Zuurveld, and thej were plainly

instructed to buy the enemy off with goods supplied to th'^m

for the purpose.

In the meantime Captain Kuhne had raised a commando,
which was no sooner in the field than the invaders, without

waiting to be attacked, fell back to the Fish river, which

they found in flood, so that they were unable to cross. They
were lying on the bank, and the burgher commando was
approaching, when the instructions of the council were

received by the landdrost. He put on record his opinion that

a mistake fatal to the future tranquillity of the country was

being made, and forwarded to the council a letter to that

effect ; but he carried out his orders with as much zeal as

if they had been in accordance with his own views. The
commando was at once discharged. Not a shot had been

fired in retaliation for the losses sustained by the invasion,

nor a single head of cattle recovered, so the burghers were

indignant and almost mutinous when they were required to

disband.
'

As soon as the new secretary Maynier arrived at Graaff

Eeinet with the goods provided by the government, the

members of the commission made ready to visit the

Zuurveld and seek an interview with the Kaffir chiefs. On
the 7th of June they left the village, accompanied by the

heemraden Josna Joubert and Jacobus Gustaf Triegard, the

militia captains Jan du Plessis and Andries Burger, the

militia adjutant Barend Lindeque, and the burghers Pieter

Lindeque and Roelof Kampher, all men well known for

their friendly disposition towards the Kaffirs in former years.

Upon arriving at the Kowie river, they found the stream

swollen by heavy rains which had recently fallen, so they

encamped on its bank, and sent some Hottentots to request

the Gunukwebe chief Tshaka to pay them a visit.

On the 21st of June the Hottentots returned with several



28o History of South Africa

petty Kaffir captains, who informed the landdrost that

Tshaka and his son Cungwa were unable to travel, on

account of sickness in their families ; but they had been

sent to hear what the white men had to say. With this

characteristic Kaffir address, they presented two oxen in the

name of the chief Tshaka. The landdrost asked why they

had invaded the colony. They replied that they did not

regard their action as an invasion, because they considered

the country between the Tish river and the Kowie belonged

to them, they having purchased it some years before from a

Hottentot named Ruiter.

The landdrost asked them if they were not aware that

after the war of 1781 the Amambala chief Langa, the

Imidange chief Mahuta, the Amantinde chief Cika, and the

Amagwali chief Koba—the same people who were now with

the Gunukwebe clan in the colony—had consented to the

Fish river being the boundary between the two races. They
did not deny that it was so, but said they were willing to

pay as much tribute to the government for the district

between the Fish river and the Kowie as the farmers had
paid rent. And in language that bore but one meaning
they declined to give up possession of it. The commission

sent large presents of copper plates, brass wire, knives, &c.,

to the chiefs, but could not induce them to retire to their

own country.

Finding their efforts useless, Messrs. Woeke and Maynier

with the burghers returned to GraaiF Eeinet, leaving Mr.
Wagener to arrange matters as best he could. Just at this

time a rumour reached the Kafi&rs that the farmers away
towards Swellendam were going into lager, and remembering

the prelude to Van Jaarsveld*s campaign of 1781, they were

seized with a sudden panic. Not only did they retire in

haste beyond the Fish river, but many of them fled far

beyond it, and concealed themselves in the thickets of the

Araatola mountains.

This was the condition of things when Mr. Wagener,

attended by an escort of twelve armed men, on the 18th of

July met the chief Cungwa and a party of Kaf^s at a ford
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•of the Fish river. Cungwa pressed his claim to the ground
as far as the Kowie, basing his pretensions upon its purchase

from the Hottentot captain Euiter, who was little better

than a freebooter, and whose only right to sell was derived

from a brief occupation. Mr. Wagener declined to admit

that Euiter's sale was binding upon the Europeans, but to

remove the grievance, he offered to refund to the Kaffirs as

much as they had paid for the district. Cungwa would not

agree to this proposal. Mr. Wagener then consented to the

return of the Kaffirs and to their occupation of the land

between the Fish river and the Kowie during the pleasure

of the government, without prejudice to the ownership of

the European^. With his report to this effect to the board

of landdrost and heemraden of Graaff Reinet on the 3rd of

August 1789, ends the official account of the second Kaf&r

invasion of the colony and of its disastrous consequences to

the farmers.

In documents issued by the government the arrangement

made by Mr. Wagener was henceforth termed a restoration

of peace and quietness ; but the burghers of Graaff Eeinet

chose to call it by a very different name. Almost any other

people in the world would have abandoned a district in

which they were exposed to such ruinous losses as those

sustained by the hardy and persevering fi'ontier colonists at

this period. But they were determined to hold their own.

In the neighbourhood of the Kaffirs they guarded their

herds with arms in their hands, while along the great moun-
tain range they were continually struggling with the Bush-
men.

The wild, free, healthy life which they led had many
charms for people of adventurous disposition, and several

travellers contrasted it favourably with the dull routine of

"the farmern' existence in European countries. Comfortable

and well-furnished houses were not to be found on the

frontier, for no one cared to build or to buy what might be

-destroyed the next day ; but there was no lack of food or of

-other first necessaries of life.

The burghers were constantly complaining that they
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received from the Company nothing in return for the renter

which they paid and the tithes of such produce as they sent

to Cape Town. They had another grievance in the paper

money. The butchers at the Cape were in the habit of

sending out agents to purchase slaughter cattle, and these

had always given in payment notes of hand of their employ-

ers. The farmers who now took these notes to Cape Town
received only paper money, which was by law a legal tender.

In the interior the paper was almost worthless, for, in

addition to its not being redeemable at pleasure, so many
forged notes were in existence that people were afraid of it.

After 1789 there was very little respect paid to the

government authorities in the district of GraafF Eeinet.

Mr. Woeke became addicted to drunkenness, and allowed a

violent temper to become his master. On several occasions

he poured torrents of abuse upon the heemraden and militia

officers, which they were not slow to resent. He and the

secretary Maynier were also continually quarrelling, and th&

latter, being a favourite with the government, did not scruple

to irritate his superior officer. The condition of the district

was thus very little removed from anarchy.

In the district of Swellendam matters were almost as bad.

Many of the farmers had fallen in arrear with their land

rents, which, in fact, some of them took little trouble to pay,

though the government was willing to receive cattle instead

of money. The landdrost Onkruydt, after getting the dis-

trict accounts into inextricable confusion and allowing the

public buildings to fall into ruin, resigned and returned to

the Netherlands, when the secretary of Stellenbosch and
Drakenstein—Anthony Alexander Faure—was appointed to

succeed him, 21st of April 1789. Mr. Faure did his utmost

to restore order in his office, but was unable to do so. The
people of this district were, however, comparatively free

from robberies by Bushmen and Kaffirs, and were therefore

in more comfortable 'circumstances than their friends on the

border.

The district of Stellenbosch and Drakenstein was more
populous than either of the others. Along its northern
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border, warfare with Bushmen was constant) and the colonists

were in the same condition as those of Graaff Beinet. But
in the long-settled parts of the district the people were living

in comfort and ease. Many of the substantial dwelling

houses erected before and during this period remained until

our own times, as did also the oaks and other trees with

which the homesteads were beautified. The life led by the

owners of the largest of these establishments was that of

country gentlemen all over the civilised world, a healthy,

enjoyable, useful life. The rough labour of the farms was

performed by African slaves under the direction of European

overseers ; the mechanical work, such as that of the car-

penter, mason, and cooper, was chiefly executed by natives

of the Indian islands, either free or slave. In August 1 785,

upon the death of Mr. Van Eyneveld, Hendrik Lodewyk
Bletterman was appointed landdrost of the district.

Cape Town at this period was a very different place

from what it had been in earlier times. With the arrival

of the French troops in 1781 an expensive fashion of living

had set in, and every one was now striving to become
possessed of a handsome house filled with costly fiirniture

and a retinue of useless slaves. All kinds of European

wares were introduced in Danish ships, and were sold at

enormous profits. The directors at Amsterdam became

alarmed when they ascertained what large amounts were

due in Holland for house furniture alone purchased on

credit, and complained that the Cape was becoming known
to travellers as ' Little Paris.' Money seemed plentiful, and

every one forgot that the apparent prosperity was based upon

the insecure foundation of military expenditure.

The governor. Colonel Van de Graaff, lived in the most

extravagant manner at the expense of the Company. The
stables, which in Van Plettenberg*s time contained sixty-six

horses, were now provided with double that number; and

equipages, from a state coach and a travelling waggon to a

light two-wheeled fly, were multiplied to an unreasonable

number. The governor's son. Captain Sebastiaan Willem

van de Graaff, was appointed master of the stables, and was
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left to do almost as he pleased. Everything^ olie wai in the

same style, reckless waste of the Company's effects being

entirely disregarded.

The public expenditure, or the money paid out of the

Company's chest for all purposes at the Cape, now reached a

sum of rather over 120,000Z. a year.

The revenue had gone on steadily increaiing from

17,2742. in 1781 to 28,9122. in 1791, the increase being due

chiefly to the larger sums paid for the right to sell wines

and spirits and to a different manner of collecting the tithes

of grain. In former years the farmers were required to

make statements as to the quantity of grain gathered by

them, and upon these statements the tithes were charged.

The standard of truth with regard to such returns was very

low, just as it is to-day in the matter of returns for municipal

taxation. For instance, there were years when the quantity

of wheat exported was considerably in excess of the quantity

grown according to the census rolls. But recently a system

had been introduced of collecting actual tithes either in

money or in kind upon all grain passing the barrier into

town, and it was found to give a much larger revenue to

government, although the whole quantity consumed in the

country districts became exempt from taxation. The total

revenue received from the Ist of July 1781 to the Ist of

July 1791 was 221,075/., or at the rate of 22,1072. 10«. yearly.

It was made up of the following items ;

Licenses to sell wines and spirits, sold yearly by public auction, and
the export duty on sales of wines and spirits to foreiguerM, aim
farmed out £100,227

Bent of U. 16<. each on ordinary cattle farms 42,784
Tax of 12«. on each logger of wine brought to town 26,266
Transfer dues on sales of land, at 10 per cent on the purobaie
amount when the property had been held for loss than I) yoar«,

5 per cent when it had been held from 3 to 10 years, and 2^ pur
cent when it had been held over 10 years ; also since July 1790

2^ per cent on sales of improvements on leaseholds ..... 21,836
Stamps 12,621

Tithes of grain 9,619
Bent of 42. 16«. each on cattle farms held in connection with free-

holds under Van Imhofs tenure . 1,814

Freight and insurance from Mossel Bay 86S
Bent of garden plots at 2«. a morgen 266

Total revenae daring ten yeart iC221,076



Cornells Jacob van de Graaff 285

1,814

865
265

The profits on the jod« lit of the Company's
stores were on an average about 6,200^ There was thus a
deficiency to be made good of nearly 92,000i. a year, and the

Company was at this time aliiiost hopelntftily insolvent. Its

debt in 1785 was nearly seven million pounds sterling, and
the states provincial of Holland and Z*'»4and were obliged to

come to its rescue, or it would have sunk under the burden.

These provinces became security for heavy loang, besides

raising by a special tax a sum of about two and a half millions

sterling, which money was lent upon low interest to the

Company, in order that it might have a chance of recovering

itself. Its condition was commonly attributed to losses

during the war with England, but there were many men in

the Netherlands as well as in the Indies who knew that the

corruption of its own officers had quite as much to do with

its decline.

From sheer inability to raise more money, in 1790 the

Company was obliged to reduce its expenditure very greatly.

On the 10th of October of that year the directors issued orders

that the regiment of Wurtemburg was to be sent to Java
immediately, and that all work upon fortifications was to be

stopped. They admitted that the remaining troops were

insufficient for the defence of the Cape in the event of war,

but they were helpless in the matter. A few days later they

gave instructions that the military outposts in the country

districts should be abandoned and the stations be sold, that

the country seat used by the governor at Newlands should

be sold, that their slaves should be reduced in number to

four hundred and fifty, that all the mechanics and sailors

who could be spared should be sent to Batavia, and that the

horses and vehicles of all kinds in their stables should at

once be disposed of and the proceeds be paid into the

treasury.

The governor had never given them satisfaction. They
complained that he kept them in ignorance of everything

that it was important they should know, while forwarding

despatches covering hundreds of pages of foolscap and con-

taining nothing that could not be told in a few sentences.
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This complaint was thoroughly well founded. After the

governor's departure, the council informed llie directors that

he had kept the whole staff of clerks in the secretary's office

engaged in writing and copying these worse than useless

letters. They were also greatly displeased with his extrava-

gance, though they were still ignorant of the full cost of his

administration. His quarrelsome disposition was another

cause of complaint, and his arbitrary conduct in issuing

orders and incurring expense without consulting the council

was strongly disapproved of.

And certainly the directors had cause to complain, for

the government of the colony had never before sunk so low

in the estimation of those who came in contact with it. In

August 1786 Mr. Hacker had retired at his own request,

and had been succeeded as secunde by Johan Isaac Rhenius,

a member of an old South African family, but whose life

had been passed chiefly in the Company's service in India.

The fiscal Serrurier had died in May 1785, and in February

1789 Jan Nicholas van Lynden arrived from the Netherlands

and assumed the duty. Both of these men were quarrelsome

by disposition. To the colonists the government appeared

corrupt almost beyond power of expression, and the bicker-

ings of the principal officers called forth contempt as well as

hatred. During the debates in the council, violent scenes

often took place. On one occasion the governor in a passion

drew his sword and would have wounded the dispenser Le
Sueur, if the latter had not warded off the blow with his

cane. The proceedings, as recorded, contain protests and

counter protests in great profusion.

Out of the council, these wretched disputes affected all

classes of the community, and discord prevailed everywhere.

Whole reams of paper are filled with records of petty

quarrels of no interest to any one now. A single instance

of the depth to which the representative of the Company
descended will be sufficient as an illustration. In a sermon
upon Jezebel the Rev. Mr. Serrurier gave offence to the

governor, who maintained that his lady was pointedly

alluded t*"'. Shortly afterwards a committee of the high
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court of justice was appointed to name the new streets and
squares of the town, when Berg street—now St. George's

—

upon which the parsonage fronted, was changed to Venus
street, and the signboard was nailed above the clergyman's

door. Mr. Serrurier protested, but without avail, and it was

only after the governor left the colony that the old name of

Berg street wa^ restored.

The directors were desirous of dismissing the governor,

but the stadtholder, with whom he was a favourite, would

not consent, and at that time the stadtholder's power as

governor-general of the East India Company was greater

than it had ever been before, owing to the political revolu-

tion which had recently taken place in the Netherlands.

The inhabitants of that country were divided into two parties,

one of which was in favour of democratic government and

alliance with France, the other in favour of the government

of the stadtholder and alliance with England. The first of

these was supreme in 1785, and in November of that year a

treaty of close alliance with France was concluded. The
arrest of the princess of Orange, who was a sister of the

king of Prussia, on her attempting to enter the Hague in

June 1787, brought into the country a Prussian army, which

was welcomed by the conservative faction, and the govern-

ment of the stadtholder was restored. In April 1788 a treaty

of mutual defence was entered into between the Government
of England and the States General, and in the same year

a triple alliance was concluded between Great Britain,

Prussia, and the Netherlands.

The stadtholder, as governor-general of the East India

Company, would only agree to the recall of Van de Graaff

under pretence of his being required at home to give infor-

mation upon the colony. To this effect a despatch, written

by the directors on the 14th of October 1790, arrived here

on the loth of the following February, in which the

governor was instructed to leave for Europe within three

months after its receipt, and to transfer the administration

during his absence to the secunde Rhenius. The three

months expired, and the governor was still in Cape Town.
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The secunde and his party in the council protested against

this disobedience of the orders of the directors and the de-

tention of a first-class Indiaman in Table Bay during the

winter season ; but the governor took his own time. When
he was ready, on the 24th of June 1791, he issued instruc-

tions to Mr. Ehenius how to act during his absence, and
embarked in the Beverwyh.

Colonel Van de Graaflf returned to Holland, where he re-

tained the title of governor of the Cape colony and received

his salary as such, although early in 1 793 he resumed his

duty in the national army. In 1 794 he was promoted to the

rank of major-general, and appointed director of fortifications

from the Waal to the Zuiderzee, when he resigned his situa-

tion in the Company's service. The revolution a few months
later deprived him of employment, on account of his ad-

herence to the stadtholder's cause, and he retired to Germany,,

where he died in 1812.

The fiscal Van Lynden returned to Europe in the same
ship with the governor, without leave from either the direc-

tors or the Cape council. On his arrival in the Netherlands,,

he stated that he dared not remain in South Africa after Van
de Graaflf's departure, as there would certainly be an insur-

rection, when his life—or his limbs at least—would be in

danger. He went on board the Beverwyh during the night,,

leaving his family at the Cape. The governor's son—Captain

Sebastiaan Willem van de Graaff—was married to his

daughter, and this family connection had enabled him to act

in such a manner as to draw down the intense hatred of the

colonists. On one occasion Van Lynden had put a white

man to torture, who, to be relieved of pain, confessed himself

guilty of a crime of which he was afterwards proved to be

innocent, but for which he sufEered punishment. In October

1789 the directors had issued instructions that a duty of five

per cent upon the value of all articles imported or exported,

except by themselves, should be levied for the benefit of the

Company ; but these instructions were not carried out, be-

cause the fiscal had previously imposed the same charges for

his own benefit, and continued to collect and keep the money.
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L insur-

iinder the plea that it was a legitimate perquisite of his

office.

Upon Van Lynden's flight, the council appointed Mr.

Jacob Pieter de Nys to act as fiscal until the pleasure of the

directors could be made known.

The instructions concerning the breaking up of the mili-

tary posts in the interior were carried out, and the stations

were sold by public auction to the highest bidders. The
horses and all the varied contents of the Company's stables

in Cape Town were disposed of in the same manner. The
country Eeat at Newlands, which had been the favourite resi-

dence of Father Tulbagh and had been used by both the

succeeding governors, was purchased by Mr. Hendrik Vos
for 4,400^ The country seat of Rustenburg, at Rondebosch,

was retained. It had been occasionally used by the secunde

in Tulbagh's time, and constantly ever since ; but two-thirds

of the wine made from its vineyards had been claimed by the

governors as a perquisite, the remaining third being left to

the secunde. From its extensive gardens, cultivated by the

Company's slaves, both the governor and the secunde had

drawn all the vegetables needed in their establishments,

after which whatever was left was sent to the hospital.

When the work on the fortifications was stopped, the en-

largements of the battery Chavonnes, designed by Governor

Van de GrraaflF, were not quite completed. A battery which

he had planned between the castle and the Devil's Peak, and

which had been named the Coehoorn, was only a little ad-

vanced beyond the foundations. The battery Gordon, built in

1781-2 at the upper end of the line of earthworks between

Fort Knokke and the Devil's Peak, was greatly out of repair.

The remaining fortifications in Table Valley were in good

order. The new hospital was not yet finished, though it had
cost the Company nearly 62,000^, exclusive of slave labour.

The census returns of 1791 show the population of the

colony as consisting of 3,613 European burghers, with 2,460

married women, and 6,955 children ; 39 European men
servants ; 466 European men—exclusive of soldiers—in the

Company's service, with 291 married women, and 760 chil-

li, u

I
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dren; and 11,026 men slaves, 3,687 women slaves, and 2,683

slave children, belonging to the Company and to private

individuals. The small number of slave children is chiefly

due to emancipation. No mention is made of free blacks or

of Hottentots in the returns.

Another great change was notified by the directors in

March 1791. They had abandoned the exportation of all

European wares on their own account, except to China and
Japan, and had thrown that trade open to private individuals

upon payment of customs duties. Foreigners, however, were

not to be allowed to take part in it. From the Cape, wine

could be exported by private individuals, and in February

J'-?91 permission to send a cargo of wheat to Europe was

accorded by the council to the burgher Tieleman Boos, of

Drakenstein.

For several years there had been an impression among
certain burghers that gold was to be found in large quantities

in the desert region north of the Orange river and bordering

on the Atlantic. It was currently reported and believed

that the English traveller Paterson had discovered rich ore

there, though he had not made his discovery known. Mr.

Sebastiaan Valentyn van Eeenen, who had accompanied

Lieutenant Paterson on one of his excursions, had really

become possessed of a piece of ore or rock from which a

chemist had extracted some grains of gold, though the

place where the substance had been found was unknown.

Fired with the idea of making a discovery that would

enrich himself and benefit his native country, Mr. Willem
van Reenen, of the farm Zeekoe Vlei, on the Elephant river,

with the permission of the council fitted out an exploring

expedition at his own expense, and on the 17th of September

1791 set out for the north. He had with him as companions

Messrs. Pieter Brand, Adriaan Louw, Barend Freyn, and

Frederik Wysman, besides several half-breeds and a large

party of Hottentots.

On the 30th of October he crossed the Great river, and

on the 18th of November rested at the furthest point reached

by Captain Hop's expedition in 1761. The country was
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parched by heat and drought, Bushmen and lions were very

troublesome, and the oxen were beginning to die ; but Van
Beenen and his companions still pushed on. On the 23rd

of January 1792 they reached a mountain, where was a
spring of very hot water, from which the flow was so great

that several morgen of ground might be irrigated. Copper
ore was found there.

During the night after their arrival they were attacked

by a party of Namaquas, who killed two of their Hottentots

and wounded a slave; but next morning the chief of the

attacking party sent to say that the assault had been made
by mistake, and presented three oxen and fo^^r sheep as a

peace oflfering. The name of the chief is noio given, but his

people are called the Godousies. It is not possible to connect

that title with any clan now living in the country. The
mountain had until recently been in possession of the Ova-

herero or Damaras, but the Namaquas were then masters of

it. Mr. Van Reenen named it Mount Rhenius. At this

place a camp was formed, while the country around was

explored. In the diary of the expedition there are no indi-

cations by which the locality can be identified, except those

here given ; but from an observation in another document,

it is found to have been within easy reach of Walfish Bay.

Pieter Brand with a party of Hottentots pushed on fifteen

days' journey further, and made himself well acquainted

with the condition of the Damaras, who belong to the Bantu

family, and of the Namaquas, who are Hottentots. The
Damaras had been conquered by the Namaquas, and had

been deprived of their horned cattle, goats, and sheep.

They informed Mr. Brand that he would yet have to travel

nine days before he would find Damaras in possession of

cattle. They had been able to hold their own, they said,

untU the Namaquas obtained iron in large quantities from

the south, when they had been subjugated. Copper rings

of their own manufacture were plentiful with them.

Mr. Brand also met with black people living like Bush-

men on nothing but game and roots, but speaking a dialect

of the Hottentot language. This is the earliest notice of the

V 2
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people now commonly called Berg Damaras, whose condition

is a mystery to trarellers. No subsequent inquirer has

learnt more than Fieter Brand has put on record : that they

are Bantu by blood, Hottentots by language, and Bushmen
by habit. On the 14th of March the party moved from

Mount Bhenius to a place close by, which they named Modder
Fontein. Here they remained until the 23rd of April. There

was abundance of game in the neighbourhood, and they had
plenty of food. Of rhinoceroses alone they killed sixty-five,,

and of giraffes six. Having laden the waggons with ore

which they believed contained gold, but which on their

arrival at the Cape was proved to be copper, they turned

homeward. On the way they visited a clan of Namaquas
called in the diary the Keykous, who can be identified with

the people now known as the red nation. The name of the

chief is given by Mr. Van Reenen as Nonbelo, but the

colonial Hottentots called him Roode Mos. He was very

friendly, bringing four oxen as a present, and offering to

assist the Europeans to punish the Godousies for attacking

the party on its arrival at Mount Rhenius. The offer was
declined. On the 20th of June 1792 the expedition reached

Mr. Van Reenen's farm Zeekoe Vlei, having been absent

nine months, and having lost by drought and Bushmen one

hundred and forty oxen.

From these travellers was received the first authentic

account of the condition of the Damara clans, and of the

feud between them and the Namaquas, a feud which has

continued with scarcely an intermission down to our own day.

During the five years 1785-9, the average number of

ships that put into Table Bay was 139, and that put into

Simon's Bay 25. Of the whole number, 334 were Dutch,

212 French, 84 English, 70 Danish, 62 American, 29 Portu-

guese, 10 Austrian, 8 Spanish, 7 Swedish, 4 Prussian, and 1

was Italian. After 1 789 it is impossible to give statistics of

shipping, as several of the journals and outgoing despatch

books are missing ffom the archives.

The following vessels were wrecked on our coast during

these years

:
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In the night between the 3rd and 4th of May 1785 the

Company's homeward-bound ship Brederode struck on a reef

off Cape Agulhas, and went to pieces. Most of the crew got

away in boats, but twelve lives were lost. None of her cargo

was saved.

On the 3rd of May 1786 the wreck of a small French

schooner, with a cargo of wine from Bordeaux, was found

on the coast a little to the eastward of Cape Hangklip. Two
dead bodies were found close by, but no further particulars

could be ascertained.

In the evening of the 11th of May 1786 the Dutch
national frigate Hollandy one of a fleet of ships of war bound
to Java, when entering False Bay struck on a reef and
became a total wreck. Eight lives were lost.

On the 19th of August 1786 the wreck of a French brig

named the Bozette was found close to Cape Point, and it was
ascertained that she was from Bordeaux bound to Mauritius.

There was no living person on board. Some days later six

seamen were found under suspicious circumstances at the

Cape, and were arrested, when it was discovered that they

had murdered the officers and other sailors of the Bozette^

and had then run the vessel ashore. They were tried and

executed for the crime.

On the 7th of October 1786 the Company's schooner

Catwyh aan Bhyn was driven ashore in Simon's Bay in a

violent gale, and became a wreck, but no lives were lost.

In the night between the 16th and 17th of May 1788 the

Company's ship Avenhoorn was driven from her anchors in

Table Bay by a gale from the north-west, and was lost. She

was about to proceed to Mossel Bay to take in wheat for

Batavia, and had no cargo on board. All hands were saved.

In August 1788 the Company's ship Maria^ homeward-

bound from Ceylon, was met off Plettenberg's Bay by the

Cape packet Meermin, and found to be in a condition of

distress. Her crew had been attacked by scurvy, and only

the skipper and four men were able to walk. By the help

of the Meermin*s crew, the Maria was taken into Plettenberg's

JBay, where she was brought to anchor ; but a few days later
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in a gale from the south-east she was driven ashore and"

became a total wreck. No lives were lost.

In the night between the 16th and 17th of October 1788

the French frigate Penelope, when trying to enter Simon's^

Bay, ran ashore on Muizenburg beach and went to pieces.

There were 430 men on board, most of whom got safely to

land.

On the 16th of May 1789 the Dutch ship Drietal

Handelaars, homeward-bound from Ceylon under charter by
the Company, was driven from her anchors off Zwartklip

in False Bay, and went to pieces on the rocks. No lives

were lost.

On the 12th of April 1790 a fleet of ships—mostly

under foreign flags—was at anchor in Table Bay. The
weather was stormy, with the wind from the north-north-

west, accompanied by heavy showers of rain. In the

morning a French ship parted her cables and went ashore

near the mouth of Salt Eiver, where she was joined shortly

afterwards by the Genoese barque Maria. In the afternoon

a French brigantine,, an American barque, an English

whaling ship, the Danish Company's fine ship Erfprins van

Augustenhurghy and the Cape packet Helena Louisa went

ashore. Towards evening the wind abated, or the number
of wrecks would have increased, as other vessels had parted

one of their cables. No lives were lost on this occasion.

The Helena Louisa was got afloat again, and her damages

were repaired.

Owing to this disaster, in January 1794 the directors

issued orders that their ships were thereafter to make use of

Simon's Bay from the 10th of April to the 1st of October,

instead of from the 15th of May to the 15th of August, as

previously. ,.

In November 1787 an English fleet, to which considerable

interest attaches, put into Table Bay for supplies. It was.

the fleet that conveyed the first convicts, male and female,,

to Botany Bay, to found the colony of New South Wales.

In November 1789 the British transport 6r^tarc?*a7i, under

command of Lieutenant E. Biou, put into Table Bay, and
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took on board large supplies of grain and live stock, intended

for the use of the settlement at Botany Bay. On the 24th

of December, when about twelve hundred miles from the

Cape of Good Hope, the Ouardian struck upon an iceberg,

and was so much injured that next day it was feared she

would sink. Lieutenant Biou would not leave the ship

himself, but he ordered the four boats to be got out, and

with his approval as many of the crew as they could contain

embarked in them and set sail for the African coast. The
launch fell in with a French ship on the 4th of January 1790,

and her crew of fifteen were taken on board and brought

to the Cape. Those in the other boats must have perished.

Contrary to expectation, the Guardian, though waterlogged,

did not go down, and several days after the disaster a

Dutch vessel homeward-bound from Batavia fell in with her.

Assistance in men and materials was rendered, and she was

brought back to Table Bay, the Dutch vessel keeping by her

until she was safe in port.

Since the arrival of Grovernor Van de Graaff there had

not been many changes in the staff of clergymen. In May
1785 the Rev. Meent Borcherds, who had recently arrived

from Holland, was appointed third clergyman of the Cape. In

September of the following year the Eev. Helperus Ritzema

van Lier arrived from Holland, when Mr. Borcherds, at his

own request, was transferred to the vacant church of

Stellenboseh, and Mr. Van Lier succeeded him as third

minister of the Cape. In April 1786 the Eev. Petrus van

der Spuy, junior, who had completed his studies in the

Netherlands, returned to South Africa, and was appointed

to the vacant church of Zwartland.

Graaff Reinet, like Swellendam, had as yet only a sick

comforter, who was also schoolmaster. In September 1791

the directors engaged the Rev. Jan Hendrik Manger to

minister to the people of Graaff Reinet ; but when he arrived

in South Africa no instructions had been received concerning

him, and the council therefore resolved to keep him at the

Cape until advices should come to hand. He was still doing

duty instead of Mr. Van Lier, who was ill, in July 1792.
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iSteps were, however, taken in anticipation to establish a
consistory at Graaff Eeinet, and on the 13th of March 1792

the council approved of Marthinus Wessel Pretorius and
Jan Jacobsen as elders, and selected from a double nomina-

tion Andries Pretorius and Barend Burger as deacons of the

newly-formed congregation.

There had been a little friction between the Dutch Ee-

formed and Lutheran consistories at the Cape on the subject

of baptism of children whose parents did not both belong to

the same church. The directors settled the matter to the

satisfaction of all but a few who held extreme opinions, by

issuing instructions that boys should be baptized in the

church to which their father belonged, and girls in the

church to which their mother belonged, all persons to be

free at eighteen years of age to leave one communion and
join the other, if they wished to do so.

There was at this time a strong desire expressed by the

leading colonists for better means of educating their chil-

dren. More than half a century earlier there had been a
high school in Cape Town ; but it had not been sufficiently

supported, and had therefore been discontinued. All who
could afford it employed private tutors, but in the country

districts the men who were engaged as teachers were usually

unfit for their calling, through want of education and
character. In and near the town a better class of persons

could be obtained, and a few of the wealthiest colonists sent

their sons to Europe to complete their studies. In 1791 a

movement was commenced for the establishment of a good

school at each church and seat of magistracy in the country,

and of a high school in Cape Town, in which the Latin and

French languages should be taught. A committee was ap-

pointed, and after long discussion a plan was prepared, which

was submitted to the council and approved of in March 1792.

It depended chiefly upon voluntary subscriptions to commence
with, and payment of school fees thereafter. A sum of money
was collected for the Latin school in Cape Town, and a build-

ing in Graaffe—now Grave—streetwaspurchased from Skipper

Fran9ois Duminy for 1,000Z. In September 1793 Cornells



Johan Isaac Rhenius 297

Josias van Baak was engaged as preceptor, and the institu-

tion was opened ; but the course of political events shortly

afterwards caused it to be closed, and with that the whole

plan fell through.

In consequence of the helplessness to which the East India

Company was now reduced, the States General appointed a

commission of four members to examine minutely into its

affairs and to check further abuses. These gentlemen—the

baron Van der Does, the lord of Marquette, Mr. P. H. van de

Waal, and Mr. H. van Straalen—sent in preliminary reports

in February and July 1791, one result of which was that a

board with very great powers was constituted to examine

into abuses in India and rectify them.

The individuals selected to form this board were Mr.

Sebastiaan Cornelis Nederburgh, chief advocate of the East

India Company, Captain Simon Hendrik Frykenius, of the

national navy, Mr. Willem Arnold Alting, governor-general,

and Mr. Hendrik van Stokkum, director-general of Nether-

lands India. On the 19th of August 1791 a commission was

issued by the stadtholder and the directors, empowering the

members of this board, who could act separately anywhere

but at Batavia, to investigate all matters connected with the

Company's affairs, to bring to light abuses and malpractices,

to make necessary reforms, to dismiss corrupt ofl&cials of

every grade and either send them to Holland or cause them
to be tried by a court of justice, to fill all vacant oflices with

trustworthy men, and generally to do as they should judge

best, for which purpose the same power was given to them

as was held by those who signed the document.

It will not be necessary to enter into the instructions

given to the board regarding the dependencies in India, where

fraudulent practices throughout the administration, careless-

ness for the Company's interests, and insubordination among
all classes of ofl&cials, were pointed out as the chief evils to

be checked. Only two members could visit the Cape, and

to them special instructions were given by the stadtholder

and the directors, acting with the concurrence of the com-

jnission appointed by the States General.
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Messrs. Nederburgh and Frykonius were directed on their

arrival to see that the stoppage of public worki resolved upon

in the previous year was carried into efPect. They were to

establish the administration in the simplest and least expen-

sive manner, and endeavour to increase the revenue. They
could grant the colonists liberty to carry on a trade in slaves

with Madagascar and the east coast of Africa, to establish

whale fisheries, and to convey farm produce to any of the

Dutch possessions in India and dispose of it there to the best

account, provided that the vessels employed were owned in

the colony or the Netherlands, were manned by crows con-

sisting of at least half Cape colonists, and did not go beyond

prescribed limits. They could allow private individuals to

export wheat from Mossel Bay and timber from Plettonberg's

Bay. They were to impose import and export duties, and

farm them out to the highest bidder. They were to in-

vestigate the causes of the continued dissatiHfaction of the

colonists, to rectify abuses, to settle complaints, and to take

with them to Batavia a full statement of such matters as

they could not summarily dispose of, in order that, conjointly

with the other members of the board, they could come to a

decision there and afterwards make it known at the Cape.

Messrs. Nederburgh and Frykenius embarked in the

national ship of war Amazoon, which cast anchor in Simon's

Bay on the 18th of June 1792. On the 2{Jrd there was a

special meeting of the council at two o'clock in the afternoon,

when they were present and delivered an address ; but they

were not formally installed until the 3rd of July, when with

as much state as was possible they assumed supreme control

of the administration.
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CHAPTER XXVI.

SEBA8TUAN C0RNELI8 NEDERBURGH AND SIMON HENDRIK
FRYKENIUS, COMMISSIONERS GENERAL, 3 JULY 1792 TO

2 SEPTEMBER 1703.

Discontent of the burphers—Struggle of the burgher councillors for the
maintenance of their privileges—Addresses by the commissione's general
—Reduction of public expenditure—Additional taxes— Resistance of the
colonists to the imposition of auction duty—Amount of revenue and
expenditure—Price of wheat—Liberty granted to the colonists to export
produce to the Netherlands and India, and to carry on wiiale fishing under
certain restrictions—Prohibition of trade with foreigners—Effects of these
measures—Establishtuent of a loan bank, and further issue of paper money
—Proposed overland expedition to Great Namaqualand in search of gold
mines—Expedition by sea—Possession on behalf of the East India Com-
pany taken of Thomson's Island, Angra Pequena, and Waltish liay—Account
of the inhabitants of the coast at those places—Exploration of the country
east of Walfish Bay—Continuation of the war with the Bushmen—Conduct
of the Namaqua captain Afrikaner—Dismissal of the landdrost Woeke,
and appointment of Honoratus Maynier as his successor—Unpopularity of

Mr. Maynier—Condition of the western Kosa clans—The second Kaffir war
—Humiliating terms of peace—Partial report of Mr. JIaynier upon the
causes of the war— Fear of an insurrection of Hottentots in Swellendam
—Arrest and confinement of the Hottentot captain Kees—Efforts made by
several colonists to improve the breed of cattle in the colony—Establish-

ment of a mission to the Hottentots by the Moravian Society—Appoint-
ment of wardmasters in Cape Town—Promotion of various officers

—

Changes in the staff of clergymen—Declaration of war between France
and the Netherlands—Stagnation of trade at the Cape—Formation of a
pennist corps and pandour company—Appointment and installation of

Abraham Josias Sluysken as commissioner general and head of the Cape
government.

The commissioners were not many hours in the colony before

they became aware that their task in South Africa would not

be an easy one. They had been instructed to increase the

revenue, and the first thing they heard upon reaching

Simon's Bay was that the council had been obliged by the

attitude of the burghers to withdraw a proclamation impos-

ing a succession duty, or tax upon inheritances, which the

directors had ordered to be levied. On the 25th of June the
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burgher councillors—Messrs J. Smuts, G. H. Meyer, H. J.

de Wet, A. Tleck, H. A. Truter, and H. P. Warnecke

—

requested an interview for the purpose of presenting a
memorial on the condition of the country, which they desired

to deliver in the name and on behalf of the whole body of

colonists. The commissioners declined to receive them as

representatives of the people, and asserted that they would

only recognise the legally constituted committee of the high

court of justice, which consisted of three servants of the

Company and three burghers. They offered, however, to

listen to the complaints contained in the memorial, if the

councillors would appear as private individuals. Two days

in every week, they stated, would be set aside purposely to

hear complaints and to investigate grievances.

The burgher councillors withdrew dissatisfied. They

maintained that from the earliest days of the ccdony to the

recent establishment of the committee of the high court of

justice, their predecessors in office had been regarded as

representatives of the burgher population, and they were

determined to make a resolute stand for the maintenance of

the privilege. Immediately, public meetings began to be

held all over the courtry, and addresses were signed, which

were forwarded to them for presentation to the commis-

sioners. In these addresses the principle was kept in view

that the colonists could not in justice be required to assist

the Company out of its difficulties, as they had in no way
contributed to its losses, and that as the expenditure for

purely colonial purposes was less than the revenue, the iaxes

should be reduced, instead of being increased. The farmers

desired that the tithes should be abolished, and a tax sub-

stituted of five per cent upon the value of produce sold. The
commissioners learned that the supply of wheat in Cape

Town was only sufficient for eighteen days consumption, and

that the country people would not bring in more until their

grievances were I'3ard.

On the 9th of July the burgher councillors presented

themselves again with numerous memorials, and were again

informed that they could not be recognised as representa-
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as

tives of the people. But it soon became evident to the com-
missionerB that on this point concession must be made.
Much as tlie people talked about taxation, they talked more
about their rights ; and this matter of being represented by
burghers alone, instead of by a mixed body of Company's
servants and burghers, was the right that just then they

made most of. The commissioners therefore at length gave
way, and while still retaining the committee of the high

court of justice for the management of municipal affairs,

consented to receive the six burgher councillors as represen-

tatives or advocates of the colonists.

Messrs. Nederburgh and Frykenius now issued addresses

appealing to the people to aid the government in its distress

and to desist from further opposition. They exhorted the

citizens of the town to return to the simple style of living of

their forefathers, as by so doing large incomes would not be
needed. That was the course the Company had determined

to adopt, they stated, and it was the only practicable means
of overcoming the difficulties under which all were labour-

ing. These moral injunctions had little or no effect, though
the commissioners flattered themselves that a good impres-

sion had been made by them. The people denied that they

were disloyal to the States General, and maintained that their

opposition was confined to the corrupt administration of the

East India Company. But the East India Company is the

machinery provided by the States General for your govern-

ment, said the commissioners, and they thought that by this

assertion all objections ought to be removed.

After a rigid examination of the records and practices

of each department, Messrs. Nederburgh and Frykenius came
to the conclusion that it would be possible to reduce the ex-

penditure at the Cape to about 66,000^ a year. They struck

off nearly all the perquisites of the officers of government,

and allowed them small, but suitable, salaries instead. The
officers were permitted, however, to retain the fees which
they derived from various sources. The Company's gardens

in Cape Town and the country seat of Eustenburg, used by

the secunde, were leased by public tender, and a great

\\
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number and variety of other charges upon the Company
were summarily cut off.

To increase the revenue they imposed the following

taxes :

—

(a) A duty of 2Z. upon every slave imported, and of five

per cent upon the value of all articles imported or exported,

except by the Company.

(6) An increase of transfer dues on sales of land held

over ten years, from two and a half to four per cent.

(c) A charge upon carriages and vehicles kept for

pleasure, varying from 128. to 2Z. a year, according to the

class.

{S) A charge of 2?. on every vessel not belonging to the

Company anchoring in cither of the bays.

(e) The farming out of the saltpans.

(/) A duty of 12s. on each legger of brandy brought to

town, similar to the former duty on wine.

{g) A charge of five per cent upon the effects of all

persons above the rank of junior merchants leaving the

colony, unless they returned within three years.

(^) An increase of the stamp duty. Under this heading

<3ame also auction duty, at the rate of three and a half per

cent on the value of movable and one and three quarters

per cent on the value of landed property, this tax being

made payable by means of stamps on the vendu rolls or lists

of articles sold, which the auctioneer was required to make
oath to.

The last-named was a most unpopular tax. From the

earliest times goods of all kinds were constantly being dis-

posed of by auction in the town, and periodical sales were

held in the several country districts. Every three months,

upon the celebration of the communion, the farmers were in

the habit of attending the different churches. Many of them

travelled seven or eight days for that purpose, and usually

arranged to remain at the church place from the Thursday

or Friday preceding to the Tuesday following. Those who
had goods or cattle to dispose of took advantage of these

opportunities, and it seldom happened that auction sales
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-were not held. The clergy set their faces against the prac-

tice, but the circumstances of the country were such that the

sales went on in spite of their denunciations. A tax upon
auctions was therefore a tax that aflFected the pockets of every

one.

The burgher councillors, after using all the arguments
they could command, protested against the levying of this

tax, but to no purpose. The heemraden of Stellenbosch and
Drakenstein, attended by between three and four hundred
farmers of that district, came to town, and remonstrated

against it, but also to no effect. Then at public meetings

it was resolved to purchase nothing at auctions until the

obnoxious tax was withdrawn. The commissioners went to

Stellenbosch, where the opposition was strongest, and endea-

voured to appease the people ; but though they were listened

to patiently and treated with the greatest respect, they were

unsuccessful. During the month of May 1793 not a single

sale by auction took place in the colony, the few who were

disposed to purchase being intimidated by the attitude of

the great majority of the burghers.

The commissioners informed the directors, however, that

it was only a question of time, as without such sales the

business of the colony would cease, so that sooner or later

the people would be obliged to submit. And it happened as

they foresaw. A sale by auction was announced to take place

at the Paarl, where the church of Drakenstein was situated

;

and Mr. Willem Stephanus van Ryneveld, secretary of the

high court of justice, was sent to try and induce people to

bid. For some time the auctioneer could get no offer for

anything. But at length an old woman was persuaded by

Mr. Van Ryneveld to make a trifling bid for a slave, and this

being accepted and the slave pronounced sold, others could

not resist the temptation to try to make like bargains. The

bidding soon became spirited, and the sale was successful.

In Cape Town the people held out a little longer, but were

at length compelled to submit.

The several measures adopted to increase the revenue and

reduce the expenditure were productive of the following
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results, as shown by the Company's books for the three years;

preceding the 31st of August 1794, the latest date to which

the accounts were audited. The total expenditure at the

Cape during those three years was 203,0 70Z., or on an average

67,690?. a year. The total revenue was 91,752Z., or on an

average 30,584Z. a year. And the amount derived from sell-

ing and leasing property belonging to the Company, includ-

ing profit on East Indian produce, was 30,796Z., or 10,265L

a year. Thus the yearly outlay was reduced to within

27,000Z. of the income, instead of 92,000Z. as previously.

The commissioners claimed that the benefits which they

conferred upon the colonists greatly outweighed the burdens

imposed by the increased taxation.

In the first place, they raised the price paid by the Com-
pany lor wheat to lis. 4c2. a muid, from which, however, the

tithe—either in money or in kind—was to be deducted. At
this price, the Company was to retain the right of demanding

as much wheat as it needed. The farmers could dispose of

the surplus as they pleased, or could export it to India or

the Netherlands, provided it was sent in Dutch ships.

For several years the coast of South Africa had been

frequented by English and American whalers, to such an ex-

tent that on one occasion over twenty were engaged in St.

Helena Bay alone. In September 1792 the commissioners

threw this industry open to the colonists, on condition that

the vessels employed should be built and equipped in the

Netherlands, that ships engaged to take oil to Europe should

be chartered through the agency of the Company, and that

the oil should be sent only to the Netherlands. Whale fish-

ing by means of open boats only was restricted to Table and

False bays, in order that no establishments requiring protec-

tion might be formed at other places.

Next, in November 1792 liberty was given to the colonists

to send the produce of the country to any part of Netherlands

India for sale, provided that the ships employed were built

in Holland ; but return cargoes could only be purchased from

the Company. The ports of Table Bay, Mossel Bay, and

Plettenberg's Bay were declared open for this trade. The
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ships engaged were not to go beyond certain limits, which
were laid down. A trade in slaves with Madagascar and the

east coast of Africa was also permitted.

At the same time the commissioners strictly prohibited

the importation of any goods in foreign vessels. Trade with

strangers was restricted to the sale of provisions for money,
unless special permission was first obtained from the govern-

ment.

The privileges, as the commissioners termed them, gave

little satisfaction to the colonists. The prohibition of trade

with foreigners, they protested, would ruin them. For more
than a century the Cape had been a place where persons

coming from Europe could buy Indian wares, and those from

India European wares, a large proportion of which was
obtained from foreigners. The trade was illegal, but was
nevertheless conducted openly. Nearly the whole of the

gold and silver in the colony was derived from the English,

French, and Danes who visited the ports. The Indian trade,

fenced in by such restrictions as those imposed by the com-

missioners, would be of no benefit. The liberty to establish

whale fisheries would be of advantage to a few persons, but

could be of little aid to the colony at large.

Distress, consequent upon the reduction of the garrison

and an almost total cessation of trade, was at this time

general. Men were unable to pay debts less than one-tenth

of the nominal value of fixed property in their possession,

and judgments of court in some cases could not be satisfied,

aa purchasers were not to be found for land at any price.

To relieve this distress, and at the same time to increase the

revenue, in March 1793 the commissioners established a loan

bank. A quantity of paper was stamped to represent dif-

ferent sums, was declared a legal tender, and was issued

through this ba^nk to applicants offering sufficient security for

the loan. In the town an advance was made to the amount

of one-half the value of the property mortgaged, and in the

country to the amount of two-thirds; but as additional

security two persons of means were required to pledge them-

selves for the repayment of the loan. This issue of paper, or

II. z
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cartoon money as it was called, amounted to 135,473Z.,

upon which interest at the rate of five per cent was payable

by the borrowers yearly. By this means relief from pressure

of debt was obtained by many landed proprietors ; but the

effect of issuing such a quantity of inconvertible cartoon

money was greatly to increase the general distress.

The belief in the existence of gold in Great Namaqua-
land had not yet died out. Mr. Sebastiaan Valentyn van

Eeenen, who wes a man of means and an enthusiast in this

matter, addressed the commissioners on the subject, and an

arrangement for another exploring expedition was made.

The commissioners, on behalf of the Company, intended to

take formal possession of all the bays on the coast of Nama-
qualand that were likely to be frequented by whalers, and it

was therefore planned that the packet Meermin should be

sent northward for that purpose, that Mr. Van P-^enen with

his party should have a passage in her to a 1 ay where a

train of waggons which he was to send overland should meet

him, and that Skipper Duminy should render every possible

assistance.

When the expedition under Willem van Eeenen was in

Namaqualand, one of the party—Barend Freyn—had heard

of a Hottentot chief named Ynemand, who was said to reside

at a bay about twelve or fourteen days' journey north of the

mouth of the great river, and who was reported to be friendly

to strangers and to know where the gold mines were situated.

Mr. Sebastiaan van Eeenen now engaged Barend Freyn to

proceed with a train of waggons to the kraal of Ynemand,
and make the acquaintance of that chief. He undertook to

be there not later than the 1st of January 1793, and to wait

until the arrival of Mr. Van Eeenen.

On the 3rd of January 1793 the Meermin sailed from

Table Bay. She had as passengers the brothers Sebastiaan

Valentyn and Dirk Gysbert van Eeenen, Pieter Pienaar, a

European servant, eight Hottentots, and two slaves. Five

days after sailing she reached an island close to the coast in

la,titudo 27" B., where some Englishmen and Americans were

found killing seals for their oil and skins. Pienaar went
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ashore on the main land, and came across some Hottentots,

but could obtain no intelligence concerning Freyn and the

waggons. The only white man that the Hottentots knew of

as being in the country was one Gideon Visagie, who led a

wandering life among the savages. Some stone beacons had

been brought from the Cape, with the arms of the States

engraved on one side and the mark of the East India Com-
pany on the other. On the 12th of January one of these

was taken ashore on the island, and erected at a spot which

was set down in the diary as latitude 27° S., longitude

32° 45' east of Teneriflfe. The sealhunters called the place

Thomson's Island, but in South Africa it has been known
ever since this date as Possession. The sheet of water

between it and the mainland was named by Skipper Duminy
Elizabeth Bay. A chart was made, which is now in the

archives of the colony.

On the 13th the Meermin sailed. She cast anchor next

in latitude 26° 21' S., and parties went ashore and explored

the country around Angra Pequena, without finding any

trace of Ynemand or Barend Freyn. On the 20th possession

was formally taken, and a beacon was erected at a point

marked in the chart—which is now in the colonial archives

—as latitude 26° 30' 26" S., longitude 15° 57' 9" east of

London. The longitude is incorrect, as in nearly all the

calculations of that time. The variation of the compass is

set down as 23° 31' W. The island now called Halifax was

named by Skipper Duminy Meermin Island, the sheet of

water between it and Pedestal Point he named Daniel's Bay,

the recess between Pedestal Point and the point farther

eastward on which he erected his beacon he named Bhenius

Bay, and Angra Pequena itself he renamed Beschermer

Haven.

Sailing again, on the 23rd of January the Meermin cast

anchor in Walvisch or Whale Bay, latitude as given

22° 56' S. Skipper Duminy had been there two years before,

when he had seen about a hundred head of horned cattle

in possession of a kraal of Hottentots. On the 25th the

brothers Van Eeenen went ashore and found the Hottentots,

X 2
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who appeared highly delighted at the sight of strangers.

Presents were made to them, and two cows, a calf, five sheep,

and some copper ornaments were obtained in barter. These

Hottentots knew of Captain Ynemand, and pointed to the

south-east as the direction in which he lived. They declined,

however, to furnish guides, though tempting offers were

made. They stated that the copper mine, from which they

procured the metal which they had in abundance, was not

very far away. After a short acquaintance, they were found

to be persistent beggars and inveterate thieves.

On the 29th of January Pieter Pienaar and the Hot-

tentots brought from the Cape left to explore the country to

the eastward. They returned on the 20th of February, when
Pienaar reported that the day after leaving he met two

Damaras who acted as guides, and conducted him for

twelve days up the valley of a river. Beyond this valley on

each side the country was burnt up, as he was informed no

rain whatever had fallen for five years. In the valley he

found fine large trees growing, and in some places rich

grass in flats three quarters of an hour's walk from one side

to the other. Water was obtained by digging in places

known to it 3 natives, though none was flowing above the

surface. He passed five Damara kraals in the valley, and

procured some copper from the people residing in them.

They informed him that there were no clans with cattle to

the north, but many to the south and south-east. They
knew of Willem van Eeenen's expedition ; but could give no

information about the Captain Ynemand or any other metal

than copper. Game was very abundant in the valley.

Pienaarhad seen elephants, rhinoceroses, gemsboks, buffaloes,

gnus, springboks, and lions. With some of the savages,

the men were fat and strong, owing to their being able to

get game, but the women and children were wretchedly thin

and seemingly starving. They had offered to sell some

children, and Pienaar had bought two about eight or nine

years of age, little better than skeletons.

It was now evident that Freyn was not in Namaqualand,

and Mr. Van Beenen came to the conclusion that he had
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l)eeii prevented by the drought from penetrating the country,

which was afterwards found to be correct. No information

whatever concerning gold was to be obtained, nor was it

possible to reach Ynemand wherever he might be. Further

exploration was therefore reluctantly abandoned.

On the 26th of February a beacon was erected by Skipper

Duminy as a mark of possession, but the old name of Wal-
visch—or as now written Walfish—Bay was not changed.

On the 3rd of March the Meermin sailed, and on the 10th of

April cast anchor again in Table Bay.

Owing to advantages gained by the Bushmen in the

war along the interior mountain range, and the abandonment
of about a hundred farms by the colonists, the government
directed the landdrosts of GraafF Reinet, Swellendam, and
Stellenbosch, with the heemraden of those districts, to hold

a combined meeting in Cape Town on the 1st of July 1792,

under presidency of Colonel Gordon, for the purpose of

arranging a plan of military operations. On the day ap-

pointed, Mr. Woeke did not appear, so on the 2nd of July

the council suspended him from duty, and called upon hira

to answer for his conduct. A military officer—Captain

Bernard Cornelis van Baalen—was directed to proceed to

Graaff Reinet as soon as arrangements could be made, and
to act there as landdrost until further orders. The old

secretary Wagener and Mr. Jan Gysbert van Reenen, the

latter of whom was a man of experience in frontier matters,

were requested to aid the combined landdrosts and heem-
raden with their advice.

On the 13th of July Colonel Gordon laid before the

council of policy the report that had been agreed upon. It

recommended that a commando of at least a hundred burghers

should be called out in the district of Swellendam, and
another of equal strength in the district of Stellenbosch and
Drakenstein, that these commandos should be provided for a

campaign of three months, and should meet at the farm of

Jan Adam Raubenheimer at the Zwartberg, on the 31st of

August. Mr. Jan Pieter van der Walt, of the Cold Bokke-

Teld, was named as a competent man for the chief command,
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and his brother—Tjaart van der Walt—as the person best

qualified for the second place. It was proposed that Captain

Van Baalen, when on his way to Graafi' Beinet, should call

upon Mr. J. P. van der Walt, and arrange a plan of action

;

that he should then assemble a? many of his burghers as

could be got together, and act 'n concert with the other

forces in the field.

The couiicil adopted the report, and issued the necessary

instructions to have it carried into effect. The usual injunc-

tions to act with humanity were added, and as an induce-

ment to the burghers to take prisoners rather than shoot

their opponents, a reward of 3/. was offered for every indi-

vidual of Bushman race, big or little, male or female,

delivered at the Cape. The council determined that such

prisoners should be sent to Eobben Island as convicts for

life.

Before these arrangements could be carried into effect, a

robbery of unusual magnitude took place, followed by punish-

ment of terrible severity. On the 11th of June two hordes

of Bushmen, under leaders to whom the colonists had given

the names Tlamink and Couragie, attacked at the Leeuwen
river the drovers in charge of some cattle belonging to the

contractor for the supply of meat to the Company, killed a

European, wounded a slave, and captured 11,000 slaughter

sheep and 256 oxen. The burgher lieutenant Nicholas Smit,

of Graaff Eeinet, assisted by Tjaart van der Walt and Philip

Botha, got together thirty-three burghers of Swellendam, and

followed up the robbers. On the 24th of July this commando
fell in with Flamink's horde, and shot about three hundred

individuals of all ages, including the leader. Fifteen children

were taken alive, and eight hundred and sixty sheep, fifty-

three oxen, four horses, and eight muskets were recovered.

On the Ist of September the commandant-general Van'

der Walt left Raubenheimer's farm with a force of sixty

Europeans and forty half-breeds to search for Couragie's

horde. The country about the source of the Zak river was

scoured, and over two hundred Bushmen were killed. Seven

hundred and twenty-five sheep and fifteen oxen were re-
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covered. On the 24th of November the Europeans and
half-breeds, divided into three parties, went out again from

the camp; but did not succeed in falling in with the

marauders.

The burghers of GraafF Reinet took no part in these

operations. Captain Van Baalen did not arrive at the

drostdy until the 1 2th of September, when he found that

the secretary Maynier had issued notices to the farmers to

assemble on the 24th, too late to act in concert with the

other forces.

The Europeans had an active ally in the Naraaqua captain

Afrikaner, a man whose name in later years was made famous

by missionary journals. Afrikaner with his clan scoured the

country further down the Zak river while Commandant Van
der Walt was engaged at its sources, killed one hundred and

thirteen Bushmen, and took twenty prisoners. He then

applied to the landdrost of Stellenbosch for a supply of ammu-
nition to enable him to proceed with the work of clearing the

country of rob] )ers. The landdrost forwarded the application

to government, and on the 20th of November the council

resolved to comply Avith th'^ request. A farmer named
Pienaar, who lived on the border, was Icnown to have a large

stock of powder and lead on hand. The landdrost was in-

structed to procure advances from Pienaar, which the

council would gladly repay, and at the same time he was to

convey to Afrikaner the particular satisfaction of the govern-

ment with his conduct.

The Namaqua captain did not use the ammunition tor

the purpose for which it was granted. There was a band of

half-breed and Hottentot marauders living on the northern

bank of the great river, under the leadership of a European

renegade. With this band Afrikaner's clan had a feud, and

an opportunity so favourable for an attack was not allowed

to pass by. The result was several killed and wounded on

both sides, the loss by Afrikaner of the staff of office supplied

by the government, and his driving his opponents from the

field c " action and making prize of six of their guns. With
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the spoil he proceeded to Cape Town, where on the 7th of

August 1 793 he delivered the guns to the government, and
obtained another staflF of office.

Towards the close of 1792 the commandos operating

against the Bushmen were disbanded, and tlie burghers of

Stellenbosch and Swellendam returned to their homos. Two
farms in the Nieuwveld were given free of rent to Mr. J. P.

van der Walt, on condition of his occupying them; and
power was conferred upon him to call out commandos when-

ever he might find it necessary, without previous reference

to any of the landdrosts.

Immediately after the suspension of Landdrost Wooke, ot

GraaflF Reinet, complaints of his domineering conduct were

made by the secretary Maynier, the sick comforter Do Vries,

the former heemraad Van Jaarsveld, and others, all of which

he was called upon to reply to. Instead of defending him-

self, he accused his opponents of various kinds of improper

conduct, so that between the two sets of papers and those

which followed, whatever evil deeds had been committed in

the district were brought to light. Acts of violence were

very rare, considering the condition in which the people

were living. One monstrous deed, of which the tradition is

still preserved by the Imidange clan, was brought home to

Adriaan van Jaarsveld. In the campaign of 1781 he had
caused a volley to be fired into a party of Kaffirs who were

scrambling for bits of tobacco he had thrown to them. The
atrocity of the act was pointed out, as it was done in cold

blood, and could not be considered proper in war, although

the commandant had previously given notice to the Kaffirs

that they would be shot if they did not cross the Fish river.

With regard to his not attending the combined meeting

of landdrosts and heemraden in Cape Town, Mr. Woeke
gave a satisfactory explanation. Communications between

the seat of government and the drostdy of Graaff Reinet were

frequently from three to four months in passing. On this

occasion, he only received the order on the 20th of June, and
it was therefore impossible to obey it. The commissionerg

general, however, considering that he had not repelled the
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charges against him and that he had certainly lost the con-

fidence of the people of the district, dismissed him from the

Company's service, and provisionally appointed the secretary

Maynier landdrost in his stead.

It was one of the most injudicious appointments ever

made in South Africa, for no one could have been more out

of sympathy with the colonists than Maynier was. A
historian needs to be very careful in describing the character

of one who is dead, especially if he has left no descendants

or partisans to vindicate his acts, if they can be vindicated

;

but apart from the accusations of his contemporaries and

the hatred with which this man's memory is still regarded

on the frontier, he can be judged by his correspondence with

the government. He possessed in perfection a kind of

ability which enabled him to ascertain exactly wliat his

superiors desired and to win their favour and confidence.

The motive of all his acts was self-interest, and he did not

scruple to pervert truth to gain his ends. He was a near

relative of the secunde Ehenius, but he does not seem to

have owed his appointment to the influence of that oflBcer so

much as to his own address. The frank, outspoken, generous,

though rough colonists of the frontier were no match in

argument for one so full of subtlety and meanness as he was

;

they felt their helplessness against his misrepresentations,

and detested him accordingly. At the very first meeting of

the coui't under his presidency, 6th of May 1793, the majority

of the district ofl&cers expressed their dissatisfaction, and were

with difficulty induced not to resign their appointments.

It was a trying period on the frontier. A long and

intensely severe drought had prevented the cultivation of

the ground, all the reserve grain had been consumed by the

Kaf&rs, and those in the Zuurveld had lost most of their

cattle. The regent Ndlambe was at open war with the

chiefs on this side of the Fish river, and three white men
—Coenraad du Buis, Christoffel Botha, and Coenraad

Bezuidenhout—were taking part in the strife, nominally in

his favour, really for the sake of spoil.' The old chief Langa

' My relatioD of the cause of the feuds between the difEerent Kaffir clans
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had been made prisoner, and was detained at Ndlambe'»

kraal. Coenraad du Buis had not scrupled to take a girl

just married to the captive chief, and keep her as his concu-

bine, thus exasperating the Amambala clan. Far and wide

within the colony the Kafl&rs were stealing the farmers*

cattle, and parties of them even sent word to the drostdy

that they would continue to do so until the three white men
with Ndlambe ceased to molest them.

When intelligence of Maynier's appointment was received

in the district, some of the farmers, in utter despair, took

the law into their own hands. Several large cattle robberies

had just taken place, so the burgher Barend Lindeque raised

a commando without reference to the landdrost, got assistance

from Ndlambe, and on the 18th of May surrounded a kraal

and took eight hundred head of cattle from it by way of

reprisal. Half of this spoil was sent to Ndlambe, the

remainder was restored to the farmers from whom the ca,ttle

had been stolen.

A few days after this occurrence, a great horde of Kafl&rs

crossed the Fish river to the assistance of those on this

side, and an attack was made upon the colonists. There

were one hundred and twenty farms occupied between the

rivers Kowie and Zwartkops, and one hundred and sixteen

of these were laid waste. The Europeans and Hottentots

fled westward for their lives. Some parties were overtaken,

when the men were tortured in a shocking manner and then

murdered, but the women and children were permitted to

proceed. Pieter Vivier, Jan Grobbelaar, Frederik Jordaan,

Juriaan Potgieter, and Stephanus Cloete were thus mur-

dered, and Frederik Buys was left in such a condition that

he died some time afterwards of his wounds. A lad about

,-
j

;

varies slightly from the official records and contemporary accounts. More
than a quarter of a century ago I commenced gathering native traditions with

a view of getting the Kaffir version of what had occurred in bygone times, and
obtained very complete information upon the regency of Ndlambe and the

dealings of that chief with the heads of the clans in the Zuurveld. It is from

this source that I am able to explain a few circumstances that seemed obscure

to the actors in 1793, unacquainted as they were with the intricacies of Kaffir

history.
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sixteen years of age, named Stroebel, was taken away, and,

his fate could never be ascertained. About forty Hottentots

also were overtaken and put to deatb. According to returns

afterwards sent in, 65,827 head of horned cattle, 11,000

sheep, and 200 horses were swept off in this raid.

Upon a report of the outbreak reaching Swellendam, the

burgher lieutenant Pieter Hendrik Ferreira, with twenty-

six white men and fourteen Hottentots, set out with the

utmost speed to the assistance of the fugitives, and on the

22nd of June met some fifty families at the Zwartkops. It

was at once arranged to make use of that river as a line of

defence, and to guard it until assistance could reach them.

It was estimated that there were six thousand Kaffir warriors

in the field, so that offensive operations were not to be

thought of.

On the 18th of June Mr. Maynier, accompanied by the

secretary Stanhoffius and the heemraden Stephanus Naude
and Hendrik Meintjes van den Berg, left Graaff Reinet to try

to restore concord by means of presents to the chiefs. He
first opened up communication with Ndlambe, and arranged

with him that the Kaffirs in the colony might return

unmolested to their own side of the Fish river. Most of

them had in fact already done so, with the object of placing

theii spoil in safety. Many of Ndlambe's own followers had
taken part in the raid, and the colonists were convinced that

a reconciliation of the clans had taken place and that all

were united against them.

Mr. Maynier, who professed to believe that the Kaffirs

were incapable of acting with duplicity, next sent a Hottentot

named Willem Hasebek to the chiefs who had led the raiders,

to propose peace on condition of their restoring the captured

cattle and respecting the Fish river as the boundary. They
replied, agreeing to the boundary of the Fish river, but

declining to give up the cattle. Mr. Maynier then returned

to Graaff Beinet, whore tidings reached him that large

numbers of Kaffirs were again on tl e colonial side of the

river, that they were plundering farms in distant parts of i
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the district, and that on the 30th of July a son of Theunis

Botha and a Hottentot had been murdered.

Meantime the government had sent instructions to the

landdrost of Swellendam to call out a strong commando and
proceed to the devastated district. He was to compel the

Kaffirs to cross the Fish river and to restore the captured

cattle or make compensation ; but was not to inflict further

punishment, and upon these conditions being complied with,

he was to make peace. The military ensign Hans Abue was
sent to the frontier to aid the landdrost with his advice.

When this intelligence reached Graaff Reinet, Mr.
Maynier, fancying that a slight had been put upon him,

resolved to take the field at once. He called out the

burghers, and convened a meeting of the heemraden and
militia officers on the 19th of August. The distrust felt

towards him was, however, so general that no one would
consent to act as commandant under his direction. There

were only two heemraden—S. Naude and H. M. van den
Berg—to say a word in his favour, and the result of the

meeting was therefore that the landdrost took command
himself, and appointed these two his assistants. On the

27th of August he left GraaflP Reinet, at the head of 117

mounted burghers.

On the 8th of September the Swellendam commando
commenced its march. It consisted of about four hundred

burghers—including many fugitives from the Zuurveld

—

and one hundred Hottentots, under the militia captain

Laurens de Jager, accompanied by the landdrost Faure.

At the devastated farm of Cornelis van Rooyen, not far from

the site of the present city of Graham's Town, this commando
joined the one under Maynier.

A strong party of the Graaff Reinet burghers, having as

spokesmen Carel Jan Triegard, Jan Botha, and Cornelis

Faber, now agitated for the appointment of De Jager as

commandant-general. Mr. Maynier and his two partisans

objected, and as he quoted law which could not be disputed,

his opponents were obliged to give way. It was then resolved

that as the Kaffirs had again gone over to the eastern side
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of the Fish river, a large division of the force, under com-
mand of Maynier, should follow them up, while the remain-

ing division, under De Jager and Faure, should guard the

camp on this side.

On the 14th of September Maynier with a small flying

column appeared at the Koonap, near its junction with the

Fish, where the captain Cika of the Amantinde clan was
lurking, and recovered about 1,300 head of cattle. On the

26th of the same month he made another quick march to

the same place, but on this occasion only obtained 200 cattle.

The KafiKrs lost some ten men killed and wounded by these

two expeditions.

The column next took another direction, and crossed

the Fish river at a place where a Hottentot captain named
Trompetter formerly had a kraal, from which circumstance

the ford ws known as Trompetter's drift. On the 1st and
2nd of Oci < r about 2,500 head of cattle were recovered,

but very !• is iffirs were killed. A certain petty captain,

called Hanti oy the colonists, now joined the commando with

a few followers. This man was the head of the division or

clan of the old Gonaqua tribe which had least mixed with

the Kaffirs, and he was almost a pure Hottentot in appear-

ance. Cungwa, the principal chief of the tribe, was one of

the most active enemies of the colonists; but Hans professed

to be friendly. Every day his following increased in number,

and some of them, being quite black, stated that they were

adherents of Ndlambe. From the time of their arrival no

cattle could be found, and the burghers, who observed that

these strangers always made large fires at night, became

suspicious of them and desired leave to drive them away.

Mr. Maynier would not consent to this, and professed to

believe that Hans and his followers were truthful and harm-

less.

Eight or ten days were now occupied in searching for a

ford in the upper waters of the Keiskama, and as one could

not be found, the column marched to the mouth of that

river and waded across the bar. The bulk of the farmers*

cattle had in the meantime been driven far beyond reach.
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and had been placed in care of Kawuta, the head of the

Oaleka branch and paramount chief of the whole Kosa tribe.

The warriors of the hostile clans had doubled upon the

commando, had crossed the Fish river between Trompetter's

drifb and the sea, and were again in occupation of the

Zuurveld. Hans and his party being left behind in the

rapid march of the burgher horsemen, on the 14th of

October the commando was able to surprise a strong body of

the enemy on the Buffalo river, when in a hot skirmish about

forty Kaffirs were killed and seven thousand head of cattle

were captured. One hundred and twenty women and children

and a couple of men were made prisoners.

A dreadful crime was perpetrated after the action was

-over. One of the women and the adult male prisoners were

shot in cold blood by relatives of some of those burghers

who had been murdered in the Zuurveld. The ferocious

deed was spoken of with horror by one of those present who
placed the circumstance on record, but no punishment was

inflicted upon the perpetrators. It is not referred to in

Maynier's despatches. After a very short detention, all the

other prisoners were released unharmed.

As the horses were worn o«it and there was no grass in

the parched-up country, the commando was now obliged to

fall back. On reaching the Keiskama a friendly visit was

paid to Ndlambe, who repeated the promises he had before

made, and accepted such presents as were offered to him.

He accounted for the cattle with colonial marks seen in his

possession by the assurance that they had been taken by his

people from the clans at war with the colonists, who were

his enemies also ; and he promised Mr. Maynier to restore

them to the white people if time were allowed him to collect

them together. The landdrost considered this very satisfac-

tory, and parted with Ndlambe on the best of terms.

In the march from the Keiskama, many of the cattle

taken on the Buffalo had to be abandoned, and upon approach-

ing the Fish river the scouts reported that the ford was

occupied by a strong body of Kaffirs. By means of some
Hottentots, communication was opened with the Swellendam
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'Commando, then in camp on the farm of Lucas Meyer three

hours' march from the river, and a relief party was sent out.

On its approach the Kaffirs retired from the ford, and the

GraafFReinet 1? irghers crossed without molestation.

An attempt vv^as now made to drive the enemy out of the

Zuurveld. The Kaffirs were too wary to risk an encounter

in the open field, and did not even make a stand in natural

strongholds. The few who were encountered by chance pro-

fessed to be friendly, and, upon a mere promise to go across

the Fish river, were left unmolested by order of Maynier.

After two or three weeks' marching backward and forward

fi'om one forest to another, only to learn that each place was
occupied again as soon as they left it, the burghers found

themselves with horses and oxen quite worn out, very little

food of any kind to be had, and no prospect of better fortune

in the future. They had recovered a few cattle, all with colo-

nial brands, and in a couple of slight skirmishes had taken

prisoners sixty women and children and four Hottentots

who had joined the enemy. That was all that had been

done.

It was evident to every one that there were only two

methods of bringing the war to a close. One was the plan

adopted by Adriaan van Jaarsveld twelve years before : no

quarter, let every man of the invaders leave the colony or be

shot. The other was for the Europeans to submit to the best

terms obtainable. The war council, consisting of the land-

drosts Maynier and Faure, the military ensign Hans Abue,

the GraaflF Reinet burgher officers Stephanus Naude and
Hendrik Meintjes van den Berg, and the Swellendam burgher

officers Laurens de Jager and Hillegard Mulder, took the

latter course.

The women and children who had been made prisoners

were released and sent with presents to invite the hostile

chiefs to a conference. After six days' absence, some of the

women returned with a message that the chiefs were willing

to make peace, but were afraid to visit the camp—then at

Assa gai Bush—and therefore requested the landdrosts to meet
them at a place five hours' journey distant. The landdrosts
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went unarmed to the spot indicated, and had a conference

with two sons of Langa, one of whom—Tuli by name

—

returned with them to the camp. The chiefs stated their

willingness to desist from hostilities, but protested that thej

were unable to restore the cattle taken from the colonists.

All bad been killed and eaten, they declared ; and such of

their own cattle as had not been seized by Ndlambe had
perished in the drought.

While Tuli was in the camp, word was brought that the

burgher Heudrik van Bensburg had raised a separate com-
mando, and was preparing to attack some of the clans. The
landdrosts hastened to meet him, and persuaded him to

desist. They then had a meeting with the chiefs of the

Amambala, Amagwali, Imidange, and Amantinde clans, when
it wa« agreed that there should be peace. The chiefs pro-

mised to surrender any horses and horned cattle that were

still alive, as also several Hottentots who had aided them.

With these terms the members of the war council ex-

pressed themselves obliged to be content, as no better con-

ditions were obtainable. lu their report, they state that

in their opinion it was quite enough to have the Bushmen
to contend with, and that any terms of peace with the

Kaffirs were therefore preferable to continuing the war.

But the great majority of the burghers were of a very

different mind, and were indignant at what was taking

place. They wanted some one in command in whom they

could have confidence, and the war to be prosecuted until

the colony was cleared of invaders. They also scouted the

assertion of Maynier that Ndlambe*s friendship could be

relied upon, and insisted that his people had taken part in

the raid into the colony and that he was harbouring their

cattle. They dispersed in a spirit which needed very little

provocation to induce an open revolt against the East India

Company and its officers.

It was on the 27th of November 1793 that the burghers

left Assagai Bush, those who had homes to return to them,

the others to form new homes where best they could. Just

before the landdrost Maynier took his departure, messengers
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from the Gunukwebe chief Cungwa arrived to propose that

his clan should be included in the peace. Cungwa was then

occupying the banks of the Bushman's river. The land-

drost went to see him, and made the same terms as with the

others.

The arrangement gave to the Kaffirs all the fruits of

victory. And so far was it from putting an end to hostilities

by them, that the burgher Abel Erasmus was murdered near

the Zwartkops river and all his cattle were carried oflF before

the Swellendam commando reached home. The forces were

hardly disbanded when a farmer named Strydom was mur-
dered, another named Schoeman was badly wounded, and
even a white woman was r ardered by Kaffirs a considerable

distance from the Zuurveld.

Upon receiving presents to a much greater value, Ndlambe
sent in some 400 head of cattle, and about 12,500 had

been recovered since the beginning of the war. Many of

these had been slaughtered for the use of the commandos,

others had been abandoned in Kaffirland, and others had

died, so that only 4,000 head remained. These were divided,

in proportion to their losses, among the farmers who had

been obliged to retire from the Zuurveld.

The landdrost Maynier was afterwards instructed by the

government to investigate the causes of the war. In his

report he expressed an opinion that the farmers had been

sufficiently remunerated for their losses. He pointed out

that the individuals who claimed to have had 65,327 head

of horned cattle taken from them had returned their stock

for taxation purposes just before the outbreak at 8,004 head.

As has been stated already, the standard of truth with

regard to rei^ I'us for taxation purposes was in general very

low indeed ; but the discrepancy here shown was not entirely

due to that cause. At the birth of a child it was customary

with the farmers to mark a certain number of heifers as its

property, and the increase of these belonged to the child, so

that when grown up a son or a daughter might have some-

thing to commence the world with. Such cattle were by a

kind of tacit understanding exempted from the tax of a

II. Y
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penny a year on each head levied for district purposes.

Then there were the young cattle still growing, which the

landdrost and the government knew it had been customary

to exempt. Still, the discrepancy really exhibits the prone-

ness of the people to escape taxation at the cost of truth.

The report of Mr. Maynier, which was evidently pre-

pared to meet the views of the government, attributed the

origin of the war chiefly to the outrageous conduct of Coen-

raad du Buis and the commando of Barend Lindeque, but

gave as secondary causes the occupation of ground east of

the Fish river by twenty-eight families of colonists, wrongs

to which the Eafi&rs had been subjected by cattle barterers,

cruelties practised towards Eiaffirs in service with formers,

and the conduct of a Hottentot to whom the late landdrost

Woeke had given a gun. The Kaffirs are described in it as

a quiet and peaceably-disposed people. This report, which

exhibits in every paragraph a strong desire to put the £afiir

case in the best light and to throw as much blame as

possible on the burghers, entirely ignores the chief cause

of the war as shown in subsequent struggles between the

two races. Outrages perpetrated by farmers are brought to

light, but nothing is said of offences against them. In

addition to those already mentioned, this paper records an

act of violence committed by Frederik Jordaan—one of those

overtaken and murdered in the raid. He had knocked some

teeth out of a Kaffir servant with a bullet mould. Eead

to-day, the report has the opposite effect from what the

vnriter intended to produce. Any 'mpartial person, observ-

ing the spirit that pervades it, will be surprised at the small

amount of crime that existed, considering the circumstances

under which the people lived.

An order was now issued by the landdrost, and confirmed

by the government, that three or four families should always

live close together, for mutual protection. In point of fact,

such an order was superfluous, for there was no other way
of existing in the greater part of the district of Graaflf Eeinet

than by coijibining in lagers. Proclamations were renewed,

forbidding Europeans under very severe penalties from cross-
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ing the Fish river or carrying on cattle barter or intercourse

of any kind with the Kaffirs. The landdrost was instructed

to conciliate those in the Zuurveld with presents, and to

induce them in a friendly manner to return to their own
country. The burghers who were foremost in advocating a
Tenewal of the war were threatened with dire punishment,

and Ooenraad du Buis was summoned to Cape Town to

answer to the crimes laid to his charge. He declined to

obey the order, and it was not possible to have him arrested.

The conduct of Mr. Maynier during these transactions

was so much in accordance with jhe views of the govern-

ment that in March 1794 he was confirmed in the appoint-

ment of landdrost.

In August 1793, while the greater part 01 the colony

was in a disturbed condition, the people of Sweilmdam
became apprehensive of an attempt by the Hottentots either

to murder them or to drive them out of the country. In

October 1788 a Hottentot captain named Kees had drawn
suspicion upon himself by unfriendly and insolent demeanour,

and at this time there was strong circumstantial evidence of

his implication in the murder of two burghers named Labu-
scagne and Van Wyk and the wife of a third named Jan
Oosthuizen. These murders had taken place under circum-

stances of peculiar atrocity, and as the perpetrators had not

been discovered, the people of the district were in a state of

great alarm. Kees and the principal men of his clan were

arrested and sent to Cape Town. Kees's son Klaas admitted

that there was a design to rise against the Europeans, but

no other direct evidence could be obtained. After a time

most of the Hottentots were set at liberty, but Kees and a

few others were kept in permanent confinement as political

prisoners.

It is a relief to turn from these scenes of contention and
disorder, to notice the efforts that were made at this time

by several colonists to improve the domestic animals of the

colony. In 1792 Mr. Jan Frederik Kirsten imported from

England eight horses and three bulls for breeding purposes.

So little encouragement did the government give to the

Y 2
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enterprise that he was obliged to pay a duty of five per cent

upon their value. In the same year Mr. Jacobus Arnoldus

Kirsten imported five horses from Boston. Some skippers

of American vessels, finding others disposed to imitate the

Kirstens, made arrangements to bring over cattle of good

quality, and in 1793 quite a number of horses, mares, bulls,

and cows arrived from the New England States.

An association, of which Mr. Sebastiaan Valentyn van

Beenen was principal director, made an effort to introduce

merino sheep. They tried first to obtain Dassen Island as a

run where stock could be kept pure, but the government

being unwilling to allow them the use of the island, in 1793

they imported a few Spanish rams, which were placed with

common ewes at Groen Kloof. Six hundred half-breed lambs

were cast. Mr. Jan Gysbert van Reenen removed his share,

200 in number, to the Hantam, where they were found to

thrive remarkably well. Some other flocks also did well,

and though the experiment failed from causes hereafter to

be related, it was proved that wool of fair quality could

easily be produced.

A ton of hair of the common sheep was sent by Mr.

Abraham de Smidt to Holland, to ascertain whether it was

of any value there, when it was proved 'not to be wrorth the

cost of transport.

Since the return to Europe of George Schmit, the Mora-

vian Society had frequently requested the Assembly of Seven-

teen to permit missionaries to be sent to the Hottentots,

but hitherto without success. At this time the required

leave was granted. In a despatch, dated 22nd of December

1791, the directors informed the Cape government that they

had given the United Brethren permission to send two or

three missionaries to South Africa and to administer the

sacraments to any converts they might make, the only re-

striction being that they were not to occupy ground where

Christian churches were already established. The govern-

ment was instructed to give them such assistance as they

might need.

In November 1792 three missionaries—byname Heinrich
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Ifarsveld, Daniel Schwinn, and Johan Christiaan Keuhnel

—

arrived from Holland in the Duifje. After lookiiig about for

a suitable site for a station, they selected Baviaans Kloof,

where George Schrait had laboured, and on the 18th of

December the council, on their application, granted them
the use of as much land there as they might require. Mr.

Marthinus Theunissen, superintendent of a cattle station that

had not yet been sold, was directed to provide transport for

their effects, and to see that they obtained whatever they

needed on the way.

Upon the arrival of the missionaries, they found an aged

Hottentot woman who had been baptized by Schmit, and
who still preserved a New Testament which he had given to

her. Under an old pear tree, planted by Schmit, they com-

menced to hold religious services, and soon succeeded in

drawing a considerable number of Hottentots together. They
laid out gardens, and gave one to each family to be retained

during good behaviour. In this manner a village soon grew

up. A large extent of ground was brought under cultivation

by the personal labour of the missionaries, with such assist-

ance as they could obtain from those who gathered around

them. It was not long before a mill for grinding corn was
built, and that was followed by the establishment of a small

factory for making knives. A school for children was opened

at once, and at stated hours that would interfere least with

field labour the adults were collected together for instruction

and prayer. The necessity of industry and cleanliness was

impressed upon the pupils, not only by precept, but by
example and the rules of the institution.

Baviaans Kloof henceforth became the home of a number
of Hottentot families, some members of which were soldiers

in the pandour corps and others in service with colonists.

There these people were looked after by the missionaries with

the greatest care, and whatever was possible was done for

their improvement.

Everything went on well until the first baptisms took

place, when a spirit of jealousy was aroused. The consistory

of Stellenbosch, maintaining that Baviaans Kloof was within
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their parish, then came to the council of policy with a request

that the Moravians might either he required to remove from

their district, or to cease from administering the lacraments

and so setting up a rival church. The request, however, was

very mildly urged, and the government replied that it could

not be acceded to. The missionaries themaelvei were men
of good common sense as well as of great zeal, and from the

first commanded the respect of the farmers in their neigh-

bourhood. Political partisanship was studiously avoided, and

social equality between European colonists and individuals

just emerging from barbarism was not taught. The converts

were regarded as children, requiring to be kept constantly

under tutelage and moderate restraint. Thus these excellent

men with the assistants who soon arrived and their devoted

wives firmly laid the foundation of mission work by the

Moravian Society, which has been of incalculable benefit to

the coloured inhabitants of the colony.

To preserve order in Cape Town, the commissioners-

general introduced a new system of police. In December
1792 the town was divided into twenty-three wards, and the

gardens at the foot of Table Mountain into two wards, in

each of which two burghers of respectability were selected to

act as wardmasters. Their duties were to prevent nuisances

of all kinds, to enforce cleanliness in the streets and public

places, to give directions in case of fire, and generally to

maintain order. All persons moving their residence from or

into any ward were required to report to the wardmasters,.

and the arrival and departure of foreigners or strangers were

to be reported to them by the lodging-house keepers. They
were required to have their names and the word * wykmeester

'

posted up in large letters in front of their houses. Instead

of a salary, they were exempted from the payment of rates

and taxes levied for local purposes. They were subject to

the directions of the committee of the high court of justice,

to whom they were bound to send in periodical returns upon
the state of the town. Every year half of the number were

to be relieved of duty, and successors were to be appointed

by the council of policy from a list of twice as many names^
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submitted by the whole body of wardinasters and approved

by the committee of the high court of justice.

In the staff of the public departments the commissioners-

general made several changes. The appointment of the

acting fiscal independent, Jacob Pieter de Nys, was con-

firmed, and he took his seat in the council of policy. He
was the last who held that office, for upon his death in

December 1793, the system was altered, and the great powers

and privileges possessed by the fiscals independent were

abrogated. Willem Stephanus van Ryneveld, who i ad been

secretary of the high court of justice since April 1 "88, was

then appointed with the title of fiscal only, and was mn^e
subject to the government just as much as the cashier or the

issuer of stores, a seat in the council being given to him much
lower down the table. Egbertus Bergh, secretary of the

council of policy since August 1791, was promoted to be

cashier, and a voice in the debates was given to him, b^'i

without the right of voting, as he was not a member of ti vC

established church. George Frederik Goetz was appointed

his successor as secretary. Christoffel Brand, the resident

at Simon's Town, had a seat in the council given to him
whenever he might be at the castle. Jan Arnold Voltelc 1

was appointed head of the naval establishment, without a

seat in the council. Major De Lille was promoted to the

rank of lieutenant-colonel.

In October 1792 the Eev. Mr. Manger commenced his

duties in Graaff Eeinet. In July 1792 the ^ -^alth of the

Rev. Mr. Van Lier, third minister of the Cape ,
^ oke down,

so the commissioners-general permitted him to retire on a

pension. The situation remained vacant nntil May 1794,

when the Rev. Mr. Kuys was removed fr jui Waveren to fill

it. The only other change in the ataff of clergymen for

several years to come may be mentioned here. In March
1794 the Rev. Michiel Christiaan Vos, a colonist by birth,

arrived from Holland, where he had completed his education,

and was appointed to the church at Waveren.

In the Netherlands the antagonism between the demo-

cratic and conservative parties continued. The former leaned
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towards France, the latter towards England, with which
kingdom the government of the stadtholder had been in close

alliance since 1788. France had become a republic. Events

had for some time been tending towards a rupture, when on

the 1st of February 1793 the Convention issued from Paris a

declaration of war with Great Britain and the United Nether-

lands.

From this date the ocean commerce past the Cape was

greatly diminished. There are no shipping returns in our

archives for the years between 1789 and 1796, except for

1794, in which year the number of vessels that put into

South African ports was 37 under the Dutch flag, 18 English,

12 American, 11 Danish, 5 Italian, and 3 Portuguese, only

86 in all ; but the constant complaints concerning the stag-

nation of trade, the absence of gold and silver money, and
the want of merchandise, show how severely the colonists

suffered.

Upon tidings of the commencement of the war reaching

the Cape, the commissioners-general were at a loss to know
what to do for the defence of the colony. No regular troops

could be expected to strengthen the garrison. They formed

all the clerks and junior oflicers in the Company's service

into a military company, which they termed the pennist

corps, and appointed the member of council Willem Ferdinand

van Eeede van Oudtshoorn its commandant. Further, they

raised a company of half-breeds and Hottentots, put them in

uniform, and set them to learn to be soldiers. This corps

was termed the pandours. No other means could be devised

of strengthening the colony.

Messrs. Nederburgh and Frykenius now prepared to pro-

ceed to Java, the only duty left being to appoint some one

to carry on the administration. Colonel Van de Graaff still

retained the title of governor of the Cape colony, but thay

were aware that he would never return from Europe. Of

the secunde Ehenius they had not formed a high opinion.

While they were looking about for a competent person, an

old servant of the Company, Abraham Josias Sluysken by

name, arrived at the Cape on his way to Europe from Surat,
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where he had for some years been employed as director of

trade. He hod resided here once before for a few months,

when in 1766 he was taken ill and detained on the way to

India. He was now returning home with a view of retire-

ment when, in accordance with a rule of the service, he

stopped at the Cape until his accounts could be audited, and

while here made the acquainto^nce of Messrs. Nederburgh
and Frykenius. They proposed to confer upon him the

same power that they held themselves, and after a little

persuasion he consented to undertake the duty of commis-

sioner-general. He had thus more authority than a governor,

for he could act in any matter without consulting the council,

if he chose to do so. No salary was agreed upon. It was

arranged that he should draw at the rate of 240Z. a month,

and leave further remuneration to be settled by the directors.

Mr. Sluysken was raised to the dignity of ordinary

councillor of Netherlands India and was formally installed

as commissioner-general and head of the Cape government

on the 2nd of September 1793, and immediately afterwards

Messrs, Nederburgh and Frykenius embarked for Batavia.
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CHAPTER XXVII.

ABRAHAM JOSIAS SLUY8KEN, COMMISSIONER GENERAL, FROM
2 SEPTEMBER 1793 TO 16 SEPTEMBER 1796.

r"

Insolvency of the East India Company—Condition of the Cape colony—Erec-
tion of forts at Simon's Town and round Hout Bay—Misrepresentations by
the landdrost Maynier—Expulsion of Maynier by the burghers of Graaff

Keinet—Proceedings of a commission sent to GraafI Reinet—Establishment
by the burghers of a practically independent government at Graaff Reinet
—Similar proceedings at Swellendam—Character and force of the garrison

at the Cape—Negotiations between the British government and the stadt-

holder—Condition of the Netherlands—Departure of a Dutch merchant
fleet from Simon's Bay—Capture of eight of the ships oif the island of

St. Helena—Arrival in Simon's Bay of an English tleet of war and an
army—Invitation to place the colony under the authority of the British

government—Negotiations between the British officers and the Cape
government—Rejection by the Cape government and people of the proposal

of the British officers—Military operations—Feeble defence of the colony
—Surrender of the country to the British troops—Terms of the capitu-

lation.

I

Mr. Sluysken took over the government of the Cape
colony under circumstances of great difficulty. The credit

of the East India Company was exhausted, and its debt was

ten million pounds sterling. In February 1794 it was

obliged to declare itself unable to meet the interest on its

loans. To maintain a garrison capable of defending the

country in case of attack was beyond its power.

In the colony gold and silver coin had disappeared, and

in its stead was a quantity of cartoon money resting on no

other security than the ability of the Company to redeem it

at some future time. Under these circumstances, internal

trade, except by means of barter, had almost ceased. Debts

could be paid in paper, for it was a legal tender, and there-

fore no one cared to give credit. The prohibition of trade

with foreigners had created such distress that its enforce-
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ment had been suspended for three years ; but now very few
foreigners called. The little merchandise in the country

was sold at such excessively dear rates that individuals of
moderate means were obliged to dispense with many of the

ordinary comforts of life. Fortunately, the seasons from

1786 to 1796 were good, and there was no scarcity of food

in the country ; but there was hardly any market for the

surplus. Nothing worth speaking of could be exported to

Europe, and the government had a difficulty in sending to

India the wheat, wine, butter, and tallow that could be made
use of there. The colonists had not yet been able to or-

ganise a foreign trade on their own account.

Along the whole northern border the struggle with

the Bushmen was constant. On the eastern frontier war
with the Kaffirs was being carried on, with no other assist-

ance from the government than a scanty supply of ammuni-
tion. The great majority of the people were incensed with

the Company, and, without thoroughly comprehending the

question, were freely discussing the rights of man, a&

proclaimed by the French revolutionists. When they

were informed that Messrs. Nederburgh and Frykenius had
left South Africa without granting to the colonists any re-

presentative rights in the government, and that Mr. Sluysken

had been placed with extraordinary powers at the head of

affairs, several of them—among whom were Willem de Klerk,

Frans Kruger, and Marthinus Prinsloo—openly refused to

take the oath of fidelity. They were prepared to swear

allegiance to the States General of the Netherlands, they

said, and to keep their oath ; but the East India Company
and its officials they would no longer obey. The government

threatened them with punishment, but was unable to put its

threats into execution.

Mr. Sluysken's chief attention was directed towards

means of defence against the French. He caused two small

forts to be built in Simon's Town, chiefly by means of convict

and slave labour. The cost was thus trifling, for it was

estimated that a slave was maintained for 4X. 14^. 9c2. a year.

The forts were completed in March 1794, when cannon were.
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mounted on them, and they received the names Boetselaar

and Zoutman. In May a garrison of 130 men was stationed

in Simon's Town.

Three forts were also built at Hout Bay, so that if neces-

sary ships might be sent there for security. They were

named Sluysken, Gordon, and Little Gibraltar. The two
first-named had cannon mounted upon them, but as there

was no more artillery to spare. Little Gibraltar was left to be

armed with the guns of any ships that might take shelter in

the bay. A good deal of dependence was placed upon red-

hot shot, and appliances for heating cannon balls were

attached to all the batteries.

In March 1 795 a company of the Stellenbosch burgher

militia was required to repair to Cape 'Jown to strengthen

the garrison, and wo-s kept at the castle until the 15th of

May, when it was supposed that an enemy would not care to

enter Table Bay.

During 1794 the complaints of the burghers of Graaff

Reinet were unceasing with regard to the paper money, the

stagnation of trade, the heavy taxes, the conduct of the land-

drost, their being left without assistance to defend themselves

against KafEirs and Bushmen, the conditions of the arrange-

ment with the Kaffirs which the government termed peace,

and a few other matters of less import, such as being obliged

to pay a toll for a pontoon on the Breede river whether they

used it or not, and the necessity of every one about to be

married appearing before the matrimonial court in Cape
Town. The landdrost took no notice of their complaints,

and while the colonists were being plundered and harassed

by the Kaffirs in the Zuurveld, in his reports represented

everything as in a peaceable and orderly condition. The
burghers then sent a deputation to Cape Town, provided with

an enormous mass of evidence to show the falsehood of

Maynier's representations, and to request that he be recalled

and a more honest man appointed in his stead ; but Commis-
sioner Sluysken would not even investigate the matter. By
this treatment the patience of the colonists was at length

entirely exhausted.

I
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On the 4tli of February 1795 a party of forty burghers

assembled at the village of Graaff Reinet, under the leader-

ship ofAdriaan van Jaarsveld and Jan Carel Triegard, who de-

manded an interview with the landdrost. They postponed

pushing matters to an extremity, however, until the 6th, when
the heemraden assembled. An altercation then took place,

in which Marthinus Prinsloo, Jan Durand, and Pieter Jou-

bert were the chief speakers on the side of the burghers.

They required that the landdrost should leave the district.

He endeavoured to remonstrate with them, but to no effect,

and he was obliged to proceed to Cape Town. Further, they

expelled from office the lieutenant of militia Cornelis Coetsee

and the heemraden Stephanus Naude and Ifendrik Meintjes

van den Berg, on account oftheir being partisans of Maynier

;

but they made no changes in the form of government of the

district. As the Company's officers wore orange cockades,

the burghers displayed the tricolour, and called themselves

'Nationals.* They declared that their opposition was not

to the States General, but to the corrupt servants of the

East India Company.
The landdrost Maynier was charged with another offence,

not yet mentioned. His opponents accused him of sheltering

runaway servants and criminals to such an extent that at this

time he had more than one hundred and twenty Hottentots

in his private employment, cultivating his land. Many of

these Hottentots, they asserted, were guilty of such serious

crimes as housebreaking and robbery ; but they could not be

brought to justice, owing to the landdrost refusing to receive

complaints against them as soon as they entered his service.

Mr. Sluysken then sent a commission consisting of Mr.

Olof Godlieb de Wet, president ofthe high court ofjustice, and

Captain Von Hugel, officer in charge of the depot for recruits

for the Wurtemburg regiment, with Mr. Jan Andries Truter,

secretary of the high court of justice, as secretary, to try

to pacify the burghers. On the 30th of April the commission

met the leaders of the * Nationals ' at Graaff Reinet, and after

a short discussion, agreed to relieve the district of Mr. May-
nier. Mr. Lambertus Philippus van der Poel, previously a
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clerk in Cape Town, was installed provisionally as landdrost,

with Mr. Hendrik Roselt as secretary. The commission was

then requested by the burghers to make a tour along the

frontier, and especially along the border of the Zuurveld, in

order that an accurate report of the condition of the district

might be made to government. But neither Mr. De Wet nor

Captain Von Hugel would do this, though they were willing

to receive evidence at the drostdy. What the burghers

desired was that with their own eyes the members of the

commission should see that the Zuurveld was actually in the

occupation of the Kaffirs, and that a large portion of the re-

mainder of the district had been devastated ; but that was

just what the government, whose servants they were, did not

want to know or believe. The matter was frequently dis-

cussed during the next six weeks ; but finding that their

wishes would not be complied with, on the 14tli of June

an armed party compelled the members of the commission

to leave the district.

On the 0th of July a meeting of the acting and retired

heemraden was held, when six representatives—Marthinus

Prinsloo, Barend Bester, Christiaan Botha, Christiaan Lotter,

Hendrik Kloppcr, and Andries Krugel, elected by the people,

took their seats at a separate table. The different officials

were asked whether they were willing to continue their duties

under a burgher administration. The provisional landdrost

Van der Pool replied that he was, but he desired leave to

visit Cape Town. Thereupon he was appointed landdrost,

and leave of absence was granted to him, Mr. Jan Booysen

being chosen to act until his return. The secretary Eoselt

declai'ed himself unwilling, on account of his oath of alle-

giance to the Company. He was dismissed, and another was

appointed. The clergyman Manger consented to acknow-

ledge the new authorities, and to unite in marriage any per-

sons approved by them, without reference to the matrimonial

court in Cape Town. After this, the obnoxious auction duty

was declared abolished.

A- Mr. Van der Poel was not permitted by Commissioner

Sluysken to return to Graaff Eeinet, onthe 27th ofAugust the
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iheemraden and representatives of the people appointed the

lieutenant of militia, Carel David Gerotz, provisional land-

drost, and confirmed hia appointment on the 14th of Sep-

tember. On the 27th of August Adriaan van Jaarsveld was
appointed to the highest military office in the district, with

the title of president of the council of war.

All these proceedings were reported to Mr. Sluysken and
the council of policy, as if they were quite in order, and the

letters ended by the representatives of the people trusting

that their conduct would meet with approval ; but the fact

was patent to every one that the district of GraaflF Eeinet was
lost to the East India Company.

In Swellendam the people acted in a similar manner.

Landdrost Faure was not detested by the burghers as Maynier

was, and there was no complaint concerning his administra-

tion of justice ; but he was accused of being a zealous agent

of the East India Company, and of having permitted himself

to be guided by Maynier in the Kaffir war of 1793. One
offence only was brought home to him. Before the cattle

recovered from the Kaffirs were divided, the militia officers

proposed to present him with twelve oxen, and he accepted

the present. His friends subsequently declared that the

officers were instigated by Maynier, whose object was to

have it in his power to get his fellow landdrost into trouble

whenever he chose ; and this is very likely. At any rate, Mr.
Eaure took the cattle, and was now charged by the burghers

with corruption for having done so.

On the 17th of June 1795 the court of landdrost and
heemraden was in session at Swellendam, when a party of

nine armed burghers, whose spokesman was Paul Fouche,

interrupted the proceedings, and commanded the members
not to leave the drostdy. There was a difference of opinion

among the inhabitants of the district, a considerable number
being stiU averse to revolutionary measures, but others had
combined with the Nationals of Graaff Eeinet, and had
elected a burgher named Petrus Jacobus Delport as their

commandant. This party had determined to expel the

officers of the East India Company, for which purpose they



33^ History of South Africa

ift:.

Mi'

had come to the drostdj. In the afternoon a second message
was sent to the board : that it was not convenient for the

burghers to make known their desires that day, but they

would do so on the following morning, and in the meantime
no one must leave the place.

On the 18th the landdrost Faure and the heemraden

Laurens de Jager, Pieter Pienaar, Hermanns Steyn, Hille-

gard Mulder, and Pieter du Pre assembled in the courtroom

again. A large number of burghers had collected in front

of the drostdy. These sent a deputation of four persons

—

Esaias Meyer, Jacobus Steyn, G. F. Rautenbach, and J. J.

Botha—to communicate their orders to the board. The
landdrost, secretary, and messenger of the court were com-
manded to resign their ofl&ces and to give over the drostdy,

the secretary's house, and all the documents and funds

belonging to the district, to Mr. Hermanus Steyn. The
heemraad Laurens de Jager, who maintained that he was
bound to the Company by his oath of office, was also dis-

missed. Hermanus Steyn was appointed landdrost, and a

representative body, termed a National Assembly, was estab-

lished. Thus a majority of the inhabitants of the district

of Swellendam had thrown off the rule of the East India

Company.
In Stellenbosch and in Cape Town itself there were many

who sympathised with these movements, and it is certain

that a very large proportion of the burghers in these places

were only waiting for a favourable opportunity to free them-

selves from the East India Company's domination.

The troops in the colony consisted of a regiment of

infantr}i mustering twenty-five officers and five hundred and
forty-six rank and file, a corps of artillery mustering twenty-

seven officers and four hundred and three rank and file, fifty-

seven men belonging to the depots of the regiments Meuron
and Wurtemburg, and a corps of pandours two hundred and

ten strong. The head of the whole military force was
Colonel Robert Jacob Gordon. The infantry regiment was
termed the national battalion, though it was composed of

soldiers from nearly every country in the north of Europe,
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and there was hardly a Netherlander in it. It was com-
manded by Lieutenant-Colonel De Lille. All its oflScors

were staunch adherents of the Orange party, and the rank
and file were adherents of the party or nation who paid best.

The artillery was in every respect superior. The men were

Netherlanders with a small mixture of French and Germans,

and were attached to the mother country. If not the whole,

at least a large majority of this corps favoured the re-

publican cause in Europe, and would have preferred to fight

with the Trench rather than the English as allies.

With so many elements of weakness, the colony invited

invasion. The English government was apprehensive of its

falling into the possession of the French, by which the sea

route to India would be endangered ; and as soon as hos-

tilities with France were certain, had proposed to the stadt-

holder to strengthen it with British troops. Negotiations to

this effect were carried on for some time, but at length fell

through, as ti^e stadtholder by consenting would have

furnished the democratic party in the Netherlands with an
opportunity to assail him.

When the war commenced, England and the government

of the stadtholder were in alliance ; but a large proportion of

the Dutch people favoured the French, and all were doubtful

whether they might not soon change sides. An intimation

to this effect was made to Commissioner Sluysken in a letter

dated the lOtli of October 1794, and signed by P. J. Guepin,

chief advocate of the East India Company, with the know-

ledge and approbation of the directors. It was thus infor-

mally written that the stadtholder might know nothing about

it. Mr. Guepin stated that matters were in a doubtful con-

dition ; the French armies were approaching, and had already

occupied part of the country ; it would therefore be neces-

sary to keep careful watch, so as not to be surprised by any
European enemy whatever. This letter was received at the

Cape on the 7th of February 1795.

Except a rumour of the fall of Nymegen on the 8th of

November, brought by a Swedish ship, nothing more was

known of the course of events in the Netherlands until the

II. z
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12th of April 1795, when the national frigate Medenhlik

arrived with two chartered ships in convoy. She had left Texel

on the 22nd of December, and Captain Dekker, who com-

manded her, reported that a French army under General

Pichegru was then besieging Breda and threatening to cross

the Maas. Tiie Medenhlik brought no letters or despatches.

There were nine homeward-bound ships at anchor in

Table Bay, and as more were expected it was considered

advisable to detain them that all might sail together. They

were therefore sent to Simon's Bay, where they were soon

afterwards joined by seven others. The cargoes of the whole

were valued at 835,000Z. On the 19th of May they sailed

under protection of the frigate Scipio and the brig of war

Comeet, two vessels which had been waiting here six mouths

for that purpose. Just after leaving Simon's Bay they

scattered, and eight of them were picked up by hostile

cruisers lying in wait off the island of St. Helena.

After the arrival of the Medenhlik no intelligence from

Europe was received until the 11th of June 1795, when a

report reached the castle from the resident at Simon's Town
that at noon several ships ofunknown nationality were beating

into False Bay. Three hours later this report was followed by

one from Muizenburg that the ships had cast anchor, and at

ten in the evening a note was received from Simon's Town
stating that Captain Dekker of the Medenhlik had sent a boat

with a lieutenant to one of the strangers to ascertain particu-

lars, that the lieutenant was to have waved a flag if they were

friendly, but that no such signal had been made, and the

boat had not yet returned.

The commissioner hereupon called the council of policy

together, and at half past ten as many of the members as

were in Cape Town met in the castle. There were present,

beside Mr. Sluysken, the secunde Johannes Isaac Rhenius,

Colonel Gordon, and Messrs. Ja^^obus Johannes le Sueur,

Willem Ferdinand van Reede van Oudtshoorn, and Willem

Stephanus van Ryneveld. They resolved unanimously to

cause the signals of alarm to be made, summoning the

burghers of the country districts to hasten to Cape Town.
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Lieutenant-Colonel De Lillo was directed immediately to

proceed to Simon's Town with two hundred infantry and
one hundred gunners, to strengthen the garrison there,

which consisted of only one hundred and fifty men all told.

The troops left within an hour, and reached their destination

before the following noon.

The council broke up a little after midnight, but the

members remained at the castle, and at half past two in the

morning of the 12th the commissioner called them together

again. He had just received a letter from Mr. Brand, the

resident at Simon's Town, informing him that Captain

Dekker's boat had rr turned, bringing a gentleman named
Eoss with letters from the English admiral Elphinstone and
Major-General Craig for the head of the government. Mr.

Brand had supplied Mr. Ross with a horse and a guide, and
he had arrived at the castle. The letters delivered by him
were three complimentary notes from the directors of the

English East India Company to Commissioner Sluysken,

and an invitation from Admiral Elphinstone to Commissioner

Sluysken and Colonel Gordon to visit his ship for the purpose

of receiving important information as well as a missive from

the stadtholder. Mr. Boss, who was conversant with the

Dutch language, was secretary to Major-General Craig. He
evaded all questions concerning the state of affairs in Europe

or the destination of the fleet.

Lieutenant Van Vegezak, of the Medenhlikf who had been

on board the English admiral's ship, arrived at the castle

while the council was still sitting. He stated that he had not

been able to obtain any other information than that the

fleet consisted of three ships of 74 guns, named the Monarchy

Arrogant, and Victorious, three of 64 guns, named the

America, Ruhy,im(i Stately, a frigate of 24 guns named the

Sphinx, and two sloops of war, the Echo and Rattlesnake,

respectively of 18 and 16 guns. The admiral commanding
was Sir George Keith Elphinstone, and there were troops on

board, how many he could not ascertain, under command of

Major-General Sir James Craig.

In reply to the letter of Admiral Elphinstone and General

z 2
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Craig, the council informed them that it wus not possible for

either Commissioner Sluysken or Colonel Gordon to leave

Cape Town, and invited them to send a truutworthy officer

with the information and despatches. The resident at

Simon's Town was instructed to permit the JOnglish fleet to

take in provisions, but not to allow armed men to land.

There was at Muizenburg a signal station, with a couple

of mortars in position to command the road from Simon's

Town, but no fort. Before daylight the militia captain

Pieter de Waal with eighty-four Cape burghorM, and thirty

gunners with three small field-pieces, wore on their way to

occupy that post.

The defensive works of Simon's Bay consisted of the

batteries Boetselaar and Zoutman, the former provided with

six and the latter with four small cannon. They were

incapable of offering effectual resistance to a force such as

that under the English admiral. On the UJth of June

instructions were sent to Lieutenant-Colonel De Lille to

leave a small garrison in each of them, and to strengthen

the post at Muizenburg with two hundred infantry and one

hundred and forty artillerymen.

In the afternoon of the following day there arrived at the

castle Lieutenant-Colonel Mackenzie, of the 7Hth regiment.

Captain Hardy, of the 'Echo sloop of war, and Mr. Ross,

secretary to General Craig, who handed to Commissioner

Sluysken a mandate from the prince of Orange, dated at

Kew on the 7th of February 1795, ordering him to admit

the troops of the king of England into the forts and else-

where in the colony, also to admit British ships of war into

the ports, and to consider such troops and ships of war as

the forces of a friendly power sent to protect the colony

against an invasion of the French. Thr»y also delivered to

the commissioner a letter from Admiral Elphinstone and

General Craig, in which an account of the condition of the

Netherlands was given. The winter in Europe had been an

excessively severe one, he was informed, and towards the

close of January the rivers were frozen m hard that the

French armies crossed into Utrecht and Gclderland, com-
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pelling the English forces to retire into Germany and the

Dutch forces to surrender. In a few days the whole countiy

fell into possession of the French without any treaty of

capitulation, and the stadtholder was obliged to make his

escape in a fishing boat, which conveyed him from Scheven-

ingen to England. Great Britain and her allies, were, how-

ever, raising large armies, and they were confident of being

able to drive out the French in the next campaign.

The statements made in this letter fell short of giving

complete particulars, and, throughout the negotiations which
followed, the officials and inhabitants of the colony were

studiously kept in ignorance that the democratic party in

the Netherlands had given the French an enthusiastic

welcome, that the national government had been remodelled,

and that the States General had abolished the stadtholderate.

No newspapers were supplied, though asked for. The view

which the British officers tried to impress was that the

Netherlands had been conquered and were being subjected to

very rigorous treatment by the French. They did not wish

it to be known that a national government was still in

existence, and that the majority of the people regarded the

French as friends.

The council took the mandate of the prince of Orange

and the letter of the English officers into careful considera-

tion. Even if written in the Netherlands, the mandate

would not have been officially of any force, as it was signed

by the prince of Orange alone ; but having been written in

a foreign country by a fugitive prince, it could not be held

to have any weight whatever. Every member of the council

sympathised strongly with the Orange faction, but there was

no evading the fact that their allegiance was due to the

mother country, and not to a party. Any day intelligence

might arrive from the Netherlands, and it was therefore

important to gain as much time as possible. With this

object in view, the council wrote to Admiral Elphinstone

that the fleet would be supplied with provisions, and requested

that only small parties of unarmed men might be sent

on shore. They were grateful, they said, to the British.
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government for the evidence of its friendship, and in case

the colony should be attacked by the French they would ask

the British officers in the fleet for assistance, though they

were in the fortunate position of being able to resist a

hostile power. They desired to be informed what number of

troops could be furnished to aid them, if necessary.

An answer was sent that General Craig would proceed to

Cape Town and give them further information. In the mean
time the burgher forces were beginning to arrive from

Stellenbosch, and on the 15th of June two hundred horse-

men were sent to strengthen the post at Miiizenburg.

On the 18th of June General Craig, attended by three

officers and his secretary, arrived in Cape Town and had an

interview with the commissioner. On the following day the

council of policy met, when the general communicated to the

members the object of his mission and the manner in which

he had been instructed to carry it out. The fleet and troops,

he stated, had been sent by His Britannic Majesty to protect

the colony until the restoration of the ancient form of govern-

ment in the Netherlands, when it would be in His Majesty's

power to restore it to its proper owner. No alterations

would be made in the laws or the customs of the country

without the expressed desire of the inhabitants, nor would

any additional tr.xation be imposed. The people would be

required to defray the cost of their government as it then

existed, but nothing more. They would be at liberty to trade

with England and the English possessions in India. The
troops would be paid by England, and would be required to

take an oath of allegiance to His Britannic Majesty for the

time that he should be in possession of the colony. The civil

servants would retain their offices until His Majesty's pleasure

should be known.

The council replied in writing, declining to entertain the

proposal, and informing the general that they were deter-

mined to protect the colony with their own forces against

any power that should attack them.

Admiral Elphinstone and General Craig, upon the return

of the latter to Simon's Bay, issued a proclamation in which
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the government and inhabitants were invited and required to

place themselves under His Britannic Majesty's protection,

as the French would undoubtedly endeavour to obtain pos-

session of the dependencies of the Netherlands.

Three days later the English officers issued an address,

in which the oflFer of protection under the conditions named
by General Craig was repeated, and a committee of the in-

habitants was invited to come to Simon's Town to confer

with them. The address was issued in the Dutch and German
languages, and a good many copies were distributed. It put

before the colonists the alternative of a French or an English

occupation. The former was pictured as a government on

jacobin principles, with the tree of liberty and the guillotine,

freedom of the slaves accompanied by such horrors as those

which hod laid waste the rich and beautiful islands of St.

Domingo and Guadeloupe, total cessation of intercourse with

Europe, annihilation of commerce, and absence of money
and the necessaries of life. The latter as protection by the

only power in Europe able to assure safety of person and

property under the existing laws or others that the inhabi-

tants might desire, free sale of all productions of the country

at the best prices obtainable, release from imposts intended

for the exclusive benefit of che Dutch East India Company,

commerce by sea or land from one part of the colony to

another, and better pay for such soldiers as might choose to

enter the English service.

In consequence of this proceeding, the council notified a

desire to be excused from further communications ; still the

correspondence was continued. On the 26th the admiral

and general wrote a long letter, the keynote of which was

that the Netherlands had been absorbed by France, and as

the Cape colony if left to itself would be absorbed also. His

Britannic Majesty could not allow it to fall into the hands of his

enemies. The council replied that there was a great differ-

ence between offering assistance against an invader and requir-

ing them to surrender the colony to the British government.

At this stage the further supply of provisions to the fleet

was prohibited. The post at Muizenburg was strengthened by
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another detachment of burgher horsemen, and by the pan-

dours under Commandant Jan Gerhard Cloete. The troops

that had garrisoned the battery Boetselaar were also removed

to Muizenburg, only one man being left behind to spike the

guns in case the English should land.

As soon as the design of the British officers was known,
those burghers of the Cape and Stellenbosch who had
hitherto been refractory ceased opposing the government,

and declared themselves ready to assist in the defence of the

colony to the utmost of their power. When the commissioner

announced that the country would not be surrendered, he

was met with loud huzzas in the streets, and was hailed as

Father Sluysken. The great majority of the colonists, being

attached to the republican party in Europe, were ready to

welcome the French, if they could not be left to themselves.

They reminded each other how English visitors had for years

been insulting them by boastfully predicting that the colony

would one day be subject to Great Britain, and now an
attempt was being made under the name of friendship to

turn that prediction into reality. English arrogance was
spoken and written of as if it was the most prominent feature

of the English character.

On the other hand, the high officials, though professing

that it was their duty to defend the colony, were at heart

lukewarm in the matter. Colonel Gordon stated that he was
prepared to admit the English troops if the jacobins should

threaten an attack. The English officers believed when they

arrived that he would at once join them, probably reckoning

upon his being of Scotch descent as well as Orange procli-

vities, but he was not ready to go as far as that. He did not

throw his energy into resisting them, however ; neither did

Commissioner Sluysken. Most of the officials of lower grade

and a few of the burghers of the town were willing to

welcome the English troops, and went about singing Orange

songs, believing that the object of the British government

really was to hold the country in trust for the fugitive stadt-

holder.

On the 21st of June the Medenblik sailed for Batavia,
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but unaccompanied by the two ships which had come from

Europe under her protection. Captain Dekker was desirous

of conveying intelligence to the Indian authorities of events

in the Netherlands and at the Cape. The British admiral

made no objection to his leaving, but required him to

promise on his word of honour not to put into any French
port on the passage.

The offer of beinj^ taken into the British service with an
increase of pay, made to soldiers who were chiefly foreign

mercenaries and who had long received nothing but cartoon

money, was sufficient to induce some of those of the so-called

national battalion at Muizenburg to desert. In less than a
fortnight twenty-three of them changed sides, and desertions

continued to be common until a few weeks later when two
who were caught by a burgher patrol were tried and
punished with death. Not a single artilleryman abandoned
his colours.

The militia at Muizenburg were living in great discomfort.

The soldiers were provided with tents, but there were very

few to spare for the burghers, who had to make shelters of

bushes and reeds. It was the winter season, and although

during June and July the weather was unusually mild and
very little rain fell, sleeping in the open air was unpleasant.

The burghers were relieved every third day by fresh detach-

ments from the town, so that they were able to keep their

horses in good condition. Each man received daily eight

shillings in cartoon money, with which to provide for himself

and his horse.

The two chartered ships which had come from Europe
under protection of the Medenblik were still lying in Simon's

Bay, knd on the 24th of June a homeward-bound ship from
Batavia came to anchor there also. Commissioner Sluysken

sent their skippers instructions to proceed to Table Bay, but

Admiral Elphinstone prohibited their sailing. On the 28th

of June two small vessels under the American flag arrived

in Simon's Bay. One—the Columbia—was from Amsterdam,
where she had been chartered to convey despatches to the

Cape and Batavia. She was at once placed under guard by
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the English admiral, and her mails were taken possession of.

Instructions were issued that no newspapers should be allowed

to reach the shore ; but one escaped the vigilance of the

sentries, and came into possession of a Cape ourgher. It

contained a notice by the States General, dated the 4th of

March 1795, absolving all persons in the Netherlands and in,

the Dutch colonies from the oath of allegiance to the prince

of Orange. The letters were examined by British officers,

and portions of many of them, as also all annexures to

despatches, were detained. The residue of the correspond-

ence was then sent by the admiral to Cape Tov"i for

delivery. But from the notice in the newspaper a., the

letters to private individuals, mutilated as they were, it was
ascertained that the French were treating with the Nether-

lands as an independent republic, that the stadtholderate

had been abolished by the national will, and that the

French were regarded as friends.

With this knowledge, the commissioner and the council

asserted that it was simple duty to do their utmost to

prevent the English from obtaining possession of the colony.

There was a possibility that the fleet might be forced to sail

if no provisions could be obtained. There was further a

possibility of aid reaching them from Europe if they could

hold out long enough. With these objects in view, and

perhaps, as the burghers aftei'wards declared must be the

case, because there was nothing to lose in opposing the

English provided they did not altogether repel them, and

there might be a strong combined French and Dutch fleet

on the way out, in which case their heads would be in danger

if they made no show of resistance, on the 29th of June the

commissioner and the chief of the army, with the concur-

rence of the remaining members of the coancil, issued orders

for the abandonment of Simon's Town. That night all the

provisions in the place were destroyed, the guns in the

batteriep Boetselaar and Zoutman were spiked, all the

ammunition that could not be carried away waj thrown into

the sea, and the troops and most of the inhabitants retired,

leaving behind only the a,ssistant resident—Mr. Jan Heudrik

\
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Brand—with two slaves to serve him, and the widows Auret
and Aspeling with their households. Mrs. Auret left a few

weeks later, but Mrs. Aspeling preferred to remain and take

care of her property. The troops joined the other forces at

Muizenburg.

Two English men-of-war were blockading Table Bay,

where the Company's packet brig ^iar was at anchor. The
council therefore chartered from Messrs. Van Reenen a cutter

of theirs which was at anchor in Saldanha Bay, and sent her

to Batavia with despatches.

When the signals calling the burghers to the Cape were
first made, only seventy men belonging to the district of

Swellendam responded to them. The Nationals declined to

obey. On the 22nd of June Commissioner Sluysken wrote

urging them to do their duty, and on the following day

Messrs. A. Horak and N. Linde addressed a strong appeal

to them. Still they made no response. On the 7th of July

the burgher councillors requested Commissioner Sluysken

and the council of policy to offer them an amnesty for the

past and reasonable redress of grievances as soon as possible,

if they would assist in the defence of the country. This

request was complied with, but the offer was not at first

well received, as they wished the term ' reasonable redress of

grievances ' to be clearly defined.

At the instan(3e of a considerable number of burghers,,

on the 16th of July the five individuals who called them-

selves the National Assembly—Hermanns Steyn, Anthonie

van VoUenhoven, Ernst du Toit, Petrus Jacobus Delport,

and Louis Almoro Pisani—met in session, and framed an

answer. In language which is only intelligible to those who
are acquainted witb the circumstances of the country at the

time, they stated that they were resolved to shed the last

drop of their blood, if necessary, in defence of freedom ; but

they were willing to treat with the commissioner and to

render assistance if he would guarantee to them exemption

from direct taxation, free trade, the witndrawal of the

cartoon money, permission to retain in perpetual slavery all
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Bushmen made prisoners by commandos or individuals, and

several other favours of less importance. *

The letter was hardly despatched, however, when many
of them became suddenly conscious that their claims would

certainly be ignored if the English got possession of the

country. They therr-fore resolved, while maintaining their

right to self-government to a very large extent, to aid in the

defenco; ar.d one hundred and sixty-eight mounted men,

under the iyational commandant Delport, left for the Cape.

Upon Mniv.\wf at the farm of the widow Morkel on this side

of Ho! 1 * n^.ot« Holland kloof, they sent to ask assurance of

ijaffiti'. A^ntn. A. Horak and G. H. Meyer were instructed

»)y Oomini; »<ioner Sluysken to convey this to them, and on

v.H'^ 2i?t)i v''' July they arrived at the castle. The Swellendam

burgher'; vvc* then formed into three companies, one of

liiitety-Mii men under Captain J. J. Botha, one of eighty

men ui.der Captain H. Mulder, and one of sixty-two men
under Captain L. de Jager.

After Delport left, some forty or forty-five individuals,

•chiefly discharged soldiers and persons of little standing,

elected Pisani to be their commandant, and threatened to

confiscate the property of those who were aiding the

Company. Pisani was an Italian who had arrived in this

country as a soldier. After a while he deserted and wan-

dered over the colony, but returned to his regiment on a

promise of pardon. When the ga rison was reduced he

obtained leave to seek service among the farmers, and

finally, in 1792, was discharged and became a burgher. He
was married to a daughter o:" the H rmer Jan Crafford, and

had three children. Under this man's leadership, the

extreme section of the Nationals marched towards the Cape,

and on the 10th of August reached Waveren. From this

place, Pisani wrote to Commissioner Sluysken , demanding a

reply to the letter from the National Assembly, and threat-

' ThiM (locutncnt Is printed in Mr. Sluysken's Vfrhaal, and by the insertion

of a comma where none should be it is made to show that the slavery of

Hottentot H ulw> wrh (iomanded. This was not the case. Tho Bushmen were

coiiiruonly cftlh^fl in the colony Bushmen-Hottentots, and the words should

have been printed in this form, not ' Bushmen, Hottentots,' &c.
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men.

ening hostilities if a favourable answer were not forwarded

within twenty-four hours. The commissioner at once set a

price of 200L upon his head, dead or alive. Some of his

former associates joined an expedition against him, and on

the 13th of August he and two other discharged soldiers

wore arrested at the house of Marthinus Eoux at the

Tigerberg. Pisani was committed to prison, from which he

only emerged some months later to go into banishment from

the colony for life.

From the district of Stellenbosch and Drakenstein six

hundred and fifty-eight mounted burghers had arrived.

They were in five companies, under the captains Loubser,

Myburgh, Van der Byl, Hoffman, and Cloete. The Cape dis-

trict furnished two hundred and forty-four mounted burghers,

formed into two companies under the captains De Waal and

Goosen. Thus there were altogether in the field eleven hun-

dred and forty burgher horsemen. About two hundred were

constantly at Muizenburg, the others were stationed in Cape

Town, with pickets along the roa,d to the camp.

On the 9th of July Admiral Elphinstone took possession

of the three Dutch ships in Simon's Bay, stating that he

did so to prevent their destruction by their crews. On the

14th four hundred and fifty men of the 78th regiment and

three hundred and fifty marines were landed and occupied

Simon's Town.

With most people these would certainly be considered

acts of war, yet neither the English commanders nov Com-
missioner Sluysken chose to regard them as such. The

commissioner issued orders that no attack was to be made
upon the English patrols, nor anything done to provoke

them to retaliate or give them an opportunity to throw the

blame upon the Dutch of commencing hostilities. On the

4th of August a burgher officer named Jacobus van Reenen

with a pai'ty of pandovirs proceeded along the hills above

Simon's Town to make observations, and fired towards an

English picket, though at too great a distance to do any

harm. For this he was reprimanded, because in the com-

missioner's opinion the English might construe it into an
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a,

act of war. And iu General Craig's despatches it is described

as the commencement of hostilities.

Boats from the English ships were allowed to come
unmolested and take soundings in front of the camp at

Muizenburg. A strong battery had been erected to command
the road from Simon's Town, but there were no defences on

the side of the sea. The burgher and artillery officers

desired that earthworks should be thrown up to protect the

camp from the guns of ships, but the commissioner and
Colonel Gordon decided that it would be unnecessary labour,

as in their opinion no ships could get close enough to the shore

to do any damage. And when at last leave was obtained to

place two 24-pounders in position to face the sea, no platforms

were made for them to rest on, so that they were practically of

little use.

The soldiers at Muizenburg had no lack of provisions.

There was a year's supply of grain and wine in the magazines

at Cape Town, and food in abundance was forwarded with-

out difficulty. So much wine and brandy, indeed, was sent,

that there was sufficient for a month's consumption in

advance.

On the morning of the 7th of August there were at the

camp 200 men of the national battalion, 120 artillerymen,

200 burgher cavalry, and 150 pandours. There was also a

small guard at Kalk Bay. About an hour after noon another

hundred burgher horsemen arrived as a relief. Just as they

reached the camp it was observed that some of the English

ships were under sail, but no particular regard was at first

paid to their movements, as for several days previously

Admiral Elphinstone had caused vessels to cruise round the

bay.

In a very few minutes, however, it became evident that

the British forces were about to make an attack. For this

purpose a column had been formed of soldiers of the 78th

regimout, marines, and sailors, in all sixteen hundred men.
Major-General Oniig was in command, and under him the

naval brigades were led by Captains Spranger and Hardy of

the Rattlesnake ami Echo, sloops of war. The sea in False
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Bay was smooth, but a gentle breeze was blowing from
the north-west, sufficient to keep a ship in motion. The
America, Stately, Echo, and Battlemahe, under command
of Commodore Blankett, loosed their sails and stood over to

the Muizenburg beach.

A.long the margin of False Bay, from Kalk Bay to

Muizenburg, a steep mountain rises only a few paces from
the water's edge. On the narrow strip of comparatively

level ground was the road, then as to-day the only passage

by which troops could march from Simon's Town to Cape
Town. At Muizenburg the mountain terminates abruptly,

and is succeeded by the sandy plain called the Cape flats,

extending from False Bay to Table Bay and forming the

isthmus that connects the Cape peninsula with the African

continent. On these flats, close to the end of the mountain,

is a large sheet of shallow water called Sand Vlei, with a

brook, which flows only after rain and is known as Keyser's

river, emptying into it on the northern side. The Dutch
camp was at the foot of the mountain facing False Bay, and
eleven pieces of artillery commanded the road.

The English ships fired a few guns at the outpost at

Xalk Bay, which caused the picket there to retire over the

mountain. Sailing on until abreast of Muizenburg, they

opened their broadsides upon the camp ; but the first shot

was hardly fired when De Lille with the infantry of the

national battalion abandoned the post. The main body,

led by the colonel, fled hastily through Sand Vlei. One
company of fifty men, under Captain Warnecke, retired

in better order and more slowly along the base of the

Steenberg.

Soi^e of the artillerymen followed, leaving a company

under Lieutenant Marnitz to work the two 24-pounders.

With these the English fire was answered, but without

much effect. The America had two men killed and four

wounded, and one of her guns was disabled by Lieutenant

Marnitz's fire. The Stately had one man wounded. A few

baUs passed quite through both these ships, but only injured

them to a trifling extent. The range of the English guns
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was so high that the shot passed over the camp and struck

the mountain above. The Dutch guns, resting on loose soil,

required to be got into position after every discharge, and

Lieutenant Marnitz veas soon convinced that the camp
could not be held. He therefore spiked the tw o cannon,

and retired as the English column, which had marched from

Simon's Town, but was without artillery, came charging

along the road. Nothing was taken from the camp by the

retreating troops but five small field-pieces.

It is no stigma upon the burgher cavalry and the

pandours that they were swept round the mountain in

confusion by the fire from the ships, and did not wait to

meet the advancing column. The English followed with

cheers ; but at the first point out of range of the ships*

guns, the artillerymen and burghers made a stand. From
this they were driven by a charge of two companies of the

78th under Major Moneyp"^ny. Behind the mountain,

however, they again turned upon their pursuers. Captain

Kemper, who was retreating with some artillerymen on the

other side of Sand Vlei, seeing this, brought a gun to bear

upon the English with such effect that they fell back to

Muizenburg. The casualties were one English officer, one

burgher, two Dutch artillerymen, and one pandour wounded.

De Lille with the infantry could easily have made a

stand behind Sand Vlei, at the mouth of the brook, as at

that point his front would have been protected and the

field-pieces which he had with him wouM have commanded
the road where it leaves the beach af Muizenburg and turns

off nearly at a right angle into the sandy plain. Instead

of doing so, he continued his flight in *^,he greatest confusion

to Lochner's farm at Diep River, some half mile or there-

abouts on the western side of the present main road, and

between Eathfelder's hotel and Constantia. The colonel

arrived there without knowing what had become of the

artillerymen and the burghers.

As soon as the signal was made that the English were

advancing, five companies of burgher horsemen hastened

from Cape Town towards Muizenburg ; but on the way they
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met the fugitives, and learned that the camp was lost with

everything in it. They remained on the flats that night,

scattered about in parties of ten and twenty.

Next morning De Lille with some of the infantry returned

to the head of Sand Vlei, but fled precipitately upon a column

of English seamen and marines advancing to attack him,

though they had to wade through the vlei with the water in

some places above their waists. The English pursued until

they were surprised by finding a party of burghers and pan-

dours emerging from behind some sandhills on their flank.

They in their turn then fled, thinking they were being drawn
into a trap, and were followed by the burghers and pandours

until these were checked by the fire of the cannon which had
been abandoned and spiked by Lieutenant Marnitz on the

previous day, but which General Craig had caused to be

drilled and placed in position at the end of the mountain.

In the pursuit of the English De Lille gave no assistance

whatever, but, on the contrary, while they were running

towards Muizenburg he was running in the opposite direction.

That evening he formed a camp at or very near the site of

the present military buildings at Wynberg, about a mile

from the farm where he had passed the previous night.

The burgher officers Botha, Loubser, De Waal, Van der

Byl, Goosen, Hoffman, and Mulder now drew up a document

in which Lieutenant-Colonel De Lille was charged with

treason, and forwarded it to the commissioner. He was
thereupon sent to the castle under arrest, and on the 10th

of August Captain Van Baalen was placed in command of

the camp at Wynberg. De Lille's conduct was investigated

by the fiscal, and he was acquitted of treason. The popular

fury against him was, however, so great, that he was kept in

confinement to ensure his safety. There is certainly no proof,

or even probability, that he deliberately entered into an

agreement with the British officers to betray his trust ; still

his conduct cannot be attributed to either imbecility or

cowardice. He was a devoted adherent of the Orange party,

and regarded the English as supporters of the Orange cause,

so would not fight against them. Successful resistance, in

II. A A
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his opinion, would have been equivalent to giving up the

country to the Nationals, whom he hated. At the earliest

opportunity he entered the British sernce, and we shall

hereafter find him as barrack master in Cape Town, wearing

the Orange cockade, professing devotion to the English, and

in his revels venting abhorrence of the jacobins, whether in

France, or the Netherlands, or South Africa.

As th'3 land forces on board the fleet were inconsiderable,

the Sphinx had been sent to St. Helena to obtain as many
soldiers and cannon as the governor of that island could

spare. Three hundred and fifty-two men in the service of the

English East India Company, with nine pieces of artillery,

were embarked in a transport named the Amiston, which

arrived in Simon's Bay on the 9th of August.

Three days later Admiral Elphinstone and General

Craig wrote again to Commissioner Sluysken, the council,

and the inhabitants. They announced that they had re-

ceived some reinforcements, and expected immediately three

thousand more soldiers. They had left England hastily in

order to reach the Cape before the French, and only brought

with them such land forces as could be accommodated in the

men-of-war. But when they sailed, a number of Indiamen

were being made ready to bring out troops, and these were

now due. They repeated the offer to take the Cape under

British protection upon the same terms as those announced

ever since their arrival, and they added that their people

were becoming exasperated and it might be impossible to

restrain their fury if resistance were made much longer.

The commissioner laid this letter before the council of

policy, the burgher council, and the burgher militia, with a

request for an expression of opinion. In the council of policy,

Messrs. Sluysken, Ehenius, Gordon, De Wet, Brand, Van
Ryneveld, and Bergh voted not to give up the colony while

resistance could be offered. Mr. Le Sueur differed, as he

saw no possibility of successful resistance against so power-

ful an enemy. Mr. Van Beede van Oudtshoorn was absent.

The burgher council, consisting of Messrs J. Smuts,

G. H. Meyer, H. J. de Wet, A. Fleck, H. A. Truter, and
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H. P. Wamecke, unanimously adopted a resolution that the

<3olony ought to be defended to the very last. The burghers

were assembled, and the letter was read to them. They
were of the same opinion as the councillors, and the militia

officers without an exception signed a document to that effect.

On the 18th of August the commissioner communicated
to the British officers the resolution of the people, and
announced that the colony would still be defended.

But in spite of these brave words, even if all who used
them were in earnest, which is doubtful, the means of resist-

ance were daily becoming less. There were rumours that the

Bushmen in the interior were particularly troublesome,

and that the Hottentots in the district of Swellendam and
the slaves in Stellenbosch and Drakenstein meditated

insurrection. Whether these rumours were true or false,

many burghers returned home to protect their families.

Feelings of patriotism, however strong, were too weak
to keep a body of militia together under such circum-

stances. From eleven hundred and forty men, which the

burgher cavalry numbered during July and the first fortnight

in August, they fell off to about nine hundred at the begin-

ning of September. The burgher infantry, three hundred
and fifty strong, which was composed of residents of the

town, remained at its full strength. The government endea-

voured to enlist more pandours, and a commission was sent

to the country districts to obtain half-breeds and Hottentots

for the purpose, but met with no success.

On the morning of the 1st of September the burghers, aided

by some of the pandours, attempted to get possession of the

English outposts on the Steenberg ; but not being supported

by the regular troops, nor being allowed the use of the field-

pieces which they needed, they were unsuccessful. Among
those severely wounded on the English side on this occasion

were Major Moneypenny of the 78th and Captain Dentane of

the St. Helena regiment. The total loss of the English

forces since the arrival of the fleet was brought up to three

rank and file killed and four officers and thirty-three rank

and file wounded.

h. Li
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On the same day a mutiny broke out in the pandour*

corps. Commandant Cloete was ill, and the men had little

regard for the other officers. One hundred and seventy of

them marched with their arms to the castle, declaring they

would fight no longer. They complained that some of their

families had been ill-treated by colonists during their absence,

that their pay was inadequate, that they were subject to

abusive remarks, that 40L which had been promised to them

as a reward for good conduct had not yet been distributed,

and that their rations of spirits were insufficient. Com-
missioner Sluysken did what he could to pacify them. He
promised to raise their pay from eight to twelve shillings a

month, to see that they and their families were well treated,

and to allow them an increase of spirits and wine. He
succeeded in inducing them to return to the camp, but they

went back sullen and obstinate, and were thereafter of very

little service.

An attack by night upon the English camp at Muizenburg

was planned, and was about to be attempted when on the 4th

of September a fleet of twelve Indiamen, under convoy of

three men-of-war, entered Simon's Bay. They had on board

the 84th, 95th, and 98th regiments of the line, and a strong

body of engineers and artillerymen, in all three thousand

troops, under command of General Sir Alured Clarke. Many
of the burgher cavalry now gave up all hope, and left for

their homes, so that ten days later there were only five

hundred and twenty-one men of this force in the field.

On the 9th of September Admiral Elphinstone and
Generals Clarke and Craig issued another address, inviting

the inhabitants to submit to the protection of the over-

whelming force that must otherwise talce possession of the

country by violent means. Commissioner Sluysken replied,

as before, that his oath required him to defend the colony

for its lawful owners.

At nine o'clock in the morning of the 14th of September

an English force, between four and five thousand strong, in

two columns, marched from Muizenburg towards Cape Town.

As soon as the signals were made, all the burgher cavalry.
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^ith the exception of one company, were sent to assist the

regular troops. Some joined the camp at Wynberg, others

attempted to harass the columns on the march, in which they

succeeded so far as to kill one sailor and wound seventeen

soldiers. In this service a party of the Swellendam Nationals,

under Cornet Daniel du Plessis, particularly distinguished

themselves. They so won the respect of General Clarke that

after the final surrender he invited Du Plessis to dine with

him, and highly complimented the sturdy burgher. But the

force to which they were opposed was too strong to be checked

by any efforts that they could make.

Van Baalen—now promoted by Commissioner Sluysken

to the rank of Major—who was in command of the camp at

Wynberg, arranged to meet the shock of battle by drawing

up his forces in a faulty manner and placing his cannon in

such a position that they were practically useless. Some
artillery and burgher officers remonstrated, but to no purpose,

for as soon as the English were within range, he retreated

with the greater part of the national battalion. The
burghers cried out that they were being betrayed and sold.

It was a scene of confusion. One company of infantry and
most of the artillerymen made a stand for a few minutes,

and then fell back towards Cape Town, abandoning the camp
with everything in it. One burgher and one soldier were

killed, and another soldier was wounded. The burgher

cavalry, strongly impressed with the idea that Commissioner

Sluysken and Col ynel Gordon, as well as the officers of the

national battalion, were traitors at heart, and considering that

if they crossed the lines they would be in a trap and must

become prisoners of war, dispersed and retiuned to their

homes.

While this was taking place, a squadron of three British

•men-of-war and an Indiaman was threatening Cape Town
from the side of Table Bay, but did not come within gun-

shot.

At six o'clock in the evening of the 14th of September

the council of policy met. All the members except Colonel

Gordon were present. The position was as follows. A
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British army, over four thousand strong and in thoroughr

discipline, was in bivouac at Newlands. The force which
still nominally remained at the disposal of the govemment^
was composed of 542 men of the national battalion, 403
artillerymen, 57 men of the dep6ts of the regiments Meuron
and Wurtemburg, 71 convalescent sailors, 350 burgher in-

fantry, 95 burgher cavalry, a corps of 125 pennists, a corps

of 42 Malays, and a few seamen belonging to the ship Castor

and brig Star, altogether about 1,720 men. Nearly half of

these had retreated during the day from the camp at Wyn-
berg, and at dusk were reported to be at Drie Kopjes—now
Mowbray. The remainder were distributed among the fortifi-

cations in Hout Bay, Camps Bay, and Table Valley. Even sup-

posing them all thoroughly loyal and determined to fight to

the last, they could not have held their own for any length of

time; but they were without a leader in whom they could have

confidence, and a very large proportion of those who were

disciplined were not disposed to meet the English in battle.

Under these circumstances further defence seemed impos-

sible ; but one member of the council—Mr. Van Reede van-

Oudtshoom—still objected to voluntary surrender. He was
commandant of the pennists. In that capacity he offered

with his corps to be employed in the hottest part of a final

battle, and declared that with his consent the colony would

never be given up. The remaining members were unanimous

that, to save the town from being taken by storm, they ought

to capitulate on the best terms obtainable. With this view

a messenger with a flag of truce was sent to the English

bivouac at Newlands, with letters to the generals and admiral

requesting a suspension of hostilities for forty-eight hours,

in order to arrange terms. At midnight General Clarke con-

sented to an armistice for twenty-four hours.

In the morning of the 15th Messrs. J. J. le Sueur and
W. S. van Ryneveld were sent with the conditions proposed

by the council to confer with General Craig, who had come
for that purpose to Rustenburg, the garden and country seat

of the early Dutch governors at Rondebosch. Some of the

articles proposed were agreed to, others were modified, and
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only one was refused. This one related to a few deserters

from the English forces who had joined the Dutch, and
for whose safety a promise of pardon was desired. The re-

jection of this article caused some delay, as Commissioner
Sluysken, on being referred to, declined to consent to the

capitulation without it. General Craig then, while still

refusing to have an article promising pardon inserted in the

terms of surrender, gave his word that no notice would be

taken of the deserters. The commissioner and council, late

in the night of Tuesday, the 16th of September 1796, agreed

to the terms as modified by General Craig, and signed them.

Early in the morning of the 16th the arrangements for the

capitulation were completed by the document being signed

by Sir Alured Clarke and Sir George Elphinstone at

Eustenburg. At eleven o'clock the council closed its last

session by ordering the publication of the articles and
official notification of what had occurred to be given to the

heads of departments and officers in the country districts.

The terms provided for the surrender of the Dutch
troops as prisoners of war, but the officers were to be at

liberty either to remain in Cape Town or to return to Europe,

upon giving their word of honour not to serve against

England during the continuance of hostilities. The colonists

were to retain all their privileges, including the existing

form of religion. No new taxes were to be levied, bu in

consideration of the decay of the colony, the old impor ^s

were to be reduced as much as possible. Everything be-

longing to the East India Company was to be handed

over to the English officers, but all other property was to be

respected. The lands and houses belonging to the East

India Company were to be held in pledge for the redemption

of that portion of the paper money which was not secured

by mortgages on private property.

At three o'clock in the afternoon of Wednesday, the 16th

of September 1796, twelve hundred British infantry and two

hundred artillerymen under General Craig arrived at the

castle and drew up on the open ground in front. The Dutch

troops marched out with colours flying and drums beating.
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passed by the English, and laid down their arms, surrender-

ing as prisoners of war. Some of them were in a state of

great excitement, and were uttering imprecations upon
Commissioner Sluysken and Colonel Gordon for having

brought disgrace upon them. One soldier even went so far

as to attempt to assault the colonel. It is asserted by

Lieutenant Marnitz, in his relation of these events, that the

only occasion after the arrival of the English on which the

head of the military drew his sword was when he gave the

order for the troops he had commanded to lay down their

arms. - - %%

In the evening General Clarke arrived with two thousand

infantry and a train of artillery. The naval brigades and

marines were sent back to Simon's Town from Newlands.

Unfortunately for the good reputation of the British forces,

against whom no charge of breach of discipline or interference

with private property had yet been made, some of the marines

and blue-jackets on their return march broke loosefrom control,

and pillaged the farm-houses. One party visited Great Con-

stantia, then, and for sixteen years previously, the property

of Mr. Hendrik Cloete, who was noted for his hospitality to

strangers of all nations. They destroyed a great deal of the

furniture, broke open the cellar, and knocked in the heads of a

number of kegs of wine. Their propensity to do mischiefwas

only checked by the wine taking effect on them. This was the

only kind of violence, however, perpetrated by any men in

the British uniform, and even this was limited to a few farms.

Two homeward-bound Dutch Indiamen—the Yertronwen

and the Lmdsa Antonia—had recently arrived in Table Bay.

The Company's ship Castor and the Cape packet Star were

also lying at anchor in the bay. The British admiral made
prizes of them all. The old Cape packet Meermin, of which

Skipper Gerrit Ewoud Overbeek had taken command upon

the retirement of Skipper Duminy, had been chartered by

some colonists, and had left for Holland with a cargo of Cape

produce before the arrival of the British expedition.

On the 18th an American vessel from Bordeaux reached

Table Bay, bringing intelligence that a close treaty of alii-
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ance between the republics of France and the Netherlands,

in which war with Great Britain was one of the specified ob-

jects, had been concluded in the preceding month of May.
Dutch writers, when relating the surrender of the colony,

have usually charged Commissioner Sluysken and Colonel

Gordon with imbecility or with downright treason. The
secret debates and resolutions of the council and the corre-

spondence of the commissioner are now open for public in-

spection, and as far as language goes they disprove the charge

of treason. But the language and the acts of these high

officials did not correspond. There was only one way in

which a real earnest defence of the colony could have been

made, and that was by co-operating heart and soul with the

democratic party, which neither the commissioner nor the

colonel had any inclination to do. No opposition surely was
ever so strong in words, so weak in deeds, as that which

ended in the capitulation of the Cape colony to the English

troops. Commissioner Sluysken and Colonel Gordon had
constantly before their minds another, and to them a more
distasteful capitulation : the surrender of the settlement to

the National party. By prolonging a nominal defence they

could gain time, and something might happen in Europe to

put another complexion on affairs. This is the only reason-

able explanation of their conduct.

Mr. Sluysken returned to Europe in a cartel ship as soon

as the transfer of the effects of the East India Company was

completed. Colonel Gordon died by his own hand during

the night of the 6th of October, unable, his enemies declared,

to bear the reproaches with which he was continually

assailed.
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While preparing this volume, I carefully examined the following-

books, and compared the information contained in them with that

extracted from the manuscript official records of the colony :

—

de Bucquoi, Jakob : Aanmerkelyke Ontmoetingen in de Zestien

Jaarige Beize naar de Indien. A small quarto volume published at

Haarlem in 1744. This book gives an account of the formation of

the Dutch trading station at Delagoa Bay, with some particulars of

that event not found in the Cape archives. De Bucquoi was
attached to the party sent to form the station, in the capacity of

surveyor and chart.naker. He was at the Cape some years later,,

and he gives a short description of the town, but the interest of his

work centres in his account of what he witnessed at Delagoa Bay.

Het Ontroerd Holland, of Kort Verhaal van de Voornaamste

Onlusten, Op'oeren, en Oneenigheden die in de Vereenigde Neder-

landen in voorige tyden, en allerbyzonderst in deze laatste Jaaren zyn

voorgevallen. This work was issued at Harderwyk in three neat

volumes, the first volume in 1748, the others subsequently. The
author's name is not given. The first volume contains Hen beknopte

Historic van de Opschuddingen aan Cabo de Goede Hoop, which covers

twenty-two pages. It is an account of the disturbances which arose

in South Africa through the rapacity and tyranny of Governor

Wilhem Adriaan van der Stel, and is compiled from the Korte

Deductie, Contra Deductie, and Neutrals Gedachten, together with the

testimony of Bogaert and Kolbe.

de la Caille, M. I'Abb^ : In the volume for the year 1751 of the

M4moires de VAcademie Royale des Sciences, Paris, 1755, there are

three papers by the Abb^ de la Caille. The first is entitled Suite

des Observations/aites au Cap de Bonne-Esp^rance pour la parallaxe

de la Lune, the second Diverses Observations astronomiques et phy-

siques faites au Cap de Bonne-Espdrance, and the third Relation

ahrig^edu Voyagefait par ordre du Roi au Cap de Bonne-Espirance..
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The first of these papers is of no interest except to astronomers, and

the last needs no comment, as the diary of the journey will be

referred to under another head. The second paper contains an

account of a variety of work performed and observations recorded by

the author at the Cape, which can be studied with pleasure and

interest by ordinary readers as well as by those who make a special

study of astronomy and meteorology. This paper covers fifty-eight

pages of the Mdmoires.

de la Caille, Nicolas Louis (I'Abb^) : Journal Historique du
Voyage au Cap de Bonne-Eaperance. This is a small octavo volume

of which a considerable portion is occupied with a biography of the

Abb^ de la Caille, who died in 1762, a year before the publication

of his journal. The chapters of this book which were written by

him embrace the journal kept during his residence in the colony, 85

pages, remarks upon the customs of the Hottentots and other inhabi-

tants of South Africa, 55 pages, and notes upon Kolbe's work, 41

pages. In point of interest these chapters come very far short of

the instructive paper mentioned under another heading, for their

author was dealing with subjects outside of his line of work ; still

they are not without considerable value. Perhaps their chief worth,

historically considered, is the exposure given in them to some of

Kolbe's errors, though in correcting his descriptions of the Hotten-

tots, De la Caille really made almost as great blunders himself.

From this date, at least, Kolbe ceased to be considered a standard

author, which was an enormous gain to students of Cape history.

Francken, Jacob : Bampspoedige Beize van het 0. I. Schip De
Naarstigheid, in de terugreize van Batavia over Bengale naar

Holland. Haarlem, 1761. This is an illustrated quarto pamphlet

of 112 pages, written by the sick comforter of the ^aarstigheid, a

vessel which lay in Delagoa Bay for more than two years in a

shattered condition. Francken gives an interesting account of the

surrounding country and of the natives at the bay, as well as of the

people met by various parties that endeavoured to make their way
overland to the Cape but were compelled to return. The last chapter,

which is a short one, is devoted to an account of the Cape colony.

Hedendaagsche Historie of Tegenwoordige Staat van Afrika^

waarin uitmunt de Beschryving van Barbaric, Senegal, Guinec, de

Kaap der Goede Hope, &c. This is one of a collection of works upon

contemporary history published by Isaak Tirion at Amsterdam, of

which the twelve volumes upon the Netherlands form most perfect

pictures of that country in the middle of last century. The volume

upon Africa contains 810 pages, and was published in 1763. One
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hundred and eighteen pages are devoted to this colony. A descrip-

tion of the Hottentots, compiled from earlier authors, takes up a

considerable space, and the geography of the country as then known
is described at length. The historical references are less correct than

one could wish to see them, and in all parts inaccuracies may be

found, such as are unavoidable in a compilation in which a work like

Kolbe's was largely drawn from. De la Caille's chart of the south-

west coast is attached, and there is also a general map of South

Africa, which is very erroneous.

du Bois, J. P. I. ; Vies des Gouverneurs Generaux, avec VAhrege

de VHistoire des Etahlissemens Hollandois aux Indes Orientales. A
large quarto volume with portraits and numerous maps and plates.

Published at the Hague in 1763. This work is a standard biography

of the governors general of Netherlands India from Peter Both
to Jacob Mossel, and is therefore of considerable interest. Beyond
this, it does not contain much special information of value to a

student of South African history. Half a page only is devoted to

an account of the establishment of the Cape colony, and even that is

not altogether free of error. A plan of the castle and town is given.

The work, as far as I am aware, exists only in the original French.

Wolradi WoHhemadii Apotheosis. Amsterdam, 1775. A pamph-
let containing a few pages of Latin verse, a large plate of the wreck

of the Jonge Thomas in Table Bay on the 1st of June 1773, and an
account of the heroism displayed by Woltemaade, who, after

rescuing fourteen of the crew, sacrificed his life in a vain effort to

save others.

de St. Pierre, J. H. Bemardin : A Voyage to the Isle of France,

the Isle of Bourbon, and the Cape of Good Hope ; with Observations

and Reflections upon Nature and Mankind. I am indebted for my
knowledge of this work to an English translation which was published

in an octavo volume of 334 pages at London in 1800. Anything

from the pen of the amiable author of Paul et Virginie could not

fail to be interesting, and the 44 pages of this book in which he gives

his observations upon the Cape, made during a stay of six weeks

when he was returning to Europe in 1771, are very pleasantly

written. Unfortunately, several of the statements made are very

inaccurate.

Nieuwste en Beknopte Beschryving van de Kaap der Goedc Hoop ;

nevens een Bag- Verhaal van eenen Landtogt naar het Binnenste

van Afrika, door het Land der kleine en groote Namacquas. An
octavo volume published at Amsterdam in 1778. Simultaneously

with the Dutch a French edition appeared, which bears the title
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Nouvelle Description du Cap de Bonne-Esperance, avec v/n Jov/maZ

Uiatorique d'un Voyage de terre,fait par ordre du Gouverneur feu

Mgr. Ryk Tulhagh, dans I'lnterieur de VA/rique. The first part

consists of a description of the Cape colony and the Hottentots,

compiled from earlier authors, principally from Kolbe and De la

Caille. It contains many inaccuracies. Next follows the journal of

the expedition under the leadership of the burgher captain Hendrik

Hop from the Cape to Great Namaqualand, with long notes added

by the compiler in Holland. This part of the work is illustrated

with full-page prints of the elephant, giraffe, zebra, hippopotamus,

rhinoceros, gnu, wild hog, and other South African animals, some of

them being very well, others indifferently, executed. Following the

journal come two reports to Governor Tulbagh by members of the

expedition, the one upon the natives and their customs being by far

the most valuable portion of the volume. The men who drew it up

were diligent observers, and one of them had the advantage of being

convei-sant with the Hottentot language. This document is there-

fore not only highly interesting but of great permanent worth. The

other report is upon copper ore, and was drawn up by the surgeon

who accompanied the expedition. An article upon the wax plant

completes the volume.

Masson, Francis : On page 43 of the fourteenth volume of the

abridged edition of the Philosophical Transactions of the Royal

Society of London, under the year 1776, appears the following x-^

* An Account of Three Journeys from the Cape Toion into the

Southern Parts of Africa ; undertaken for the Discovery of New
Plants, towards the Imjrrovement of the Royal Botanical Gardens at

Kew. By Mr. Francis Masson, one of his Majesty's Gardeners. In

this journey Mr. M. discovered many new plants, of which, however,

no description is here given. Respecting the country and inhabi-

tants, his observations contain nothing worthy of notice.' The

paper referred to is therefore to be found in the original Transa^ctions,

a copy of which I have never seen. I am under the impression

that it was not published separately. From a note in another work,

I find that it was 51 pages in length.

Nieuwe Algemeene Beschryving van de Kaaj) de Goede Hoop,

Amsterdam, 1777. In two octavo volumes. This work is a con-

densation of Kolbe's book, somewhat improved by the observations

of De la Caille. The compiler had never been in South Africa.

The work treats of the political and physical features of the country
;

of the Hottentots ; of the mammalia, birds, reptiles, and insects, of

the districts known ; of the plants, indigenous and exotic, within



Appendix 367

the Dutch settlement ; of the administration of the government, &o.,

&c. It contains a great many errors.

Thunberg, Charles Peter, M.D. : Travels in Europe, Africa, and
Asia, performed between the years 1770 and 1779. Originally

^written in Swedish, but translated into English and published at

London in four small octavo volumes in 1795. The portion refer-

ring to South Africa occupies nearly the whole of the first and more

than half of the second volume. Thunberg travelled as a botanist

in the Cape colony from April 1772 to March 1775, under the

patronage and in the pay of the Dutch East India Company, in one

of whose ships he came from Europe as a surgeon. His style of

writing is not attractive, owing to the abrupt manner in which he

has thrown together information of various kinds, making his work
resemble a series of memoranda rather than a connected narrative.

He was also so credulous as to believe and repeat many absurd

tales which he heard during his wanderings. Further, his work
contains little or nothing of any permanent value that is not to be

found in Sparrman's or Le Vaillant's. It must, however, be said in

its favour that it contains a great many facts, though irregularly

strung together, and that if no other travellers had written books

about the Cape at that time, his would be considered one of con-

siderable merit. There are editions of it in French and German as

well as in Swedish and English.

Sparrman, Andrew, M.D. : A Y<^c^^ '0 the Cape oj Good

Hope, towards the Antarctic Pola/r Circle, and round the World;

hut chiefly into the Country of the Hottentots and Kaffirs, Jrom the

year 1772 to 1776. Originally written in Swedish, but translated

and published in English, French, and German. The second English

edition, in two volumes, with map and plates, was published at

London in 1786. Sparrman arrived in South Africa in April 1772.

In November of the same year he left the Cape in the Resolution,

having engaged to accompany the English exploring expedition as

a naturalist, and sailed with Captain Cook round the world. In

March 1775 the Resolution reached the Cape again, and Dr. Sparr-

man at once set out upon a tour through the colony, which occupied

him until April 1776. The results of his observations are given in

the work under notice, which is the most interest? tig and most

trustworthy account of the Cape colony and the various races of

people then residing in it, that was published before the beginning

of the present century.

Paterson, William : A Narrative of four Jov/rneys into the

Country of the Hottentots and Caffrarla, in the years 1777, 1778,
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and 1779. London, 1789. A quarto volume containing 135 pages

of reading matter in the form of a journal, 24 pages of weather

tables, and 10 descriptive of animal and vegetable poisons. It is

illustrated with seventeen full page plates, principally of plants, and
a large map. In the best copies the plates are coloured. A second

English edition was published in 1790, and Dutch, French, and
German translations were speedily issued. Lieutenant Paterson,

whose chief pursuit was the study of botany, travelled eastward

nearly to the Keiskama and northward beyond the Orange river.

Unfortunately, his narrative is little more than a record of stages

made and of specimens of plants secured. As a description of the

country or of the people it is worth nothing, but it contains two or

three observations of some historical value.

Stavorinus : Reizen. I have not yet been able to procure a copy

of this excellent work in the original Dutch, but I have examined

French and English translations of it. The last is entitled Voyages

to tlie East Indies by the late John Splinter Stavorinus, Esq., Rear

Admiral in the Service of the States General. Translated from the

original Dutch hy Samuel Hull Wilcocke. With Notes and Additions

by the Translator. The whole comprising afull and accurate Account

of all the present and late Possessions of the Dutch in India and at

the Cape of Good Hope. This English translation is in three thick

royal octavo volumes, published at London in 1798. At the time

of making his voyages to India Stavorinus was a post captain in the

national navy. The States were at peace, and as he wished to

acquire more experience in matters pertaining to seamanship, he

asked for and obtained permission to take command of an Indiaman.

In that capacity he visited Table Bay in 1768, 1771, and 1778, and

Simon's Bay in 1774. Altogether he spent about fifteen weeks in

South Africa. One hundred and thirty pages of his work are de-

voted to subjects connected with this country, and in addition

nineteen pages of the appendix are occupied with an abstract of

Oldenland's catalogue of plants. In these chapters the author gives

an account of Cape Town and its inhabitants, a description of the

government, an account of an excursion to Klapmuts and Stellen-

bosch, particulars of the commerce of the colony, &c. He draws a

broad line of distinction between the inhabitants of the town and

those of the country, and institutes a comparison greatly in favour

of the farmers. He denounces the rapacity of the public servants

and the arbitrary nature of the government, and recommends the

suppression of the first and the amelioration of the last. Stavorinus

confines his observations to the European settlement, and has
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nothing to say of the natives. Attached to the work is a chart of

the country and coast from Hottentots Holland to Saldanha Bay.

Cook, James (Captain) : A Voyage towards the South Pole and
rou/nd the World, performed in Hia Majesty's ships Resolution and
Adventure in the years 1772-1775. The third edition, in two quarto

volumes, was published at London in 1779. Captain Cook was at

the Cape in November 1772 and in April 1775. He has made a

few observations, which are interesting but too brief to be of much
value. Some short remarks are also to be found in the account of

Captain Cook's last voyage, the third edition of which, in three

quarto volumes, was published at London in 1785. This work is

entitled A Voyage to the Pacific Ocean undertaken by the command
of His Majestyfor making Discoveries in the Northern Hemisphere ;

performed under the direction of Captains Cook, Gierke, and Gore,

in His Majesty's ships the Resolution a/nd Discovery, in the yea/rs

1776-1780. Volumes I and II were written by Captain Cook,

volume III by Dr. King. The expedition was at the Cape in

November 1776 and in April 1780.

Sonnerat : Voyage. I have not yet been so fortunate as to pro-

cure an original copy of this work, and must therefore refer to the

Dutch translation published in three octavo volumes at Leiden in

1786, and entitled Reise naar de Dost Indien en China in de

Jaaren 1774-1781, op last des Konings van Frankryk, gedaan door

den Heer Sonnerat. The French naturalist Sonnerat, having spent

five years in travelling in Mauritius, Bourbon, Madagascar, New
Guinea, the Moluccas, and the Philippine islands, where he made
rich collections of specimens in the animal and vegetable kingdoms,

returned to Paris and published a work in quarto illustrated with

1 20 plates. He was then sent by the king to make further re-

searches in other parts of the East, and was absent from France on

this occasion for seven years. He returned in 1781 with a magnifi-

cent collection of animals and plants. Sonnerat called at the Cape

on several occasions, and in 1781 spent some weeks here. He is

mentioned by other travellers of the time, who considered the

meeting of a man of such eminence in the study of natural history

a noteworthy event. In the volumes here referred to there is but

one chapter upon the Cape colony, and it covers only five pages.

These are pages of correct information, but the whole is too short to

draw attention, were it not for the name of the author.

Raynal, Guillaume Thomas : Histoire Philosophique et Politique

des Etahlissemens et du Commerce des Europdens dans les deux Indes.

This is one of the great histories produced in the eighteenth century,

II. B B
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and its writer holds in French literature a position similar to that

occupied by Hume and Gibbon among English authors. There are

many editions of the work. One of the best is in ten octavo

volumes with large quarto atlas, published at Geneva in 1782. In

this edition sixteen pages are devoted to the establishment of the

Cape colony. With all the industry, regard for truth, and power

of patient research of the Abb^ Baynal, he has failed to give a

correct account of this event. One reason is that the archives of

the East India Company were closed to him, and he had only

printed works upon South Africa to refer to. Another is that the

Cape colony, in relation to many other countries of which he was

writing, was considered so unimportant that only a certain amount

of time as well as of space could be devoted to it.

le Vaillant, Franqois : Voyage dana Vlntdrieur de VAfrique, par

le Cap de Bonne-Usp^rance, dana lea anneea 1780, '81, et '82. Paris,

1790. The two volumes of M. Le Vaillant's work, in which an

account is given of his journey to Kaffirland, contain a large amount

of interesting matter, though the author's vivid imagination caused

him to colour some of his descriptions too highly. Le Vaillant

came to South Africa in the Held Woltemaade, the Dutch Indiaman

which was captured by Commodore Johnstone's fleet soon after she

sailed from Saldanha Bay. He reached the Fish river towards the

close of 1781. There are admirable translations of this work in

Dutch and English.

Dalrymple, Alexander : An Account of the Loaa of the Groavenor

Indiaman, commanded by Capt. John Coxon, on the 4th of Aiiguat,

1782, with a Relation of tJie Eventa which befel those Survivors who

have reached England, viz. Robert Price, Thomas Lewis, John

Warmington, and Barney Larey, being the Report given in to the

East India Comptiny. This is an octavo pamphlet of fifty-eight

pages, published with the approbation of the Court of Directors, at

London (second edition), in 1785. An appendix of thirty-eight pages

contains the report of William Hubberley, another of the survivors.

In this little work the particulars of the wreck are given briefly,

the greater portion being taken up with an account of the wanderings

and sufferings of the narrators. A list of the names of those who
were left behind is given.

Carter, George ; A Narrative of the Loss of the Grosvenor East

Indiaman, which was unfortunately tvrecked upon the Coaat of

Caffraria on the ith of August 1782. Compiledfrom the Examination

of John Hynes, one of the unfortunate survivors. London, 1791.

This work is an illustrated volume of 174: pages, and contains an
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account of the wreck, of Hynes' journey until he reached the

residence of a colonist, and lists of names of those saved, left behind,

and known to have perished.

L'Afrique Hollandaise ; ou Tableau Hiatoriqiie et Politique de

VEtaA originaire de l^a Colonie du Cap de Bonne-Eaperaiice compare

nvec VEtat actual de cette Colonie. Public aur le manuacrit d'un

Obaervateur inatruit. An octavo volume of 322 pages, published in

Holland (no city mentioned) in 1783. The writer's name is not

given, but it is evident that he was a Cape burgher. This work
was published at a time when the colonists of South Africa were

divided into two factions, and party feeling was running extremely

high. The writer was a special pleader of one of the factions, and

therefore anything like an impartial account of the colony is not

to be expected from his pen. His account of the early days of the

settlement is almost fabulous in its inaccuracy. Thus Van Biebeek

is represented as a kind of hero, and his immediate successors as

tyrants who destroyed the liberal form of government which he in-

troduced. He is said to have wrested the country from the Portu-

guese, and to have brought out a body of planters with him. A
large portion of the book is taken up with a refutation of the

defence of the fiscal Boers. The value of the work consists in the

fact that it gives a picture of the administration of the East India

Company, at the time it was written, from the point of view of a

large section of the colonists of South Africa.

James, Silas : A Narrative of a Voyage to Arabia, India, &c.

containing, amidat a variety 0/ information, a Deacription ofiSaldanha

Bay, &c., <S;c. An octavo volume of 232 pages, published at London

in 1797. The author of this work was a seaman on board a ship in

the fleet of Commodore Johnstone, and was present in the engage-

ment with the French at Porto Praya on the 16th of April 1781, of

which event he gives some particulars not found in the official reports

of either the English or the French commanders. He describes also

the capture of the Held Woltemmide, and the seizure of the Dutch

Indiamep in Saldanha Bay. His account must be compared with

official documents, however, as it is not strictly accurate. On the

return passage James was in Saldanha and Table bays from September

1783 to March 1784, but his account of that visit contains notliing

of interest.

Kaapache Geschillen. Four bluebooks, containing in all 1146

large quarto pages, printed in Holland in 1785. They contain the

principal documents concerning the complaints of the burghers from

B B 2
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the Ist of March 1779 to the 28th of July 1785, with the replies of

the officers at the Cape.

le Vaillant, Franqois : Second Voyage dans Vlntiriev/r de

VAfrique, par le Ca/p de Bonne-Eap^rancey dana lea anniea 1783,

1764, et 1785. Paris, I'An 3 de la R^publique une et indivisible.

This work is in three octavo volumes, in which Le Vaillant gives

an account of his journey from the Cape to Namaqualand. It has

the same faults as the account of his journey to Kaffraria, and would

have been greatly improved by the omission of many of the adventures

described with wearisome minuteness as well as such tales as that of

his bursting into tears and throwing himself into the arms of a

savage. The great defects in this book of Le Vaillant have caused

some of his critics to express an opinion that he never really crossed

the Orange river into Great Namaqualand, but drew upon his

imagination for the account he has given. This view is incorrect, and

there can be no reasonable doubt that he went as far as he states

that he did. His account of the lower portion of Great Namaqua-
land and its people will be found fairly correct, if separated from

his own exploits. His troubles south of the Orange, the suffering

from thirst, the loss of his cattle, and the abandonment of his

waggons until he procured aid from a Hottentot clan, coincide with

the experiences of many other travellers. When ultimately he

reached the great river, he found himself compelled to leave his

waggons on the southern bank, and to push forward with horses and

pack oxen. He states that he had formed a design to traverse the

continent from south to north, and only abandoned it when it was
proved to be absolutely hopeless. The work is illustrated, but is not

divided into chapters.

Degrandprd, L. (Officier de la Marine fran9aise) : Voyage A la

C6te Occidentale d'Afrique, fait dans les annees 1786 et 1787; suivi

cPun Voyagefait au Cap de Bonne-Esperance, contenant la description

militaire de cetfe colonie. Two volumes octavo, Paris, 1801. Nearly

the whole of the second volume is devoted to the Cape colony. The
author was a man of keen observation and of extensive readinar.

His work is therefore valuable as well as interesting. His descrip-

tion of the Cape is of a period just before the first English conquest

of the colony, though it was written after that event. Of the

country beyond the isthmus Degrandprd says but little, as his

furthest journey inland was only along the Berg river to its mouth.

He treats very fully of the navigation and winds at Table Bay, and
describes Robben Island, Cape Town, and Table Mountain at great

length. Into military matters he enters largely, as stated in the
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title of his work. Speculative remarks upon the formation of Table

Mountain and upon the circumnavigation of Africa by the ancients

also occupy a good deal of space. This author is very severe upon

the colonists, to whom he attributes the destruction of the Hotten-

tot race. He speaks in the highest terms of Sparrman's work, and

exposes many romances in that of his own countryman Le Vaillant,

to whose ability, industry, and extensive researches in natural history,

however, he testifies. It produces a smile to find Degrandpr^ in his

preface indignantly denouncing Bamberger as an impostor, and

seriously pointing out errors that this African Munchausen had

fallen into. A good chart of the coast from Saldanha Bay to False

Cape and a plan of the Cape castle are attached to the work. ; j

Huysers, Ary : Beknopte Beachryving der Oost Indiache Etabliaae-

menten. Utrecht, 1789. Only four pages of this volume are

devoted to the Cape colony, and those chiefly to its finances, but

there is some interesting matter in the appendix.

Riou, Capt. Edward : A Journal of a Journey, from the Cape of

Good Hope, undertaken in 1790 and 1791 by Jacob van JSeenen and
othera of hia countrymen, in aearch of the wreck of the Honourable

the East India Company'a ahip The Grosvenor, to diacover if there

remained alive any of the unfortunate aufferera. With additional

Notea and a Map. A quarto pamphlet of 51 pages published at

London in 1792. It is a literal translation of the journal of an ex-

pedition that travelled through Kaffirland to about the mouth of the

Umzimkulu. The map added by Captain Riou is a curiosity. In

it Natal and even St. Lucia River are placed a long way south of

the XJmzimvubu. With a knowledge of Kaffir proper names and a

good modem map of South Africa, there is not the slightest difficulty

in following the course of Van Reenen's party from the journal, but

Captain Riou believed that it nearly reached Delagoa Bay. There

are Dutch and French editions of the work.

Staat der Generale Nederlandache Ooat Indiache Compagnie, behel-

zende Rapporten van de Heeren Haar Ed. Groot Mog. Gecommit-

teerden G: J. Doya, Baron van der Doea, Heer van Noordwyk,

Mr. P. H. van de Wall, Mr. J. Rendorp, Heer van Marquette,

en Mr. H. van Straalen, ala mede Nader Rapport van gemelde

heeren gecommitteerden, en Bylaagen. Two volumes. Amsterdam,

1792. These volumes contain a large amount of statistical and

other valuable information concerning the Cape colony.

de Jong, Cornelius: Reizen naar de Kaap de Goede Hoop,

lerland, en Noorwegen, in de Jaren 1791 tot 1797. Three octavo

volumes, published at Haarlem in 1802. The author of this work
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was captain of the Dutch frigate Scipio. His ship lay at anchor in

Table or Simon's Bay from the 27th of March 1792 to the 3Ut of

May 1793. In the following year Captain De Jong returned from

Europe to the Cape, and remained on this occasion rather longer

than six months. His official position, combined with his being an

intimate friend of the commissioner Sluysken, gave him a thorough

knowledge of the events then taking place in the colony. Several

short tours afforded him opportunities of observing the country and

people, and his marriage with a Cape lady must have added to the

interest which he took in the colony. In the form of a series of

well-written and lively letters to a friend. Captain De Jong has

placed on record his observations. In point of value to a student

of Cape history, this work ranks high. It is ornamented with a

view of Simon's Town and harbour, and with two large pictures of

Table Mountain and Bay, one of which is from the pencil of the

celebrated Kobell.

Nederburgh, S. C. : Verhandeling over de Vragen of, en in hoe

verre, het nuttig en noodzakelijk zijn zoude, de Ooat Indische

Bexittingpn van deezen Staat, ofte somrnigen derzelven, te hrengen op

den voet Hpt West Indische Volkplantingen ; en o/, en in /toe verre^

het voordeeliger voor dit Gemeenebest, en dessef/s Ingezeetenen, zijn

zoude, den Handel op voormelde Bezittingen bij aanhoudendheid

door eene nliduitende Compagnie te drijven, dan wel die voor alien

's Land's Ingezeetenen open te stellen ; en in dit laatste geval: op

welke vnorwaarden, en onder welke bepalingen. An octavo volume

of 252 pages, published at the Hague in 1802. The author of this

work, Mr. Sebastian Cornelis Nederburgh, had been commissioner-

general of the whole of Netherlands India and the Cape of Good

Hope. There are only a few pages of the book devoted to this

colony. These contain little beyond some severe comments upon

the burghers and some remarks upon the introduction of Spanish

rams and the production of merino wool.

Nederburgh, S. C. : Echte Stukken betreffende het volbragt

onderzoek der verrichtingen van de General Commissie in den jare

1791 benoemd geweest over de 0. I. Bezittingen van den Staat en de

Kaah de Goede Hoop, benevens den Finalen Uitslag van hetzelve.

An octavo volume of 156 pages published at the Hague in 1803.

The items in this work of greatest interest to a student of Cape

history are some official documents connected with the arrival of

Admiral Elphinstone's fleet in Simon's Bay in 1795, and to the

subsequent intercourse between the English and Dutch officers.

Some important papers are to be found in the Annv^l Register
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or View of History, Politics, and Literalitre, published at London.

Thui the volume for 1758 coutaiu^ m account of the wreck of the

Doddington
-,

the volume for 1790 cofitains a narrative of the

disaster to the Guardian \ and the voIuok' for 1795 contains (\<^-

spatches, copied from the London, Gazette, concerning tlie conquest

of the colony, from the othcers commanding the English forces.

van Hogendorp, Gysbert Karel : Verhandelingen over den Oont

Indiachen Handel. Three octavo volumes, AmHterdani, 1801. The
second volume, of 388 pages, is devoted to the Capo colony.

van Ryneveld, W. S. : Aanmerkingen over de Verbetering von
het Vee aan de Kaap de Goede Hoop, inzonderheid over de Convernle

der Kaapache in Spnansche of Wolgeevende Schapen. A pamphlet

of 104 pages, printed at Cape Town in 1804. Some informatir>n

concerning the attempts made to improve the breed of cattle at the

Gape is to be found in this little work.

Sluysken, A. J. : Verhaal gehouden by den CommisHnria van de

Caap de Goede Hoop. An octavo volume of 330 pages, published

at the Hague in 1797. This is Mr. Sluysken's account of events

from the 10th of June to the 16th of September 1795, and contains

the whole of the correspondence between the officers commanding

the English forces and himself. A large portion of it has been

copied from the secret resolutions of the council of policy preserved

in the Cape archives.

Campagne, H. D. : Memorie en Byzonderheden wegena Overgave

der KoMp de Goede Hoop, 1795. Ala mede Jielaaa gegeven door dt:n

'a la/rida kapitein Dekker ivegena het voorgevallen tuaachen denzelve,

den Engelache Admiraal Generaal Sir George Keith Elphinatone, en

den Commiaaaria Sluysken aan Kabo de Goede Hoop, Manuscript

in the archives of the Netherlands, a copy of which has boon obtained

by the Cape government for preservation with its records. This is

a very graphic and complete account of events from June to Sep-

tember 1795, by an eye-witness. The writer belonged to the corps

of pennists, but his sympathies were with the democratic party.

In an appendix a well-written account of the KafHr war of 1793 is

given, the writer having been engaged in it.

Mamitz, Philip Wilhelm : Verhaal van de Overgaave van de

Kaap de Goede Hoop aan de Engelachen. Door een vriend der

vxM/rheid aldaar. In't tweede jaar der Bataviache vrylieid. This

work is in manuscript in the archives of the Netherlands, and a

copy has been procured for preservation with the Cape records. Its

author was an eye-witness of what he relates. He gives a version

of occurrences from the arrival of the British fleet to the surrender
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of the colony, from the standpoint of an artillery officer attached to

the democratic party in Europe. He is very severe upon Commis-
sioner Sluysken and Colonel Gordon.

,•..^:lv,^. y -'ru.,f>i>

tll ' ;,r»i:

Drakenstein Baptismal Register.

The following is a copy of the ' Liure de Register des Enfans

qu'on a Baptize dans notre Eglise frangoise dedrakestein.' It in-

'^I'-das every entry made in the French language. The original

register was kept by Paul Roux. The first baptism is dated 29th of

August 1694, and until the 27th of November 1701 the entries are

frequent. A few months after this date the Rev. Mr. Simond was
succeeded by the Rev. Hendrik Bek, who kept the register himself

in Dutch. Twelve entries were subsequently made in French by

Paul Roux, on occasions when different clergymen visited Draken-

stein and bapti/.ed children. At the end of this is the register

complete to the close of 1710. The spelling of every name is just

as in the original, but I have arranged the families in alphabetical

order.
'
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Position )F the Temdu tribe in 17r)2.

In the diary of the exploring expedition of 1752 it is Ktatod that

the Tenibu tribe occupied the country on the eastern l)ank of the

Kei. See chapter 22. This being contrary to the generally received

opinion, the head of the native department requosted tiuj chief

magistrate of Tembuland to ascertain if there were any traditions

of that tribe liaving once resided so far westward. The chief magiH-

trate referred the matter to the resident magistrate of Uintata, who
takes great interest in such researches, and who forwarded the

following report, dated 9th February, 1888 :

—

" I have instituted inquiries with a view to discovering the posi-

tion occupied by the Tembu tribe in about the year ITTiO, and to

that end 1 invited the chief Dalindyebo to send to my othco Homo o£

the oldest and most intelligent of his men. Four of them arrived

on the 7th instant, and after resting from the fatigue of tludr long

journeys—two of them travelled about seventy miles,—! got them
to furnish a good deal of interesting information. The eldest of the

four and the principal spokesman was Nanitwa, who was born in

the same year as Gubencuka, the great-grandfather of the pi'esent

chief. Another was Radeba, son of Kosiansi, who was regent during

the minority of Gubencuka. The two others were approved elders

possessed of great historical lore.

" After I had explained the object for which I had sought the

interview, Nanitwa remarked sententiously * Ah ! history in a great

inheritance,' and with that we settled to work.

"There was no such chief as Tzeba, but Daba, the father of

Gubencuka, must have been Tembu chief at the time mentioned in

the Hon. the Sec. for Native Affairs letter (1752). The clan of the

Amaqiyathen occupied the country as far as the Koi, tlie Ainagcina

lived between the Tsomo and the Kei, and the Amatshatshu between

the White and Zwart Keis. No Xosas had then any land to the

east of the Kei. Gcaleka and his tribe were living in that part now
known as Komgha and Kabusi, and indeed in all the country between

the Zwart Kei and the sea, the Great Kei forming their eastern

boundary. The Amaqiya clan occupied what are now kno'.vn as the

Butterworth and Kentani districts, and their chief in the days of

Daba was Ngxoxo, but although Daba was the paramuunt, Ngxoxo
was in reality of the senior stock, and his branch is now represented
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by Sipentlu, son of Bftcela, who lives in the Mqanduli district, and

is still subordiiiato. The history of the subversion of the lineal

descent is intereHtin^, though of no moment here.

" The hostility existing at the time of the explorers' narrative

between Gcalelca'« poople and the Tembus arose out of an ill-advised

attack made by Daba on one of his own clans, the Dungwanas.

Daba, who was a bad-tempered, quarrelsome man, always seeking

some occasion of oHlmce, proposed to eat up the Dungwanas on

account of an allege*! incivility about milk. They, however, had an

able, and as it proved a willing friend, in Rarabe, the brother of

Gcaleka, who had married their chief's sister ; and their appeal to

him brought them HUch sturdy assistance that all Daba's cattle

were taken, and h(» was induced to sue for peace, and to go as far

as Izeli, near King William's Town, where Gcaleka allowed him to

build a kraal whilst Im came to terms with Rarabe, who was on the

other side of the JiuH'alo river.

"Whilst occupying this humiliating position, a wife of his was

one day basking in the sun outside her hut door when one of the

captured oxen that Daba had managed to wheedle out of Rarabe ran

up to her and licked her. A clearer case of witchcraft could not

have been wished for, and Rarabe resolved to decoy Daba still

further into the country, and then put an end to him and the

malign intlueuce that brou|,ht cattle to make such demonstrations.

To this end ho sent tnesscngers to Daba, who said on his behalf :

* Oh brother, come ov(^r into my ground and I will give you a better

place for a kraal, between two rivers where the grass is good, and

there we can talk over this matter and come to a settlement.' But
his scheme had got wind, and a Tembu reported it to Daba, who
fled incontinently, leaving behind him even the stock that had

been returned. After this Daba entertained feelings of animosity

towards all the Xosas, and frequent raids and much ill-feeling were

the result, but before the days of Daba the Xosas and the Tembus

had been friendly,

" After Daba's death there was a long regency, as Gubencuka

was very young, Kosiansi before mentioned was the regent, and

during his term a terrible scourge of small-pox decimated the

Amaqiya and Amagcir'^, and left the country almost desert for a

time. The Amaxosa under Kawuta quarrelled, as Ndlambe, the>

son of Rarabe, had a grave cause of complaint against Ngqika, hi*

nephew and heir to the house of Rarabe.
" Whilst still young, Ngqika lived at Kawuta's kraal to learn the^
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way of chiefs, but though young he was depraved, and defiled one of

Ndlambe's wives—Tutula, daughter of Dibi—to the just scandal of

his uncle. Kawuta, when appealed to, did nothing beyond calling

the delinquent names, and Hintsa, with even a less show of proper

feeling, espoused his cause. This led to Ndlambe attacking Hintsa,

who being worsted moved with his father into the country tliat

small-pox had swept of the Tembu Amaqiya, and there pitched his

kraal, somewhere near the present site of Butterwoi'th. This must

have been in the early part of this century, as it was many years

before Tshaka's armies found their way as far as the Bashee. The

remnants of the Amaqiya crossed the Bashee after Hintsa arrived,

and settled where they now are, to the north of the Bomvanas,

whose introduction from Pondoland had been arranged between

Hintsa and Gubencuka.
" Tliis account seems to bear out the occupation of the eastern

bank of the Kei by Tembus, as stated by the explorers, and Daba
appears to have been their last great chief, as much of their terri-

tory was lost to them during the minority of Gubencuka and the

early part of his reign.

(Signed) " T. R. Merriman, res. mag. of Umtata."

The Namaqua Captain Afrikaner.

The account given by me of the Namaqua captain Afrikaner

being at variance with a large amount of literature concerning him
published in London forty or fifty years ago, I give the following

extracts from original documents in the archives of the Dutch East

India Company at the Cape :

—

Meeting of the Council of Policy.

Dingsdag den 20 November 1792.

's Voormiddags, alle praesent.

Is door den Heere Gezachhebber geproduceerd en vervolgeus by

resnmptie geleezen geworden de hier onder geinsereerde Missive van

den Landdrost van Stellenbosch, Hendrik LodeAvj'k Bletterman,

waarvan den inhoude op den 12 deeser dadelyk op den ontfangst

bereids voorloopig aan de respective Heeren Leeden des Raads
gecommuniceert is geweest. Uit welke Missive gezien zijnde hoe

dat den Hottentotten Capitain Africaner en de zynen heeft mogen
gelukken in de Streeken door hun bewoond werdende een Hoop
Bosjesmans-Hottentotten door dewelke zij te vooren aangevallen en
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beroofd waaren geworden derwijze te verslaan dat van dezelve Een
hondert en derthien Stuks gesneuveld en twintig anderen zyn

gevangen genoomen, en dat den gemelde Capitain Africaner, om de

evengedagte Roovers nog verder Langs de Zak rivier te kunnen
vervolgen alleen begeerd door den Burger Pienaar met eenig kruijt

en Lood te moogen werden geadsisteerd.

Zo is vermits uit den verderen inhoude van gemelde Missive

blijkt dat den voomoemde Pienaar het gevraagde Pulver en Lood

aan handen komt te hebben, en er te bevordering van de veijligheid

onzer verre Landwaards in woonende opgezeetenen ten hoogsten aan

is geleegen dat die woedende Natie door dewelke zij zints eenigen

tijd zo deerlijk ontrust, gekweld, en beroofd zyn geworden, nu
eenmaal getemd en tot Stilstand werde gebiagt, mitsdien dan ook

beslooten den gem : Landdrost dadelijk in antwoord op zijne voor-

schreeven Missive te doen aanschrijven dat den Raade zeer gaarne

wil defereeren aan het verzoek van den Capitain Africaner; weshalven

hij Landdrost den voornoemde Pienaar daartoe, hoe eer zoo liever,

de noodige qualificatie zal moeten doen toekoomen, met belofte en

toezegging, naamens dezen Raade, dat het geen hij Pienaar aan

gedagte Capitain Africaner aan kruijt en Lood zal koomen bij te

zetten hem 's E. Compagnies weegen zal werden gerestitueerd, waar

bij egter zo wel denzelven Pienaar als den Wagtmeester van dat

District zuUen moeten gelast en aangerecommandeerd werden

behoorlijk toe te zien en te zorgen dat door meermelde Capitain

Africaner van het alzo aan hem aftelangene kruijt en Lood geen

ander dan het hiervooren beschreeven gebruijk worde gemaakt,

terwijl deezen Raade voorts gereedelijk toestaat dat de gevangen

genoomene Bosjesmans-Hottentotten zuUen moogen werden Caab-

waards gebragt, en eijndelijk begeert dat door voormelde Landdrost

ofte den geenen die hij daartoe zal goedvinden te qualificeeren aan

den zo dikwijls geciteerden Capitain Africaner en de zijnen 's Raads

byzonder genoegen over hunne Conduites in deezen gehouden zal

worden betuijgd.

Aldus Geresolveerd ende Gearresteerd in 't Casteel de Goede

Hoop ten dage en jaare voorsz.

J. I. Rhenius,

J. J. LE Sueur,

O. G. DE Wet,
W. F. VAN Reede van Oudtshoorn.

Mij praesent

:

E. Bergu, PI. Secret.
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Extracts from the j)T0ceeding3 of the council of policy, under

date 1th of August 1793 :

—

De voormelde Landdrost aan den Heere Gezachhebber sub dato

23 der maand July geschreeven hebbeude de volgende Missive :

Aan den Wei Edelen Achtb: Heere Johannes Isaac Rhenius,

Gezachhebber des Gouvernements van Cabo de Goede Hoop, en den

Ressortte van dien, itc, &c., ifec.

Wel Edele Achtbaake Heer,

De Hottentotten Capitain Africaander aan m^ ses snaphaanen

hebbende overgeleevert, met berigt dat hy dezelve van de bastaart

Hottentotten welke by Continuatie niet alleen het Vhee de Na-

niacqua Hottentotten komen te rooven, maar zelfs zig onder de Bosjes-

mans-Hottentotten begeeven, had afgenoomen, en dat hy op zyn

retour omstreeks de verblyfplaats van den Burger Guilliam Visagie

Aryszoon geleegen aan de overzyde der groote Rivier met zyne zoo

genaamde Soldaaten gekooraen zynde, denzelven neevens zyn zoon

mitsgaders de aldaar zig ophoudende by my zeer wel bekende

zwervende bastaart Hottentotten Donderbos, Pokkebaas, Viool,

Siewent, en Cupido, op hem en zyne Soldaten hadden ingeschooten

zoo dat er vier ter needer geschooten zynde, hy Africaander twee

gekwetste had meede gebragt en hy zelvs neevens zyne overige

Manschappen defendeerender wyze gelukkig ontkoomen was, en by

die geleegendheid zyn Capiteins stok heeft verlooren, zoo helj ik van

myn pligt geagt te zyn U Wel Edele Agtbaare hiervan pligtschul-

dige kennisse te geeven, zoo wel als dat 't dezelve Africaner is die in

den gepasseerden Jaare een meenigte Bosjesmans-Hottentotten heeft

doodgeschooten, terwyl ik hem ter overbrenging der voorsz: ses

snaphaanen op heeden Caabwaards heb gezonden ten eynde U. Wel
Edele Agtb: des gelievende, de voorsz: ses snaphaanen ten ge-

bruyke der aan de Caab dienstdoende Hottentotten op de Wapen-

kamer zou kunnen laten repareeren dan wel ten voordeele der E.

Comp: te verkoopen, met needrig verzoek aan voorsz: Africaander

een nieuwe Stok en nodige pas tot zyne terugi'eyze te willen laten

toekomen.

Terwyl voor 't overige de Vryheid neeme met de meeste Eerbied

my te noemen,
Wel Edele Achtbaare Heer,

U Wel Edele Achtbaare Ootmoedige Dienaar,

H. L. Bletterman.
Stellenbosch, den 23 July 1793.



394 History of South Africa

Zoo is unanime beslooten den Landdrost Bletterman te injun-

geeren en te gelasten na 't geen door de zwervende Hottentotten

Donderbos, Pokkebaas, Viool, Siewent, en Cupido mogt weezen

bedreeven een prompt en allernaauwkeurigst onderzoek te doen,

terwyl de 6 Snaphaanen door de Hottentots Capitein Africaner van

gemelde zwerAeiide Hottentotten afgenoomen zo by de Negotie

boeken deezes Gouvernements als by de Wapenkamer zullen moeten

worden ingenoonien en verantwoord.

J. I. Rhenius,

J. J. LE Sueur,

O. G. DE Wet,
W. F. v^AN Reede van Oudtsiiooen,

E. BerciH.

My present,

G. F. GoETZ, Secret".
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d'Ableing, Johan Cornelia : is appointed secunde, 40 ; arrives at the Cape in

May 1707, and until February 1708 acts as head of the government, 41
;

in 1710 is promoted, and proceeds to Bata\na, 53

Adventures of elephant hunters in Kaffirland in 1736, 102

Afi'ikaner, Namaqua captain : in 1792 assists the colonists against the Bush-

men along the Zak river, 311 ; attacks a robber band north of the Orange

river, 311 ; in 1793 visits Cape town, 312

d'Aillj', Rev. J. G. : arrives in South Africa and assumes duty as clergyman of

the Cape congregation in February 1708, 47 ; dies in June, 1720, 101

van-Aken, Rev. P. : arrives in South Africa and assumes dutj' as clergyman of

the Drakenstein congregation in August 1714, 82; dies in December 1724,

101

Algoa Bay : is examined by Ensign Beutler in 1752, 146

Aling, Rev. R. A. : arrives in South Africa and assumes duty as clergyman of

the Drakenstein congregation in April 1784, 268

Aloes : are first exported in 1701, 175

Amsterdam battery : is completed in February 1787, 274

Amy, English brigantine : is seized in Saldanha Bay in 1693 under supposition

that she is a pirate vessel, 12; her master causes the Company much
trouble and expense, 13 ; she is used at the Cape as a packet, 13 ; and is

wrecked in Table Bay in the great gale of June 1722, 80

Angra Pequena : is taken possession of by the Dutch East India Company in

January 1793, 307

Anniversary : the possession of the Cape colony by the Company for a century

is celebrated on the 8th of April 1752, 143

Appeldoorn, Rev. J. : arrives in South Africa and assumes duty as clergyman

of the Stellenbosch congregation in September 1753, 176 ; dies in Septem-

ber 1772, 268

Apprenticeship of children of mixed Hottentot and slave blood : regulations

are made in 1775 for such as are living on farms, 226

Arendsen, Rev. E. : arrives in South Africa and assumes duty as clergyman

of the Stellenbosch congregation in September, 1747, 130: dies in July

1749, 130

van Assenburgh, Louis : is appointed Governor of the Cape Colony, 40 ; arrives

in South Africa, 47 ; in February 1708 is installed in office, 49 ; conducts
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matters to the satisfaction of the Company and of the colonists, 49 ; is a

man of quiet habits, 55 ; dies in December 1711, 56

Attaqua, Hottentot tribe : plunder some Hessequa kraals, 6

Auction duty : is first imposed in 1793,302; and is strongly objected to Ihy

the colonists, 303

VAN Baalen, Captain B. C. : in July 1792 is appointed acting landdrost of

Graafif Reinet, 309; in September arrives at the drostdy, 311 ; in May
1793 is relieved and returns to his military duty in Cape Town, 313;

in September 179". is in command of tlie Dutch camp at Wynberg, 357

;

retreats towards Capo Town on the advance of the English forces, 357

Bantu : distinguishing characteristics of the people so termed, 185 ;
personal

appearance, 195 ; names of coast tribes, 195 ; division of tribes into clans,

197; form of government, 197 ; lawsandtribunalsof justice, 199; religion,

201 ; belief in \vitchcraft, 203 ; folklore, 204 ;
practice of circumcision,

205 ; weapons, 206 ; domestic life, 207 ; agricultural operations, 207 ; food,

208 ; land tenure, 208 ; dwellings, 209 ; property in cattle, 209 ; clothing,

210 ; manufactures, 210 ; habits and customs, 212

Barbier, Etienne : in 1739 heads a petty insurrection against th< government,

110; is apprehended and is punished with death. 111

van Beaumont, Comelis : arrives in South Africa and assumes duty as fiscal

independent in March 1713 ; dies in June 1724, 82

Bek, Rev. H. : arrives in South Africa and assumes duty as clergyman of the

Drakensteln congregation in May 1702, 25 ; is transferred to Stellenbosch

in April 1707, 45 ; is transferred to Cape Town in June 1726, 101 ; retires

on a pension in April 1731, 102

BennehrocTi, Dutch ship: is wrecked on the coast of Natal, 57; some of the

survivors of her crew reach the Cape, 65

Berg Damaras : are first visited and described by members of Willem van

Reenen's expedition in 1791-2, 291

Bergli, Martliinus Adriaan : in October 1773 is appointed landdrost of Stellen-

bosch 269 ; in December 1778 retires, 269

Betsy, Enghsh brig : is captured in Table Bay in 1781, 247 ; is sent to Ceylon

with despatches, 247

Beutler, Ensign A. F. : in 1752 is in command of an expedition which explores

the country eastward to the Kei river, 143

Bias, Justinus: in March 1743 is appointed postholder at Simon's Town, 119

Blesius, Johan : in November 1694 assumes duty as fiscal independent, 9 ; dies

in April, 1711

Bletterman, Hendrik Lodewyk : in August 1785 is appointed landdrost of

Stellenbosch, 283

Boards of landdrost and heemraden: duties and powers of, 126

Bode, Rev. J. F. : arrives in South Africa and assumes duty as clergyman of

the Cape congregation in November 1758, 176; dies in July 1784, 268

Boers, Willem Cornells : arrives in South Africa and assumes duty as fiscal

independent in December 1774, 221 ; makes himself detested by the

colonists, 230 ; is charged with fraudulent conduct and oppression by

delegates sent by the colonists to the Netlierlands, 233 ; is called upon by
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a court of inquiry to answer to the charges, 234 ; sends in a lonj? and un-

satisfactory document in reply, 237; retires from office in April 1783, 257

du Bois, J. P. I. : book of, 365

Books referring to Soitth Africa during the period 1691 to 1795 ; short reviews

of, 363

Boonaker, Pieter Diederik : is appointed landdrostof Swellendam in February

1776, 270 : retires in May 1777, 270

Borcherds, Rev. M. : arrives in South Africa and assumes duty as clergyman

of the Cape congregation in May 1785, 295; is transferred to Stellenbosch

in September 1786, 295

Boscawen, Admiral : refreslies his fleet at the Cape in April 1748, 131

le Boucq, Rev, E. F. : arrives in South Africa in March 1707, 26 ; declines to

assume duty at Drakenstein, 45 ; acts for a short time as clergyman of

the Cape congregation, 45 ; is guilty of violent conduct, 45 ; is deported

to Batavia in September 1708, 47

Boundary : between tlie districts of the Cape and Stellenbosch as defined in

1711, 55 ; between the districts of Stellenbosch and Swellendam, as

defined in 1769, 173 ; between the Bantu and Hottentot tribes in the

middle of the seventeenth century, 184 ; between the districts of Stellen-

bosch and Swellendam, as defined in 1775, 222 ; of the district of Graaff

Keinet on its formation in 1785, 275

Brand, Christoffel : is appointed Resident at Simon's Town in May 1774,

270

Brand, Pieter : accompanies Willem van Reenen's expedition to Great

Namaqualand in 1791-2, 290 ; meets Damaras, 291 ; and Berg Damaras,

291

liredcTode, Dutch ship : is wrecked on the southern coast, 293

Bruintjes Hoogte : in 1770 is declared the colonial boundary, 173

do Bucquoi, Jakob : book of, 363

Burgher councillors : maintain tlie rights of the colonists in 1792 against tlie

commissioners general, 300

Bushman's River : in 1775 is declared tlie eastern boundary of tlie district of

Swellendam, 222

Bushmen : in the middle of the seventeentli century are found roaming in the

country wherever it is penetrated by Europeans, 185 ; in 1752 are found

to be the only inhabitants of the country between the Tyumie and Tarka

rivers, 148 ; belong to the same branch of the human family as the Hot-

tentots, but are distantly related, 185 ; are constantly at war with the

Hottentots, 185; distinguishing characteristics, 186; language, 191;

dwellings, 191; food, 192; weapons, 192; stone implements, 193; habits,

193 ; superstitions, 194
;
paintings, 194

Bushmen : accounts of conflicts with the colonists, 6, 21, 66, 91, 110, 134, 170,

240, 276, and 309

DE LA Caillk, N.L., French Astronomer : is a resident in South Africa from 1751

to 1753, 142 ; measures an arc of the meridian and makes a chart of the

southern skies, 143 ; book of, 3(i3

Campagne, H. D. : manuscript of, 375
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Cango caverns : are discovered in 1780, 229

Cannaland : is so named by elephant hunters, U5
Cape Town: particulars concerning the growth of, 7,56, and 167; style of

living of the residents in 1781 to 1791, 283

Carter, George : book of, 370

Cattle barter by burghers from Hottentots : is forbidden from 1658 to 1697, 20;

is proliibited under more severe penalties by placaat of October 1697, 20

;

in February 1710 is permitted by order of the directors, 21 ; but in 1703

is again prohibited, 23; and in April 1727 is finally forbidden under very

severe penalties, 89

Cattle breeding by Europeans; first great incentive to, 21

Cattle disease : causes gi'eat loss in 1714 and suci^eeding years, 74 ; results of,

75

Census returns : of 1754 and 1756, 167 ; of 1791, 289

Centaur, French ship : is wrecked on the southern coast, 132

Charges made by the colonists in 1779 against the government, 233

de Chavonnes, liieutenant-Colonel Maurits Pasques : is appointed governor of

the Cape colony, 60; in March 1714 assumes the duty, 60; is a man of

quiet and religious habits, 83 ; in 1721 is raised to the rank of ordinary

councillor of Netherlands India, 83 ; dies in Septeinber 1724, 83

Chavonnes battery : is commenced in 1715, 08 ; is first called Mauritius, 68
;

is completed in April 1726, 128

Church building in Cape Town: is commenced in 1700 and completed in 1703,

24

Clarke, General Sir Alured ; on the 4th of September 1795 arrives in Simon's

Biiy with 3,000 British troops, 356 ; takes over the chief command from

General Craig, and on the 14th marches towards Cape Town with a force

of nearly 6,000 men, 356 ; dislodges the Dutch army at Wynberg, 357

;

signs the terms under which the colony is surrendered, 359; and on the

16th of September 1795 enters Cape Town at the head of a strong army,

3()0

Clergyman of Cape Town, succession of ministers who held the situation of :

Leonard us Terwold, January 1689 to August 1693; Hercules van Loon
(acting), September 1094 to December 1095 ; Petrus Kalden, December
1695 to April 1707 ; Engelbertus Franciscus le lioucq (acting), April 1707

to August 1707 ; Hendrik Bek (acting), August 1707 to January 1708;

Johannes Godfried d'Ailly, January 1708 to June 1726; Lambertus Slicher,

June 1721 to July 1725; Hendrik Bek, June 1726 to April 1731 ; Fran9ois

le Sueur, October 1729 to June 1730, and April 1731 to August 1746

;

Hendrik Kock, April 1732 to February 1742 ; Ariioldus Maurits Meyring

(acting), March 1743 to September 1743; Ruwardus Cloppenburg, August
1746 to January 1748 ; Petrus van der Spuy, September 1746 to January

1753 ; Hendrik Kroonenburg, October 1752 to December 1778; Gerhardus

C'roeser, September 1754 to November 1755; Christiaan Benjamin Voltelen,

November 1766 to April 1758 ; Johannes Frederik Bode, November 1758

to July 1784 ; Johannes Petrus Serrurier, March 1760 until the period

after the capitulation of the colony in September 1796 ; Christiaan Fleck,

January 1781 until the period after the capitulation of the colony in
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September 1795; Meent Borcherds, May 1 785 to September 1786; Helperus
Ritzemavan Lier, September 1786 to July 1792; Johannes Abraham Kuys,
May 1794 until tlie period after the capitulation of the colony in

September 1795.

Clergj'man of Drakenstein, succession of ministers who held the situation of

:

Pierre Simond, June 1691 to May 1702 ; Hendrik Bek, May 1702 to April

1707 ; Petrus van Aken, August 1714 to December 1724; Lambertus Slicher,

July 1725 to June 1730; Francois le Sueur (acting), June 1730 to April

1731 ; Johan Wilhelm Hartzogenrath, April 1731 to June 1736 ; Salomon
van Echten, June 1736 to January 1753 ; Petrus van der Spuy, January
1753 to March 1781; Robert Nicholas Aling, April 1784 until the period
after the capitulation of the colony in September 1795.

Clergyman of Roodezand's church (now Tulbagh), succession of ministers who
held the situation of: Arnoldus Maurits Meyring, September 1743 to May
1757; Remmerus Harders, January 1758 to June 1774; Johannes Abraham
Kuys, April 1777 to March 1794 ; Michiel Christiaan Vos, March 1794

until the period after the capitulation of the colony in September 1795.

Clergyman of Stellenbosch, succession of ministers who held the situation of :

Hercules van Loon, April 1700 to June 1704 ; Hendrik Cek, April 1707 to

June 1726 (removed temporarily to act at Cape Town from August 1707

to January 1708); Salomon van Echten, November 1732 to June 1736;

Willem van Gendt, December 1738 to October 1744 ; Eduard Arendsen,

September 1747 to July 1749 ; Johannes Appeldoorn, September 1758 to

September 1772; Philip Kuys, April 1777 to February 1785; Mecnt
Borcherds, September 1786 until the period after the capitulation of the

colony in September 1795

Clergyman of Zwartland's church (now Malmesburv), succession of ministers

who lield the situation of : Rutger Andries Weernian, May 1745 to

December 1748; Christiaan Benjamin Voltelen, August 1750 to November
1755; Gerhardus Croeser, November 1755 to May 1770; Daniel Goldbach,

April 1744 to March 1783 ; Petrus van der Spuy, junior, April 1786 until

the period after the capitulation of the colony in September 1795.

Clive, Lord : visits the Cape in 1764, 177 ; and in 1767, 178

Cloppenburg, J. \V. : arrives in South Africa and assumes duty as fiscal inde-

pendent in September 1762, 162; becomes secunde in April 1766,181;

dies in May 1770, 181

Cloijpenburg, Rev. R. : arrives in South Africa and assumes duty as clergyman

of the Cape congregation in August 1746, 130; is dismissed from the

service, and sent back to Europe in March 1748, LSO

Coetsee, Jiicobus : is the first European to cross the Orange river, 163 ; brings

back vague reports of distant tribes, 163

Colelnwhe, English ship : is wrecked in False Bay, 264

Combined ecclesiastical council: is established in 1745, 116; ceases to exist

in 1759, 177

Commission of the high court of justice : is ai^pointed in 1 786 to perform

various duties, 273 ; but fails in its object, 273

Complaints of the colonists concerning the government of Mr. Van Plettenberg:

results of, 258
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Condition of the Cape Colony in 1781, 239 ; in 1793, 330

Condition of tlie Netherlands in 1794, 537

Conflict between Europeans and Kaffirs (the first) in 1702, 26

Conspiracy of a party of soldiers to desert from the garrison, 92 ; they are

tried and four of them executed on the day of Governor Van Noodt's

death, 93

Cook, Captain : visits the Cape in 177i, 178 ; in 1772, 1775, and 177C, 2G3 ;

books of. 360

Corruption oi many of the servants of the East India Companj', 1 and 94

Cotton : experiment in tb j cultivation of, 156

Courts of landdrost and heemraden : enlargement in 1779 of I ho powers of,

229

Craig, Major-General Sir Junies : arrives in Simon's Bay in June 1795 in

command of a small body of English troops, 339 ; invites the government

to place the colony under protection of Great Britain, 342 ; meets with a

refusal, 342 ; continues negotiations, but without success, 343 ; on the 7th

of August drives the Dutch forces under Lieutenant Colonel De Lille from

Muizenburg, and occupies that post, 350 ; on the 4th of September trans-

fers the chief command of the land forces to General Sir Alured Clarke,

356 ; conducts the n(!gotiations for the surrender of the colony, 358 ; and on

the 16th of September receives possession of the castle and forts in Cape

Town, 359

Cranendonk, Abraham : assumes duty as secunde in March 1715, 65 ; dies in

October 1721, 82

Croeser, Rev. G. : arrives in South Africa and assumes duty as clergyman of

the Cape congregation in September 1754, 175 ; is transferred to Zwart-

land's church in November 1755, 175 ; dies in May 1770, 176

Crown Pr'incess of Benmarlt, Danish ship: is wrecked on the southern coast,

178

Dalrtmple, a. : pamphlet of, 370

Damaras: are isited by Willem van Reenen's expedition in 1791-2, 291 ; are

found to have been thoroughly impoverished by wars with the Namaqua
Hottentots, 291

Degrandpre, L. : book of, 372

DelagoaBay: in March 1721 is taken possession of by the Netherlands East

India Company, 77 ; a fort is erected near the mouth of English river,

78 ; heavy loss of life is occasioned by fever, 78 ; some ivory and wax
are obtained in trade, 78 ; the fort is taken and pillaged by buc( aneers,

78 ; the country in the immediate vicinity of the bay is explored, 79

;

a little gold and some copper arc obtained in barter, 79 ; an exploring

party discovers a charming country a week's journey inland, but is

attacked by natives and obliged to put back, 79 ; the climate in the

summer season is reputed to be one of the most deadly in the world, 79

;

a little ambergris, some aloes, and a few slaves are obtained in trade, 95 j

unsuccessful attempts arc made to discover the goldfields and copper

minG3, 95 ; experiments are made in the cultivation of sugar cane and

indigo, 96 ; the Rio dos Reys of the Portuguese is renamed the river
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Manisa, 96 ; several natives are sent to the Gape on a visit, 06 ; in 1726

Fort Lydzaamhoid is built, 96 ; efforts to explore the interior of the

country are still continued, but are unsuccessful, 97 ; many of the soldiers

conspire to rebel and desert, 97 ; the abandonment of the post is resolved

upon, 97 ; and in December 1730 is carried into effect, 97

Deportation of worthless characters : particulars concerning, 230

van Dessin, J. N. : in 1V61 bequeaths his library to the colony, 162

Dessinian collection of books in the South African Public Library : account of,

162

Dispute between' the consistories of the Dutch Reformed and Lutheran

churches in Cape Town : is settled by decision of the directors, 296

Doddinffton, English ship: is wrecked on Bird Island in 1755, 157

Drakenstein church building : is commenced in 1717, 82 ; and is completed in

1720, 82

Drakenstein Baptismal Register : extracts from, 376

Earthquake, shocks of : in September 1695, 8 ; in September 1 739 and August

1749, 134 ; in July 1766, 167

East India Company of the Netherlands : greatly extends its commercial

operations after the peace of Utrecht in 1713, 76 ; declines in power

after 1722, 9-
; changes its constitution by the appointment of the stadt-

holder as govei nor-general and chief director, 134 ; in 1785 is in a condition

approaching insolvency, 285 ; in 1794 becomes insolvent, 330

van Echten, Rev. S. : in November 1732 urrives in South Africa and assumes

duty as clergj-man of the Stellenb jsch congregation, 102 ; in June 1736 is

transferred to Drakenstein, 102 ; in January 1753 returns to the Nether-

lands, 175 '

Efforts to fix the rolling sand on the Cape flats, 86

Efforts to improve the breed of horses, horned cattle, and sheep, 323

Ulephant, Danish ship : is wrecked on the southern coast, 132

Elphinstone, Admiral Sir George Keith : in June 1795 arrives in Simon's Bay
with a fleet of nine ships of war, 338 ; in conjunction with General

Craig invites the government to place the colony under protection of

Great Britain, 342 ; meets with a refusal, 342 ;
gives every possible

assistance to the land forces in the operations that followed, 342 ; takes

possession of three Dutch ships in Simon's Bay, 349 ; and of four others

in Table Bay, 360

Elsevier, Samuel : in April 1697 assumes duty as secunde, 9 ; engages in

farming, 32 ; is recalled by the directors, 40 ; in June 1707 ceases to hold

office, 41 ; returns to Europe, 48 ; and is dismissed from the Company's

service, 48

Emancipation of slaves : laws of 1708 concerning, 50

English church services : are held in the Dutch church in Cape Town in 1749,

1751, and 1752, 131

English (! srs : are employed at the Cape, 89

English traders : are engaged on the south-eastern coast of Africa in 1714, 64

Englishmen in Pondoland in 1736 : account of a party of three, 103

II. D D
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Kxpodition under Jacob vnn Kecncn in 1790-1 in scarcli of the missing people

of tiie Gro»renor : account of, 267

Expenditure by tlio government of tlie Cape colony : statistics concerning, 9,

03, 100, 239, 284, and 304

Exploration of the south-eastern coast in 1731 and 1732 : account of, 97

Bxploring expedition under Ensign Ileutlcr to Kaftirlnnd in 17B2 : account of,

143

Exploring expedition under Hendrik Hop to Great Namaqunland in 1761

:

account of, 164

Exploring expedition under Willem van Reenen to Great Namaqualand in

1791-2 : account of, 290

Exportation of South African produce : statistics concerning, 30, 50, 60, 09,

74, 86, 133, 174, 223, and 262

Extension of the European settlement in South Africa : progress of, CO, 134,

144, 104, 173. and 221

Faber, Lucas Sigismundua : is appointed landdrost of Stellenbosch in June
1769, 168 ; dies in August 1773, 269

Fair at Stellenbosch : abolition of, 37

Faure, Anthony Alexander : is appointed landdrost of Swellendam in April

1789, 282
J

is deprived of office by the Nationals in June, 1795, 336

Fiscal Independent : creation of the office of, 2 ; duties and powers of, 2

;

abolition of the office of, 327

Fiscal Independent, succession of officers who held the situation of : Cornells

Joan Simons, October 1690 to November 1694 ; Johan Blesius, November
1094 to April 1711 ; vacancy, during which Willem van Putten acted pro-

visionally ; Cornelius van Beaumont, March 1713 to June 1724 ; Adriaan

van Kervel, June 1724 to March 1731 ; Daniel van den Hengliel, March
1731 to September 1741 ; Pieter van Reede van Oudtshoorn, September

1741 to September 1762; Jan Willem Cloppenburg, September 1762 to

December 1767 ; Joachim van Plettenberg, December 1767 to August

1771 ; vacancy, during which the council nominated one of its members to

act provisionally ; Willem Cornelis Boers, December 1774 to April 1783
;

Jan Jacob Serrurier, April 1783 to May 1785 ; vacancy, during which the

council nominated one of its members to act provisionally; Jan Nicholas

van Lynden, February 1789 to June 1791 ; Jacob Pieter de Nys, June
1791 to December 1793. The office of fiscal independent was then

abolished.

Fish River : in July 1775 is declared the eastern boundary of the district of

Stellenbosch, 222 ; in November 1780 is declared the colonial boundary

along the whole of its lower course, 229

First Kaffir war : is commenced by an invasion of the colony by the Imidange

and Amambala clans in 1779, 243 ; the farmers of the Zuurveld are

obliged to abandon that district, 243 ; the chief Rarabe declares that the

invading clans are in rebellion against him, 244 ; during the summer of

1779-80 two commandos take the field, but do not succeed in entirely

expelling the invaders, 244 ; during the following winter those who had

,.
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been driven out return into the colony, acconipaniid !>>' the Amnntindo,

Ama^j^wali, and other clans of less note, 241 ; in October 17H(> Adriaun

van Janraveld is appointed tield-commandant of the umttcrn frontier,

244 ; in May 1781 ho attacks the Kaffirs, who refuse to leave the colony,

indicts heavy losses upon them, and by July hiis <lriven them hack to

their own country, when the first KatHr war is over, 245

Tleck, Rev, C. : arrives in South Africa and assumos duty as clergyman of the

Cape cor/gre(|;ation in January 1781, 268

Fort Knokke : is commenced in October 1743, and completed in October 1744,

128

de la Fontaine, Jan : arrives in South Africa in 1710, and ii appointed master

of the warehouses, o3 ; becomes secunde in October 1721, H2; is choHon to

act provisionally as head of the government on the death of (Jolonel De
Gbavonnes in September 1724, 83 ; tenders his resignation, which in not

accepted, 80 ; on the death of Mr. Noodt in April 1729 is choiicn to act

provisionally as head of the government, 93 ; is appointed governor of

the Cape Colony, and is installed in March 1730, 94 ; tenders bis resigna-

tion in 1736, 10*1 ; transfers the duty to his successor in August 1737, 108

;

and returns to Europe in 1738, 106

Fort Lagoa: is built and occupied at Delagoa Bay in 1721, 78

Fort Lydzaamheid: is built at Delagoa Bay in 1726, 96

FurtunS, French ship : is wrecked on the southern coast, 180

Francken, Jacob : book of, 364

Free Trade : particulars concerning what was so called, 290 and 304

French language : causes of the rapid loss of its use by the Huguenots in South

Africa, 25, 50, and 82

French sailors : adventures of a paity in South Africa in 1752, 144

Frontier farmers petition in 1778 for a court of magistracy and a church,

226

Frykenius, Simon Hendrik : in 1791 is appointed commissioner-general, 297 ;

arrives in South Africa in June 1792, 298. See Nederburgh and Frykenius.

Fugitive slaves : trouble caused by, 67

Galeka, Kosa chief : in 1752 is visited by a party of Europeans, 147 ; pedigree

is traced, 217 ; carries on war with his brother Rarabe, 817

Galgenbosch, the : cause of being so named, 145

Game laws : particulars concerning, 112

Gamtoos River: in 1770 is declared the colonial boundary, 173

van Gendt, Rev. W. : arrives in South Africa and assumes duty as clergyman

of the Stellenbosch congregation in December 1738, 113 ; dies in October

1744, 130

Gerotz, Carel David : in August 1795 is appointed landdrost of Graaf! Reinet

by the Nationals, 335

Giraffe, the : is first seen in South Africa in 1761, 165

Gold : is reported to have been discovered in Great Namaqualand, 290

^oldbach, Rev. D. : arrives in South Africa and assumes duty an clergyman of

Zwartland's church in April 1774, 269 ; dies in March 1783, 269

D D 2
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Goodwin, Vaughnn, an EnpllHhman resident at Natal at the beginning of the^

eighteenth century ; account of, 28

Ooracliouqua, Hottentot clan : dealings with, 6

Gordon, Robert Jacob: arrivoHln South Africa in June 1777 as a captain inthe

army, 228 ; traveln In the Interior and sees the great river towards the close

of 1777, 228; in l77W,in company with lieutenant William Paterson, visits

the mouth of the great river, and names it the Orange, 229 ; in February

1780 beconiof commandant of the garrison, 239 ; acts very feebly in oppo-

sition to the IMtJHh forces in Jiine to September 1795, 342; commits-

suicide, Sfll

Goringhaiqua, Hottentot clan : dealings with, 6

Qoude Buy», Dutch ship j is wrecked on the western coast, 10

Ooukou : is paramount chief of the Hessequa tribe, 4; is allied with the clan

under Dorha or Klaan, 6 ; visits the Cape, 5 ; in 1697 is considered the most
wealthy and powerful of all the chiefs in the neighbourhood of the

colony, 6

van de Graaff, CornollH Jacob : is appointed governor of the Cape colony, 261

;

assumes the duty in February 1785, 261 ; has few qualifications for the

post, 271 ; HvoH in a very extravagant style, 283 ; gives dissatisfaction to

the directors, 285 j 1;^ constantly quarrelling with the other members of

the council, 28((; would bo dismissed in disgrace by the directors, but,

being under the patronage of the stadtholder, can only be instructed to

return to the Nothorlands to give information concerning the colony, 287

;

embarks for Europe in June 1791, 288

Graaff Reinet, diotrlct of : is established in December 1785, 275 ; a site is

selected for the dro«t<ly, 275 ; a board of heemraden is appointed, 276 ; the

inhabitants are chlelly cattle farmers, 276 ; a consistory is established in

March 1792, 290

Great Namaqualand : the southern portion is explored in 1761 by an expedition

under Hendrlk Hop, 164 ; the whole country is traversed and explored in

1791-2 by an expedition under Willem van Reenen, 290

Grevenbroek, J. W. ; loaves the Company's service and becomes a burgher, 8 ;

is one of the opponent h of Governor W. A. van der Stel, 33

Grigriqua, Hottentot trllio ; expedition against, 6

Groenkloof : in 1701 a military outpost is formed at, 22

Orosvenor, English «lilp : in wrecked on the coast of Kaffirland, 265

Guardian, English ship : account of disasters to, 294

Gwali, founder of the Anmgwali clan of Kosas : pedigree of, 216 ; moves west-

ward in 1702 to the bank of the Little Fish river, 216 ; where with his own
clan and the Aniaiitlnde ho encounters a party of Europeans, 216

Hacker, Pieter; In January 1777 assumes duty as secunde, 226; retires in

August 178(1, 280

Harders, Rev. R. ; calls at the Cape and is appointed clergyman of Roode-

zand's church in January 1758, 176 ; retires on a pension in June 1774>

269

Hartzogenratb, Bov. J. W, ; arrives in South Africa, and assumes duty as

r!i

;!!
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clergyman of the Drakenstein congregation in April 1731, 102 ; dies in

June 173(5, 102

Hats : are first made at the Cape by Isaac Taillefer, 72

Heads of the Cape government, succession of : Simon van der Stel, governor,

from 1 June 1691 to 11 February 1699 ; Wilhem Adriaan van der Stel,

governor, from 11 February 1699 to 3 June 1707; Johan Cornells d'Ableing,

secunde acting as governor, from 3 June 1707 to 1 February 1708 ; Louis

van Assenburgh, governor, from 1 February 1708 to 27 December 1711

;

Willem Helot, secunde acting as governor, from 28 December 1711 to 28

March 1714; Maurits Pasques de Chavonnes, governor, from 28 March

1714 to 8 September 1724 ; Jan de la Fontaine, secunde acting as gover-

nor, from 8 September 1724 to 25 February 1727; Pieter Gysbert Noodt,

governor, from 25 February 1727 to 23 April 1729 ; Jan de la Fontaine,

secunde acting as governor, from 24 April 1729 to 8 March 1730, governor,

from 8 March 1730 to 31 August 1737 ; Adriaan van Kervel, governor, from

31 August 1737 to 19 September 1737; Daniel van den Henghel, fiscal

independent acting as governor, from 20 September 1737 to 14 April 1739

;

Hendrik Swellengrebel, governor, from 14 April 1739 to 27 February 1751

;

Ryk Tulbagh, from 27 February 1751 to 11 August 1771 ; Joachim van

Plettenberg, secunde acting as governor, from 12 August 1771 to 18 May
1774, governor, from 18 May 1774 to 14 February 1785 ; Cornells Jacob

van de Graaff, governor, from 14 February 1785 to 24 June 1791 ; Johan

Isaac Rhenius, secunde acting as governor, from 24 June 1791 to 3 July

1792; Sebastiaan Cornells Nederburgh and Simon Hendrik Frykenius,

commissioners-general, from 3 Julj'^ 1792 to 2 September 1793 ; Abraham
Josias Sluysken, commissioner-general, from 2 September 1793 to 16

September 1795.

Helot. Willem: in 1710 assumes duty as secunde, 53 ; in December 1711, on

the death of Mr. Van Aasenburgh, is chosen to act provisionally as head

of the government, 56 ; in Slay 1714 is suspended from duty, 65, and is

dismissed from the Company's service, 65

Hemmy, Otto Luder : in April 1774 assumes duty as secunde, 221 ; dies in

January 1777, 226

van den Henghel, Daniel : is appointed fiscal independent, 94 ; assumes duty

in March 1731, 108; upon the death of Mr. van Kervel is chosen by lot

to act provisionally as head of the government, 109 ; is required by the

directors to confine himself to the duty of fiscal independent, 109 ; re-

turns to Europe in 1741, 109

High court of justice : is remodelled in 1786, 273

Holland, Dutch ship : is wrecked in False Bay, 293

van Hoorn, Joan, recently governor-general of Netherlands India : in 1710

visits the Cape as commissioner, 52

Hop, Hendrik, captain of burgher militia : in 1761 leads an exploring expedi-

tion into Great Namaqualand, 164

Hop : experiment in the cultivation of, 7

Eorak, J. A. : in April 1749 is appointed landdrost of Swellendam, 144; in

1766 leaves the Company's service and becomes a burgher, 169

Horses : are first exported from South Africa in 1769, 176
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Horse-sickness : the first outbreak recorded is in 1719, 76

Hospital : a building to be used as such is commenced in 1697, 9 ; and is-

completed in 1699, 18; the present military barrack in Cape Town, in-

tended for a hospital, is commenced in 1772, 222 ; is first used as a

barrack for the regiment of Pondicherry in July 1781, 262

Hottentots : distinguishing characteristics, 185 ; language, 186 and 190 ; division

into tribes and clans, 186 ;
property, 186 ; domestic animals, 186 ; food,.

187 ; clothing, 187 ; dwellings, 188 ; weapons, 188 ; arts and manufactures,

189 ; form of government, 189; superstitions, 189; religion, 190; dis-

position and habits, 190 \
Hottentots : asaist the colonists against the Bushmen, 22

Hottentots : condition of, 3, 6, 76, 88, 146, 164, 166, 169, and 241

Hottentots : treatment of, 23, 66, 109, 134, and 169

Hottentot clans : quarrels between, 8

Hubner, Hermanns : in 1736 is leader of a party of elephant hunters, 102 r

penetrates the Kaffir country deeply, 103 ; with five others is murdered at

the kraal of the Eosa chief Palo, 104

Hnysers, Ary : book of, 373

VAN Imhof, Gustaf Willem, governor-general of Netherlands India: visits

the Cape in 1743 on his passage out, where he exercises supreme control

during the period of his stay, and issues many important orders, 112

Imhof battery : is commenced in November 1744 and completed in July 1745,.

128

Indiamen : several are sent for shelter to Hout and Saldanha bays in 1781

246

Indigo : experiments in the cultivation of, 72 and 166

Insurrection of a party of Europeans in 1739, under leadership of Etienne-

Barbier : account of, 110

Intaba-ka-Ndoda : in the middle of last century is called by the colonists

Kaffirland's Berg, 148

Islands of Dina and Marseveen : fruitless search for, 17

VAN Jaabsvbld, Adriactn : in 1710 is leader of a commando against Bushmen,.

172 ; in October 1780 is appointed commandant of the eastern frontier,

244 ; brings the first Kaffir war to a conclusion, 245 ; causes a volley to

be fired into a party of Kaffirs scrambling for tobacco, 312 ; in 1795 is-

one of the leaders of the Nationals in GraaS Reinet, 333; in August

1795 is appointed chief military officer by the Nationals of Graaff Beinet>.

335

James, Silas : book of, 371

Johnstone, Commodore George : in 1781 is sent from England with a large

force to take possession of the Cape Colony, 248 ; brings his fleet to anchor

in Porto Praya roads, 249 ; where he is attacked by a French fleet under

Admiral SuiTren, 249 ; he beats off bis assailants, 251 ; but is unable to

pursue them at once, 261 ; sails for the Cape as soon as he refits his ships*
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263 ; learns from the crew of a prize that there is a strong French garrison

in the colony, 263 ; captures several Dutch Indiamea in Saldanha bay,

261 ; and returns to Europe, 255

de Jong, C. : book of, 373
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Eabisljaauw River : in 1752 a mark of the Company's possession is set up
at the mouth of, 145

EafSrs : are found in 1755 as far westward as the mouth of the Fish river,

159

Ealden, Rev. P. : in December 1695 arrives in South Africa and assumes duty
as clergyman of the Cape congregation, 9 ; carries on farming operations,

32 ; i£, recalled by the directors, and ceases duty in April 1707, 40 ; returns

to Europe, 48 ; and is dismissed from the Company's service, 48

Eat River : is visited in 1752 by an exploring party, 148

Eees, Hottentot captain : is believed in 1793 to be promoting sedition in the

district of Swellendam, 323 ; is confined in Cape Town as a political

prisoner, 323

Eei Riv". 3 crossed in 1752 by an exploring party, 147

Keiskana v^: in 1752 is the boundary between the EaflBrs and the

Ho^ .f 146

Eerguelfc. u^iiain : visits the Cape in 1773 and 1774, 263

van Eervel, Adriaan : after long service at the Cape, in June 1724 is appointed

fiscal independent, 83 ; in March 1730 becomes secunde, 94 ; in August

1737 becomes governor of the Cape colony, 106 ; holds the highest office

in the land less than three weeks, 107 ; and dies in September 1737, 107

Eirman hair : experiment in the production of, 88

Eirsten, J. F. ; in May 1761 is appointed resident at Simon's Town, 168; in

May 1774 is promoted to another post, 270

Elaas or Dorha, Hottentot captain : loses favour with the government, 3 ; in

1693 is made prisoner and brought before the council of policy, 4 ; is sent

to Robben Island, 4 ; is released from confinement and permitted to live

near Muizenburg, 4 ; is permitted to return to his old kraal, 5 ; resumes

a feud with his rival Eoopman, 5 ; with the assistance of the Hessequas

attacks Eoopman and takes his cattle, 5; lives thereafter in constant

strife until he is killed in 1701 in a skirmish with Eoopman, 6

Eock, Rev. H. : arrives in South Africa, and assumes duty as clergyman of the

Cape congregation in April 1732, 102 ; returns to Europe in February

1742, 114

Eolver,, Rev. A. : an./es in South Africa in November 1780, and assumes duty

as first Lutheran clergyman in Cape Town, 269

Eoopman, Hottentot captain: accuses his rival Elaas of enmity to the

government, 3 ; becomes an ally of the Honourable Company, 4 5 re-

quests aid against Elaas, 4 ; in conjunction vrith a colonial commando
attacks Elaas and seizes his cattle, 4 ; takes Elaas's wife from him, 6

;

puts Elaas's wife to death, 5 ;
quarrels continually with Elaas until his

rival is killed in a skirmish, 6

Eoonap River : in 1752 is visited by an exploring party, 148
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Eosa tribe : descent of chiefs and traditional history of, 212 ; condition in

1785 of, 377

Kroonenburg, Kev. H. : arrives in South Africa, and assumes duty as clergyman

of the Cape congregation in October 1752, 175 ; retires on a pension in

December 1778, 268

Kays, Rev. J. A, : arrives in South Africa, and assumes duty as clergyman of

Boodezand's church in April 1777, 2G9 ; is transferred to Cape Town,
where he assumes duty in May 1794, 327

Kuys, Rev. P. : arrives in South Africa, and assumes duty as clergyman of

the Stellenbosch congregation in April 1777, 268 ; dies in February 1785»

268

Ewane, founder of the Gunukwebe clan of mixed EaiSr and Hottentot blood :

account of, 215

!t

Landdbost of stellenbosch and Drakenstein, succession of officers who held the

situation of: Comelis Linnes, June 1691 to January 1695, the senior

heemraad acting as president of the court and the secretary collecting

the revenue and conducting the correspondence ; Hendrik Munkerus,

August 1696 to July 1698 ; Michiel Ditmar, July 1698 to February 1703 ;

Pieter Robberts, February 1703 to July 1705 ; Jan Starrenburg, July

1705 to April 1707 ; Samuel Martini de Meurs, April 1707 to March 1710,

the senior heemraad acting as president of the court and the secretary

collecting the revenue and conducting the correspondence; Johannes

Mulder, March 1711 to December 1712; Dominicus Blesius, December 1712

to May 1713 ; Nicholas van den Heuvel, May 1713 to June 1717 ; Jacob

Voet, June 1717 to October 1721; Marthinus Bergh, October 1721 to

January 1728, the senior heemraad acting as president of the court and

the secretary collecting the revenue and conducting the correspondence ;

Pieter Lourens, May 1729 to September 1748; Adriaan van Schoor,

September 1748 to August 1763; Jacobus Johannes le Sueur, August 1763

to June 1769; Lucas Sigismundus Faber, June 1769 to August 1773;

Abraham Faure (acting), August 1773 to October 1773 ; Marthinus Adriaan

Bergh, October 1773 to December 1778 ; Olof Godlieb de Wet, December
1778 to February 1782; Daniel van Ryneveld, February 1782 to August

1785; Hendrik Lodewyk Bletterman, August 1785 until the period suc-

ceeding the capitulation of the colony in September 1795

Landdrost of Swellendam, succession of officers who held the situation of:

Johannes Theophilus Rhenius, August 1745 to April 1 749; Jan Andries Horak,

April 1749 to December 1766; Joachim Frederik Mentz, December 1766 to

February 1776 ; Pieter Diederik Boonaker, February 1776 to May 1777 ;

Daniel van Ryneveld, May 1777 to February 1782 ; Constantyn van Nuld
Onkruydt, February 1782 to April 1789 ; Anthony Alexander Faure, April

1789 to his expulsion by the Nationals in June 1795 ; Hermanns Steyn

(acting under the Nationals), from June 1795 until the period succeeding

the capitulation of the colony in September 1795

Landdrost of GraafE Beinet, succession of officers who held the situation of :

MauritB Herman Otto Woeke, December 1785 to July 1792; Bernard
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of:

Ard

Cornelis van Baalen (acting), September 1792 to May 1793 ; Honoratns

Christiaan David Maynier, May 1793 to his expulsion by the Nationals in

February 1795 ; Lambertus Philippus van dor Poel (acting), April to July

1795 ; Carel David Gerota (acting under the Nationals), August 1795 until

the period pucceeding the capitulation of the colony in September 1795

Land of Waver (now Tulbagh basin) : is inspected and named by Governor

W. A. van der Stel, 19 ; is first occupied by Europeans in 1700, 20 ; a

military outpc 3t is formed there in 1 700, 20 ; but is withdrawn in 1743,

128

Land rents : particulars concerning, 64

Land tenure : particulars concerning, 64, 98, and 122

Langa, chief of the Amambala clan of Kaffirs : pedigree of, 216 ; is one of tbe

chiefs who invade the colony in March 1789, 278

Latitude : length of degree at the Cape, 143

Laws of the colony : particulars concerning, 65 ; spirit in the middle of last

century of, 149 ; examples of, 149

Leprosy in South Africa : particulars concerning, 159

van Lier, Rev. H. R.: arrives in South Africa in September 1786, and assumes

duty as clergyman of the Cape congregation, 295 ; in July 1792 retires on
a pension, 327

de Lille, C. M. W.: arrives in South Africa in December 1773, and assumes

duty as a captain in the garrison, 239 ;
plays a traitorous part in the events

of August and September 1795, 351

Locusts : great plague in 1746 of, 133

van Loon, Rev. H. : in 1694 and 1695 acts for a short time as clergyman of the

Cape congregation, 9 ; proceeds to Europe, 9 ; returns in April 1700 with

the appointment of clergyman of Stellenbosch, 24 ; dies in June 1704, 26

Lutheran church in Cape Town : is established in 1780, 269

Luxemburg, regiment of: is stationed at the Cape from May 1782 to February

1783, 256

van Lynden, Jan Nicholas : arrives in South Africa in February 1789, and

assumes duty as fiscal independent, 286; in June 1791 returns secretly to

Europe through fear of the colonists, 288

Maclear, Sib Thomas, astronomer royal : in 1840 to 1848 verifies De la

Caille's measurement of an arc of the meridian, 143

Manger, Rev. J. H. : arrives in South Africa as clergyman of GraafE Reinet,

but is detained at the Cape, 295 ; in October 1792 becomes clergyman of

GrAaff Reinet, 327

Marauding party of Europeans in 1702 : account of, 26

Maria, Dutch ship : is wrecked at Plettenberg's Bay, 293

Mamitz, Lieutenant : makes a gallant stand at Muirenburg on the 7th of

August 1795, 351 ; manuscript of, 375

Mason and Dixon, Messrs., English astronomers : visit the Cape and observe

the transit of Venus in June 1761, 162

massacre of a party of Europeans at the kraal of the Eosa chief Palo in 1736,

104
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Maynier, H. C. D.: in 1789 is appointed seoretaty of GraafE Beinet. 278; i»

with two others appointed a commissioner to purchase peace from the
Kafllrs, 279; in May 1793 is appointed acting landdrost of GraaflE Remet^
813 ; is deservedly detested by the frontier colonists, 313 ; reports upon
the causes of the second Kaffir war, 321 ; in February 1795 is expelled by
the people of Graaff Beinet, 333

Mauritius, island of: in 1707 is abandoned by the Netherlands East India

Company, 61 ; after heavy losses bad been sustained there, 51 ; some of
the inhabitants are removed to the Cape, and others to Batavia, 51

Meat : price of, in 1705, 33 ; in 1720, 74 ; in 1775, 225 ; in 1781, 253

Meermin, Cape packet: in 1765 is sent to Madagascar for slaves, 151; is seized

by the slaves, 151 ; further particulars, 152

Melk, Martin : builds the Lutheran church in Strand Street, Cape Town, and
presents it to the congregation, 269

Mentor, Dutch ship : is wrecked on the southern coast, 264

Mentz, J. F.: is appointed landdrost of Swellendam in December 1766, 169 y

retires in February 1776, 270

Meteren, Dutch vessel : is wrecked on the western coast, 81

Method of payment of the East India Company's officials, 2

Meregteyn, Dutch ship : is wrecked on Jutten island, 26

Meuron, regiment of: is stationed at the Cape in January 1783, 256; is

removed to Ceylon in 1788, 275

Meyring, Bev. A. M.: calls at the Cape and is detained here, 114; acts as-

clergyman of the Cape congregation from March to September 1743, 114;

assumes duty as clergyman of Roodezand's church in September 1743,.

114; dies in May 1757, 176

Military outposts are formed : at Waveren in 1700, 20 ; at Groenkloof in 1701,

22; at the river Zonder Einde,(also called the Ziekenhuis) in 1726,88;

at Riet Ylei, on the Buffeljagts river, in 1734, 99 ; the two last are with-

drawn in 1791, 289

Mole or breakwater in Table Bay : in February 1743 a commencement is made
with the construction of a stone pier, from which Mouille Point derives

its name, 119; it is abandoned in December 1746, 119

Moordenaar's River : cause of its being so named, 145

Moravian mission to the Hottentots : is established at Baviaan's Kloof—now
Genadendal—in December 1792, 324

Mossel Bay : is examined by Governor De la Fontaine in 1734,99 ; who cause

a beacon of possession to be set up, 99 ; is opened to trade in 1788, 274

Muller, F. D. : in November 1740 professes to have found a silver mine at

Drakenstein, 129 ;
particulars concerning the subsequent mining opera-

tions, 129

1

Naarstigheidf Dutch ship : disastrous voyage of, 179

Namaqua, Hottentot tribe : in 1704 the captains of the Little Namaquas visit

the Cape and enter into an agreement of friendship, 23 ; they accept as-

a matter of course the sovereignty of the East India Company, 23 ; ia

1724 this branch of the tribe is found in a state of impoverishment and
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decay, 76 ; in 1791 it is ascertained that the Hottentot clans called the

Great Namaquas hare conquered and despoiled the Damaras, 291

Names of new colonists found in the official records : between 1691 and 1700,

13 ; between 1700 and 1714, 61 ; between 1714 and 1724, 84 ; between

1724 and 1737, 105 ; between 1737 and 1771, 182

Natal : in 1705 is visited by an expedition from the Cape, 27 ; account of an

Englishman living there, 28

Nationals of Swellendam are foremost in defending the colony against the

English in 1795, 348

Nederburgh, S. C. : in 1791 is appointed commissioner-general, 297 ; in June

1792 arrives in South Africa, 298 ; books of, 374

Nederburgh and Frykenius, commissioners-general : arrive at the Cape in June

1792, 298 ; greatly reduce the public expenditure, 301 ; impose many new
taxes, 302 ; raise the price paid by the Company for wheat, 304 ;

grant

the colonists permission to establish whale fisheries and to export the

products of South Africa to Ii aa, 304 ; establish a loan bank and issue a

large quantity of paper money, 305 ; in September 1793 leave for Batavia,

329

Ndlambe, Eosa chief : upon the death of his father Rarabe becomes regent of

all the clans west of the Eei during the minority of Gaika, heir in the

great line, 219 ; is regarded with much jealousy by several of the heads of

clans, 277 ;
professes a desire to live in peace with the colonists, 278

Nicoiar, Danish ship : is wrecked on the southern coast, 265

Noodt, Pieter Gysbert : in 1718 visits the Cape to plan new fortifications, 68 ;

quarrels with the secunde Cranendonk, 69 ; is appointed governor of the

Cape colony, 89 ; arrives in February 1727 and is installed in office, 89 ;

is unamiable in character, 89 ; dies suddenly in April 1729, 92

de Nys, Adriaan : in March 1751 is appointed postholder at Simon's Town,
168 ; dies there in May 1761, 168

de Nys, Jacob Pieter : in Juno 1791 is appointed to act as fiscal independent,

289," is confirmed in the appointment, 327; dies in December 1793, 327;

is the last fiscal independent in the colony, 327

Oaks : planting of, 7, 17, and 54

Olive : experiment in the cultivation of, 73

Onkruydt, Constantyn vaa Nuld : in February 1782 is appointed landdrost of

Swellendam, 270 ; resigns in April 1789, 282

Orange River : )« cr'>ssed by a European for the first time in 1760, 163

van Oudtshoorn, Pieter van Reede : arrives in South Africa, and assumes duty

as fiscal independent in September 1741, 109 ; becomes secunde in Decem-
ber 1760, 161 ; returns to Europe in April 1766, 181 ; in 1772 is appointed

governor of the Cape colony, 221 ; but dies at sea on the way out in January

1773, 221

PALO, paramount Eosa chief : in 1752 is found residing at the foot of the

Amatola mountains, 148
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Pandour company : is formed in 1793, 328

Paper money : is first issued at the Gape in 1782, 256

Partridges and pheasants are placed on Bobben Island to breed, 30

Faterson, Lieutenant William : in 1777 visits the Cape, 263 ; book of, 367

Peneloj)e, French ship : is wrecked in False Bay, 294

Pennist corps : is formed in 1793, 328
'

Perquisites of officers of the government at the expense of the colonists, 121

Pienaar, Pieter : in 1793 explores the country ai'ound Wallish Bay, 308

Pirates : are greatly feared at the close of the seventeenth century, 12

Pirate vessel in Saldanha Bay : account of, 17

Pirate vessel : a vessel reputed to be a pirate is seized in Table Bay by an
English ship, 18

'du Plessis, Daniel : is complimented by General Clarke for his gallant conduct

on September 14, 1795, 357

van Plettenbcrg, Joachim : in December 1767 arrives in South Africa and as-

sumes duty as fiscal independent, 181 ; on the death of Mr. Cloppenburg;

in May 1770 is chosen to act provisionally as secunde, 181 ; on the death

of Father Tulbagh in August 1771 is chosen to act provisionally as head

of the government, 181 ; is appointed governor of the Cape colony, 221
;

takes the oaths as such in May 1774, 221 ; visits the eastern frontier in

1778, 227 ; has a conference with several Kosa chiefs, and arranges with

them that the Fish river is to be the boundary between the Europeans

and the Kaffirs, 227 ; erects a beacon on the Zeckoe river to mark the

north-eastern point of the colony, 228 ; erects a beacon of possession at a

bay to which he gives his own name, 228 ;
gives the colonists great dis-

satisfaction by his manner of conducting the government, 230 ; is charged

by delegates sent to the Netherlands in 1779 with maladministration, 233 ;

is called upon by a court of inquiry to reply to the charges, 234 ; in 1781

sends home a long statement in defence of his acts, and describing the

condition of the country, 235 ; in February 1785 transfers the government
to his successor, 261 ; and returns to Europe, 261

Plettenberg's Bay : is opened to trade in 1788, 274

van der Poel, L. P. : is installed as acting landdrost of Graaff Reinet in April

1795, 333 ; returns to Cape Town in July 1795, 334

Pondicherry, regiment of : is stationed at the Cape in 1781, 252 ; leaves for

Mauritius in April 1784, 256

Possession Island : is taken possession of by the Dutch East India Company in

January 1793, 307

Prinsloo, Willem : is the first European settler on the bank of the Little Fish

river, 222

Prohibition of the Company's servants owning or leasing land in the colony,

or trading in corn, wine, or cattle, 42

Project of trade by the Cape colonists with the east coast of Africa and the

islands, as considered in 1719 and 1732, 98

JProportion of deaths to baptisms in the colony in the middle of the eighteenth

century, 157 . i

\
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Bakk : regfnlationa regarding:, 67 ; disputes regarding, 68

Barabe, Eosa chief : pedigree of, 217 ; carries on war with his brother Galeka,

217 ; defeats a Hottentot force in a sharp engagement, 217 ; becomes
possessed of the country along the Amatola mountains, 217 ; after the
death of his father Palo about the year 1770 is recognised as paramount
ruler of all the Kaffir clans west of the Eei, 218

;
professes to be neutral

in the first war between the colonists and the Kaffirs, 244 ; dies in battle

with a Tembu army, 219

Ravenous animals : cause great damage, 7 .

Raynal, G. T. : book of, 369

van Beenen, S. V. : accompanies Lieutenant Paterson on one of his journeys^

and gets possession of a piece of ore supposed to contain gold, 290 ; in

1792 fite out an expedition to explore Great Namaqualand in search of

gold, 306 ; with his brother and others j^ roceeds by sea to Walfish Bay,
306 ; the people with the waggons who vere to have gone overland and
met him there could not penetrate the country, owing to drought, 309 j.

so he was obliged to return unsuccessful, 309

van Beenen, W. : in September 1791 fits out an expedition to explore Great
Namaqualand, 290 ; discovers copper ore at a mountain neav HHifish Lay,

291 ; reaches his farm again in June 1792, 292

Besident at Simon's Town, succession of officers who held the situation of

;

Justinus Bias (entitled postholder), March 1743 to March 1751 ; Adriaan

de Nys (entitled postholder), March 1751 to May 1761 ; Jan Frederik

Kirsten, May 1761 to May 1774; Christofl'el Brand, May 1774 to the

capitulation of the colony in September 1795

Bevenue of the Cape colony : statistics concerning, 9, 62, 160, 239, 284, and
304

Bevolt of the inhabitants of Graaff Eeinet in 1795, 333

Bevolt of the inhabitants of Swellendam in 1795, 335

Reygersdaal, Dutch ship : is wrecked on the western coast, 132

Bhenius, J. T. : in January 1744 is stationed at Swellendam with the rank of

assistant landdrost, 123; in August 1745 becomes landdrost, 123; in April

1749 retires, 144

Bhenius, J. I. : assumes duty as secunde in August 1786, 286 ; acts as head of

the government from June 1791 until the arrival of the commissioners-

general, 288

Boodezand's church: is established in 1743, 113

van Byneveld, D. : in May 1777 is appointed landdrost of Swellendam, 270 ;

in February 1782 is transferred to Stellenbosch, 270; dies in August 1785,

283

van Byneveld, W. S. ; in December 1793 is appointed fiscal, 327 ; pamphlet of,

375

Bust in wheat : first appears in 1726, 86

Saldanha Bat : is carefully surveyed by a commission, 91

Sawenbwrg, Dutch ship : founders ofif the southern coast, 90

van der Schelling, Theunis, skipper of the Pogtloojier : visits Natal in 1705, 28
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Schmit, Qeorge, Moravian missionary : in July 1737 arrives in South Africa

and commences evangelistic work at Baviaans Kloof, 116 ; upon baptising

converts, meets with opposition from the State church, 117; returns to

Europe in 1744, 118

Schools : efforts made in 1791-5 for the establishment and improvement of, 296

Schoonberg, Dutch ship : is wrecked on the southern coast, 81

van Schoor, Adriaan : in September 1748 is appointed landdrost of Stellenbosch,

168 ; in August 1763 is promoted and removed, 163

Schuylenhtirg, Cape packet : is lost at sea, 179

Scurvy : instances of great loss of life from, 10

Seasons : record of good and bad in the grain-producing districts, 1698 to 1705,

30; 1706 to 1710, 50; 1711 to 1713, 60; 1714 to 1716. 69; 1717 to 1723,

74; 1724 to 1737, 86; 1738 to 1750,133; 1751 to 1771, 173; 1772 to

1780, 223 ; 1781 to 1784, 262 ; 1785 to 1786. 273 ; 1787 to 1795, 331. In

many instances there are no means of ascertaining whether the season

was a very good or only a moderately fair one, except by the quantity of

grain exported. The periods of drought, as recorded, were 1698 to 1704,

1710 to 1712, 1717 to 1720, 1725, 1738, 1755 to 1756, 1763 to 1764, 1771,

1777, and 1783 to 1785, all the years named being included. The crops of

several other years were wholly or partially destroyed by rust and insect

plagues

Second Kaffir War: in March 1789 the chiefs Langa, Cungwa, and others of

less note cross the Fish river and spread over the Ziiurveld, 278; the

farmers retire before the invaders, 278 ; Landdrost Woeke calls out a
commando, 278; the Government sends a commission to buy off the

Kaffirs, 279 ; the invaders are retiring before the commando, and no

action has yet taken place, when the instructions of the government are

received by the landdrost, 279 ; the commando is at once disbanded, 279
;

the commissioner Wagener consents to the occupation of the Zuurveld by
the Kaffirs during the pleasure of the government, 281 ; after this

arrangement the Kaffirs in the colony steal cattle far and wide, 314 ; in

May 1793 a reprisal is made upon a kraal by a party of farmers under

Barend Lindeque, 314 ; a few days later the Kaffirs spread over the

whole of the coast belt as far as the Zwfirtkops, burning, plundering, and

murdering, 314 ; the Kaffirs place the spoil in safety with their friends

beyond the Fish river, 315 ; & commando is raised, and under the land-

drost Maynier penetrates Kaffirland as far as the Buffalo river, 317 ; a few

cattle are recovered, but verj' little harm is done to the enemy, 318 ; a

visit is paid by Maynier to Ndlambe, who professes to be friendly,

although many of his people are known to have taken part in the devasta-

tion of the colony, and some of the farmers' cattle are seen in his herds,

318 ; Maynier professes to believe Ndlambe's assurances of friendship,

and the farmers in consequence abandon all hope, 318 ; some fruitless

movements backwards and forwards in the Zuurveld are made, 319 ; and

in November 1793 an arrangement is concluded by Maynier and those

who act with him, which the government terms a restoration of peace>

but which gives to the Kaffirs all the fruits of victory, 320

Secunde, succession of officers who held the situation of : Andries de Man,
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Ian,

June 1684 to March 1695 j vacancy ; Samuel Elsevier, April 1697 to June
1707 ; Johan Cornelis d'Ableing, June 1707 to April 1710 ; Willem Helot,

April 1710 to May 1714 ; vacancy ; Abraham Cranendonk, March 1715 to

October 1721 ; Jan de la Fontaine, October 1721 to March 1730 ; Adriaan

van Kervel, March 1730 to August 1737 (also retaining the ofBce of fiscal

independent until March 1731) ; Hendrik Swellengrebel, August 1737 to

April 1739 : Ryk Tulbagh, April 1739 to February 1751 ; Sergius Swellen-

grebel, February 1761 to December 1760; Pieter van Reede van Oudts-

hoorn, December 1760 to April 1766 (also retaining the office of fiscal

independent until September 1762) ; Jan Willem Cloppenburg, April

1766 to May 1770 ; Joachim van Plettenberg, May 1770 to April 1774

;

Otto Luder Hemmy, April 1774 to January 1777 ; Pieter Hacker, January

1777 to August 1786 ; Johan Isaac Bhcnius, August 1786 to the capitula-

tion of the colony in September 1795

Serrurier, Rev. J. P. : arrives in South Africa, and assumes duty as clergyman

of the Cape congregation in March 1760, 176

Serrurier, Jan Jacob : is appointed fiscal independent, and assumes duty in

April 1783, 257 j dies in May 1785, 286

Sheep's wool ; efforts for the production in South Africa of, 29 and 72

Shipping, statistics of numbers and flags of vessels that put into South African

ports, coasters excluded : 1692 to 1699, 8 ; 1700 to 1724, 76 ; 1725 to

1737, 86 ; 1738 to 1750, 130 ; 1751 to 1771, 177 ; 1772 to 1780, 224 ; 1781

to 1784, 262; 1785 to 1789, 292 ; 1794, 3'.'8

Shipwrecks in Table Bay : particulars concerning, 11, 80, 90, 100, 132, 179,

263, and 293

Silk : efforts for the production in South Africa of, 30, 72, and 87

Simond, Rev. P. : in May 1702 returns to Europe, 25

Simons, C. J. : is the first fiscal independent of the Cape Colony, 3 ; in

November 1694 proceeds to Batavia, 9; in 1708 visits the Cape as

commissioner, and makes many regulations, 49

Simon's Bay : is carefully surveyed by a commission, 91 ; in 1742 becomes a

port of call for ships during the winter months, 118

Simon's Town: is founded in 1743, 118; is enlarged, 168 ; in June 1796 is

abandoned by the Dutch troops and inhabitants, and is occupied by the

English forces, 346

Slavery : views of Europeans in the seventeenth century with regard to, 49

Slavery at the Cape : important debates in 1717 concerning, 70

Slaves : laws concerning, 152

Slave trade : manner of conducting, 150

Slicher, ,Rev. L. : is rector of the school at the Cape, 81 ; in June 1721

assumes duty as clergyman of the Cape congregation, 82; in July 1725 is

transferred to Drakenstein, 101 ; dies in June 1730, 102

Sluysken, Abraham Josias : has been in the Company's service in India since

1765, 329; arrives at the Cape on his way to Europe, and is appointed

commissioner-general by Messrs Nederbargli and Frykenius, 329; in

September 1793 assumes the duty, 329 ; causes some small forts to be

built in Simon's Town and round Hout Bay, 331 ; in June 1795 is invited

by the commanders of a British force to place the colony in their hands,
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842 ; declines to do so, 342 ; makes a show of defending the colony untir

the 16th of September, when he capitulates, 344 ; returns to Europe in a
cartel ship, 361

Hmall-pox : malces its first appearance in South Africa in 1713, 68 ; causes

fearful loss of life, 69 ; almost destroys tlie Hottentots, 50 ; appears for

the second time in 1755, 166 ; again causes great loss of life, 167 ; appears

for the third time in 1767, 167 ; but does not cause such great loss of life

as on the former occasions, 167

Sparrman, Dr. A. : visits the Cape in 1772, 262 ; book of, 367

van der Spuy, Rev, P. : arrives in Soutli Africa and assumes duty as clergyman

of the Cape congregation in September 1746, 130; is transferred to Draken-

stein in January 1753, 176 ; retires on a pension in March 1781, 268

van der Spuy, Rev. P., junior : arrives in South Africa, and assumes duty as

clergyman of Zwart land's church in April 1786, 295

do St. Pierre, Bemardin ; visits the Cape in 1771, 178; book of, 365

Stamps : are introduced in 1714 to increase the colonial revenue, 64

Starrenburg, J.: in July 1705 is appointed landdroat of Stellenbosch, 34 ; is a
despicable tool of Governor W. A. van der Stel, 34 ; is set at defiance by
tlie burghers and the women of Stellenbosch, 38 ; is supported by a body
of troops, 38 ; is recalled by the directors, 40 ; and leaves South Africa in

April 1707, 41

StavorinuH, Captain J. S. ; visits South Africa on several occasions, 263 ; book

of, 368

van der Stel, Simon : is governor of the Cape Colony from 1 June 1601 to 11

February 1609, 1 ; changes his conduct towards the colonists, 13 ; in 1696

tenders lils resignation of the government, 14 ; in February 1609 transfers

the duties to his son and successor, and retires to the farm Constantla^

14 ; during the remainder of his life is chiefly engaged in farming occu-

pations, 15 ; dies in June, 1712, 15

van der Stel, Wilhem Adriaan : is appointed governor of the Cape colony and

its dependency the island of Mauritius, 14 ; assumes the duty in February

1609,14; inspects the Tulbagh basin, 18; carries on extensive farming

operations for his private benefit, 31 ; is charged by certain burghers of

the Cape with corruption, 32 ; conducts himself in a foolish and violent

manner, 33; causes a large number of burghers to be imprisoned or

banished, 35 ; is recalled by the directors, 40 ; In June 1707 Is obliged to

transfer the duties of governor to the secunde D'Ableing, 4 1 ; returns to

Europe, where the charges against him are Investigated, with the result

that he is dismissed from the Company's service, 48

van der Stel, Frans : is required by the directors to leave the colony, 42

Stellenbosch, village of: in 1698 the church is enlarged, 7 ; in December 1710'

the church, the public offices, and several dwelling-houses are destroyed

by fire, 53 ; in 1717 another church is commenced on a different site, part

of one wall of whicli remains in the present building, 82 ; the village is

enlarged and improved in appearance, 126 and 168

Stellenbosch : conduct of the burghers at the time of the opposition to Governor

W. A. van der Stel, 37

Stellenbosch militia assist to guard Cape Town in 1781, 246
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Btoyn, Hermanofl : in Juno 1795 is appointed landdroat of Bwollondam by tho

NationalM, 336

fitringent punishment of thieves, 101

Succession duty : the colonists object to the imposition of, 290

le Sueur, Rev. F. : arrives in South Africa and assumoH duty as ciorgyman of

the Cape congregation in October 1729, 102; in Juno 1730 in transferred

to Dralcenstein provisionally, 102; in April 1731 returns to tho Cape, 102

1

in August 1746 retires from duty, 130

le Sueur, J. J. : in AugUHt 1763 is appointed landdroat of Stoilenboich, 168 ;

in June 1769 is promoted and removed, 168

do Suffren, Admiral Pierre Andr6: in 1781 is sent from France with a strong

force to operate against the English in India and to protect tho Cape
colony from Commodore Johnstone, 249 ; attaclcs the RnglUh (lee^ at Porto

Praya, 249; is beaten off, 251; but sails to tho Cape, 252; n' ich he

reaches in time to put in a state of defence before Johnstone's ap^; jaranue

off the coast, 262

Sumptuary laws : particulars concerning, 153

Swellengrebel, Hendrik : becomes secunde in August 1737, 106; is apri^intcd

governor of the Cape colony, 109 ; assumes duty as such in April 1739,

109 ; conducts matters to the satisfaction of all parties, 135; resigns tho

appointment, 136; and in March 1751 proceeds to Europo, 136

Swellengrebel, Sergius : becomes secunde in February 1761, 186; diet in

December 1760, 161

Swellendam: the district is formed in 1745, 123; the village is founded in

1746, 124

Tablh Bay : is carefully surveyed by a commission, 91

Tarka River : is visited in 1752 by an exploring party, 148

Tas, Adam, burgher of Stellenbosch : is one of the chief opponents of Qovomor
W. A. van der Stel, 32; is the compiler of a document forwarded to tho

directors, 32 ; is arrested and illegally committed to prison, 84 ; is released

by order of the directors, 40

Tax paid in Soiith Africa in aid of the Netherlands, 142

Tembus : are found in 1752 occupying the country as far westward as the

Kei, 147

Terwold, Rev. L. : in August 1693 proceeds to Batavia, 9

Thunberg, Dr. C. P. : in 1772 visits the Cape, 263 ; book of, 367

Tinde, founder of the Amantiade clan of Kosas : pedigree of, 214

Tithes of grain : regulations concerning, 62

Tobacco : experiment in the cultivation of, 73

Trade with strangers in 1769 : results of, 161

Treatment of foreigneis : particulars concerning, 77

Treatment of English visitors in 1761 : instructions concerning, 163

Triple alliance of 1788 between Great Britain, Prussia, and tho Netherlands

:

events that led up to, 287

Troops in the colony in 1795 : description of, 336

Tshawe : is the real founder of the Kosa tribe, 213

n. E E
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Tulbagh, Ryk : early life of, 187 ; In 1716 enters the service of the East India

Company, and la sent to South Africa, 138 ; conducts himself in a most
exemplary manner, 188j gradually rises in the service, 139 ; is appointed

Becunde, 109; takes ofBce as such in April 1739, 109 ; is appointed governor

of the Cape colony, 136 ; assumes the duty in February 1751, 136; is a
most eittimable governor, 140; in March 1767 is raised to the rank of

ordinary councillor of Netherlands India, 180 ; dies in August 1771, 181

Tulbagh basin ; tev Land of Waveren
Tyumie River ; is vUlted by an exploring party in 1752, 148

Umdanob, founder of the Imidange clan of Eosas : pedigree of, 214

II
;

LE Vaillant, p. : books of, 870 and 372

Vergelegen, farm of Oovenior W. A. van der Stel at Hottentots Holland
:'

description of, 31 ; is confiscated by the directors, 42 ; is divided into

four farniH, aiid Is «old by auction, 48

Views of the burghors In 1706 as to their rights, 42

Views of the directors regarding the colony at the beginning of the eighteenth

century, 41

Views during the soventoonth century with regard to negro slavery, 49

Vos, Rev, M. C; roturns from Europe, and in March 1794 assumes duty as

clergyman of Boodozand's church, 327

de Vos, Pieter : in 1711 visitH the Cape as commissioner, 54

Voltelen, Rev. C, B,: arrives in South Africa, and in August 1750 assumes duty

as clergyronn of Zwartland's church, 130; in November 1766 is transferred

to the Capo, 17(5 ; dies in April 1758, 176

WAGBg of labourftfn at <ho Cape in 1744, 125

Walfish Bay : in February 1793 is taken possession of by the Dutch East India

Company, 309

War of 1781-2 between Great Britain and the Netherlands : news is received

at the Cape of, 238

Wardmasters : in December 1792 are first appointed in Cape Town, 326

Weerman, Rev, R, A, : calls at the Cape, and is appointed clergyman of Zwart-

land's church in May 1745, 116 ; in December 1748 proceeds to Batavia,

130

de Wet, Olof : is chief director of an association established in 1743 to search

for minerals and work a supposed silver mine at Drakenstein, 129

de Wet, 0. O,: in December 1778 is appointed landdrost of Stellenbosch, 269;

in February 1 782 in promoted to be master of the warehouses, 269

Wine : efforts made to improve the quality of, 125

Wine, ordinary Capo : efforts to procure a market for, 73, 120, and 160

Wine, taxes upon ; 64, 120, and 160

Wine, Constantia : ready sale of, 74

Witsenbergen : are named in 1699, 20
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Woeke, M, H. 0. : in December 1785 is appointed landdrost of Graaft Reinet,

275 ; reports that without a military force he cannot maintain order, 278

;

in July 1792 is recalled, 309

Woltemaade, Wolraad : gallant conduct of, 263

Women, South African : conduct of the wives of men illegally banished by
Governor W. A van der Siel, 35 ; conduct of the women of Stellenbosch

in opposition \o Governor W. A. van der Stel, 38 ; conduct of the women
of the colony in opposition to the government of Van Plettenberg, 260

Woollen factories : abortive project in 1782 for the establishment of, 257
Wurtemburg, regiment of : in December 1787 is stationed at the Cape, 275;

in 1791 is s?nt to Java, 285

XosA tribe : see Kosa tribe

ZuuBVELD (the present districts of Albany and Bathurst) : is annexed to the

colony in November 1780, 229

Zwartkops River : in 1752 a mark of the Company's possession is set up at the

mouth of, 146

Zwartland's church (now Malmesbury) : is established in 1745, 115
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